
Did you know? All Peterborough City Council's meeting agendas are available online or via the 
modern.gov app. Help us achieve our environmental protection aspirations and view this agenda 
online instead of printing it. 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 28 FEBRUARY 2023 
7.00 PM 
 

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall 
Contact: Charlotte Cameron, Democratic Services Officer, 
charlotte.cameron@peterborough.gov.uk, 01733 384628 

 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

 
1. Apologies 

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations 
 

 

 At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration. 
 

 

3. Minutes of Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee 
Meeting held on 4 January 2023 
 

3 - 10 

4. Call In of Any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decisions 
 

 

 The decision notice for each decision will bear the date on which it is 
published and will specify that the decision may then be implemented on the 
expiry of 3 working days after the publication of the decision (not including 
the date of publication), unless a request for call-in of the decision is 
received from any three Members of a Scrutiny Committee. If a request for 
call-in of a decision is received, implementation of the decision remains 
suspended for consideration by the relevant Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 

5. The City Council’s Biodiversity Strategy: Progress Report 2021-22 
 

11 - 30 

6. Peterborough Draft Council Climate Change Action Plan 
 

31 - 70 

7. Final Report of the Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group 
 

71 - 100 

8. Peterborough Flood Risk Management Strategy 2021-2027 
 

101 - 234 

9. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 
 

235 - 256 

Public Document Pack

1

mailto:charlotte.cameron@peterborough.gov.uk


Eergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours 

 
In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 

route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.   The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.  

 
Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at:  
 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385 
 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Councillors: N Day (Chair), C Burbage, G Casey, M Farooq, JA Fox, A Jones, D Jones, M Perkins, 
M Sabir, L Sharp, and C Wiggin (Vice Chair)  

 
Substitutes: Councillors: C Fenner, N Sandford and S Qayyum  

 
Non Statutory Co-opted Members:  

Parish Councillor Micheal Samways, Independent Co-opted Member (non-voting)  
Matthew Barber, Independent Co-opted Member (non-voting)  
Stuart Dawks, Independent Co-opted Member (non-voting)  
Dr Esther Norton, Independent Co-opted Member (non-voting)  
 

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Charlotte Cameron on telephone 
01733 384628 or by email – charlotte.cameron@peterborough.gov.uk  

 

 
 

2

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
mailto:charlotte.cameron@peterborough.gov.uk


 
 
     
 

MINUTES OF THE CLIMATE CHANGE AND EVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MEETING 

HELD AT 7.00PM, ON 
WEDNESDAY 4 JANUARY 2023 

BOURGES/VIERSEN ROOMS, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH 

 
Committee Members Present: Councillors N Day (Chair), C Wiggin (Vice-Chair), N Bi, C 

Burbage, G Casey, M Farooq, JA Fox, D Jones, M Perkins, L Sharp and Independent Co-opted 
Members Stuart Dawks and Dr Esther Norton  
 
Also in attendance: Councillor JR Fox as representative for the Group Leader of Peterborough 

First and Miriam Sellick Youth Council Representative. 
 

Officers Present: Charlotte Palmer, Head of Service for Environment, Highways and 

Transport 

Hannah Swinburne, Principal Climate Change Officer 

Ellie Cooper, Climate Change School Engagement Officer 

Jim Newton, Assistant Director Planning  

Darren Sharpe, Natural and Historic Environment Manager 

Charlotte Cameron, Democratic Services Officer  
 
Also Present:  Cllr Sandford, as an invited speaker for Agenda Item 6 Trees and 

Woodland: Ash Dieback Action Plan. 
Cllr Simons, Cabinet Member for Waste, Street Scene and the 
Environment 

 
33. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A Jones and Councillor Bi was in 

attendance as substitute. 

 

Apologies were also received from Councillor Sabir, Parish Councillor Michael Samways         

and Independent Co-opted Member Matthew Barber. 

 
34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING DECLARATIONS  

 
 There were no declarations of interest or whipping declarations.  

 
35. MINUTES OF THE CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

MEETING HELD ON 9 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

 The minutes of the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee meeting held                
on 9 November 2022 were agreed as a true and accurate record.  
 

36. CALL IN OF ANY CABINET, CABINET MEMBER OR KEY OFFICER DECISIONS 

 

 No call ins were received. 
 

3



37.  PETERBOROUGH SCHOOL CLIMATE CHANGE PROGRAMME 

  
 The Climate Change and Environment Committee received a report in relation to the 

Peterborough School Climate Change Programme. 

 
 The purpose of the report was to present the work of the Peterborough School Climate 

Change Programme and seek acknowledgement and feedback by the Scrutiny Committee 
to enable the work to be developed further. 

 The Climate Change School Engagement Officer accompanied by the Principal Climate 
Change Officer introduced the report and highlighted key points including: 

This programme hoped to encourage a whole school understanding of what carbon 
reduction projects there were. Schools would be supported to create carbon reduction 
action plans that would include student led projects. The programme would be available 
to both maintained and academy schools and could be amended to best suit the needs of 
each school.  

 The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee debated the report and in 
summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 

 Members thanked Officers for their work and praised the report.  

 Members queried whether the age of a school would impact their carbon emission 

audit. Members were advised that older schools would have older technology like 

light switch banks and not automatic lights in comparison to newer build schools. 

However, Officers identified that common themes focussed on behavioural 

changes linked to leaving lighting on and recycling.  

 The Principal Climate Change Officer advised that all schools would be invited to 

work with the team and would encourage more schools to come forward. 

 Members noted the levels of engagement and queried how this could be increased. 

Members were advised the programme had been launched in October 2022 and 

the level of engagement with schools was at an expected level. There would be an 

expected increase as the school year progressed.   

 Officers advised that programme details would be shared with schools and 

communications had been targeted to ensure the best engagement.  

 Members questioned whether there would be a quantifiable carbon footprint for 

each school to identify how to meet their carbon targets. Members were advised 

that the programme included a pre-populated carbon footprint calculator which 

schools could use to track their data, based on the 2021 Greenhouse Gas 

Conversion Factors. This would be updated yearly and would be the main tool to 

track the progress the schools had made.  

 The Youth Councillor queried how the audit tool would be connected to wider 

programmes such as the Peterborough Environment City Trust (PECT) Blueprint 

scheme. Members were advised that conversations on next steps after schools 

had completed their audit had been had with PECT.   

 Members questioned if there would be capital investment for retrofitting. The 

Principal Climate Change Officer advised that the Council had been successful in 

receiving funding for a heat decarbonisation plan for maintained schools but funds 

to complete the work would be needed.  

 Members asked if lessons learnt would be shared between all schools, even if a 

school had not signed up to the programme. Members were advised that the team 

had been looking into a website that shared this sort of information. There were 

also plans to introduce a termly newsletter which would highlight schools and their 

progress.  

4



 Members asked how long it would take a school to start their programme and were 

advised that if the right level of engagement had been received, it would take three 

to four weeks.  

 Members asked if there had been engagement with school governors and how 

Councillors could support the engagement work. The Officer highlighted that work 

with governors would help engagement with the senior leadership team and 

Councillors can advise schools in their ward of the programme and let the Officers 

know of any contacts within those schools.  

 Members were concerned about how the project had been presented as a piece 

of additional work for teachers and the effect this would have on the success of the 

project. The Principal Climate Change Officer clarified that the audit would not 

judge schools but help them to identify their carbon emissions and produce a 

decarbonisation plan.  

 Members were also advised that this was not done to schools and was a tool 

schools could sign up to if they wished and that PECT had had successful 

engagements with similar projects.  

 Members followed up and queried how the programme would fit in given that 

schools pre-plan their terms and curriculums. The Schools Climate Change Officer 

advised that schools had utilised existing eco-clubs and the programme had been 

run as extra-curricular to work it into an already planned curriculum.  

 Members were advised that conversations were ongoing with PECT regarding their 

reward scheme to ensure synergy across the platforms.  

 The Youth Councillor queried how much power the schools had to change their 

carbon emissions and whether there needed to be stronger connectivity across 

Council departments. Members were advised that conversations had been had 

with the Waste Team where school trips to the energy recovery facility had been 

discussed.  

 Members noted that the programme focussed on low-cost behavioural changes 

that schools would be able to implement easily. The Principal Climate Change 

Officer advised that all schools were presented with options they could explore to 

decarbonise but that the answer may be different for a maintained or academy 

school.  

 Members were advised that no school had directly declined the offer, but some 

had not responded to engagement communications. 

 Members referred to the strong low-carbon sector in Peterborough and questioned 

what external support could be used to support this programme. Members were 

advised that the team had spoken with the new university and various businesses 

to strengthen these links as schools were keen for speakers. 

 Members were advised that best practice research had identified that not many 

Councils had a programme like this published and that the team had explored ways 

of celebrating schools progress through an end of academic year celebration 

event.  

 AGREED ACTIONS 

 
The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 
RESOLVED to scrutinise the work done under the Peterborough School Climate Change 

Programme and provide feedback for programme development. 
  

38. TREES AND WOODLAND: ASH DIEBACK ACTION PLAN 

 

 The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee received a report in relation to 
the Trees and Woodland: Ash Dieback Action Plan.  

5



 
 The purpose of the report was to determine whether the Scrutiny Committee wished to 

express any recommendations to Cabinet regarding the proposed threat posed by Ash 
Dieback and allow the Committee to receive and comment on a draft Ash Dieback Action 
Plan and the measures outlined within it. 

 The Natural and Historic Environment Manager accompanied by the Assistant Director 

Planning introduced the report and highlighted key points including: 

 

This report presented the draft action plan for dealing with ash dieback. There had been 

a recent trend where the infection had spread, and an action plan needed to be put in 

place to cope the growing problem. Ash dieback is a fungal disease that would lead to the 

slow decline and eventual death of a tree.  

 

The Action Plan had been produced using the template and guidance in the Tree Council’s 

toolkit for ash dieback which was universally used and covered key issues.  

 

The Officer hoped the report would communicate the impact of the disease on the 

infrastructure in the city with the potential for trees to become dangerous as well as the 

environmental implication of the decline in ash trees. The report looked at two scenarios 

where there would be a 90% failure in the ash stock over a ten-year period and a 50% 

failure over a ten-year period. 

 

The Corporate Risk register had been updated to notify the Council that a financial treat 

had developed. The action plan was a document to deal with the threat of ash dieback 

which would affect a significant proportion of the Council’s ash trees. 

 

The Council owned over 22,000 ash trees and measures in the action plan would help to 

mitigate and control the impact of ash dieback.  

 
 The Chair advised the Committee that they had approved a request from Councillor 

Sandford to speak to this report. Members noted that Councillor Sandford would be unable 

to take part in the debate or vote on any recommendations made on this item.  

 

Councillor Sandford raised points including:  

 

Members were advised that Councillor Sandford would focus on sections 6.14-6.24 of the 

report and would refer to a Woodland Trust report.  

 

Councillor Sandford commented on section 1.4 that asked at what point a diseased ash 

tree would become dangerous or pose a threat to the public or property. He noted that this 

seemed to be a risk-based approach which would be sensible but suggested that this had 

not been followed in the approach to Bretton Woodland where there had been a 

suggestion for large scale removal or coppicing.  

 

The report referred to the large-scale removal of ash in Bretton, in 2019 and Members 

were advised of the heavy machinery that had been used in wet conditions. 

 

Councillor Sandford noted that if the approach had been solely risk based, trees would 

only be removed if close to a footpath or a path of the wood which if they fell would cause 

an injury to people.  

 

6



He then referred to a Woodland Trust report that had identified that it would be difficult to 

estimate what proportion of ash would be lost to the disease. The Woodland Trust zoned 

their woods to separate out affected areas which would then be a part of a selective felling 

process. Their aim was to retain diseased ash trees for as long as they can as there was 

the potential for some diseased ash may recover. They had also advised that wide-scale 

removal should not be carried out as it could hurt species recovery.  

 

Councillor Sandford noted that when an area of was ash coppiced it would make the trees 

more vulnerable to the disease. He then questioned whether coppicing was the best way 

forward when there was a significant amount of ash.  

 

Councillor Sandford referred to the use of Milton Estate as an example which he believed 

to be an invalid comparison as it was a commercial forestry plantation on a private estate. 

 

He suggested that the committee considered to defer work until 2024, so further advice 

from external experts could be commissioned. 

 

The Chair thanked Councillor Sandford for his time and moved onto debate. 

 
 The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee debated the report and in 

summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 
 

 Members queried if felling would increase the risk of the disease spreading. The 
Officer advised that the issue with ash dieback was that it had the tendency to 
attack young growth which was more susceptible than a mature tree.  

 Members were advised that the fundamental issue had been to understand Bretton 
Woods where, prior to ash dieback, the trees had been in poor condition and 70% 
had significant fungal decay (Inonotus hispidus). The lack of management of these 
issues had caused the trees to become a liability and increased their risk potential. 
This combination would have meant intervention, irrespective of ash dieback.  

 The Natural and Historic Environment Manager advised that if the trees were 
perfectly healthy, he would have advised that any felling was delayed.  

 Members were advised that there was no option of do nothing about Bretton 
Woodland as the asset would be lost. Where there had been intervention, there 
were small gaps where new species had been introduced.  

 Members noted that ash dieback compounded existing issues and increased the 
need to do something earlier than intended.  

 Members referred to their experience of Bretton Woodland and the devastation the 
coppicing work caused. The use of machinery, woodchips and mass clearings of 
every tree had supressed natural growth and the planting did not mitigate what had 
been taken down.  

 Members asked to see a review into the existing work reported back to the 
committee so to be fully informed before any further work is commissioned.  

 The Officer agreed that Bretton Woodland did look significantly worse than it should 
have but that one season had seen a notable difference.  Members were reassured 
that consent had been given under a felling license from the Forestry Commission. 

 Members noted that Woodland trust representatives had been invited to Bretton 
Woodland and were supportive of the work.  

 Members were advised that the recommendations from the management scheme 
for Bretton Woodland had been independently drafted by an arboricultural 
consultant.  

 The Officer advised that the number of trees planted after felling were a condition 
within the felling license. 

 Members queried if there was a plan in place for replacement trees and what 
species they would be. The Officer advised that if a tree was felled, it would be 

7



replaced. In certain belts there would be an opportunity for natural regeneration 
and there would be an important consideration for the younger shelter belts and 
impact of felling trees is less significant as machinery is smaller.  

 Members noted that tree were replanted the following planting season and it had 
focused on native trees where appropriate.  

 Members questioned what percentage of ash was in the coppiced areas. The 
Officer advised that there had been an estimate of 75% ash in Bretton Woodland. 

 Members questioned how the planned felling would be communicated to the public. 
The Officer advised that the approval of the action plan would not mean immediate 
felling but was a preparation for what was coming. There was an indication that the 
spread of ash dieback would be severe, and earliest intervention in Bretton Woods 
would be in 2024. 

 Members noted that as the trees declined the public would be educated on the 
diseases and the Officer highlighted that it would be clear what trees were 
diseased. 

 Members noted that the works proposed had not been funded but there was sound 
evidence that there was a need to do something.  

 Members asked if they could be provided with images that showed where the 
affected ash trees were in the city. The Officer advised that all specimen ash trees 
were plotted and could be shared with Members.  

 Members sought clarification on page 58 that no allowance had been made on the 
cost of inflation for the works and the issues in tree stock supply. The Natural and 
Historic Environment Manager advised that the tree stock had been an issue and 
efforts were made to replace with local provenance. The Council had good 
relationships with reputable nurseries where strong links for supply had been 
created.  

 Members noted that inflation had been a concern but that the document included 
estimated costs but there would be numerous variables. Only time would allow for 
there to be more accurate pricing as and when the disease was at the point where 
action needed to be taken.  

 Members also noted that the Tree Contract would need to be retendered and there 
was no firm cost for this work, but further intelligence would allow for more precise 
business case.  

 The Officer confirmed there would be a tree survey in 2024 and agreed to bring 
that survey back to the committee. Bretton Woodland had a separate management 
plan which had gone out to public consultation and was what was currently being 
delivered. The Woodland Trust and Forestry Commission were consulted on this 
document.  

 There was the intention to amend the document as a result of the increase in ash 
dieback. The2024 management plan would be amended, and the team would 
apply for a new felling license from forestry commission. 

 Members noted that the issue was serious but there was no need to panic as the 
plan would mitigate some effects. The Officer advised that this was not reactive but 
pre-emptive and without a plan the situation would be worse.  

 Members queried what impacts the coppiced stumps would have if they were left 
to fall into a woodland. The Officer advised that the biggest challenges would be to 
make sure things were safe. As there were informal routes within the woodland, 
the Council were duty bound to intervene as leaving trees to fall was not suitable.  

 Members sought clarification on whether the amended management plan would 
be brought back to committee after the 2024 survey. The Officer confirmed that he 
would be happy to do this.  

 Members discussed some potential recommendation amendments to which the 
Officers discussed and advised on.  

 

8



Cllr Burbage proposed that unless there was a health and safety issue or a risk to life that 
no further mass felling took place until the 2024 survey and amended plan was presented 
to the Committee.  
 
The Natural and Historic Environment Manager advised that there was no intention to 
conduct a mass clearance in Bretton Woodland before 2024. He advised that there would 
be a need to carry out health and safety work as a result of the previous survey in 2022. 
This would be communicated with the public and the relevant ward Councillors would be 
informed. The Forestry Commission had allowed an exemption for the Council to carry out 
those works but that anything beyond this would require a felling license. The Officer 
reassured Members that the Tree Hazard Risk Evaluation and Treatment Systems 
(THREATS) was a recognised standard, and the management strategy would be followed 
in accordance with this.   
 
The Committee requested that the Bretton Wood Management Plan be brought back to 
the Committee after the 2024 survey had been conducted.  
 

 AGREED ACTIONS  

  
The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 
RESOLVED to:  

 
1. Note the current threat posed to the Council’s tree stock by Ash dieback and the 

potential pressures imposed. Consider the Ash Dieback Action Plan and offer any 
further views which will subsequently be reported to Cabinet. 

2. Endorse the draft Ash dieback Action Plan and recommend it to Cabinet  
 
The Committee also requested that the Natural and Historic Environment Manager: 
 

 Provide the Committee with information images that show where the affected Ash 
Dieback trees are in the city. 

 Bring the Bretton Wood Management Plan back to Committee after the 2024 
survey has been conducted.  

 
39. COMMITTEE START TIME REPORT  
  
 The Democratic Services Officer introduced the report and sought the committees' views 

on what start time they would like for the new municipal year 2023/2024. 
 
The following recommendation was made by Councillor Wiggin and seconded by 

Councillor Judy Fox, that the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee pre-

meeting should start at 6pm and the formal committee meeting should start at 7pm. 

 

The Committee voted UNANIMOUSLY in favour of the recommendation and the 

recommendation was CARRIED. 

 
 AGREED ACTIONS 

 
The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 
RESOLVED to agree that the start time for all Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny 

Committee meetings for the Municipal Year 2023-24 to be 7pm.  
 

40. FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 

  
 The Democratic Services Officer introduced the report which included the latest version of 

the Council’s Forward Plan of Executive Decisions containing decisions that the Leader of 

9



the Council, the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members would make during the 
forthcoming month. Members were invited to comment on the plan and where appropriate, 
identify any relevant areas for inclusion in the Committee’s Work Programme. 
 

 There were no questions raised.  
 

 AGREED ACTIONS 

 
The Climate Change and Environment Committee considered the current Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions and RESOLVED to note the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions. 

 
41. WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2022/2023 

  
 The Democratic Services Officer presented the report which looked at the work 

programme for the municipal year 2022/23 to determine the Committees priorities.  
 

 There were no questions raised.  

 
 AGREED ACTIONS 

The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee considered the Work 
Programme for 2022/2023 and RESOLVED to note the report. 

42. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
  

 The date of the Joint Meeting of the Scrutiny Committees was noted as being 23 January 

2023. 

 

The date of the next Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee meeting was 

noted as being 28 February 2023. 
 

   CHAIR  
 

         Meeting began at 7.00pm and ended at 8.23pm  
 

10



 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 5 

28 FEBRUARY 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Adrian Chapman, Executive Director Place & Economy 

Cabinet Member(s) 
responsible: 

Cllr Nigel Simons Cabinet Member for Waste, Street Scene and the 
Environment 

 

Contact Officer(s): Darren Sharpe - Natural and Historic Environment Manager 

 

Rowan Rumball- Senior Wildlife Officer  

01733453596 

 

07753 564759 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL’S BIODIVERSITY STRATEGY: PROGRESS REPORT 2021-22 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Adrian Chapman - Executive Director Place & 
Economy 

Deadline date:  N/A 
 

 
     It is recommended that Climate Change & Environment Scrutiny Committee: 
 

1. Note progress made against the Council’s 2018 Biodiversity Strategy and to make any 
recommendations with regards the ongoing delivery of the Strategy. 
 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 This report is submitted to the Climate Change & Environment Scrutiny Committee as a 

requirement to annually report progress on the actions and targets of the Council’s 2018 
Biodiversity Strategy.  
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  
 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to: 
 

1. Provide information with respect to progress against the actions and targets contained in 
the Council’s Biodiversity Strategy (December 2018) and allow feedback to be given by 
the Committee with respect to progress against the existing strategy.   

 
2. Provide an update of charities and landowners activities for biodiversity in the 

Peterborough Area. 

 
 

2.2 This report is for the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee to consider under its 
Terms of Reference Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1  
Functions determined by Council  
  
6. Biodiversity 
7. Green Space 
 
 
 
   

11



3. TIMESCALES 
  

Is this a Major Policy 

Item/Statutory Plan? 

No If yes, date for 

Cabinet meeting  

N/A 

 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 

 Background 
4.1  

Update Report for 2021/22: This report is submitted to the Committee by the Council’s Wildlife 
Officer as a progress report for 2021/22 against the existing Biodiversity Strategy. The Strategy 
was agreed in 2010 and updated in December 2018 with a requirement for annual reporting on 
progress against the specific actions and targets of the Strategy, a full copy of which is available 
on the Council’s website using the following link:  
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/planning-and-development/conservation-trees-and-
hedges/natural-environment-partnership  
 
The Progress Report shows how the Council is demonstrating progress against Defra 
recommendations as to how public authorities can show regard for biodiversity. This approach 
sets out the Council’s achievements under four key headings –  
1) Promoting Biodiversity in Planning,  
2) Showing Regard for Biodiversity on Public Authority Managed Land & Buildings (Parks & 

Open Spaces, Nature Reserves, Woodlands, Roads & Verges, Cemeteries & Crematoria, 
School Grounds),  
3) Protected Sites  
4) Green Infrastructure.  
 
This Update Report has also been cross referenced with the approved Biodiversity Strategy to 
ensure all key actions are addressed in this Update Report. 
 
The council has achieved many improvements that align with the biodiversity strategy, 
particular highlights include: 
 
 Sourced funds to improve the floral biodiversity of the protected road verges through the 
Peterborough City Council Area. 

 
 Additional improvements to wildlife habitats and interpretation facilities at Werrington 
Brook in collaboration with the Environment Agency. 

 
 Peterborough achieved a figure of 78.4% (87 out of 111) County Wildlife Sites in 
positive management.  

 
Biodiversity Strategy & Green Infrastructure Strategy Supporting Planning Document:  
 
In 2018 both a Green Infrastructure Strategy SPD and an updated Biodiversity Strategy were 
published. There have been 4 years since the document was published, which have seen some 

sections be adopted through planning enforcement, some sections adopted through developers 
following new government guidance and some sections remaining outstanding. There is potential 
for the SPD to be updated to better help the objectives described in the Biodiversity Strategy be 
achieved. 
 
It is envisaged that the following items will be required to be added or amended in future 
iterations of the SPD: 
 All biodiversity checklists  

 The schedule of Priority Green Infrastructure Projects 

 Introduction of a new section on Biodiversity Net Gain as outlined in The Environment 
Bill 2021. 

 

12

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/planning-and-development/conservation-trees-and-hedges/natural-environment-partnership
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/planning-and-development/conservation-trees-and-hedges/natural-environment-partnership


Overall, the approach to the SPD will not change, but rather the processes of achieving Green 
Infrastructure Delivery will be updated to represent modern themes and legislation. This along 
with quality-of-life improvements for practical users and increased advertisement of the document 
will hopefully result in wider uptake of the principles. 
 

4.2 Peterborough City Council are aware of a broad range of external organisations also undertaking 
biodiversity positive projects across the unitary area. Following a request from committee 
members an appendix B has been added to this report that summarise some of the fantastic work 
that PCC partners are doing in the area. Please note that city council are not necessarily claiming 
authorship of the document within appendix B. 
 

 Key issues 
4.3 The key issues which the Committee need to consider are laid out in the appendices.  

 
5. Corporate Priorities  

 
5.1 The recommendations are linked to the following Council’s Corporate Priorities: 

 
The Economy & Inclusive Growth  

 By promoting and protecting the biodiversity and ecology within the 
Peterborough City Council area, we protect the valuable ecosystem services 
provided to us from the natural environment.  

 Over the 2022 period it is expected that the works directed by the biodiversity 
strategy have overall created a net negative carbon emissions impact. Although 
the actions completed by the council, such as habitat management, may 
increase the councils carbon outputs, the works enable the biodiversity on sites 
to increase. With this increase in biodiversity tends to result in an overall 
increase in biomass which locks carbon dioxide into the plants. So, the city's 
overall carbon output will be reduced. This report discusses progress and 
updates and proposes no changes to practices, therefore there is no carbon 
impact. 

Our Places & Communities  

 The ongoing measures to involve the community of volunteers allows them to 
both value the assets but also taking advantage of the benefits of green areas 
within Peterborough. 

 The green areas in Peterborough provide massive savings to the local health 
services through cleaning pollutants from the air to providing mental support to 
those in need. 

Sustainable Future for City Council 

 Extensive efforts to enhance and expand the ecological data sets held within the 
council, enables proactive delivery of service that prioritise limited resources to 
safeguard the sustainable future of our biodiversity resource. 

 
6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1 
 

Consultation and discussion have been undertaken with various internal teams including 
Bereavement Services, Climate Change Team, Natural & Historic Environment Team, Drainage 
team and Aragon.  
 
It should be noted that the Strategy originally underwent four weeks public consultation from 2nd 
March to 29th March 2018. 
 

7. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  
 

7.1 It is anticipated that the Climate Change & Environment Scrutiny Committee will consider and 
comment on the report and set out its views for Officers implementing the Biodiversity Strategy.  
 
 
 

13



8. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 
 

8.1 The Council’s Biodiversity Strategy recognises that biodiversity is under threat from habitat and 
population fragmentation, climate change, invasive non-native species as well as development 
and land pressures. Biodiversity is a truly cross cutting theme.  The Council will therefore, in 
exercising its functions, have regard, so far as consistent with proper exercise of those functions, 
to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. Scrutiny Committee members are asked to provide 
feedback to support the continual improvement of delivering the Biodiversity Strategy. 
 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

9.1 Other alternative options include: 
1. Have no Biodiversity Strategy-This was dismissed as it was considered that the Council 

would not comply with best practice and would be unable to coordinate Biodiversity 
Activities across the Council or to monitor progress.  

2. Create a New Biodiversity Strategy- This was dismissed as it is still considered that the 
Strategy remains relevant and fit for purpose. The document is considered typically to 
have a 10 year life span.  

 
10. IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Financial Implications 

 
10.1 The adopted Strategy does not introduce any financial costs and does not require any additional 

investment. The Strategy is not intended to introduce financial implications for the Council, but 
instead to provide guidance to assist with meeting current legislative and policy requirements.  
 

 Legal Implications 
 

10.2 The Strategy is not intended to introduce legal implications for the council but instead to provide 
guidance to assist with meeting current relevant environmental legislation.  
  

 Equalities Implications 
 

10.3 There are no known implications, positive or negative. 
 

 Rural Implications  

 
10.4 
 

There are no known implications, positive or negative. 

 
 
10.5 

Carbon Impact Assessment  
 
Over the 2022 period it is expected that the works directed by the biodiversity strategy have 
overall created a net negative carbon emissions impact. Although the actions completed by the 
council, such as habitat management, may increase the councils carbon outputs, the works 
enable the biodiversity on sites to increase. With this increase in biodiversity tends to result in an 
overall increase in biomass which locks carbon dioxide into the plants. So, the city's overall 
carbon output will be reduced.  
 
This report discusses progress and updates and proposes no changes to practices, therefore 
there is no carbon impact. 
 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

11.1  Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (Section 40). 
 The Biodiversity Duty for Public Authorities, Defra Guidance, Oct 2014. 

 PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL BIODIVERSITY STRATEGY: Version for Adoption 
by Council December 2018. 

14



 A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment, HM Government, 2021 

 
12. APPENDICES 

 
12.1 Appendix A: Report of progress for the Council’s Biodiversity Strategy against Defra 

recommendations as to how public authorities can show regard for biodiversity. 
 
Appendix B: Report of progress of charities and landowner’s activities for biodiversity in the 

Peterborough Area 

 
 
 
 

 

15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



1 

Appendix A: Report of progress for the Council’s Biodiversity Strategy against Defra recommendations as to how public authorities can show 
regard for biodiversity  

 
PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

Promoting biodiversity in planning and development 
 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Natural & Historic Environment Team continue to provide specific 
advice to both Development Management officers with regard to specific 

development proposals and to Planning Policy colleagues in relation to the 
Local Plan including policies and site allocation documents. 
 
A Peterborough Biodiversity & Green Infrastructure (GI) Strategy has 

been produced and certain sections are now considered to require review to 
add references to Biodiversity Net Gain. This review will be in partnership 
with a number of local conservation organisations with the intension of the 
document being part of the evidence base for the emerging Local Plan.  
 
The Highway and Drainage Control Team are influencing developers 

throughout the city to implement Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
which encourages biodiversity through the use of above ground drainage 
components, such as swales, attenuation basins and rain gardens. 
 
In order to account for the increased workload that will be created with the 
introduction of Biodiversity Net Gain, an additional Senior Wildlife Officer 
position has been created as part of the Planning Services Review. We 

are currently actively hiring to fill this position. 
 
The principle of No Net Loss has now been improved upon with the 
adoption of the interim Biodiversity Net Gain Approach. This will allow the 
smooth adoption of the 10% Biodiversity Net Gain principle in Peterborough 
in preparation for the full roll out in end of 2023. 
 
 
We are currently in progress of updating the Peterborough Planning 
Systems in order to account for the new data and survey requirements in 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
Awaiting the 
governments guidance’s 
on implementation of 
BNG to be published  
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
High demand for suitable 
candidates 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 

Continue current efforts. 
 
 
 
 
Updated Document to be 
drafted and undergo 
consultation as part of Local 
Plan process.  
 
 
To introduce SuDS into the 
biodiversity policies to increase 
continuity and consistency. 
 
 
Continue recruitment exercise. 
 
 
 
 
Continue improving the 
knowledge and understanding 
of BNG with consultants in the 
Peterborough City Council 
area. 
 
Continue supporting the 
developer with relevant 

17



2 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

relation to Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
Biodiversity Checklists are forms that help inform planning agents to 

understand if they are likely to need biodiversity assessment within their 
applications. The current checklists do not represent modern thinking in 
determining the likely presence of Protected Species. These checklists are 
currently being updated. 
 
The loss of Priority Habitats, trees, hedges and shrubs continues to be 
resisted, though the planning process, unless there are sound reasons to 

indicate otherwise. 
 
Every effort will be made to ensure that appropriate landscaping schemes 

are submitted as part of relevant planning applications. These landscaping 
schemes should prioritise the use of Native Species where appropriate. 
 
 
Monitor and promote Priority Habitats to a greater extent. Advertising the 

strategic significance of these habitats to large scale developers. 
 
 
 

All qualifying native rural hedges are protected via the hedgerow 
regulations 1997. This is an often-overlooked piece of legislation 

which we are making sure we enforce in all planning applications. 
Hedgerows are the preferred boundary treatment on all 

developments. 
 

Regular training is held with the planning officers to further explain 

the huge changes in how biodiversity will be protected introduced 

within the Environment Act 2021. 
 
 
 

 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
Not enough time to 
provide full training 
 
 
 
 

ecology expertise.  
 
Ensure the updated checklists 
are embedded in the Planning 
Application Process.  
 
 
 
No Further action necessary 
 
 
 
Provide informative in all 
applications informing 
developers that native species 
are preferred. 
 
Ensure that Priority Habitats in 
Peterborough are given 
strategic significance within the 
BNG system. 
 
Continue existing practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
Continue to disseminate 
information as it is provided by 
Natural England. 
 
 
 

18



3 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Natural & Historic Environment Team and Planning Policy have 
continued to support the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough 
Environmental Records Centre (CPERC) which has provided data for a 

number of Peterborough City Council projects and reports including those 
associated with the Local Development Framework, Annual Monitoring 
Report and Single Data List (SDL) 160.  
 
The Council receives an annually updated species data disc from the 
Records Centre to assist in identifying protected sites and species 

associated with each application. This ‘front-loading’ of data assists with 
identifying ecological issues at the outset of development and ultimately 
may enable developments to progress more smoothly than would otherwise 
be the case.  
 
Continued support for the long standing Peterborough Barn Owl 
Recovery Programme. This is now recognised as one of the most 

successful of these programmes in the UK. Monitoring in the last year has 
also included additional boxes erected in the previous reporting period 
which replace those lost or which had fallen into disrepair over the last 15 
years. The data from this ongoing monitoring scheme has proved crucial in 
the provision of advice to the Planning Department with respect to a 
number of strategic planning applications for example for wind farm 
proposals and public inquiries and how they would relate to this key 
environmental feature of the surrounding area. 
 
A Service Level Agreement to provide SDL160 data continues to be 

agreed between Peterborough City Council and the Wildlife Trust. This 
provides vital capacity for the PCC Wildlife Officer to complete all planning 
application review duties. 
 
District Level Licencing for Great Crested Newts has been successfully 
introduced in Peterborough. A recent addition to the Biodiversity Data Sets 
is the Great Crested Newt District Level Licencing data, which includes 

estimate locations for Great Crested Newt populations and new Great 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
COVID resulted in a gap 
in the data provided, 
however the project is 
continuing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
N/A 

Continue to provide awareness 
and data to CPERC to support 
relationship. 
 
 
 
 
Continue consulting the 
records when required to 
support planning conclusions. 
 
 
 
 
Continue to support the 
programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Compile and submit SDL160 
data to DEFRA. 
 
 
 
Continue to work with the DLL 
team to provide further pond 
creation. 

19



4 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

Crested Newt DLL ponds created within the PCC district. This data further 
informs planning application Ecological Receptor Survey Requirements. 
 

Showing regard for biodiversity on public authority managed land and buildings  

3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Natural and Historic Environment (N&HE) Team has 

continued general liaison and advice to officers and departments from 
across the Council, including for example Highways officers and 

Aragon staff, to promote biodiversity being incorporated into all 
landscape management contracts. 

 
An exercise is being undertaken internally to reanalyse the Parks and 
Open Spaces of Peterborough and assess if there are any which 
qualify for Local Nature Reserve Status. Any nominations by 

councillors or general public will also be considered. This is part of an 

ambitious scheme to ensure at least 3 ha of Local Nature reserve per 
1000 population, in line with the new Green Infrastructure Framework. 
 
Works by the Environment Agency have been completed in the 

Werrington Brook Area. These works are accompanied by an 
ecological landscape management plan. 

 

The edges of Central Park are currently being managed for 

biodiversity, A site visit was completed to look at exactly how much 

biodiversity was being gained through this management. An analysis 
showed an approximate 20% increase in biodiversity units while also 

reducing the cost of management for the area. 

 
There is a conflict between residents that enjoy cleanly cut road 
verges  and the needs of pollinators dependant on the grasslands as 
a food source. An attempt to answer this by seeding wildflower 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
Lack of funds for 
management, 
communication with 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 

Continue this role. 
 
 
 
 
 
Increase awareness of the 
initiative to identify “low 
hanging fruit” sites for 
identification. 
 
 
 
 
Monitor/amend the 
implementation of the 
management plan. 
 
 
Complete another monitoring 
visit in 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitor the success of these 
sites across 2023. 
 

20



5 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
 
 
 
5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mixes resistant to the cutting regimes has begun. Two trial plots 

have been identified and seeded. 

 
Fletton Cemetery has also been working with PECT to encourage 

bees and other pollinators on site. Wildflower seed was sown along 

the hedges boardering the Green Burial section at Fletton Cemetery. 
 
The use of pesticides in Peterborough by all contracted 

management companies working in public places is continued to be 

reviewed. This aims to identify alternatives. 
 
Further areas are being identified for trialling new approaches to 

landscape management. These include un-mown wildflower verges 

in Barnack village centre, the Crematorium Wildflower area, 

Dogsthorpe and Olive Road allotment Initiatives, Bug life creating 
wildflower areas in Holywell Fishponds CWS & wildflower planting on 
earth bunds in Orton Malborne. 

 
Tackling Non-native Species: The Council & Aragon continue to 

employ best practice procedures to deal with invasive non-native 
species on sites of wildlife importance; or where these are on land in 
the Council’s control and threaten habitats and species of importance 

or the coherence of habitat networks.   
 

Sites such as Cherry Orton Road Pond, Basil Green Pond, Botolph 
Green Pond are all under active management by the Peterborough 
Conservation Volunteers. Priority habitats outside of the 

Peterborough City area are also being identified and prioritised for 
expansion through the Biodiversity Net Gain payments. 

 
Continued support for monitoring and habitat management for the 
rare Four-spotted Moth in Peterborough. The population has 

 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 

 
 
 
Continue to introduce 
wildflower seed where possible 
 
 
 
Open discussions with relevant 
organisations. 
 
 
Monitor in 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Continue to get relevant 
training in non-native species 
identification. 
 
 
 
 
Continue to support the 
Peterborough Conservation 
Volunteers by helping to 
increase membership. 
 
 
 
Continue to support the 

21



6 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

 
 
 
 
 
 
6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
7 
 
 
 

 
 

 
8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

recently been significantly reduced due to a temporary neighbouring 
rail development to the largest area of habitat. It has recently been 

reported that the population has survived and will hopefully recover in 
a now expanded County Wildlife Site. 

 
The Friends of Holywell are being supported by PCC to create a 

community area within the site while also helping manage the habitats 

at Holywell Fish Ponds for biodiversity. The Holywell site has quite 
complex management requirements, it is hoped that while a small 

area of the site is given over to community planting, the majority of 
the site will benefit from directed biodiversity management. 
 
Peterborough Conservation Volunteers continue to be supported 

by PCC in their by allowing them to promote biodiversity in 

Peterborough. The support is provided through promotion of efforts 
and helping new members join. 
 
The Council continues to provide support for small-scale community 
wildlife schemes, including encouraging community management of 

existing landscaping where requested and appropriate such as 
Broadway Cemetery and Cuckoos Hollow groups. The Probation 
Services also undertake works on semi-natural areas and Nature 

Reserves. 
 
Biodiversity Walk and Talks have been held in Glinton, Maxey, 

Bainton and Ashton and Helpston over the last year. These were 
generally well attended within 5-10 members of the public joining. The 

aim was to increase awareness of the value of the surrounding 
habitats.  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Overall public 
interest/advertisement 
 
 
 
 
 
 

monitoring project. 
 
 
 
 
 
Currently in the process of 
reviewing the revised 
management plan. 
 
 
 
 
Continue to support and help 
plan their efforts. 
 
 
 
 
Continue to support and help 
plan their efforts. 
 
 
 
 
 
Continue to discuss with local 
Parish councils to complete 
biodiversity talks. 
 
 
 
 
 

22



7 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9 
 
 
 
 
 
 

New signs have been placed around Central Park to help inform the 

public why areas that may be considered “untidy” have been created. 

These new areas not only save the council in terms of cost they also 
help improve biodiversity. 

 
 
Constant work with PECT and Langdyke Trust in order to enable 

potential volunteer work on wildlife positive projects. 

 
Updated the website with Peterborough Conservation Volunteers 

and Friends of Groups contact information.  
 

The first JCC Farm Cluster meeting about Biodiversity Net Gain 

was held. The purpose of this meeting was to introduce the concept 
of BNG to those who would use land to create Biodiversity Net Gain 

Credits to be sold to developers in the Peterborough City Council 
area. It was moderately successful and hopefully we will start to see 

BNG projects start in the local area soon. 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
N/A 

Introduce the same concept 
elsewhere in Peterborough 
with the maintenance savings 
funding the signs. 
 
 
Continue the work. 
 
 
 
Contact other friends of groups 
to ask if they want their 
address being shared. 
 
Hold more meetings to spread 
information about Biodiversity 
Net Gain. 

Protected Sites & Areas 

 
10 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Continued to work with Natural England to highlight the disturbance 

pressures on Sites of Scientific Interest such as Barnack Hills and 

Holes, through new residential developments. Attempts will be made 
to secure funding through the Biodiversity Net Gain scheme to 
maintain protected sites. 

 
Work with Natural England to identify non-statutory sites which may 
qualify for statutory status. 
 

 

Approval for additional 
resources to manage 

the site currently being 
sought. 
 

 
Identification of sites is 

difficult due to surveys 
required. 
 

 

Continue to meet with 
Natural England to discuss 

best practice of delivering 
funds to the site. 
 

 
Work with other 

organisations to help identify 
sites. 
 

23



8 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
11 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Orton Pit is the only Council owned SSSI and consists of part of the 

treebelt which runs along the southern edge of the Fletton Parkway. 
Funding was secured in 2014 from both the Trees & Woodland 

Strategy budget and via a mitigation package as part of the Fletton 
Parkway widening scheme to deliver a range of habitat enhancement 
works. These enhancements are ongoing but monitoring surveys 

suggest a large amount of wildlife returning to the area. 

The Hills and Holes replacement habitat at Sissions close in 

Barnack has had its management re-evaluated and redesigned. Now 

instead of returning to rank grassland it should better represent the 
species diversity at Hills and Holes SSSI, hopefully attracting a few 

glow worms at the same time. It is expected that this will take 
between 10-30 years before the community is fully established 
however. 

 

The re-surveying of all CWS has continued by the Wildlife Trust via 

a Service Level Agreement. This includes provision of advice to 

landowners and activities carried out on behalf of the Natural and 
Historic Environment Team. 
 
The Council continues to report annually to Defra on the National 
Indicator Target for Biodiversity (SDL 160) regarding the 

percentage of Local Wildlife Sites in positive management across the 
Unitary Authority area. During the most recent reporting period 
(21/22) Peterborough achieved a figure of 78.4% (87 out of 112 sites) 

in positive management. 
 
All County Wildlife Site (CWS) Protected Verges and extensions 

thereof within the Unitary Authority area continue to be managed 

 
N/A 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

N/A 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
N/A 

 
 
 

 
Collaboration with 

private land owners 
can be difficult. 
 

 
 

 
N/A 
 

 
Work with future close by 

developments to provide 
further enhancements. 

 
 
 

 
 

Continue monitoring into the 
future. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Hold a meeting to discuss 

sites surveyed in 2023. 
 
 

 
Work with landowners to put 

more sites into positive 
management. 
 

 
 

 
Meetings to kick the new 
management regime off are 

24



9 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

12 

according to best practice guidelines by Aragon to assist in providing 
wildlife corridors involving a cut in Sept and removal of cuttings.  

Areas of verge in the John Clare Countryside area are having 
management plan revisions to increase the number of cuts with the 

aim to increase biodiversity. 
 
Eye Green Gravel Pit LNR & CWS: The Wildlife Trust has ended its 

involvement at this nature reserve following termination of its lease in 
Sept 2016. The Council has however recently found a new partner in 

Froglife to manage the site for the benefit of the local community and 
the population of amphibians present on the site. 
 

 
Holywell Fish Ponds CWS: Existing management has been 

maintained by the Friends of Holywell, extensive community 
improvements have been made to the site and the biodiversity 
management of the site is improving overtime. The Cambs Bat Group 

also continues to monitor the site’s bat population which is still 
present. 

 
Broadway Cemetery CWS: Management of grass cutting is currently 

being reviewed to ensure areas of species-rich grassland are allowed 

to flower and set seed before being cut in Sept. Previously these 
areas have been found to be declining over time. All management will 

be balanced against the need to open up the cemetery to improve 
surveillance due to anti-social behaviour issues. Additionally there 
has historically been a collaboration with a local resident to 

encourage bees on site. 
 
The Werrington Brook Improvement Programme has been 

completed and now the ecological management of the area is under 
review. This significant water improvement programme is expected to 

 
 

 
 

 
 
N/A 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Conflicting site 

requirements between 
historic and ecological 
value 

 
 

 
N/A 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

N/A 
 
 

planned in. 
 

 
 

 
 
Hold an annual meeting to 

review the management of 
the site. 

 
 
 

 
Continue to work with the 

group and complete a 
monitoring visit at the end of 
2023. 

 
 

 
A meeting has been 
arranged to discuss the 

ongoing management. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

A survey needs to be 
completed in 2023. 
 

25



10 

PCC 
Biodiversity 
Strategy Ref. 

Update on Progress/Action underway Barrier to Progress Future Action 

improve the biodiversity and habitats of several watercourses 
including Werrington Brook (including Cuckoos Hollow), Marholm 

Brook and upper Brook Drain. It will help to meet Water Framework 
Directive (WFD) requirements for Peterborough’s urban 

watercourses. It is now time to review the management prescribed to 
assess how well it is being completed. 
 

The Langdyke Trust’s efforts to create new nature reserves in the 

John Clare Countryside area, such as the Etton-Maxey Nature 

reserve have been further supported, through providing specific 
biodiversity advice. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

N/A 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Continue to support. 

Green infrastructure 
 

13 

 
 
 

 
 

The Green Infrastructure Framework was published by Natural 

England earlier this year. This document covers voluntary guidance 
on the amount type and placement of green infrastructure in all new 
developments. This framework will be used to guide Peterborough 

consultations going forward and will hopefully be used to inform future 
planning policy. 

 

Limited time available 

to dedicate to the 
revision of the Green 
Infrastructure and 

biodiversity 
supplementary 

planning document. 

The framework needs to be 

reviewed and then 
incorporated into planning 
recommendations going 

forward. 
 

 
 

26



1 

Appendix B: Report of progress of charities and landowner’s activities for biodiversity in 
the Peterborough Area 

 

Peterborough Environment City Trust 
Community outreach 

 Over the last couple of years, PECT have seen an increase in the demand from individuals, 
neighbourhoods, and communities to actively be involved in activities to support their local 
environment. This includes the conservation and the creation of nature rich areas, such as 
community growing spaces, tree planting, wildflower meadows, pond restoration and 
habitat creation for declining bird, bat, and bee species. 

 

 Between October 2021 and December 2022, 730 people were engaged in 65 
environmental events. Based off of minimum wage, this represents around £44,000 of 
labour donated to the JCC project by local employers. 
 

 PECT have been working with inner city schools delivering The Royal Forestry Society’s 
Junior Forester Award. The award gives young people an insight into a career in forestry, 
as well as the practical ability to aid in woodland management in their schools and local 
communities. 
 

 As part of the B-lines project, five schools had wildflower areas created within their school 
grounds which can be used as part of many schools’ outdoor classroom practical sessions. 
One school had a three-day B-Line program with a subject expert Dr Mike Ramsey going 
into the school to deliver pollinator-based sessions. Their own wildflower area created 
involved 533 students and twenty-six members of staff. 
 

 Forest for Peterborough project has been a successful large scale public engagement 
activity, which include the following benefits:  

o Increase in areas across Peterborough that have been improved; environmentally, 
aesthetically and will contribute better towards climate change mitigation  

o Local people and volunteers have developed new skills in planting and maintenance 
of trees and plants and have a better appreciation of the importance of pollinators  

o The trainee gained skills in site surveying; tree selection processes; tree and site 
management principles, including planting, pruning and after-care which will enable 
them to secure work in the natural environment sector and will lead to recognised 
sector experience and with additional qualifications.  

 
 As part of the John Clare Countryside project the following was completed 

o In May of 2022, 200 children planted sunflower seeds. 
o 370 packets of native wildflower seeds were given out. 
o 9 Wellbeing Walks, 2 geocaching days and 65 environmental events were held. 
o 3 BBC radio interviews were attended reaching an audience of over 87 thousand 

people for each interview. 
o Attended 5 village fetes and festivals between May and August 2022. 

 
Biodiversity improvements 
 

 In partnership with Peterborough City Council and Buglife, PECT have been delivering the 
local element of the national B-Lines programme. B-Lines is an initiative aiming to reverse 

the decline in pollinator populations by creating a network. In total, twenty-five wildflower 
sites were established by eighteen separate groups or organisations. Two resident 

groups (Botolph and Woodston) were both long standing groups with a formal structure 

and have created and are maintaining two sites. Other groups included an informal 
group of bereaved parents whose children were laid to rest in Fletton Cemetery and 

wanted a small wildflower area establishing in remembrance. Five school grounds had 

wildflower areas created and thirty-five schools were involved in receiving the seed 
bomb kits. 
 

27



2 

 Over 3,000 wildflower seed packets have been distributed to residents across the city 

and over 4,000 seed bombs were distributed to schools and young people group. 
Originally the seed bomb kits were expected to deliver in excess of 6,000 seed bombs, 

however it was noted that the seed bombs were being made slightly larger and so the 

individual number of seed bombs was reduced to accommodate the increased s ize of 
the Seed bomb; the quantity of seed supplied in the kits was the same. 
 

 The Green Recovery Challenge funding has enabled PECT to continue to successfully 
deliver the Forest for Peterborough programme and plant over 12,025 trees. This has led to 
improvements in the local natural environment and supported retention and recruitment 
within the natural environment team at PECT. It has meant PECT now has planted 129,700 
trees against our 230k target 
 

 As part of the John Clare Countryside project the following was completed 
o 419 native trees planted. 
o 280m2 wildflower meadows were created or restored. 
o 1.6km of double hedgerow planted 
o 2 new Barn Owl boxes put up. 
o 5 ponds restored and 3 bog gardens created. 
o 1 rainwater harvester made to a unique design. 
o 18,800 plug plants and wildflower bulbs planted. 

 
Langdyke Countryside Trust 

Community outreach 

 Over the course of 2021 LCT greeted ten external speakers, hosted 18 events, and brought 
more than 250 people together. 
 

 LCT were blessed with some fantastic speakers and guides covering a wide variety of 
topics from the origins of The Langdyke Countryside Trust to John Clare’s link with local 
archaeology, the future of nature conservation, Nightingales at Castor Hanglands, the 
importance of trees in the landscape, past present and future and the Geology of John 
Clare Countryside. Our external speakers and guides included; Enrique Moranmontero, 
National Restoration Manager at Tarmac; Jeremy Mynott, author and emeritus fellow of 
Wolfson college Cambridge; Mark Cocker, award winning author and journalist; Garden 
Designer and Gardeners World presenter Adam Frost; Geraint Richards, Head Forester for 
The Duchy of Cornwall; Tony Kirkham, Head of Arboretum, Gardens and Horticultural 
Services at Kew Gardens; Christine Reid, Principal Conservation Advisor at The Woodland 
Trust and Dr Jonathan Larwood, Natural England, Senior Specialist. 
 

 82 people made a pledge to garden for wildlife over an area equivalent to three times the 
footprint of Peterborough Cathedral and 29 people joined LCT for a walk during COP26, 
discussing all things nature related and making personal pledges to reduce their carbon 
footprint including; eating less meat, reducing air miles and volunteering in John Clare 
Countryside. 
 

 Membership of LCT currently is up on previous years at 216. 
 
Biodiversity improvements 

 The Trust is currently raising funds to purchase a further 23 acres of land along the Maxey 
Cut. Christ’s College Pits are two large restored gravel pits, surrounded by native trees and 
shrubs and providing excellent habitat for dragonflies, ducks and wading birds. The site is 
used by many species including turtle dove, gadwall, wigeon, teal, snipe, lapwing, grey 
heron, redshank and little egret, along with four-spotted moths and glow worms. If 
successful, this land purchase would link the Trust’s land holdings in this area, creating a 
continuous block of land between Helpston, Maxey and Etton that is managed for nature 
and for people to enjoy nature. The Trust’s total land holding would then total just under 
200 acres. 
 

28



3 

 Bainton Heath has seen the number of species present increase significantly across the 
board, with over 179 more invertebrate species over a ten year period. The site has large 
numbers of species of liverworts, mosses, and lichens. Management of the site to promote 
biodiversity continues including a series of new ecological enhancements. 
 

 Eton Maxey Pit continues to see a wide number of visiting birds, include extremely rare 
species such as Bitten and Marsh Harrier as well as large numbers of more common birds. 
Starling murmuration’s occurred again. In particular, the local turtle dove population had 
another good year and there were notable populations of Man 24Orchid and Autumn 
Ladies Tresses again this year. It is hoped that the creation of new scrapes on the Etton 
Maxey Pit reserve should boost Lapwing and Redshank populations next year. 

 

 Vergette Wood Meadow has a wide variety of invertebrate and plant species with over 153 
floral species being observed. The Sand Martin boxes have been occupied during the first 
year of operation and five Elm saplings have been planted.  
 

 Swaddywell Pit has had a reduction in overall grazing level to slow more scrub to emerge. 
Overall this should benefit the insects and encouraging numbers of quite rare Grizzled and 
Dingy Skipper butterflies have been observed, and most importantly their food plant 
locations pinpointed for protection. 
 

 Lots of other smaller projects have also continued or been started, such as the 
collaboration with PCC, Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire and Northamptonshire Wildlife Trust 
and PECT to start the John Clare Countryside Verges Working Group. 

 
Nene Park Trust 

Community outreach 

 Over the last year the Nene Park Trust has been developing a management plan for its 
wider portfolio of land neighbouring the River Nene. This has helped the Trust prioritise its 
nature restoration work, alongside achieving wider farming and public engagement 
objectives. 
 

 The Trust’s share farming scheme has seen more land being managed with rare bread 
livestock helping deliver key nature conservation objectives. This has included expansion of 
the Red Devon herd and the first successful year of the Trust’s direct meat sales initiative. 
 
Biodiversity improvements 

 Exciting projects have been delivered at the Trust West Holmes and Sutton Meadows sites 
using the RSPB’s rotary ditcher, with feasibility work ongoing with the Wildlife Trust and the 
Environment Agency on a more significant restoration scheme at West Holmes, 
reconnecting the River Nene with its floodplain. 
 

 The Trust is coming together with the Peterborough and District Angling Association, to 
produce an ecological management plan for its lakes and fishery, working with the 
Environment Agency and a local consultant. This will see the production of a list of 
ecological enhancement projects which the Trust will work with these partners to deliver, 
with a key aim of improving fish recruitment and refuge, with the possibility of creating a 
significant area of new reed bed. 
 

 As part of Cambridgeshire’s District Licencing Scheme for Great Crested Newts, several 
ponds have been restored across Nene Park Trust’s land holding working with the Wildlife 
Trust BCN. A number of new pond sites are also being investigated. 

 

 Green hay was also taken and spread on arable reversion land, next to the Castor Flood 
Meadows SSSI, to try and extend the fantastic floral diversity of this site onto neighbouring 
land.  

29



This page is intentionally left blank

30



 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 6 

28 FEBRUARY 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Adrian Chapman, Executive Director Place and Economy 

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Marco Cereste, Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning, 
Housing and Transport 

Contact Officer(s): Hannah Swinburne, Principal Climate Change Officer  Tel. 01733 453479 

 

PETERBOROUGH DRAFT COUNCIL CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

FROM: Adrian Chapman, Executive Director of Place 

and Economy 
 

Deadline date: N/A 

 
     It is recommended that the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee note the update on 

the Draft Council Climate Change Action Plan and provide comments on proposals for future 
commitments. 

 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 The report has been requested by the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee. 

 
2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  

 
2.1 This report is brought to the Scrutiny Committee to share the Draft Council Climate Change 

Action Plan. Councillors may wish to provide comments on the plan for inclusion in the final 
version. 
 

2.2 This report is for Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee to consider under its 
Terms of Reference No. Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 
Functions determined by Council:  
 
4. Climate Change; 
5. Reducing Carbon Emissions and achieving Net Zero Carbon Emissions; 
10. Energy Generation and Consumption. 
 

3. TIMESCALES 

  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

YES If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

tbc 

 
 
 

Date for relevant Council meeting tbc Date for submission 
to Government 
Dept. (Please 
specify which 
Government Dept.) 

N/A 

 

31



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 

Background 

On 24 July 2019, the council declared a climate emergency, the council then approved and 
adopted the first council carbon management action plan in March 2020. Council agreed to 
update this action plan annually. This report is the 4th edition of a climate change action plan to 
reduce emissions across the council. 
 
Report overview 

The Draft Council Climate Change Action Plan is brought to the Climate Change and Environment 
Scrutiny Committee for discussion. Any suggestions will be considered, and the final version may 
be edited ahead of recommendation to Council for adoption. There is the opportunity to suggest 
projects to reduce the council’s greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
Carbon footprint 

The council calculates its carbon footprint annually. In 2021/22 the council emitted 13,647 tonnes 
CO2e, plus emissions from purchased goods and services which have not been calculated. 
Emissions have reduced from the previous financial year, primarily through the reduction in 
emissions from the purchased goods and services within the Peterborough Highways Service. 
Another key action to reduce emissions is the use of HVO fuel instead of diesel within this 
contract. This occurred partway through the financial year, so vehicle emissions are expected to 
reduce further in future years. 
 
1,224 MWh of electricity was generated via solar panels across the council’s estate. Some of this 
electricity will have been used on site, with some exported to the national grid. 
 
The council purchased 95% of its electricity use through a green electricity tariff, which reduced 
net emissions to 9,927 tonnes CO2e. When considering net emissions (i.e. with consideration of 
the green electricity tariff), the council’s most significant areas of emissions are the goods and 
services purchased through the highways contract (4,809 tonnes CO2e), council purchased gas 
(2,780 tonnes CO2e) and Aragon-owned transport (1,670 tonnes CO2e). 
 
Assumptions for waste produced from council buildings have been used (based on previous 
financial years). When data for the 2021/22 year is available, the carbon footprint will be edited. 
This is not expected to significantly change the overall data or conclusions as this is likely to 
represent under 1% of the council’s emissions. 
 
Progress on 2022 commitments 

The previous report was adopted by council in June 2022. This report details progress made on 
the commitments during the seven months since its adoption; work will continue to complete the 
commitments over time, with an update available when the final Council Climate Change Action 
Plan is drafted. Key achievements include the significant level of funding secured for tree planting 
and research and drafting of a procurement plan to reduce emissions through the council’s supply 
chain. 
 
Proposed 2023 commitments 

There are several commitments suggested within the report. These include the development of 
a roadmap to net zero emissions, installation of solar panels and LED lighting for suitable 
buildings and implementation of a carbon reduction procurement plan to support suppliers to 
reduce emissions. It is recommended that selection of projects considers the following aspects: 
 
· Project cost. Projects which could be funded by external grants or will offer financial savings 

may be prioritised. 

· Potential impact to emissions. Projects with the highest potential impact to emissions may 

be prioritised. 

· Ease of implementation. Staffing resources must be utilised efficiently to ensure that 

maximal projects can be delivered. 

32



· Public demonstration. The council has an important leadership role in demonstrating how 

projects which tackle climate change can be completed to other organisations and businesses. 

 
5. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

 

5.1 The Economy & Inclusive Growth 
 
The proposed commitments for the upcoming year will decrease carbon emissions, through 
reduced electricity consumption, decreased staff travel and increased carbon capture through 
tree planting. 
 
There are several commitments which aim to empower staff and councillors to develop carbon 
reduction projects. Additional projects that reduce carbon emissions will likely be brought forward 
and have not yet been identified. 
 
The Council Climate Change Action Plan focuses on actions that can reduce Council emissions 
rather than city wide emissions, however the council does play a leadership role in demonstrating 
good practices and therefore may have an impact on wider emissions. 
 
Sustainable Future City Council 
 
Financial savings are expected to be made through the generation of electricity from solar panels 
and the reduced energy consumption through LED lighting. 
 

6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1 Relevant officers have input into the report to comment on progress on the 2022 commitments 

and propose commitments for the following action plan. 
 

7. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  

 
7.1 It is anticipated that councillors note the progress on the commitments made within the 2022 

Council Climate Change Action Plan and discuss the proposed projects for the upcoming year. 
 

8. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
8.1 The Council has previously committed to the actions of preparing an updated Council Climate 

Change Action Plan. 
 
The document for consideration has been developed by officers and has taken account of 
reasonable and viable options for the council to cut its carbon emissions. 
 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
9.1 The option of not preparing a Council Change Action Plan is dismissed, because Council has 

already committed in principle to its preparation. Alternative content within the Action Plan could 
have been prepared and recommended, which could have committed more, less or different 
projects to reduce the council’s carbon emissions. However, in order to start to reduce our 
emissions to net-zero by 2030, yet take account of the resources available, the content of the 
action plan is deemed a reasonable and practical set of actions for the next 12 months. 
 

10. IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Financial Implications 

 
10.1 The proposal to install LED lighting and solar panels for suitable buildings and the proposal to 

transform energy management to identify potential energy reduction will require council funding. 
These have been proposed in the transformation bid and will require full business case 
development ahead of securing finance. 

33



 

 Legal Implications 

 
10.2 There are no direct legal implications associated with this report. 

 
 Equalities Implications 

 
10.3 There are no equality implications associated with this report. 

 
11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
 

11.1 Peterborough City Council’s declaration of a climate emergency, July 2019 
Council Carbon Management Action Plan, March 2020 
Council Carbon Management Action Plan, March 2021 
Council Climate Change Action Plan, June 2022 
 

12. APPENDICES 
 

12.1 Appendix 1 - Draft 2023 Climate Change Action Plan 
 

 

34



APPENDIX 1 

Draft Council Climate Change Action Plan 
 

 

February 2023 

  

35



APPENDIX 1 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................... 4 

Climate change............................................................................................................................. 5 

Global climate change commitments ......................................................................................... 5 

Climate impacts ........................................................................................................................ 5 

Greenhouse gases..................................................................................................................... 6 

Peterborough City Council Commitment .................................................................................... 6 

Peterborough City Council’s Carbon Footprint ................................................................................ 8 

Methodology ............................................................................................................................ 8 

Council carbon footprint 2021/22 ............................................................................................ 10 

Comparison to previous years.................................................................................................. 10 

Green electricity tariff ............................................................................................................. 14 

Renewable energy .................................................................................................................. 15 

Intensity ratio ......................................................................................................................... 15 

Future decarbonisation of the national electricity grid .............................................................. 16 

Project development............................................................................................................... 17 

Decarbonisation projects ............................................................................................................ 18 

2022 Commitments to address carbon emissions ..................................................................... 18 

2023 Commitments to address carbon emissions ..................................................................... 23 

Finance ...................................................................................................................................... 25 

Offsetting ............................................................................................................................... 25 

Project management .................................................................................................................. 26 

Identifying Projects ................................................................................................................. 26 

Initiating Projects .................................................................................................................... 26 

Monitoring Projects ................................................................................................................ 26 

Reporting Progress.................................................................................................................. 27 

Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee.............................................................. 27 

Council adoption / approval .................................................................................................... 27 

City-wide climate action plan ...................................................................................................... 28 

Update on the development of a city-wide climate action plan.................................................. 28 

Adaptation Plan.......................................................................................................................... 29 

A Just Transition ......................................................................................................................... 29 

Appendix A................................................................................................................................. 30 

Defining The Scope ................................................................................................................. 30 

36



APPENDIX 1 

The Organisational Boundary................................................................................................... 31 

Excluded Emissions ................................................................................................................. 32 

Data Collection ....................................................................................................................... 34 

Calculating emissions .............................................................................................................. 35 

Conversion Factors .............................................................................................................. 35 

Baseline Year Recalculation Policy ........................................................................................ 36 

 

  

37



APPENDIX 1 

Executive Summary 
Peterborough has the potential to be a truly sustainable city. A city which has a thriving local 

economy, strong communities and a sustainable way of life. A city where our residents are healthy, 

happy and prosperous. We are committed to environmental leadership, decision-making and 
continuous improvement.  

To achieve this we will need to do things differently. If everyone on Earth lived as the average 

Peterborian, British or European citizen does, we would need nearly three planets’ worth of 

resources to sustain us1. This means, on average, each of us is using too much of the world’s 

resources to produce the food we eat, treat the waste we produce, generate the energy we use, 
consume the goods and services we take for granted, and the travel around the area and beyond. 

Peterborough City Council has committed to take action to help support Peterborough to become a 

net zero carbon city, reversing the trend of increasing consumption of natural resources and instead 
put Peterborough on the road to becoming a truly sustainable city. 

 

Peterborough City Council not only has an important role in placeshaping and in developing a city -

wide vision, but also wishes to demonstrate leadership in tackling climate change and has therefore 

committed to becoming a net zero carbon organisation by 2030. In order to deliver upon this, the 

council annually measures its carbon footprint and produces an action plan to achieve further 
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

In the financial year 2021/22, Peterborough City Council emitted 13,647 tonnes CO2e. In this and the 

previous financial year, the council’s carbon footprint has included emissions from the goods and 

services purchased through the Peterborough Highways Services contract, however this data was 

not available prior to this, or for other contracts which the council holds. Excluding this data, the 

council emitted 8,839 tonnes CO2e, this represents a 24% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions 

relative to the 2018/2019 baseline. After reductions due to the purchase of green electricity, net 
emissions reduced from 13,647 to 9,927 tonnes CO2e. 

 

Last year, the council committed to 25 actions to reduce its carbon emissions. Key successes have 

included securing funding to plant trees and researching and drafting a procurement plan to reduce 
supply chain emissions. 

 

This draft action plan proposes 11 actions to reduce greenhouse gases in 2023/24. These include 

developing a roadmap to net zero emissions, installation of solar panels and LED lighting for suitable 

buildings and implementation of a carbon reduction procurement plan to support suppliers to 
reduce emissions. 

 

                                                                 
1 WWF (2019) EU Overshoot Day. Living beyond nature’s l imits   
https://wwfeu.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/wwf_eu_overshoot_day___living_beyond_nature_s_limits_w
eb.pdf 

38

https://wwfeu.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/wwf_eu_overshoot_day___living_beyond_nature_s_limits_web.pdf
https://wwfeu.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/wwf_eu_overshoot_day___living_beyond_nature_s_limits_web.pdf


APPENDIX 1 

 

Climate change 
The climate science is undeniable, with the impacts of climate breakdown already causing seri ous 

damage around the world. Extreme weather events are likely to occur more severely and more 
frequently across Peterborough. 

 

Global climate change commitments 
Since the industrial revolution it is estimated that humans have caused global temperatures to  

increase by 1.07°C, as of 20192. The Paris Agreement, which has been signed by almost all countries 

across the world, commits each signatory to aim to keep global temperatures to a 2°C rise, aiming 

for below 1.5°C. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Special Report on Global 

Warming of 1.5°C, describes the enormous harm that a 2°C average rise in global temperatures is 

likely to cause compared with a 1.5°C rise. The United Nations Climate Change Conference of Parties 

(COP) is held annually to ensure action continues towards the Paris Agreement goals. COP27 was 

held in Egypt in November 2022, where it was noted that there is a “clear emissions gap between 
current national climate plans and what’s needed to limit temperature rise to 1.5 degre es C.”3,4 

 

Climate impacts 
Climate impacts are being seen across the world. Global temperatures have increased faster over 

the past 50 years than at any other time within the past 2000 years. In the 2010s, Arctic sea ice was 

at its lowest level since at least 1850 and global sea levels have risen faster since 1900 than any 
other century in the last 3000 years. Each of these scientific observations has high certainty. 2 

 

The impact of climate change is also being seen locally today. The highest temperature ever 

recorded in the UK occurred in 2022; temperatures of 39.9°C were recorded at Wittering (the Met 

Office station closed to Peterborough). Intense periods of rainfall have occurred across 

Peterborough, most recently in December 2020, July 2021 and October 2022 where several 

properties were flooded internally for the first time in roughly 20 years, impacting people’s lives and 

livelihoods. In the summer of 2022, 8 areas across the UK were declared to be in drought. These 

weather events are predicted to become more severe and more frequent as global temperatures 

rise further. The latest UK climate projections suggest that the UK climate will continue to warm over 

the rest of this century and on average will result in hotter and drier summers, warmer and wetter 
winters with more extreme weather events expectError! Bookmark not defined.  

 

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Commission on Climate was established by the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority in 2020. The Commission identified a 

                                                                 
2 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2021) Climate Change 2021, The Physical Science Basis, 
Working Group I contribution to the Sixth As sessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change 
3 World Resources Institute (2022) COP27: Key Outcomes from the UN Climate Talks in Sharm el-Sheikh | 
World Resources Institute (wri.org) 
4 House of Commons Library (2023) What was agreed at COP27? (parliament.uk) 

39

https://www.wri.org/insights/cop27-key-outcomes-un-climate-talks-sharm-el-sheikh
https://www.wri.org/insights/cop27-key-outcomes-un-climate-talks-sharm-el-sheikh
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/what-was-agreed-at-cop27/#:~:text=The%20final%20decision%20text%2C%20known,Celsius%20above%20pre%2Dindustrial%20levels.


APPENDIX 1 

number of severe climate risks to people, infrastructure and the natural and built environment 

across the local area. For example, across the county, one in 10 homes are predicted to face river 

flooding, with higher risk in East Peterborough. Surface water flooding is a risk in paved areas due to 

intense rainfall over short periods of time. Storm surges may cause the Nene to tidal f lood. 

Temperatures above 36°C are likely to occur every 20 years by 2050; overheating may lead to health 

risks. Drier summers will stretch water resources and impact farming, industry and the natural 

environment. Warmer and drier summers will also lead to rapid degradation of peatlands. Peatland 

degradation will increase carbon emissions and make land less suitable for farming. 5 These 

observations and scientific predictions evidence the need to act urgently to minimise the impact of 
climate change. 

 

Greenhouse gases 
Human activity has caused accelerated release of greenhouses gases, which has caused heat to 

become trapped, resulting in global temperature rises. Solar energy travels from the sun to Earth, 

some of this energy is reflected back into space, whilst some becomes trapped by greenhouse gases. 

The greenhouse effect is essential in warming earth to a temperature which can sustain life, 

however since the industrial revolution, humans have been responsible for releasing unsustainable 

amounts of greenhouse gases. This has caused more and more energy to become trapped and has 

led to rising global temperatures. 

 

There are four main gases which have contributed to global temperatures rises, these are carbon 

dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and fluorinated gases. Carbon dioxide is responsible for 81% of 

global warming, methane 11%, nitrous oxide 4% and fluorinated gases 3%. To ensure that global 

temperatures do not exceed a 2°C rise, it is essential that greenhouse gas emissions are limited and 

a net zero state is reached as soon as possible. A net zero state is defined as when an equal amount 

of greenhouse gas emissions are captured, as those emitted. 

 

Peterborough City Council Commitment 
 

In 2019 Peterborough City Council declared a climate emergency, committing to becoming a net 

zero carbon organisation by 2030 and to supporting Peterborough to become a net zero carbon city . 

 

In making this declaration the Council committed to a wide range of comprehensive actions, 
including, in summary: 

 Ensure political and chief officer leadership to embed this priority into work, ensuring all decisions 

are in line with net zero carbon by 2030.  

 Undertake public engagement by establishing a Climate Change Partnership group, proactively 
involving young people and convening a people’s assembly. 

                                                                 
5 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Independent Commission on Climate (2021) Fairness, nature and 
communities: addressing climate change in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough October 2021  

40



APPENDIX 1 

  Review budget proposals and the ascertain environmental impact.  

 Use planning powers to deliver net zero carbon new developments and communities.  

 Increase tree planting.  

 Achieve 100% green energy across the council’s full range of functions by 2030 and explore 

renewable generation and storage. 

 Replace all council vehicles with electric or hybrid vehicles including the mayor’s car, provide 

electric vehicle infrastructure and encourage alternatives to private car use across the city.  

 Increase the efficiency of buildings and help to address fuel poverty. 

 Coordinate events to raise awareness, share best practice and provide information on council 

activities. 

 Call on the UK Government to provide the powers, resources and help with funding to make this 

possible and ask local MPs to do likewise. 

 

 

In 2021, Peterborough City Council signed up to the Peterborough Climate Commitment. The council 

joined organisations across the city who have committed to improve their environmental impact. 

Organisations, such as businesses, schools and charities, agreed to measure, monitor and act to 

reduce carbon emissions, improve the natural environment and reduce consumption of resources. 
Peterborough based organisations are invited to sign up to the Peterborough Climate Commitment. 

 

  

41



APPENDIX 1 

Peterborough City Council’s Carbon Footprint 
 

Methodology 
To determine the effectiveness of the council’s actions and to prioritise plans for future 

decarbonisation, organisational emissions need to be calculated. A few key features of the approach 
to carbon footprinting are highlighted below. 

 

1. Emissions are reported in CO2e 

There are four main gases which contribute to global temperature rises, these are carbon dioxide, 

methane, nitrous oxide and fluorinated gases. Each greenhouse gas has a different capacity for 

trapping heat. The amount produced of each gas is multiplied by its Global Warming Potential to 

calculate a carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) value, this allows for easy comparison between 
emission causing activities. All data within this document is reported using CO2e values. 

 

2. Greenhouse gas emissions are reported in three scopes 

Scope 1 emissions are those which are released on site. These include emissions from the fuel used 
in gas boilers and combustion engine vehicles. 

 

Scope 2 emissions are those which are released by purchased energy where the emissions are 
released offsite. These include emissions from electricity from the national grid.  

 

Scope 3 emissions are those which are released by indirect activities. These can include emissions 

produced by the goods and services we purchase, by staff travel, by the processing of waste 

produced, by the energy dissipated through the transmission and distribution of the energy supply 
system or by a number of other activities. 

 

3. Scope 3 emissions are incomplete 

Scope 3 emissions are difficult to measure as they are not controlled by the organisation. There is a 

data collection challenge, made more difficult by the large number of suppliers the council works 

with and the immaturity in emission reporting seen across many organisations nationally. For goods 

and services that are purchased from a non-exclusive supplier, there is the additional difficulty in 

assigning emissions to each customer and for materials purchased from sub-contractors there are 

additional layers of emission reporting required. There is an acknowledgement that not all of the 
council’s scope 3 emissions are included in the carbon footprint presented.  

 

Calculating scope 3 emissions remains a challenge for all organisations, including local authorities. 

Work is being undertaken in some councils to estimate these emissions, early outputs indicate that 

this activity accounts for the vast majority of council emissions. Local authorities di ffer significantly 

in the activities they have responsibility for and the activities they deliver in house or outsource. As 

42



APPENDIX 1 

few local authorities have undertaken this work, a comparator organisation has not yet been 

identified. However, it is likely that Peterborough City Council’s emissions from purchases would also 
account for a significant proportion of total emissions. 

 

Work will continue to increase the scope 3 emissions measured and therefore scope 3 emissions are 

likely to rise in future years due to improved data collection. This rise in reported emissions would 

not be reflective of a worse environmental impact. The council’s net zero carbon ambitions relate to 

all scopes, and so work will be undertaken to reduce scope 3 emissions as well in addition  to better 
monitoring. 

 

4. Gross emissions and net emissions are reported 

In April 2020, the council started to purchase electricity using a green electricity tariff offered by 

Total Power and Gas. 

 

Electricity used on site is drawn from the national grid, which is produced by a variety of renewable 

and non-renewable sources. Each year a national electricity grid carbon factor is calculated which 

reflects the carbon intensity of the electricity used that year. As the contribution of renewable 

sources has already been factored into calculations, to avoid double counting any zero carbon 

electricity, the national electricity carbon factor should be used to determine the organisation’s 

carbon footprint, this is termed location-based emissions reporting. 

 

The green tariff electricity purchased by the council from Total Power and Gas is certified by Ofgem 

under the Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin scheme. The electricity purchased under this tariff 

can be matched to zero carbon renewable sources and this reduction in emissions can be reflected 

in market-based reporting. For full transparency of data, both location-based and market-based 
emissions are reported. 

 

The gross emissions (calculated using the location-based system for electricity reporting) can be 

offset by reductions owing to purchase of a green electricity tariff. This results in a net emissions 
value, which has been reported. 

 

Our carbon footprint is calculated in line with the UK Government’s Environmental Reporting 

Guidelines for Voluntary Greenhouse Gas Reporting6. A fuller explanation of the methodology used 
to calculate the council’s carbon footprint can be found in appendix A.  

 

                                                                 
6 HM Government (2019) Envi ronmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon 
reporting guidance March 2019 (Updated Introduction and Chapters 1 and 2)  

43



APPENDIX 1 

Council carbon footprint 2021/22 
 

The council’s carbon footprint has been calculated for the year 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022. The 
total emissions equals 13,647 tonnes CO2e. 

 

 

Figure 1: Council carbon footprint 2021/22 (gross emissions) 

 

Comparison to previous years 
 

Peterborough City Council has reported its carbon emissions in this manner since 2018/19, data is 
shown for comparison. 

 

 Emissions (tonnes CO2e) 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Scope 1 2,721 2,255 2763 2554 

Scope 2 4,924 3,503 2551 2838 

Scope 3 3,962 3,855 9476 8256 

Total 11,607 9,613 14,789 13,647 

Table 1: Council carbon footprint comparison of years 2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 
(gross emissions) 

 

44



APPENDIX 1 

 

Figure 2: Council carbon footprint comparison of years 2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 
(gross emissions) 

 

The council’s carbon footprint can be allocated to different categories to allow fuller understanding 

of what activities are contributing to emissions. 

  2021/22 
Greenhouse gas 

emissions  
(tonnes CO2e)  

2021/22 
Percentage of total  

Buildings & utilities  6809 49.9% 

Council buildings* – electricity  2392 17.5% 

Council buildings* – gas  2780 20.4% 

Street lighting – electricity  1394 10.2% 

Car parks – electricity  42 0.3% 

Milestone buildings – electricity  6 0.0% 

Milestone buildings – gas  17 0.1% 

Aragon buildings** – electricity  65 0.5% 

Aragon buildings** – gas  114 0.8% 

Transport  2013 14.8% 

Council transport  102 0.7% 

45



APPENDIX 1 

Council staff business travel  193 1.4% 

Milestone transport  48 0.4% 

Aragon transport  1670 12.2% 

Purchased goods and services  4809 35.2% 

Milestone purchased goods and services  4808 35.2% 

Hotel stays  1 0.0% 

Waste  16 0.1% 

Council waste  7 0.1% 

Milestone waste  9 0.1% 

Total  13647 100% 

 

Table 2: Breakdown of council emissions 2021/22 (gross emissions) 

*Some of the buildings which Peterborough City Council pays the energy bil ls for are rented to commercial 

organisations, therefore although the council owns the asset, it is not under full  control of its operation.  

**Aragon util ities are purchased by the council, however are reported here separately to show organisational 

boundaries. 

 

There are several factors that have contributed to the change in carbon footprint from 2020/21. 

 

The most significant impact to the carbon footprint is the decrease in emissions from materials and 

sub-contractors within the Peterborough Highways Services contract, which is operated by 

Milestone, as reflected in the decreased scope 3 emissions. In 2020/21 this equated to 6,093 tonnes 
CO2e, in 2021/22 this had dropped to 4809 tonnes CO2e. 

 

It should be noted that the financial year 2020/21, saw disruption to previous ways of working, 

including closures of some buildings. Therefore in the past year electricity usage has increased, as 
did business mileage. 

 

Transport emissions within the Milestone contract were also reduced. In part this is due to switching 

to HVO, a biodiesel, part way through the year. HVO releases 90% less CO2e per litre of fuel in 

comparison to diesel. Emissions from this fleet are expected to reduce further next year when HVO 
is used in place of diesel throughout the reporting period. 

 

The council’s gas usage was decreased in comparison to the previous year, this is likely due to a 
comparatively warm winter period. 

 

 

46



APPENDIX 1 

 2021/22 
Greenhouse gas 

emissions 
(tonnes CO2e) 

2021/22 
Percentage of 

total 

Buildings & utilities 6809 50 

Transport 2013 15 

Purchased goods and services 4809 35 

Waste 16 0 

Total 13647 100 

Table 3: Council carbon footprint 2021/22. Data categorisation showing percentage contribution to 
the total carbon footprint (gross emissions) 

 

  

47



APPENDIX 1 

Green electricity tariff 
 

The above data reports on gross greenhouse gas emissions. There are a number of items which can 

be deducted from an organisation’s gross emissions to obtain its net emissions. Examples of 

deductions include emissions offset by purchasing zero carbon energy by verified carbon capture 
schemes, by owned renewable energy generation or by veri fied offsetting schemes. 

 

In April 2020, the council started to purchase electricity using a green electricity tariff offered by 

Total Power and Gas for the majority of its electricity meters. The green tariff electricity is certified 

by Ofgem under the Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin scheme. The electricity purchased under 

this tariff can be matched to zero carbon renewable sources, and this reduction in emissions is 

reflected in market-based reporting. 

 

95% of the council’s electricity use is supplied via a green electricity tariff. Most electricity accounts 

the council has, used a green tariff throughout the year. A small number of meters have transitioned 

across to a green electricity tariff part way through the 2021/22 financial year. The council seeks to 
transition more electricity meters across to a green electricity tariff.  

 

The following graph shows how the reduction in electricity emissions contributes to the overall 

carbon footprint. It is reflected in reduced scope 2 and scope 3 emissions. After considering the 

market-based emissions from electricity, the net carbon footprint of the council is reduced from 
13,647 tonnes CO2e to 9,927 tonnes CO2e. 

 

 Emissions (tonnes CO2e) 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
 

2021/22 

Scope 1 2,721 2,255 2,763 2554 

Scope 2 4,924 3,503 2,551 2838 

Scope 3 3,962 3,855 9,476 8256 

Total gross 
emissions 

11,607 9,613 14,789 13,647 

Green tariff N/A N/A 2,713 3,720 

Total net 
emissions 

11,607 9,613 12,076 9,927 

 

Table 4: Council carbon footprint comparison of years 2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 

(gross and net emissions) 

48



APPENDIX 1 

 

Figure 3: Council carbon footprint comparison of gross and net emissions for the financial year 
2021/22 

 

Renewable energy 
1224 MWh of renewable energy was generated in 2021/22 from Peterborough City Council owned 
solar panels. This generation offset 356 tonnes CO2e that would have elsewise been produced. 

 

Intensity ratio 
 

Local government responsibilities are often flexible with activities differing over time. These 

changing activities may affect the amount of greenhouse gas emissions and therefore it can be 
useful to express carbon emissions as intensity ratios. 

 

Intensity ratios express the greenhouse gas impact per unit of spend or per member of staff. The 

council employed 1,122 full time equivalent (FTE) staff in 2021/22 which equates to an intensity 

measure of 8.85 tonnes CO2e/FTE. There are limitations in this data as there are buildings which are 
rented to external organisations, for which the staffing count is not considered.  

 

49



APPENDIX 1 

The council spent £549,480,000 in 2021/227 (subject to audit), which equates to an intensity 
measure of 18.07 tonnes CO2e per £1m spent. 

 

 2018/19 
Gross 

emissions 

2019/20 
Gross 

emissions 

2020/21 
Gross 

emissions 

2020/21 
Net 

emissions 

2021/22 
Gross 

emissions 

2021/22 
Net 

emissions 

Intensity ratio – 
greenhouse gas 
emissions per staff 
(tonnes CO2e/FTE) 

12.17 10.08 13.12 10.43 12.16 8.85 

Intensity ratio – 
greenhouse gas 
emissions per 
spend (tonnes 
CO2e/£1m spent) 

19.18 19.01 29.88 23.76 24.84 18.07 

Table 5: Intensity ratio comparison of years 2018/19 (gross), 2019/20 (gross), 2020/21 (gross) , 
2020/21 (net), 2021/22 (gross) and 2021/22 (net) emissions. 

 

It should be noted that the council delivers some of its services via 3rd party arrangements and the 

staff number for these services is not included. The council also delivers a number of services via 

partnership arrangements with Cambridgeshire County Council; this is reflected in the overall FTE 
count. 

 

Future decarbonisation of the national electricity grid 
The national electricity grid is expected to show a decarbonising trend over time. From a 2021 

baseline, the carbon emissions factor is expected to reduce by 77% by 2030 and by 99% by 20508. 

This will mean that future electricity use will become less carbon intensive. If the council’s electricity 

use remained at 2021/22 levels, this would represent a 3,002 tonne decrease in the council’s gross 

carbon emissions by 2030. Additional emissions savings would be made as the carbon footprints of 

suppliers from which the council purchases goods and services would also be reduced. However as 

the total emissions are not currently included in the council’s emissions, the reduction cannot be 
calculated. 

 

 

 

                                                                 
7 Peterborough City Council (2022) Statement of Accounts 2021/22 Statement of Accounts 2021-22 - Draft 
(peterborough.gov.uk) 
8 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (2023) Green Book supplementary guidance: 
valuation of energy use and greenhouse gas emissions for appraisal – Data tables - Electricity emissions factors 
to 2100, kgCO2e/kWh 

50

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/asset-library/Statement-of-Accounts-2021-22-Draft.pdf
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/asset-library/Statement-of-Accounts-2021-22-Draft.pdf


APPENDIX 1 

 

Figure 4: Governmental projections for the carbon emissions factor for the national grid, assuming 
public sector use, calculated using a consumption based grid-average. 

 

 

Project development 
Analysis of the carbon footprint data enables identification of high emitting areas to prioritise 

decarbonisation projects. The most significant area of emissions is purchased goods and services 

through the highways contract (4,809 tonnes CO2e), followed by council purchased gas (2,780 
tonnes CO2e) and Aragon-owned transport (1,670 tonnes CO2e). 

 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

20
36

20
37

20
38

20
39

20
40

20
41

20
42

20
43

20
44

20
45

20
46

20
47

20
48

20
49

20
50

Ex
p

ec
te

d
 c

h
a

n
ge

 i
n

  t
h

e 
gr

ee
n

h
o

u
se

 g
as

 
em

is
si

o
n

s 
fa

ct
o

r 
o

f t
h

e 
n

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

el
ec

tr
ic

it
y 

gr
id

1
0

0
%

 r
ep

re
se

n
ts

 t
h

e 
2

0
2

1
 b

a
se

li
n

e

51



APPENDIX 1 

Decarbonisation projects 
 

In order to become a net zero carbon organisation, the council  has commenced a programme of 

climate change projects. Each year the council makes a number of commitments to reduce 
organisational greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

2022 Commitments to address carbon emissions 
 

The council made 25 commitments in the 2022 Council Carbon Management Action Plan. Progress 

on these commitments is discussed below. It has been 8 months since these commitments have 

been made, an interim progress update is discussed below. The final report will detail further 
progress made in the coming months. 

 

  

52



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

Progress on 2022 Commitments 

 Commitments Area of 
emissions 

Update 

1 Develop a communications plan to 
support staff to lower carbon emissions. 

Overarching A communications plan has 
been developed. Messages will 
be circulated to staff over the 
following year. 

2 Deliver carbon literacy training to 
councillors and officers. Aiming to 
achieve 70% over the next few years. 

Overarching Carbon literacy training has 
been delivered to senior 
officers in the Place and 
Economy directorate. Further 
opportunities will be promoted 
to staff and Councillors shortly. 

3 Monitor and support councillors and 
officers to deliver upon carbon 
reduction pledges made during carbon 
literacy training. 

Overarching Trainees have been contacted 
to discuss progress on their 
carbon literacy pledges. 
Support will be offered where 
needed. 

4 Work with officers to conduct a review 
of each service to determine how the 
council can reduce carbon emissions. 

Overarching A draft template has been 
created for discussions with 
service leads. It is anticipated 
that this work will progress in 
coming months. 

5 Develop a process by which in the 
council’s budget setting process, 
wherever possible, spending plans are 
reprioritised to enable Peterborough 
City Council to better achieve its 
corporate objective of achieving net 
zero carbon by 2030. 

Overarching Officers from the climate 
change team were represented 
through the budget setting 
process to make suggestions on 
proposals to reduce carbon. 
Further work will be 
undertaken to improve for the 
following year’s budget setting 
process. 

6 Develop a process to consider the 
financial and environmental value of 
carbon capture and carbon emission 
reductions. Financial and environmental 
costs will result from the impacts of 
climate change if global carbon 
reduction is not achieved. 

Overarching Research on this activity is 
ongoing. 

7 Collaborate with other local authorities 
to ensure best practice is shared and 
opportunities to collaborate are 
identified and developed. 

Overarching Officers have been 
collaborating closely with 
colleagues from neighbouring 
local authorities and with the 
Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined 
Authority. Officers regularly 
attend webinars to share 

53



APPENDIX 1 

insight on decarbonisation 
projects. 

8 Engage with national government on 
the resources and legislation necessary 
to empower and fund local government 
to deliver the council’s climate 
ambitions. 

Overarching Officers respond to relevant 
consultations and are in 
discussions with government 
departments on specific 
projects. 

9 Seek to utilise section 106 and other 
external funding to expand the capacity 
of the climate change core team. 

Overarching A School Climate Change officer 
joined the climate change team 
in July 2022. Plans to expand 
the team to include a project 
development officer, who will 
be able to write funding 
applications to increase service 
resources, and a trainer to 
deliver carbon literacy training 
to the local community are 
being progressed. 

10 Develop a business case for Aragon to 
use low carbon fuel (e.g. HVO) across its 
fleet. 

Transport 
 

HVO has been trialled in two 
waste fleet vehicles. Officers 
are in the process of writing a 
business case, considering 
learnings from this trial. 

11 Work with Milestone to increase the 
uptake of low carbon fuel across the 
supply chain. 

Transport Officers are in close 
conversation with Milestone to 
progress this. 

12 Develop an air travel policy which seeks 
to eliminate air travel for journeys 
within Great Britain and require Director 
signoff for overseas air travel. 

Transport 
 

Officers are researching similar 
policies in other organisations 
to inform the development of a 
draft air travel policy for 
Peterborough City Council. 

13 Conduct a council-wide travel survey to 
determine post-pandemic travel habits 
to inform plans which could reduce 
emissions from business mileage. 

Transport Plans have been developed to 
undertake a staff survey in the 
final quarter of 22/23. It is 
anticipated that results will be 
analysed prior to the final draft 
of the 2023 Council Climate 
Change Action Plan. 

14 Support and promote car sharing, active 
travel and use of public transport to 
staff and councillors. 

Transport Officers are developing a 
communications plan, which we 
anticipate being complete in 
coming weeks. 

15 Develop a policy to incorporate the 
transport hierarchy across the council's 
capital projects. This would ensure that 
facilities were in place and information 
available to support staff and visitors to 
walk, cycle or take public transport over 
travelling by car. 

Transport Officers are researching policies 
from other organisations to 
develop a version for 
Peterborough City Council. 

16 Develop a policy to incorporate the 
waste hierarchy across the council's 

Waste 
 

Officers are researching policies 
from other organisations to 

54



APPENDIX 1 

capital projects and service delivery. 
This would ensure that facilities were in 
place and information available to 
support staff and visitors to deal with 
waste in the following order of 
prioritisation: prevent, reduce, reuse, 
recycle, recover and dispose. 

develop a version for 
Peterborough City Council. 

17 Conduct a sampling exercise of council 
waste to inform the setting of a council 
waste target. Deliver targeted 
communications to improve waste 
reduction and separation. 

Waste Officers have observed an 
altered waste pattern, likely to 
be due to increased home 
working. Recently members of 
staff have begun to return to 
the office and it is expected 
that the current arrangements 
(and therefore waste patterns) 
are expected to remain 
constant. For this reason, plans 
for a waste audit have been 
delayed. Plans are in place for a 
waste audit during the final 
quarter of 22/23. 

18 Ensure the council’s use of single use 
plastic is reduced. 

Waste This is being considered within 
the development of the 
procurement plan and staff 
communications plan. 

19 Research and explore options with the 
ambition of developing a procurement 
plan which will look to include 
progressive milestones to 2030 to 
support the council's supply chain to 
reduce emissions. 

Purchases Officers in procurement, legal 
and climate change have 
drafted a procurement plan for 
consideration. 

20 Set low carbon construction methods 
and materials as default options within 
the Milestone highways contract. 

Purchases Milestone intends to obtain 
PAS2080 accreditation, which is 
a standard associated with 
carbon management in 
infrastructure. Council officers 
have undertaken training on 
the PAS2080 standard and will 
support Milestone to reduce 
carbon emissions across the 
service.  

21 Continue to improve asset management 
of council owned mobile phones and IT 
equipment to further 
reduce unnecessary purchases and 
wastage. 

Purchases There is a recycling process for 
all IT equipment. Chromebooks 
which are no longer used by 
staff have been given to adults 
leaving care and Ukrainian 
refugees. Officers will continue 
to prioritise asset management 
of devices. 

22 Seek grant funding or sponsorship to 
support delivery of 125 hectares of tree 

Land Use The council has been successful 
in recent funding applications 

55



APPENDIX 1 

planting per annum to deliver the 
council’s 25% tree canopy cover target 
by 2035. 

to fund the planting and 
maintenance of trees for three 
years. £261,100 was received 
through Treescape 1 for tree 
planting in 2021/22 and the 
following maintenance; and 
£299,900 was received through 
Treescape 2 for tree planting in 
2022/23 and the following 
maintenance. 
 
In addition, the council has also 
been successful in receiving 
funding through the Woodland 
Creation Accelerator Fund to 
employ an officer and work 
with PECT to develop tree 
planting plans and seek 
additional funding. (£149,800) 

23 Investigate the potential of setting up a 
carbon credit scheme to complement 
the council’s tree planting ambition. 

Land Use The Combined Authority 
Climate Change Programme 
contains a sustainable finance 
workstream. Peterborough City 
Council officers support this 
work. As this work develops, 
council officers will determine if 
this action sits best at the Local 
or Combined Authority level. 

24 Work with Aragon to optimise climate 
friendly practices, both to mitigate and 
adapt to climate change. 

Land Use Aragon is trialling the use of 
glyphosate alternatives as 
weedkillers this summer. 
Previous trials have included 
the use of a biodegradable 
foam based solution to kill 
weeds. Councillors have 
suggested areas of grass that 
could be left uncut to promote 
biodiversity. 

25 Promote licences to cultivate. These 
allow local residents and community 
groups to tend to planted areas of 
council-owned land. 

Land Use PECT has taken on areas in 
alliance with residents. 

Table 6: Progress update of 2022 climate change commitments 

 

In addition to the above commitments, the council has also received funding for the development of 

heat decarbonisation plans for several of the council’s buildings. Suitable energy efficiency measures 

and low carbon heating installations will be identified for each building and estimated costs and 
suggested project timelines will be proposed. This work is due to be completed in March 2023. 

 

56



APPENDIX 1 

 

2023 Commitments to address carbon emissions 
 

To reduce the council’s organisational emissions, a programme of projects for 2023 has been 

proposed. Further commitments may be suggested, or the following proposals edited following 
discussion with councillors and commitments from 2022 will be carried forward as necessary. 

 

In order to make decisions on what projects to take forward, councillors may wish to assess projects 
based on the following criteria: 

 Project cost. Projects which could be funded by external grants or will offer financial savings may 

be prioritised. 

 Potential impact to emissions. Projects with the highest potential impact to emissions may be 

prioritised. 

 Ease of implementation. Staffing resources must be utilised efficiently to ensure that maximal 

projects can be delivered. 

 Public demonstration. The council has an important leadership role in demonstrating how projects 

which tackle climate change can be completed to other organisations and businesses.  

 

The potential impact to emissions has been assessed assuming the project was taken through to 

completion. For instance, the potential impact on emissions for seeking funding for energy efficiency 

and low carbon heating, has been assessed assuming that funding was sought and measures 
installed. 

 

2023 Commitments 
 Commitments Area of emissions Potential impact 

to emissions 

1 Develop a roadmap to detail the transition of the 
council’s organisational emissions to net zero by 
2030 

Overarching Enabling action 

2 Expand carbon literacy training offer to staff and 
councillors. 

Overarching Enabling action 

3 Seek funding to introduce energy efficiency and 
low carbon heating in council buildings 

Buildings High potential 
impact 

4 Support staff to adopt energy saving behaviours 
at work 

Buildings Medium 
potential impact 

5 Secure funding from the council’s transformation 
reserve to review utility billing reform. 

Buildings Enabling action 

6 Install LED lighting in council buildings where it is 
not already insitu  

Buildings Medium 
potential impact 

7 Install solar panels on council buildings where 
there is an opportunity to do so 

Energy High potential 
impact 

57



APPENDIX 1 

8 Continue to seek grant funding or sponsorship to 
support delivery of 125 hectares of tree planting 
per annum to deliver the council’s 25% tree 
canopy cover target by 2035 

Land use Medium 
potential impact 

9 Explore options for additional electric vehicle 
charging at council buildings 

Transport Medium 
potential impact 

10 Implement actions identified within the council’s 
travel plan, which will be developed following 
completion of the travel survey by staff. 

Transport Low potential 
impact 

11 Implement actions within the procurement plan 
which is currently in development. The plan will 
aim to reduce emissions throughout the council’s 
supply chain, by working with and supporting 
suppliers. 

Purchases Very high 
potential impact 

 

Table 7: Potential 2023 climate change commitments 

 

It should be noted that actions within the climate change programme will not be limited to the 

above list, additional projects will be developed and pursued as opportunities are presented. 
External grant funding opportunities will likely influence the development of additional projects.  

  

58



APPENDIX 1 

Finance 
The action plan features commitments which will aid the council in reaching its goal of becoming a 

net zero carbon organisation by 2030. It is acknowledged that the council is not currently in a 

financial position to commit to significant additional expenditure. Where additional funding is 

required to progress actions further, approvals will be sought via existing governance structures and 

the development of business cases to ensure value for money is achieved. It is acknowledged that 

additional finance is required to address the urgency of climate change and will likely be sought 
when the council is in a sustainable financial position. 

 

The council will explore various finance options for project development. External funding will 
always be considered before the use of internal council funds. Finance options include:  

 

 Grants: The Climate Change Act and agenda to achieve a green recovery from Covid-19 have given 

rise to a number of climate change and energy efficiency funds. These will be interrogated to 
determine if any funding streaming are suitable for projects within Peterborough. 

 Match-Funding: Grant awarding bodies and other third-party funders may offer part funding for 

projects with the stipulation that the council funds the remaining costs.  

 Transformation or invest to save: Projects funded via invest to save budgets will deliver future 

savings to the council. Business cases for proposals are required to demonstrate how the cost of 

borrowing will be covered and show how the individual scheme is self -financing and so has no 
overall negative impact against the council’s long-term financial position. 

 Internal Resources: Schemes may also be considered that require investment through the medium 

term financial strategy (i.e. carry an additional cost to be factored into the budget, subject to 

approval) where they contribute towards delivery of service improvements, or to achievement of 

council priorities. This includes funding for revenue schemes or financing the borrowing for capital 

schemes. Should any schemes be identified they will undergo business case development and 
appropriate approvals will be sought. 

 

Offsetting 
For an organisation to become net zero carbon, it must capture or offset as many greenhouse gas 

emissions as it is responsible for emitting, including the organisation’s scope 3 emissions where 

calculable. Validated offsetting schemes exist in which organisations can financially contribute to to 

facilitate projects which lower carbon emissions. This allows the organisation to offset its 

greenhouse gas emissions and achieve a net zero carbon status without eliminating all its carbon 
emissions. 

 

The council has not participated in any offsetting schemes to date. It is deemed that there are 

additional projects that could be done to lower the council’s gross emissions and any available funds 

should prioritise this work before offsetting is considered. Should this position change in the future 

and all viable projects to reduce emissions were already completed, then the approach to offsetting 

may be reconsidered. This will be addressed in the proposed roadmap.  

59



APPENDIX 1 

Project management 
 

Successful implementation and delivery of the action plan requires a robust, transparent governance 

structure which will ensure strategic ownership of the council’s carbon reduction aims. This 

governance process will bring together the diverse range of projects undertaken throughout the  
council which contribute to the organisation’s overall environmental impact.  

 

Identifying Projects 
The council is committed to identifying opportunities to reduce carbon emissions across all areas of 
its operations. 

There are a number of routes to identifying carbon reduction projects. 

 A core group of officers, representing key service areas, has been identified. These officers will 

meet on a regular basis in order to discuss ongoing and forthcoming projects. This allows early 

conversations about opportunities to reduce carbon to take place. 

 Carbon literacy training is being delivered to officers and councillors. The training equips attendees 

to consider climate change in project development and requires delegates to make climate action 

pledges to reduce organisational emissions. This process will directly create a series of carbon 
reduction projects and will empower officers and councillors to identify projects in the future.  

 Service reviews will be undertaken to determine activities of high emissions and projects to reduce 

these. Projects will focus on reducing organisational and city-wide emissions. 

 Decisions taken by the council are subject to a Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA). Responsible 

officers are required to undertake a review of their project/decision and consider the impact it will 

have on the council’s target to achieve net-zero carbon emissions for the organisation and the city. A 

summary of the CIA is included in the accompanying governance report to enable the relevant 

decision maker to make an informed decision considering the impact of carbon emissions. This 

process enables officers and councillors to consider the potential impacts on carbon emissions 
throughout the project design and decision-making process. 

 Close working relationships with the Combined Authority and constituent Local Authorities will 

ensure that regional efficiencies are realised and guidance and opportunities are shared. 

 

Initiating Projects 
Before any project is initiated the relevant lead council officer will ensure that all of the necessary 

procurement and governance steps are undertaken. Consideration will be given to any 
communication activity that may be required. 

 

Monitoring Projects  
The impact of individual projects will primarily be monitored by analysing emissions data, 

accompanied by other relevant available data. Data will be used to ensure resources are directed to 

projects with the most significant impact. Where appropriate, engagement activities will be 

60



APPENDIX 1 

undertaken to monitor the impact of projects. Programme management will be undertaken centrally 
to ensure that all projects progress. 

 

Reporting Progress  
Each year the council will produce an annual report detailing the emissions arising from all emissions 

sources within the organisation’s operational boundary as well as reporting progress on previous 
climate change commitments. 

 

Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee 
The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee is a cross-party group of elected 

members, whose role includes scrutinising elements of the climate change programme, including 

mitigation of council and city-wide carbon emissions and adaptation to climate change. The scrutiny 

committee is a vital part of the governance structure of the programme, directing the climate 

change programme. This is a newly introduced committee, and it replaces the work of the Climate 
Change Working Group which was in operation previously. 

 

Council adoption / approval 
Any new policy which requires Cabinet or Council adoption will be developed in line with the 
council’s governance process. 

 

  

61



APPENDIX 1 

City-wide climate action plan 
 

When declaring a climate emergency, Peterborough City Council made two major commitments. 

Alongside becoming a net zero organisation by 2030, the council also committed to helping support 
the Peterborough to become a net zero carbon city. 

 

Update on the development of a city-wide climate action plan 
Action on this second commitment will be the focus of a plan due to be released later in 2023. The 

council previously intended to release the city-wide climate action plan earlier, however it was 

deemed beneficial to delay this to ensure that several activities could influence strategic direction of 
the plan. These include: 

 

 A local area energy plan for Peterborough has been developed and was adopted by Peterborough 

City Council in December 2022. This evaluated current and future energy demands for the city, 

considering electricity consumption and heating in buildings, retrofitting of buildings to improve 

energy efficiency and electricity demands for electric vehicles. The local area energy plan gives an 
indication of the necessary measures and scale of the challenge. 

 The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Commission on Climate report “Fairness, 

nature and communities: addressing climate change in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough” was 

released in October 2021. This report made a series of recommendations to reduce carbon 
emissions across the region. 

 The Peterborough Climate Change Partnership was established in 2021. Local organisations with an 

interest in reducing environmental impacts are welcome to join. Early work of the group has led to 

the development of a Peterborough Climate Commitment, in which organisations agree to measure, 

monitor and act to improve upon their impact to the environment. Peterborough City Council has 
signed up to this pledge. 

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority and the New Anglia Local Enterprise 

Partnership have commissioned the development of an alternative fuels strategy for the region. This 
is expected to produce recommendations to achieve carbon reduction across the transport sector.  

 Engagement with our communities will help shape the city wide climate change action plan. The 

Peterborough Climate Debate public consultation is currently ongoing. Views from our local 

communities, including residents, young people and organisations such as businesses, community 
groups and Parish Councils are being sought to direct the city wide decarbonisation programme. 

 

In order to achieve the ambitious target of becoming a net zero carbon city, every resident, business, 

organisation and community group will have a role to play. Significant behavioural change and 

technological changes will need to be adopted, and therefore we need to develop plans which are 

supported by our communities. The council will continue to engage with our communities following 
the development of the city wide climate change action plan.  

 Public engagement The aims of public engagement will be to inform residents of climate impacts 

and carbon reduction choices and gather input into the design of the city-wide plans. Information 

62



APPENDIX 1 

from related public engagement programmes, such consultations on the Local Transport and 

Connectivity Plan and the Local Area Energy Plan, may be used to provide additional insight into the 
climate change programme 

 Business engagement The Peterborough Climate Change Partnership group of local organisations 

has recently been established. Business engagement plans will be developed in discussions with this 
group. 

 Schools As well as potentially reducing organisational carbon emissions, schools also play a vital 

role in education and behavioural change. The council intends to work with any local school (both 

maintained and academy schools) to prepare a bespoke action plan for schools. The council ’s School 

Climate Change Officer works closely with schools and pupils to enable them to lead carbon 
reduction projects across their school. 

 Parish councils Parish councils have a vital role in helping to meet the city’s ambitious targets. 

Parish councils generally have a relatively low organisational carbon impact but can have a 

significant role championing change within its local area. Peterborough City Council can offer 
support to parish councils in the development of their own climate action plans.  

 Councillors Peterborough City Council will work with its elected members to ensure resident input 

is considered in action planning. Carbon literacy training will be offered to councillors to support 

members in communicating the impact of climate change and the benefits of carbon reduction 

projects. 

 Other Local Authorities The council works closely with Cambridgeshire local authorities and the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority. Resources and expertise are shared across a 

wide range of topics and there is close collaboration in the development of the combined authority’s 
climate action plan. 

 

Adaptation Plan 
The council has secured funding through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund to develop a climate change 

adaptation plan for the city. This will consider how the city will adapt to a changing climate and 

weather events, such as heatwaves, droughts and flooding, that are expected to increase in intensity 
and frequency. 

 

 

A Just Transition 
A just transition is an important concept throughout climate change action. The Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough Independent Commission on Climate identified a set of principles to follow to ensure 
that climate change plans follow a just transition5.  

Different members of our communities will be impacted differently both by climate change and by 

the actions to tackle climate change, and so our approach for climate change action must be fair to 

all. The benefits of addressing climate change should be shared by all and everyone should have 

equal opportunity to engage with action. The Commission’s principles will be embedded into city -
wide action plans. 

63



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix A  
Methodology used to calculate the Council’s carbon footprint 

 
 

Defining The Scope  
The starting point for carbon management is to accurately establish the scope of the emission sources 
to be used to calculate the emissions baseline and subsequent carbon footprint updates. The scope 
of the baseline includes the required types and sources of emissions over a defined timescale. The 
baseline is a fixed point against which a reduction target can be set and future performance 
monitored. 
 
Emissions-releasing activities are classified into three groups known as scopes. Scopes are defined in 
the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Standard as follows. 
 

Scope  Definition / Activity  

1 (Direct)  Emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the organisation  

Fuels  Fuel sources combusted at a site or in an asset owned or controlled by the 
organisation.  

Refrigerants  Refrigerants that leak from air-conditioning equipment.  

Passenger vehicles  Travel in cars and on motorcycles owned or controlled by the organisation.  

Delivery vehicles  Travel in vans and heavy goods vehicles that are owned or controlled by the 
organisation.  

2 (Indirect)  Emissions that are a consequence of the organisation’s operations, but occur 
from sources owned or controlled by another company  

Electricity (grid)  Electricity used by an organisation at sites owned or controlled by them.  

3 (Other Indirect)  Emissions that are a consequence of the organisation’s operations, which 
occur at sources which they do not own or control  

Business travel  Travel for business purposes in assets not owned or directly operated by the 
organisation.  

Hotel stays  Overnight hotel stays for work purposes.  

Material use  Process emissions from purchased materials.  

Waste disposal  Emissions from end-of-life disposal of different materials using a variety of 
different disposal methods.  

Water supply  Emissions from water delivered through the mains supply network.  

Water treatment  Emissions from water returned to the sewage system through mains drains.  

Transmission & 
Distribution  

Emissions associated with grid losses (the energy loss that occurs in getting the 
electricity from the power plant to the organisations that purchase it).   

Well-to-Tank (WTT)  Upstream emissions of extraction, refining and transportation of a primary fuel 
source prior to its point of combustion.  

Table 1: Greenhouse gas emission scopes and associated emission releasing activities9 

  

                                                                 
9 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (2019). Environmental Reporting 
Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting requirements 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-reporting-guidelines-including-
mandatory-greenhouse-gas-emissions-reporting-guidance  

64

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-reporting-guidelines-including-mandatory-greenhouse-gas-emissions-reporting-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-reporting-guidelines-including-mandatory-greenhouse-gas-emissions-reporting-guidance


APPENDIX 1 

 

The Organisational Boundary  
The organisational boundary is defined by establishing what activities and functions are included in 
scope for the purpose of determining the council’s emissions and what activities and functions are out 
of scope. This stage of the process involves reviewing the council’s operations to determine activities 
that give rise to carbon emissions. 
 
In most organisations, greenhouse gas emissions are reported for every operation which is owned and 
operated by the organisation or where there is financial control. The council has a complex operational 
structure, which includes a portfolio of council -owned buildings which are leased to third parties, 
where the council purchases the energy but does not influence energy use. These buildings have also 
been included in scope. 
 
In time, the council aims to report upon all emissions arising from its purchased goods and services, 
however as of yet the only contracts which report into the council’s scope 3 emissions are the Aragon 
and Milestone contracts. 
 
Vivacity was an externally operated organisation, running cultural services within Peterborough. This 
service is now provided in-house, and so previous Vivacity emissions are now reported in 
Peterborough City Council totals. 
 

  

65



APPENDIX 1 

The council’s carbon footprint is calculated using the following sources. 
 

Scope  
Typical activities for a local authority 

organisation  
Identified Council emission sources  

1  

Buildings 
Production of electricity, 
heat or steam  

 Gas used in buildings which is purchased by the 

council. The building may be operated by an external 
organisation. 

Transport 

Fleet transportation  Travel in vehicles operated by the council. 

Fugitive  

Hydrofluorocarbons (HFC) 
emissions during use of 
refrigeration and air-
conditioning equipment  

 Refrigerant top-ups for air-conditioning units. 

2  

Buildings  Consumption of purchased 
electricity, heat or steam  

 Electricity used in buildings which is purchased by 

the council. The building may be operated by an 
external organisation. 
 Electricity used in streetlighting and car park lighting 

which also includes road signs and illuminated 
bollards 

3  

Purchases  
Production emissions from 
purchased goods and 
services 

Included where available (see below) 

Transport  

Transportation, employee 
business travel, employee 
commuting  

  Staff business travel and accommodation. 
  Employee commuting – excluded (see below). 

  Buildings and fleet used to deliver services by 

Milestone and Aragon. 

Table 2: Identified in scope council emissions10 

  

Excluded Emissions  
The council has deemed that the following emission sources remain out of scope for the council’s 
carbon footprint calculation. Reasons are detailed below: 
 

Scope 3  
 Water supply and treatment – Water supply emissions arise from the treatment and 
pumping from the water source to the tap. It was deemed that the emissions contribution 
from water consumption is too insignificant to justify the additional reporting burden. 
Water consumption is not currently calculated at an organisation wide level, and so data 
is not easily accessed. 
 Waste water treatment - It was deemed that the emissions contribution from waste 
water treatment is too insignificant to justify the additional reporting burden. Waste 
water is not currently calculated at an organisation wide level, and so data is not easily 
accessed. 
 Waste disposal – This plan excludes emissions arising from city-wide waste 
treatment. Details on this source of emissions will be included in the city-wide climate 
change action plan. The rationale for this decision is that this waste is a citywide resource, 

                                                                 
10 World Resources Institute and Worl d Business Council for Sustainable Development (2004) The Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition). Corporate Standard | 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol (ghgprotocol.org) 

66

https://ghgprotocol.org/corporate-standard
https://ghgprotocol.org/corporate-standard


APPENDIX 1 

some of which currently generates enough electricity to power over 16,000 homes 
through the Energy Recovery Facility, and therefore offsetting of these emissions should 
be accounted for on a city-wide level. 
 Employee commuting – Whilst the emissions relating to employees travelling for the 
purposes of work for which expenses are claimed is included within this report, the 
emissions arising from employees travelling from home to work are not included. This 
approach is accepted within the Greenhouse Gas Protocol guidance. 
 Peatland –The council holds a farm estate of approximately 3,000 acres, a proportion 
of which is comprised of peatland soils. Whilst healthy peatland is able to capture and 
store carbon emissions, degraded soil emits carbon. At this stage there is no data available 
for inclusion in this plan. The council is committed to not only understand the emissions 
arising as a result of its agricultural land but also to seek opportunities to reduce emissions 
both through revised land management practices and development of energy projects to 
bring forward local decarbonised heat and power.   
 Carbon capture by council owned trees – Carbon capture from council owned trees 
has not been calculated. 
 Purchased goods and services – The largest exclusion relates to purchased goods and 
services. Data is not yet available for the majority of the council’s purchases, this data will 
be added when available and so the calculated carbon footprint of the council is expected 
to rise over the coming years due to improved reporting. 

  
 
The council will review the scope on an annual or biennial basis to ensure that data is collected from 
all relevant sources. 
  

  

67



APPENDIX 1 

Data Collection  
The emissions data used to calculate the carbon footprint was gathered from different sources 
including: invoices received by the Council, annual energy statements from utility providers, vehicle 
fuel data, property services and third party providers. Work continues to ensure that this data is robust 
and systems are in place to ensure ongoing timely and accurate collection of data.   
  

Energy Type  Source  Data Quality/Estimation techniques  

Gas  Energy invoices and annual 
energy statements from 
suppliers.   
  
Collated data from third party 
providers. 

Where estimations have been used, records 
are held with source data.   
  
Methods include:  
Annualising consumption or average data 
calculated using bookended data. 

Electricity  Energy invoices and annual 
energy statements from 
suppliers.   
  
Collated data from third party 
providers.    

Where estimations have been used records 
are held with source data.   
  
Methods include:  
Annualising consumption or average data 
calculated using bookended data. 

Renewable electricity 
generation 

Electricity generation from the 
council’s solar panels is 
recorded via a central site. 

Where outlying data has been identified, this 
has been removed. 

Passenger vehicles  Staff mileage claims, fuel 
purchased and vehicle log 
books.  

Annualising consumption where required. 

Fleet vehicles  Fuel purchased and vehicle log 
books 

Annualising consumption where required. 

Purchases Data provided by suppliers Data quality is not checked by the council. 

Table 3: Source of data by energy type  

  
  

68



APPENDIX 1 

Calculating emissions  
To calculate CO2e emissions, raw usage data (such as kWh of electricity used) is multiplied by a 
conversion factor. 

Conversion Factors  
The carbon conversion factors used for this action plan are the 2021 UK Government published carbon 
conversion factors. The council uses the conversion factors which match to the year in which the 
majority of the relevant financial year sits. For instance for the financial year 2021/22, the 2021 
conversion factors are used. 
 
The key conversion factors used are as follows:  

Energy Type   Conversion factor   

Fuels   

Natural Gas   0.18316 kg CO2e / kWh (Gross CV)   

Propane 2.99755 kg CO2e / kg 

Diesel (average biofuel blend)    2.51233 kg CO2e / litre   

Petrol (average biofuel blend)   2.19352 kg CO2e / litre   

HVO  0.03558 kg CO2e / litre   

Electricity   

UK electricity   0.21233  kg CO2e / kWh (Gross CV)   

Vehicles (passenger, delivery and business travel)   

Average car (unknown fuel type)   0.07255 kg CO2e / mile   

Domestic flights 0.24587 kg CO2e / km 

National rail 0.03549 kg CO2e / km 

Purchases 

Milestone purchased goods and services Various. Calculated by Milestone 

Hotel stays (UK) 13.9 kg CO2e / night 

Waste 

Residual waste  21.294 kg CO2e / tonne 

Recycling  21.294 kg CO2e / tonne 

Organic waste 8.951 kg CO2e / tonne 

Inert waste 0.989 kg CO2e / tonne 

Active waste 21.294 kg CO2e / tonne 

Transmission & Distribution   

UK electricity   0.01879 kg CO2e / kWh   

Well-To-Tank   

Various   
Various, used as appropriate from 2021 Conversion 
factors 

Table 4: Key greenhouse gas conversion factors11 

  

                                                                 
11 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (2020)Greenhouse gas reporting: 

conversion factors 2021 Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

69

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2021


APPENDIX 1 

 

 
Baseline Year Recalculation Policy  
There may be circumstances under which it becomes necessary to recalculate the council’s baseline 
year emissions. If significant changes were to occur, either within the council’s organisation or to 
recognised methodologies, it could challenge the validity of comparing to existing data. To ensure 
comparisons remain valid, the following baseline year recalculation policy has been developed. This 
ensures that any significant changes are identified, measured for a recalculation threshold and 
processed accordingly. 
 

Change scenario   Baseline year recalculation?  

Mergers, Acquisitions, Divestitures   

Acquisition of (or insourcing) a facility that did not 
exist in the baseline year.  

Potentially recalculate baseline year 
emissions depending on likely impact 

Disposal of (or outsourcing) a facility to another 
company.  

Potentially recalculate baseline year 
emissions depending on likely impact 

Transfer of ownership/ control of emissions sources. 
This includes changes in lease status. 

No base year recalculation required  

Organic Growth and Decline   

Organic growth  No base year recalculation required  

Organic decline  No base year recalculation required  

Changes in Quantification Methodologies / Errors  

Changes in emission factors or methodologies (e.g. 
change in activity data) that reflect real changes in 
emissions (i.e. changes in fuel type or technology)  

No base year recalculation required  

Changes in measurement methodologies, 
improvements in the accuracy of emission factors, 
improvements in the accuracy or availability of 
activity data or discovery of previous errors/ number 
of cumulative errors  

Potentially recalculate baseline year 
emissions depending on likely impact if data 
is available for baseline year, or correct 
errors  

Table 5: Baseline year recalculation policy 

70



 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA ITEM No.7 

28 FEBRUARY 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group 

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Marco Cereste, Climate Change, Planning, Housing and 
Transport 

Contact Officer(s): Lewis Banks (Transport and Environment Manager), 
Joanne Baldwin (Principal Transport Planning Officer), 
Rebecca Presland (Sustainable Transport Planning Officer). 

Tel. 01733 

317465 

 
FINAL REPORT OF THE CYCLING AND WALKING TASK AND FINISH GROUP 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group Deadline date 28/02/2023 

 

     It is recommended that Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee consider the final 

report of the Task and Finish group and endorse the recommendations contained within it.  

 

1. Review and endorse to Cabinet the amendments to the routes and prioritisation measures in 

the Draft LCWIP prior to its finalisation.  

2. That the Council refers to the LCWIP alongside all developments and site allocations, including 

when seeking approval at the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee. 

3. That the Council enables a cross- departmental approach to focus on improving city centre 

transport through the development of proposals for a new cycling route along Bridge Street. Any future 

vision for the City Centre should be based on a cycling and walking first principle. 

4. That the LCWIP and Active Travel Plans be reviewed annually.  

5. Removing obstacles to cyclists like staggered barriers and traffic signals which give priority to 

motor vehicles over cycles etc. 

6.  Creation of a Rural Cycle Strategy, to be discussed with Scrutiny once drafted. 

7.  Draft a vision for the LCWIP to be included at the start of the plan, which includes relevant 

targets from relevant PCC and CPCA strategies (e.g., net zero carbon and need for modal shift away 

from car travel) and references the Transport User Hierarchy. 

8.  Group has a further purpose once public consultation has been completed. 

9.  Major infrastructure schemes to include cycling and walking provisions. 

10.  Engagement with key stakeholders, including PCC councillors, as part of the public 

71



consultation. 

11.  To enhance the natural environment through the delivery of walking and cycling schemes; e.g., 

though tree planting along new and existing cycle routes. In particular, removal of trees, shrubbery and 

other vegetation should be minimised when constructing new cycle routes and any that must be 

removed should be replaced. 

 

12. That the Task and Finish group’s work is now concluded, and the group is formally closed. 

However, it should be noted that the Task and Finish group’s work has concentrated on cycling routes 

in the LCWIP and has not specifically looked at walking routes or the Rural Cycling Strategy. 

 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 The report has been produced by the Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group 

 
2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  

 
2.1 At the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee Annual Work Programming 

meeting, it was recommended that the cross-party Cycling and Walking Working Group should 

cease, and that a Cross Party Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group is formed in its place 

to support the development of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) and 

associated rural cycling strategy. Both projects are definitive pieces of work, and therefore a 

Task and Finish Group is considered a more suitable method for Members to support and input 

into these projects.  

The draft LCWIP has been reviewed by the Task and Finish Group and the report has been 

produced to provide recommendations on revision and adoption of the LCWIP. 

2.2 This report is for the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee to consider under its 
Terms of Reference Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 
Functions determined by Council 
 
9. Active Travel 
 

3. TIMESCALES [If this is not a Major Policy item, answer NO and delete the second line of boxes.] 

  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

N/A 

 
 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

 
4.1 The Task and Finish Group have completed an extensive review of the draft LCWIP for 

Peterborough. It is recommended that the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee 

consider the final report of the Task and Finish group and endorse the recommendations 

contained within. 

72



The Task and Finish Group mainly focused on the cycle routes identified in the LCWIP as these 

pose the biggest challenges regarding infrastructure. There are several walking routes also noted 

(many of which link with or follow the same desire lines as the cycling routes), and any future 

improvements will consider the walking elements needed. 

 

It is noted that the Council’s adoption of the new LTN 1/20 Design Standards poses a challenge 

regarding infrastructure on the routes due to constraints of space and layout. The Group looked, 

where possible, at alternative routes that could be suitable and provided extensive feedback on 

each of the routes and recommended additional routes be added to the LCWIP. Further details 

are contained in the full final report. 

 

Significant discussions were undertaken as the group feels that there is a lack of connectivity 

through the City Centre. Most routes identified start or finish at the City Centre but there is no 

route through the centre. As such a City Centre ‘circular’ route was identified and should be 

included in the LCWIP, and further proposals should be developed to enable north-south cycle 

journeys along Bridge Street. 

 

An analysis of the prioritisation matrix was undertaken, and amendments were recommended 

(removal of timeframe and public acceptance categories and higher weighting attributed to the 

increase in cycle numbers). The revised matrix can be found in the main final report. 

The group recommends that the LCWIP should be reviewed annually and considered and noted 

in the new Local Transport Plan and for any future planning applications and developments. 

5. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 

5.1 The Economy & Inclusive Growth  

 

The LCWIP will have positive impacts on the environment as it will enable people to travel via 

active and sustainable modes in the future. Reduction of car travel has impacts to the natural 

environment, air quality and is sustainable for the future. Providing quality walking and cycling 

routes will enable more people to travel to work, education or for leisure in a sustainable way and 

will help the Council to achieve its net zero targets for the future. 

 

A Carbon Impact Assessment was completed and in summary it is recognised that the current 

stage of the LCWIP will have no impact on carbon emissions. The work to be undertaken solely 

focuses on recommendations prior to completion of the LCWIP - including detailed feasibility 

studies and designs, no adverse effect on the environment is expected as a result of this work. 

However, this will be reviewed again if/ when any schemes progress onto the construction phase. 

Further details will be provided nearer the time. 

 

 

73



Our Places & Communities  

 

The LCWIP will enable people to walk and cycle more around the city and thus, improve their 

health and wellbeing. More people travelling in active and sustainable ways instead of via cars 

will improve the environment and the associated health implications linked to pollution and 

inactivity. 

 

Further information on the Council’s Priorities can be found here - Link to Corporate Strategy and 

Priorities Webpage 

 
6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1 Two Co-opted members were consulted during the LCWIP review. One member from the 

Peterborough Cycle Forum and one member from Sustrans in Peterborough (a walking, wheeling 

and cycling charity, and the custodian of the National Cycle Network). Both members actively 

participated in the group discussions and their feedback was used (in part) to inform the group's 

recommendations. 

 
6.2 The Group recommends that public consultation is more appropriate at a later date once the 

LCWIP has been finalised. 

 
7. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  

 
7.1 It is recommended that Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee consider the final 

report of the Task and Finish group and endorse the recommendations contained within it. 

 
8. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
8.1 The reasons for making the recommendations are: 

 

1. The LCWIP has been reviewed and amendments to routes have been identified to support 

a network plan for cycling and walking on specific routes that have the greatest potential to 

increase the numbers of people choosing to walk and cycle in the future. 

2. To generate a prioritised programme of conceptual high level infrastructure improvements 

for investment in the future that are LTN 1/20 design standard compliant. 

3. To improve the provision of high-quality walking and cycling infrastructure in the future. 

4. To ensure the LCWIP is considered for all future developments and site allocations and 

be referenced and considered in the new Local Plan. 

5. The Council enables cross department collaboration with lead officers to improve 

sustainable transport development opportunities in the future. 

6. Having an LCWIP in place the Council will be able to evidence the case for investment 

and bid for funding from the DfT to develop and deliver cycle improvements across the city in the 

future. 

74

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-and-plans/council-strategies/corporate-strategy
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-and-plans/council-strategies/corporate-strategy


 
9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
9.1 If Peterborough did not produce an LCWIP we will not be best placed to bid for funding for cycle 

and walking schemes in the future. In addition, the LCWIP will have a key role to enable more 

people to travel via active and sustainable modes which will have a significant impact in reducing 

carbon and meeting the climate change commitments the Council has made. 

 

10. IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Financial Implications 

 
10.1 The LCWIP should have positive financial implications for the Council. As a result of this plan the 

council should be successful in securing future funding for new and enhanced infrastructure. The 

new infrastructure will need to be maintained and this will be funded from the highway 

maintenance allocation that the council receives from the DfT (via CPCA). 

 
 Legal Implications 

 
10.2 There are no legal implications associated in the development and adoption of the LCWIP. There 

may be future legal implications with delivery where schemes do not fall within Peterborough City 

Council land ownership, but these would be managed through the design stage. 

 

 Equalities Implications 

 
10.3 There are no equalities implications with this report. 

 
 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

Draft LCWIP for Peterborough - https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/asset-library/lcwip-aug-21.pdf 

 
12. APPENDICES 

 
12.1 Appendix 1 – Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group Final Report 

 
 

75

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/asset-library/lcwip-aug-21.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

76



APPENDIX 1 

 
 

Cycling and Walking Task and Finish 
Group 

 
 

 
 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
Review 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Submitted to the Climate Change and Environment 
Scrutiny Committee  

28 February 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
  

77



2 | Page 
 

Table of Contents  
1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................ 3 

2. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................................ 6 

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE .................................................................................................. 7 

4.  PROCESS AND METHODOLOGY USED FOR THE INVESTIGATION...................... 9 

4.1 Methodology........................................................................................................... 9 

4.2 Process ................................................................................................................... 9 

4.3 Key Witnesses / Expert Advisers interviewed ................................................. 10 

5. BACKGROUND ............................................................................................................... 11 

6.  FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS ................................................................................ 13 

7.  RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................ 17 

8.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS........................................................................................ 19 

9.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS ............................................................................................... 19 

10. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AND RESEARCH SOURCES USED DURING 
THE INVESTIGATION............................................................................................................. 19 

11. APPENDICES.................................................................................................................... 20 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  

78



3 | Page 
 

1. INTRODUCTION  

 

In 2017, the Government published its first Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy. Within 

the strategy, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) were outlined as a 

new, strategic approach to identifying cycling and walking improvements required at the local 

level. They enable a long-term approach to developing local cycling and walking networks, 

ideally over a 10- year period, and form a vital part of the Government’s strategy to increase 

the number of trips made on foot or by cycle. While the preparation of LCWIPs is non-

mandatory, Local Authorities who have LCWIPs will be well placed to make the case for 

future investment. 

At the Cabinet meeting held on 12 July 2021, it was agreed to form a cross-party Cycling 

and Walking Working Group to support the development of the LCWIP for Peterborough. 

This group then evolved into the current Task and Finish group to review and make 

recommendations on the draft LCWIP. The first meeting of the Task and Finish Group was 

held on 1st September 2022 where the Terms of Reference and Governance for the Working 

Group were discussed and agreed.  

At the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee Annual Work Programming 

meeting, it was recommended that the cross-party Cycling and Walking Working Group 

should cease and that a cross-party Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group is formed in 

its place to support the development of the LCWIP and associated rural cycling strategy. 

Both projects are definitive pieces of work, and therefore a Task and Finish Group is 

considered a more suitable method for Members to support and input into these projects.  

At the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee on 5th July 2022, the formation 

of the Task and Finish Group was agreed by the Committee. Nominations to the Task and 

Finish Group were sought at the meeting to be confirmed following the meeting through the 

Group Secretaries. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

79



4 | Page 
 

 

 

The cross-party Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group comprised of the 

following Members: 

Councillor Heather Skibsted - Green (Chair of the Task and Finish 

Group) 

Councillor Nick Sandford – Liberal Democrat 

Councillor Lindsay Sharp – Conservative 

Councillor Samantha Hemraj- Labour 

Councillor John Fox – Peterborough First 

80



5 | Page 
 

Councillor Lucinda Robinson - Labour (attended meeting as Substitute) 

 Matthew Barber (Co-opted member, Sustrans) 

Trevor Mcsparron (Co-opted member, Peterborough Cycle Forum)     

 

 

Officers supporting the Task and Finish Group were:  

● Lewis Banks - Transport & Environment Manager 

● Joanne Baldwin – Principal Sustainable Transport Planning Officer 

● Rebecca Presland – Sustainable Transport Planning Officer 

● Charlotte Cameron, Democratic Services Officer 

 

The Task and Finish Group wish to thank all the officers who have provided guidance and 

assistance in producing this report and for their hard work and support.  

81



6 | Page 
 

2. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee consider 

the final report of the Task and Finish group and endorse the recommendations contained 

within, namely: 

1. Review and endorse to Cabinet the amendments noted by the group prior to the 

finalisation of the LCWIP.  

2. The LCWIP should be considered for all future developments and site allocations and 

be referenced and considered in the new Local Plan 

3. The Council enables cross department collaboration with lead officers to improve 

sustainable transport development opportunities in the future. 

4. That the LCWIP will be reviewed annually. 

5. Recommend that a Rural Cycle Strategy is drafted. 

6. A vision statement for the LCWIP should be drafted. 

7. The Task and Finish Group has a further purpose after consultation. 

8. Engagement with external stakeholders should form part of public consultation. 

9.  Seek to enhance the natural environment in the vicinity of new and existing 

cycleways 10. Removal where possible of obstacles to cycling such as staggered 

barriers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

82



7 | Page 
 

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

Purpose of the Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group: 

 

1. The overarching purpose for the Task and Finish Group is to support the 

development of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) and the 

rural cycling strategy.  

 

2. The focus of the Task and Finish Group is providing input and recommendations 

for the development of the LCWIP and rural cycling strategy, not all detailed issues 

relating to cycling and walking.  

 

3. The Task and Finish Group will end once the LCWIP and rural cycling strategy are 

finalised.  

 

4. The Task and Finish Group will report back to the Climate Change and 

Environment Scrutiny Committee on its findings and recommendations.  

 

Functions of the Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group  

 

1. The Task and Finish Group has no decision-making powers: its purpose is to aid 

greater understanding of issues, options, and scheme development in relation to the 

Council’s LCWIP and rural cycling strategy.  

 

2. Where actions relating to matters considered by this Task and Finish Group fall on 

officers to undertake (in accordance with delegations in the constitution), then the 

Task and Finish Group may steer officers in taking those actions. Where actions 

require a decision to be taken at a Member level (such as via Full Council, Cabinet or 

a CMDN, in accordance with the constitution), then the Task and Finish Group may 

recommend to the appropriate decision taker what actions should be taken. 

 

Procedures of the Task and Finish Group  

 

1. A representative from each political party is invited to sit on the Task and Finish 

Group. Substitutes are permitted. The Chair of the Task and Finish group will be 

agreed at the first meeting of the group. Appropriate officers will attend meetings of 

the Task and Finish Group.  

83



8 | Page 
 

 

2. External attendees may be invited to the meeting, such as to present information 

or offer expert advice. 

 

3. Task and Finish group meetings will be held in private, with the exception of 

evidence gathering sessions with key witnesses, which the public will be invited to 

observe, unless the subject matter is considered to be of a sensitive nature, in which 

case it may not be possible to hold the evidence gathering session in public. Any 

report to the Cabinet or a Cabinet Member will be published on the website (once 

such matters arising are agreed by the Chair as an accurate record).  

 

4. The Task and Finish Group will determine regularity, time, length, and location of 

future meetings.  

 

5. Agendas for the future meeting will be sent to attendees at least 5 calendar days 

prior to each meeting of the Task and Finish Group. 

  

84



9 | Page 
 

4.  PROCESS AND METHODOLOGY USED FOR THE 
INVESTIGATION 
 

4.1 Methodology 
 

● Desktop research 

● Local knowledge / information obtained by the Task and Finish Group members. 

● Data, evidence provided by Transport Planning Officers and Task and Finish 

Group members. 

 

4.2 Process  
 
 The timetable of the events leading to the production of this report are set out below: 
 

Meeting Date Items Discussed / Guests Attending 

 

1 September 2022 First meeting to scope the review and appoint a chair 

(Councillor Heather Skibsted appointed as chair). 

 

20 October 2022 Primary discussion and evidence gathering 

Evidence provided at meeting included: 

 LTN120 

 Overview of the methodology used to complete the 

draft LCWIP 

Introduction of co-opted member Matthew Barber 

(Sustrans) 

22 November 2022  Discussion on: 

 Prioritisation 

 Next Steps 

 Public Consultation 

Introduction of co-opted member Trevor McSparron 

(Peterborough Cycle Forum) 

LCWIP Cycle Routes Presentation 

Amending LCWIP routes 

8 December 2022  Discussion on conclusions and recommendations. 

Routes prioritisation. 

Setting of short/medium/long term targets 

Drafting group recommendations 

85



10 | Page 
 

5 January 2023  Meeting to discuss and finalise the contents of the Task 

and Finish Group report. 

Finalising amendments and drafting recommendations, 

discussion of report writing and following process.  

28 February 2023  Presentation of final report of Task and Finish Group to the 

Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee 

 
  

4.3 Key Witnesses / Expert Advisers interviewed 
 

N/A - no key witnesses were interviewed. 

 

  

86



11 | Page 
 

5. BACKGROUND 

 

In 2017, the first Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS) was published by the 

Department for Transport (DfT). The CWIS document sets out the Government’s ambition to 

make walking and cycling the natural choices for shorter journeys, or as part of longer 

journeys. The CWIS supports the transformation of local areas: which will tackle congestion, 

extend opportunity to improve physical and mental health, and support local economies. 

The Strategy’s aims and targets, by 2025, are to: 

 

 double cycling, where cycling activity is measured as the estimated total number of 

cycle trips made each year, from 0.8 billion trips in 2013 to 1.6 billion stages in 2025, 

and to work towards developing the evidence base over the next year. 

 increase walking activity, where walking activity is measured as the total number of 

walking stages per person per year, to 300 stages per person per year in 2025, and to 

work towards developing the evidence base over the next year. 

 increase the percentage of children aged 5 to 10 that usually walk to school from 49% 

in 2014 to 55% in 2025. 

 

Following the publication of the CWIS, government guidance recommended that local 

authorities should develop Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) for their 

area. While the preparation of an LCWIP is non-mandatory, the DfT has advised that Local 

Authorities who have plans will be well placed to make the case for future investment. 

 

LCWIPs provide a new strategic approach to identifying cycling and walking improvements at 

the local level. They aim to enable a long-term approach to forming local cycling and walking 

networks, ideally over a 10-year period, and form a fundamental part of the Government’s 

strategy to increase the number of trips made on foot or by bicycle. 

 

Peterborough City Council (PCC) supports the Government’s ambition by drafting an LCWIP 

for the City. By taking a strategic approach to improving environments for cycling and walking, 

the LCWIP will assist PCC to: 

 identify cycling and walking infrastructure improvements for future investment in the 

short, medium and long term 

 ensure that consideration is given to cycling and walking within both local planning and 

transport policies and strategies 

 make the case for future funding for cycling and walking infrastructure 

87



12 | Page 
 

 

The key outputs of the LCWIP are: 

1. a network plan for cycling and walking which identifies the preferred routes for future 

development that have the greatest potential to increase the numbers of people 

choosing to walk and cycle in the future 

2. a prioritised programme of conceptual high level infrastructure improvements for 

investment in the future 

3. a report which sets out the underlying analysis (as recommended by the DfT) carried 

out and provides a narrative which supports the identified conceptual improvements 

and key routes / corridors that have the greatest potential to increase numbers in the 

future. 

  

88



13 | Page 
 

6.  FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

 

The Task and Finish Group mainly focused on the cycle routes identified in the LCWIP as 

these pose the biggest challenges regarding infrastructure. There are a number of walking 

routes also noted (many of which link with or follow the same desire lines as the cycling 

routes), and any future improvements will consider the walking elements needed. As such 

the group concluded the following:  

 

Methodology: 

After the initial review of the draft LCWIP, an overview of the methodology used was 

presented. It is noted that the LCWIP is a data driven plan that utilises the DfT tools 

(Propensity to Cycle (PCT), Route Selection Tool (RST) and Walking Route Audit Tool 

(WRAT)) to identify the preferred origins and destinations and the routes connecting them. 

The data indicates that the routes noted have the greatest potential to increase numbers of 

people travelling via cycling and walking in the future if the infrastructure was in place. 

 

DfT’s Cycle Infrastructure Design Standards (LTN 1/20): 

Further discussions were had around the DfT’s Cycle Infrastructure Design Standards (LTN 

1/20) and Peterborough City Councils commitment to ensure that any new cycling 

infrastructure is LTN 1/20 compliant. It is noted that in-order to be compliant the most direct 

(on-road) routes noted in the draft LCWIP will pose a challenge due to various complexities, 

such as space available, current layout, location and surrounding areas. 

 

Examples of the types of infrastructure required to ensure compliance with LTN 1/20 design 

standards can be found in Appendix 4. 

 

Route analysis: 

A review of all the routes noted in the draft LCWIP was undertaken and following 

discussions the group has the following feedback: 

 

Route C01 – There are a lot of parked cars on the route and the on-road sections do not 

currently meet the LTN 1/20 standards. Behind Gladstone Primary there is an existing cycle 

route (currently fenced off and overgrown) that should be utilised. To comply with LTN 1/20 a 

20mph speed limit would need to be introduced when mixing with cyclists and vehicles. 

 

Route C02 - Questions were raised regarding the current funding programme on Whittlesey 

89



14 | Page 
 

Road. A kerb segregated cycle lane was suggested at the top of the identified route. Fletton 

Avenue and London Road would be a more desirable line and to apply the principle of giving 

priority to pedestrians and cyclists. Recommendations were made that the route should go 

over Town Bridge on London Road and join the City Centre Circular route at Bridge Street. 

 

Route C03 & C09 – Challenges for on and off-road routes. Route should not go east of the 

parkway as it is too narrow. Consideration needs to be made on where cars are displaced to 

as a result of any scheme. 

 

Routes C04, C05, C06 – Large numbers of traffic and insufficient widths for compliant 

infrastructure. Potentially a one- way systems would need to be introduced. Further 

feasibility studies are required to identify options.  

 

Route C07 – On-road section is challenging, and consideration of the desire line should be 

made. The group suggests looking at Thorpe Park Road and a one-way system on Mayors 

Walk (over the bridge) could potentially be a solution. Further feasibility studies are required 

to identify options. 

 

Route C08 – Utilise the existing off-road route. Minor upgrades such as resurfacing would be 

needed and suggest the route should connect with Hampton College. 

 

Route C10 – Further feasibility studies are required on this complex route. Alternative off-

road routes should be considered. 

 

Route C11 – Challenges around Park Road. Potential solution could be a one-way system 

around Broadway, maintaining space for parking. Link with route C06. 

 

Route C12 – Merged with route C01. At grade crossing would require crossing 4 lanes of 

traffic. 

 

Route C13 – Merged / extended with route C01 / C12. 

 

Route C14 – Off road route exists. Route should link up with London Road and infrastructure 

improvements made. Links with route C02.  

 

Route C15 – Off-road route exists for the most part. Further discussions with Nene Park are 

required as land ownership and responsibility issues exist. Members feel that the off-road 

90



15 | Page 
 

route is not wide enough in places and the paths should be widened. Considerations should 

also be made to potential flooding. 

 

New Routes: 

The group suggests the addition of 2 new routes: 

 

 C16 – Rowing Lake to the Railway Station. 

This should be considered and Sustrans have outline designs for the route utilising the 

existing bridge with a small reallocation of road users. The group suggests that a data 

analysis is undertaken to ascertain the propensity to cycle on this route. 

It was also noted that there is significant investment secured to develop the railway station 

and its surrounding area which may increase the number of people choosing to walk and 

cycle, therefore this new route should be included and should extend to the west. 

In addition, it is noted that the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Mayor (Dr Nik Johnson) 

has identified that the restoration of the cycle link over Crescent Bridge should be 

considered a priority. This is relevant as it is anticipated that much of the funding for cycle 

and walking improvements will be awarded via the CPCA in the future. 

 

 C17 – City Centre to Railway Station 

 

The group discussed a review of the city centre accessibility and understand that compliance 

with LTN 1/20 standards would be a challenge. Consideration should be given to removing 

the through route and pushing cars to use the Parkway. Members suggest that the desire 

line should go through Bridge Street and suggest that as cyclists use it anyway (regardless 

of restrictions) the ban should be lifted.  

 

City Centre 

Significant discussions were undertaken as the group feels that there is a lack of connectivity 

through the City Centre. Most routes identified start or finish at the City Centre but there is 

no route through the centre. As such a City Centre ‘circular’ route (see appendix 1) was 

identified and should be included in the LCWIP, and further proposals should be developed 

to enable north-south cycle journeys along Bridge Street.  

 

As per the groups discussions a revised route overview has been drafted and can be found 

in appendix 2.  

 

 

91



16 | Page 
 

Prioritisation 

An analysis of the prioritisation matrix was undertaken, and the group suggests the removal 

of the timeframe category (members feel that prioritisation should not be given to schemes 

that may be easier to deliver or short term) and should only be used a consideration when 

applying for funding. Members also suggest the removal of public acceptance and that the 

weighting on the forecast increase in cycling numbers should be changed so that schemes 

with higher increases are weighted more than others.  

A revised prioritisation matrix results table and priority ranking can be found in appendix 3. 

Future reviews: 

The group discussed and agreed that the LCWIP should be checked and reviewed annually, 

and should take into consideration future developments, local knowledge, and other data 

sources to identify additional routes in the future. It is suggested that the LCWIP is 

considered for all new planning applications and there should be a joined-up approach when 

reviewing applications so that cycle routes and active travel are considered and LTN 1/20 

standards are adhered to. 

 

Consultation 

The Draft LCWIP was submitted to the DfT in November 2019 and the DfT were satisfied with 

the initial outline plans and route selection. 

Consultation with key stakeholders and the general public will take place once Cabinet has 

approved the finalised LCWIP. 

  

92



17 | Page 
 

7.  RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

The Task and Finish Group makes the following recommendations: 

 

It is recommended that the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee consider 

the final report of the Task and Finish group and endorse the recommendations contained 

within, namely: 

1. Review and endorse to Cabinet the amendments to the routes and prioritisation 

measures in the Draft LCWIP prior to its finalisation.  

2. That the Council refers to the LCWIP alongside all developments and site allocations, 

including when seeking approval at the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 

and the Place and Economy Committee. 

3. That the Council enables a cross-departmental approach to focus on improving city 

centre transport through the development of proposals for a new cycling route along Bridge 

Street. Any future vision for the City Centre should be based on a cycling and walking first 

principle. 

4. That the LCWIP and Active Travel Plans be reviewed annually.  

5. Removing obstacles to cyclists like staggered barriers and traffic signals which give 

priority to motor vehicles over cycles etc. 

6.  Creation of a Rural Cycle Strategy, to be discussed with Scrutiny once drafted. 

7.  Draft a vision for the LCWIP to be included at the start of the plan, which includes 

relevant targets from relevant PCC and CPCA strategies (e.g., net zero carbon and need for 

modal shift away from car travel) and references the Transport User Hierarchy. 

8.  Group has a further purpose once public consultation has been completed. 

9.  Major infrastructure schemes to include cycling and walking provisions. 

10.  Engagement with key stakeholders, including PCC councillors,  as part of the public 

consultation. 

11.  To enhance the natural environment through the delivery of walking and cycling 

schemes; e.g., though tree planting along new and existing cycle routes.  Removal of trees, 

shrubbery and other vegetation should be minimised when constructing new cycle routes 

and any that must be removed should be replaced. 

12. That the Task and Finish group’s work is now concluded, and the group is formally 

93



18 | Page 
 

closed. However, it should be noted that the Task and Finish group’s work has concentrated 

on cycling routes in the LCWIP and has not specifically looked at walking routes or the Rural 

Cycling Strategy. 

 

 

94



19 | Page 
 

8.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

The LCWIP should have positive financials implications for the Council., in that through  

having an LCWIP in place the Council will be able to evidence the case for investment and 

bid for funding from the DfT to develop and deliver cycle improvements across the city in the 

future. 

 

9.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no legal implications associated in the development and adoption of the LCWIP. 

There may be legal implications with delivery where schemes do not fall within Peterborough 

City Council land ownership. 

10. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AND RESEARCH SOURCES 

USED DURING THE INVESTIGATION 

 

 Draft Peterborough City Council Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan -  

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-and-plans/transport-

strategies/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan-2019-2029 

 Department for Transport Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans, Technical 

Guidance for Local Authorities - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm

ent_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf 

 Department for Transport recommended Propensity to Cycle Tool -  

https://www.pct.bike/ 

 Department of Transport recommended Route Selection Tool and Walking Route 

Audit Tool - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm

ent_data/file/908594/cycling-walking-infrastructure-tools-document.pdf 

 Department for Transport, Transport Analysis Guidance (WebTAG) - 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/transport-analysis-guidance-tag 

 Department for Transport, Active Mode Appraisal Toolkit - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm

ent_data/file/1102781/active-model-appraisal-toolkit-user-guidance.pdf 

 Department for Transport Cycle Infrastructure design (LTN 1/20) guidance - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120 

  

95

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-and-plans/transport-strategies/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan-2019-2029
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-and-plans/transport-strategies/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan-2019-2029
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://www.pct.bike/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908594/cycling-walking-infrastructure-tools-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908594/cycling-walking-infrastructure-tools-document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/transport-analysis-guidance-tag
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1102781/active-model-appraisal-toolkit-user-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1102781/active-model-appraisal-toolkit-user-guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120


20 | Page 
 

 

11. APPENDICES  
 

Appendix 1 - City Centre ‘circular’ route: 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 – Revised route map overview (the annotated GIS version is currently being 

produced): 

 

 

96



21 | Page 
 

Appendix 3 – Revised Prioritisation Matrix results and priority ranking: 

 

Priority 
ranking   Route  

Forecast 
increase  

Total 
Matrix 
Score  

Estimated 
delivery 
term  Notes  

1  C12  
City Centre 
Circular  1479  25  

Short/Mediu
m term  
Depending 
on sections 
of the route 

  Try 
something 
shorter-
term.  

2  C01  
Arundel Road to 
City Centre  654  20  

Medium 
term  

 Similar 
alignment 
to C13, 
discussed 
merging 
the routes 

3  C05  
Fulbridge Road to 
City Centre  946  19  

Complex 
longer term     

4  C02  
City Centre to 
Stanground  305  19  

Medium 
term  

 Origin and 
destination 
remain the 
same, how 
PTC data 
works 

5  C13  

Queen Katherine 
Academy to 
Thorpe Road  870  18  

Medium / 
longer term  

Merged 
with C01 & 
C07  
 

6  C06  

Gresley Way to 
Peterborough 
Regional College  716  18  

Complex 
longer term     

7  C03  
City Centre to 
Orton Centre  553  18  

Medium 
term  

 Should 
include 
Fletton 
Quays 

8  C04  

City Centre to 
Shrewsbury 
Avenue  521  18  

Medium 
term     

9  C15  

Thorpe Road to 
Oundle Road (inc 
off-road link to 
Bretton Way)  417  18  Short Term     

10  C11  

Peterborough 
Regional College 
to City Centre  672  17  

Complex 
longer term     

11  C07  
Jack Hunt School 
to City Centre  503  17  

Medium 
term     

12  C08  

Orton Centre to 
Hampton 
Hargate  259  16  Short Term     

13  C09  

Orton Centre to 
Lynch Wood 
Business Park  99  15  Short Term     

97



22 | Page 
 

14  C10  

Peterborough 
Regional College 
to Boongate 
Retail Park  458  14  

Complex 
longer term     

15  C16  

Rowing Lake to 
Rail Station 
(Thorpe Road)  283  13  Short Term    

16  C14  

Shrewsbury 
Avenue to 
Hempstead  98  13  Short Term     

 
 
Appendix 4 – Examples of Infrastructure that currently does not comply with LTN 1/20 

design standards and examples of the types of infrastructure that is needed: 

 
Does not comply: 

 

 
 
Infrastructure that does comply: 

 

 

98



23 | Page 
 

Further information on this review is available from: 
 
Democratic Services Team 

Governance Directorate 

Town Hall 
Bridge Street 

Peterborough 

PE1 1HG 
 

Telephone – (01733) 747474 

Email – scrutiny@peterborough.gov.uk  
 

99

mailto:scrutiny@peterborough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

100



  

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 8 

28 FEBRUARY 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Adrian Chapman, Executive Director Place and Economy  

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Marco Cereste, Cabinet Member for Climate Change,  
Planning, Housing and Transport  

 

Contact Officer(s): Nick Greaves – Highway Development Control and 
Drainage Manager  

Tel. 01733 
863827 

 

PETERBOROUGH FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2021-2027 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Nick Greaves – Highway Development Control and 

Drainage Manager 

Deadline date: 28 February 2023 

 

 
  The Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee is asked to:   
 

1. Consider the completion of the public consultation for an updated Peterborough Flood Risk 
Management Strategy (FMS)  

2. Review and provide comments on amendments made to the FMS following the consultation with 
such comments reported to Cabinet 
 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 The request for this report has originated from the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny 

Committee following the Group Representatives Meeting on 11th January 2023. 
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  
 

2.1 This report is to inform and consult the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee 
about the Peterborough Flood Risk Management Strategy before is presented to Cabinet on 13th 
March 2023. If any amendments are proposed by the scrutiny committee, then following approval 
of those amendments, the report will be presented to the Cabinet. The Cabinet will be requested 
to recommend to full council that the strategy be adopted by Peterborough City Council. 
 

2.2 This report is for Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee to consider under its 
Terms of Reference No. Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 
Functions determined by Council:  
  
2. Flood Risk Management  
  
Functions determined by Statute:  
  
To review and scrutinise flood risk management in accordance with Section 21F of the Local 
Government Act 2000 (as amended by the Flood and Water Management Overview & Scrutiny 
(England) Regulations 2011 No. 697).  
 

2.3 Measures to reduce flooding as proposed in this FMS report would help children in care wherever 
they are inhabiting the housing affected by flooding.     

101



 
3. TIMESCALES 
  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

YES If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

13 March 
2023 

Date for relevant Council meeting 
if applicable 

TBC  Date for submission 
to Government 
Dept. (Please 
specify which 
Government Dept.) 

TBC 

 
 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

 
4.1 The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 2010) makes Peterborough City Council a 

Lead Local Flood Authority with responsibility for co-ordinating the management of local flood 
risk (flooding from surface runoff, groundwater and ordinary watercourses). Lead Local Flood 
Authorities have a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a ‘local flood risk management 
strategy’ (FMS).    
  
The FMS was originally developed in 2015 to address this need, in partnership with other flood 
risk management authorities, it is monitored by those partners who sit on the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Flood and Water Partnership. The update to the FMS has been delayed by 
impacts of Covid, staff resources and delays in the national and regional plans that the FMS is 
required to be consistent with, in future the FMS will cover a period of 6 years to better align with 
updates to the National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy.    
  
There has been a focussed review of the existing FMS to embed local learning, changes in the 
flood risk industry and wider water environment sector.  
  
Key issues  

  
The objectives of the FMS remain the same: 

 Improve awareness and understanding of flood risk and its management to ensure 
that the City Council, partner organisations, stakeholders, residents, communities and 
businesses can make informed decisions and can take their own action to become 
more resilient to risk.  
 Establish efficient co-ordinated partnership approaches to flood and water 
management and response and recovery, including sharing and seeking new 
resources together.  
 Reduce flood risk to prioritised areas and strategic infrastructure, ensuring that 
standards of resilience elsewhere are maintained.  
 Improving the wider sustainability of Peterborough; ensuring an integrated 
catchment approach and proper consideration of the water environment and its 
benefits in new and existing urban and rural landscapes.  

  
Climate change and wider environmental concerns have been integrated consistently throughout 
the document rather than being identified in isolation.  
  
Policy and legislative drivers have notably moved on since the previous FMS was developed in 
2015, although that has meant many changes for wider industry the original FMS already 
incorporated many of those principles such as achieving multi benefits, climate change 
adaptation and working with partners.   
  
With reference to funding options for flood risk management works, the updated FMS expands 
the range of references for funding sources. Also, a special note has been made of delivery 
challenges and the need to proactively gather evidence and build project scopes so the Council 
can be flexible and respond to funding opportunities.  
  

102



An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared with EDI topics being built into the updated 
FMS and associated action plan, this helps to highlight some of the deprivation and isolation 
issues and considerations that need to be made.  
  
The FMS must consider the National Flood Risk and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy 
and Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan.  The National Strategy is adopted whilst the Flood 
Risk Management Plan is currently being finalised. Officers are in communication with the 
Environment Agency team producing the Flood Risk Management Plan to assure that direction 
and content remains consistent.  
  
Following the consultation there have been a need to make number of minor amendments to the 
FMS which considers the latest government announcements, consultation feedback and 
progress in local investigations.  These are detailed in Section 6.2.  
 

5. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 

5.1 This report links to the following Corporate Priorities:   
  
Pride in our communities, our places and our environment 

The FMS is about how flood risk to people and properties is managed, setting out actions to help 
communities understand the risks and be able to take action to become more resilient. Working 
in partnership those actions also offer opportunity to improve the natural environment and 
continue to ensure that Peterborough is sustainable in the long term.  
  
Better jobs, good homes and improved opportunities for all 

As well as identifying opportunities to improve the sustainability and protection of existing housing 
the FMS also contributes to ensuring the future growth and delivery of infrastructure is delivered 
in a sustainable way by setting out the activities that will carried out including assessing new 
development and building the evidence base for future local plans.  
 
Carbon Impact Assessment  

The Strategy itself is not anticipated to have any new demands on energy, transport or waste or 
create any new streams of carbon that are not already being considered by ours and our partners 
normal day to day operational activities.  
  
There are projects within the action plan with have the potential to provide carbon capture and 
efficiencies to existing activities which will not only reduce or capture carbon but also ready the 
council and city for the impacts of climate change.   
  
The overall impact is expected to be a positive one both in terms of providing wider environmental 
benefits and reducing emissions or capturing carbon, however those values are difficult to assign 
at present as the details of the actions are yet to be developed.  As such the Strategy sets out 
the need to consider the carbon impact as well as adaptation to a changing climate as a part of 
the development of any solutions to the proposed actions, officers will need to carefully assess 
the impacts and look for more suitable alternatives if impacts are found to be negative.  
 
A Carbon Impact Assessment was completed in 2022 when the Strategy was first drafted, 
following external consultation there are not any significant changes to the content of the strategy 
and advice was sought from the Climate Change Officers in the Council to confirm that the 
existing assessment was adequate. This assessment is approved and attached. 
 
 

6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1 Prior to the review of the FMS there has been continued engagement with communities, 

members and partners which have helped to inform any learning which was used to update the 
FMS. As a part of the review process there has been further consultations with both internal and 
external partners, notably the partner organisations and members who form the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Flood and Water Management Partnership.  

103



 
The principal flood and water management authorities involved in that partnership (the 
Environment Agency, the Internal Drainage Boards, Anglian Water, Emergency Services and 
Catchment Partnerships) have supplied information and have had the opportunity to review the 
FMS iteratively as it has been updated.  
 

6.2 Latest developments to be considered 

 

1. A government announcement in relation to the enactment of Schedule 3 of the Flood 
and Water Management Act was made on 10th January 2023. The link for the 
government review report is as follows: The review for implementation of Schedule 3 
to The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

2. Publication of Flood Investigations following July 2021 flooding in Peterborough 
3. Feedback was received through the consultation process relating to an ongoing project 

in the Thorpe Meadows area of the City, there has also been developments in this 
project which allow an update of the associated action. 

 
Amendments to consider 

 

1. Text change in Table 4-2, from ‘was not brought into force’ to ‘has not yet been brought 
into force but is under review’ 

2. Text amendment in ‘July 2021 Case Study’ on page 58, change from ‘The City Council 
are publishing reports to detail the investigations…’ to ‘The City Council have published 
the report of the investigations….’ 

3. Action 25, detailed in Appendix H will be amended to reflect the broader extent of the 
intended works. This includes amending the name of the action to ‘Thorpe Meadows 
and Electric Cut Scheme’ and updating the description of the action by changing the 
text from ‘to electric cut’ to ‘to this catchment’. 

 
7. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  

 
7.1 It is anticipated that following scrutiny the draft FMS will pass to Cabinet and then subsequently 

to the full council.  
  
Following a period consultation, the FMS has been amended to reflect the feedback, and will 
return to Scrutiny and in turn Cabinet before going to Council for approval and adoption.   
 

8. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
8.1 The production and monitoring of the FMS are a statutory requirement and the existing FMS and 

associated action plan that were produced in 2015 require updating. 
 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
9.1 a. Wholesale review and rewrite of existing FMS – Rejected due to additional costs of external 

resource and significant amount of extra time required to deliver with potentially limited benefits 
from that process.  
  
b. No review or update of existing FMS – Rejected due to the FMS and the need for it’s monitoring 
being a statutory requirement.  The legislative environment in the flood risk and water sector is 
constantly changing and opportunities will be missed if this monitoring and update does not 
reflect that.  
 

10. IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Financial Implications 

 
10.1 There are not anticipated to be any new implications for resources or with procurement through 

delivery of this FMS.  Section 6 of the FMS sets out partnership funding sources for delivery of 

104

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1128073/The_review_for_implementation_of_Schedule_3_to_The_Flood_and_Water_Management_Act_2010.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1128073/The_review_for_implementation_of_Schedule_3_to_The_Flood_and_Water_Management_Act_2010.pdf


actions where existing resources are not sufficient, Section 7 builds on this to highlight the 
securing of this funding as a constraint to delivery.  
 

 Legal Implications  

 
10.2 We have a statutory duty under the Part 1, Section 2 (9) of the Flood and Water Management 

Act 2010 to produce a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.  
  
The implication of failing to comply with this duty is that the Council will be in breach of a legal 
requirement for which the Council could be subject to legal challenge. In addition, this could 
severely damage the reputation of the Council and jeopardize our position as a leading authority 
in flood and water management.  
 

 Equalities Implications 

 
10.3 A full Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken for the production of the FMS and 

disproportionate impact of flooding on different communities and the need to consider this in the 
delivery of actions is reflected within the FMS.  
 

10.4 Rural Implications  
 

 Delivery of actions in the FMS are anticipated to improve the flood resilience and water 
environment of rural areas of Peterborough, the FMS sets out how environmental and amenity 
impacts will be assessed as the actions are developed with a view to identifying wider 
improvement opportunities where possible. 
 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 
11.1 Local Documents used in the production of the FMS and this report:  

 
 FMS Carbon Impact Assessment – 220607 PCC LFRMS Approved CIA  

  
12. APPENDICES 

 
12.1 Appendix A: Local Flood Risk Management Strategy  

Appendix B: Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Proposed Actions – Summary Table  
 

 

105



This page is intentionally left blank

106



0 
 

 

 

 
Peterborough 

Flood Risk  
Management 

Strategy 
2021-2027  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Growing the right way for  
a bigger, better Peterborough 

107

AAV596
Typewritten text
APPENDIX A



   

 

1 

Peterborough Flood Risk Management Strategy 
 

 

Flood Risk Management Strategy Production 
 

The update of this strategy has been prepared by Peterborough City Council (the Lead Local Flood 
Authority) with input from members of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Flood and Water 
Management Partnership.   

 
This document is a revision of the existing Local Flood Risk Management Strategy created in 2015. As 
part of the development of the strategy the council are required to consider a range of assessments for 
environmental, social and socio-economic impacts as options are developed for improving and 
managing flood risk in Peterborough.  As such as a part of the review process an Equality Impact 
Assessment has been carried out and the existing Strategic Environmental Assessment outcomes have 
been considered. All of which can be found in the supporting documents.  
 
Associated documents 
 

1. FMS Action Plan 
 

2. FMS Public Summary 
 

3. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

4. Carbon Impact Assessment 
 

5. Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Peterborough Flood Risk Management Strategy 
 

 
Further information 
 
For all general queries about flood risk and water management visit the website at 
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/planning-and-development/flood-and-water-management 
 
 
OS Maps – Copyright Note 
 
The Maps within this document are reproduced from Ordnance survey with the permission of Ordnance 
Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’ Stationery office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
The Maps within this document are reproduced from Ordnance survey with the permission of Ordnance 
Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’ Stationery office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
 
 
 
 

108

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/planning-and-development/flood-and-water-management


   

 

2 

  
Contents 
 
 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................... 3 

2. Peterborough Background ........................................................................... 6 
3. Policy, Legislation and Guidance .............................................................. 10 
4. Roles and Responsibilities ......................................................................... 22 
5. The Risk to Peterborough ........................................................................... 37 
6. Partnership Funding.................................................................................... 73 

7. Management and Action Plan ..................................................................... 80 
8. Glossary and References ............................................................................ 98 
9. Appendices ................................................................................................ 107 
 
 

109



Introduction 
 

3 

1. Introduction 

In England, 5.2 million properties are at risk of flooding. Of these, 1.4 million are at risk from rivers or the 
sea, 2.8 million are at risk from surface water and 1 million are at risk from both. This risk was realised in 
many parts of the country during the summer floods of 2007, this led to the development of the Flood 
and Water Management Act in 2010 (FWMA 2010) and as a result caused significant changes to the 
way in which flood risk was management.   
 
More locally Peterborough has seen significant flooding from heavy rainfall in July 2021 and widespread 
from a number of sources in 1998.  Following the implementation of the Flood and Water Management 
Act Peterborough City Council became a Lead Local Flood Authority, that created a number of new 
statutory responsibilities for the council, including developing and maintaining this strategy.  The strategy 
seeks to provide some background for the Peterborough area, national and local drivers for managing 
flood risk, details of the roles of different partners, funding for flood risk, an overview of the local risks 
and also how those risks are managed through day-to-day work or as a result of projects. 
 

1.1. Aims 
 
1.1.1. The aims of the Peterborough Flood Risk Management Strategy are: 
 

a) To confirm and raise awareness of the risk and management of flooding in 
Peterborough 

b) To set out a clear plan of actions to tackle local issues and opportunities that is updated 
each year. 

c) To take a holistic and cross-partner approach to flood risk management, considering 
other elements of water and environmental management that are affected or can be 
improved. 

d) To co-ordinate partner actions to ensure projects and schemes are as efficient as 
possible and that joint funding opportunities are sought. 

 

1.1. Requirement, review procedures and Peterborough’s approach 
 
1.1.1. Under the FWMA 2010, Peterborough City Council is a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) with 

a responsibility for co-ordinating ‘local flood risk’ management. With this comes several other 
duties and powers. Each of these is explained further in chapter 4. 

 
1.1.2. Section 9 of the Act sets out the requirement for LLFAs to develop, maintain, apply and monitor 

a ‘local flood risk management strategy’. The strategy must specify: 
 

a) The flood risk in its area 
b) The risk management authorities 
c) The management functions carried out 
d) Objectives for managing the risk 
e) The actions to achieve the objectives 
f) The costs of those actions and how they are to be paid for 
g) The benefits of the actions 
h) How and when the strategy will be reviewed 
i) How the strategy contributes to the achievement of wider environmental objectives 

 
1.1.3. The local flood risk management strategy for Peterborough is entitled the Peterborough Flood 

Risk Management Strategy and given the acronym FMS. 
 

110



Introduction 
 

4 

1.1.4. The Act requires the FMS to be consistent with the National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy. Further details can be found in sections 7.3. 

 
‘Local’ flood risk 

 
1.1.5. In setting out the city council’s statutory requirement for a local flood risk management strategy, 

the term ‘local’ is specifically defined in paragraph 9, section (2) of the FWMA 2010 with those 
local sources explained in paragraph 1, section 6 of the Act as: 

 
a) ‘Ordinary watercourses’ means a watercourse that does not form part of a main river, 
b) ‘Groundwater’ means all water which is below the surface of the ground and in direct 

contact with the ground or subsoil, 
c) ‘Surface runoff’ means rainwater (including snow and other precipitation) which is on the 

surface of the ground (whether moving or not), and has not entered a watercourse, 
drainage system or public sewer 

 
1.1.6. To clarify, responsibility for Main Rivers is not included in the city council’s powers. A Main River 

is a watercourse shown on the statutory Main River map held by the Environment Agency and 
the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. This can include any structure or 
appliance for controlling or regulating the flow of water into, in or out of the channel. The 
Environment Agency has permissive powers to carry out works of maintenance and 
improvement on these rivers.  
 
Peterborough’s approach 

 
1.1.7. To meet the regulations and Peterborough City Council’s legal responsibilities, it would be 

acceptable if the FMS only dealt with this ‘local’ risk. However it is more appropriate for the FMS 
to be inclusive of all types of flood risk management. Seventeen of the watercourses in urban 
and rural areas of Peterborough are classified as Main River and present a notable risk to both 
homes and businesses. These would otherwise be excluded from the FMS. The events of 1998 
highlighted how local flood risk from surface runoff, groundwater and ordinary watercourses 
interacts with other sources of flooding including sewers and Main Rivers to worsen the impacts, 
this is felt more readily in shallower gradients. It is important to consider the interaction of 
flooding from all sources to correctly assess the actual flood risk to a location. For example, 
since many ordinary watercourses and surface water sewers (taking rainwater) in the city 
ultimately flow into a Main River, when river water levels are very high, water will not be able to 
discharge and will instead overflow from the ordinary watercourses and sewers.  

 
1.1.8. Responsibility for different sources of flood risk is complex and sits with different organisations 

as discussed in chapter 4. However by working together with all of the water management 
organisations operating in Peterborough, the city council has produced a strategy that co-
ordinates flood risk management, and which residents and businesses can use to find answers 
to the questions they wish to ask.  

 
1.1.9. The Government’s National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy sets out 

certain visions and aims for the FMS (section 3.2) which have been followed in the preparation 
of the FMS, as required by the FWMA 2010. Taking these as a starting point, the FMS aims to 
be more holistic than requirements set out. We have instead discussed all sources of flood risk 
relevant to Peterborough and set out how other water and environmental management issues 
and pieces of legislation affect flood risk management and taken these into consideration in the 
plan of action that the city council and its partners wishes to take forward. 
 

1.1.10. It is inevitable that there will be competing demands across the Peterborough area as the 
differing landscapes and characteristics mean that the needs of each area will differ. The aim of 
the FMS is to bring all these flood risk management needs together and try to ascertain the 

111



Introduction 
 

5 

overall priorities on which the city council and its partners will invest resources over the coming 
years. 
 

1.1.11. The four objectives within this strategy were developed in partnership with Peterborough’s Risk 
Management Authorities as a part of the creation of the original Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy published in 2015.   
 
There are 4 key objectives within the strategy: 

 

1 

Improve awareness and understanding of flood risk and its management 
to ensure that the city council, partner organisations, stakeholders, 
residents, communities and businesses can make informed decisions and 
can take their own action to become more resilient to risk. 
 

2 

Establish efficient co-ordinated partnership approaches to flood and 
water management and response and recovery, including sharing and 
seeking new resources together. 
 

3 
Reduce flood risk to prioritised areas and strategic infrastructure, ensuring 
that standards of resilience elsewhere are maintained. 
 

4 

Improving the wider sustainability of Peterborough; ensuring an 
integrated catchment approach and proper consideration of the water 
environment and its benefits in new and existing urban and rural 
landscapes. 
 

 
 

Completing and reviewing the FMS 
 
1.1.12. There is no statutory deadline for producing a local flood risk management strategy, nor is there 

a prescribed format or scope beyond the legislative requirements contained in the Act. The 
production of the original FMS took place considering guidance developed by the Local 
Government Association, this update considered that guidance and more recent resources 
available from the same source. 

 
1.1.13. It is intended that the FMS will be formally reviewed again in 2027 to align with updates to both 

the National Strategy and Regional Plans which must be considered. The deadline on this 
update will not be fixed, this will allow the timing of that update to be flexible enough to allow for 
changing timescales.  
 
Status in the planning system 

 
1.1.14. As with any document, the FMS can be used as a material consideration in planning. In order to 

ensure that flood risk development policies have the required weight in the planning system a 
separate Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared that is part of the 
Peterborough planning policy framework. The Flood and Water Management SPD specifically 
covers elements of flood risk and drainage which are relevant to new development and is 
discussed briefly in section 3.4.8.  

112



Peterborough Background 

6 

2. Peterborough Background 

 
2.1.1. Peterborough is a unitary authority located in the East of England, approximately 125 kilometres 

(80 miles) north of London. It comprises a large urban area and 25 villages set in countryside 
extending over an area of approximately 344 square kilometres (see figure 2-1). The area 
borders the other Lead Local Flood Authorities of Rutland, Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire and 
Northamptonshire County Councils. The total population of Peterborough is estimated as 
203,600 (Office for National Statistics, 2018).  

 
2.1.2. Today Peterborough is an important modern regional centre, providing employment, shopping, 

health, education and leisure facilities for people across a wide catchment area. The city, 
however, has a long history of settlement with evidence of Bronze Age remains at Flag Fen, the 
nearby Roman town of Durobrivae and the Saxon settlement of Medehamstede. A Norman 
Cathedral still stands at the heart of Peterborough; a city which expanded in Victorian and 
Edwardian times as Peterborough developed as a significant railway town, and then 
experienced further rapid growth from 1967 under the New Towns programme.  The legacy is a 
rich historic environment including designated and non-designated heritage assets. It is of 
particular relevance that many of Peterborough’s scheduled monuments include, or are 
adjacent to, drainage assets. Sections of Car Dyke, a Romano-British canal, are scheduled 
monuments in their own right.  
 

2.1.3. Peterborough is surrounded by contrasting countryside. This is illustrated in appendix A by the 
national landscape area classifications that feature in Peterborough.  To the west and north, the 
shallow river valleys of the Nene and Welland give way to an undulating limestone plateau, with 
a denser pattern of attractive stone villages. To the east of the city, the fen landscape is flat and 
open, with the villages of Eye and Thorney on islands of higher ground and a settlement pattern 
of dispersed hamlets and farms. This eastern area was originally marshy fen subject to periodic 
flooding. In the 17th century the Fens were drained to create a new landscape with rich soils well 
suited to agriculture and horticulture. Water levels in this landscape are now continually 
managed to reduce flood risk and to support strong economic communities of agriculture and 
horticulture, as well as to allow navigation and encourage important nature and tourism 
opportunities. Appendix B provides more detail about the wider Fens landscape and about the 
objectives for managing it. Much of the Fens is at or below sea level. 

 
2.1.4. Two different river catchments cover the majority of Peterborough; the Welland and the Nene. 

The Welland flows through Peterborough from its source in Hothorpe Hills, Northamptonshire to 
its mouth in the Wash. The River Welland itself forms the northern boundary of Peterborough 
but its catchment extends further south and includes the villages of Barnack, Ufford, Etton, 
Marholm, Glinton and Peakirk as well as the northern part of Peterborough’s urban area. The 
rivers making up the Peterborough Brooks form notable tributaries to the Welland. The southern 
part of Peterborough is within the River Nene catchment which includes tributaries such as 
Thorpe Meadows, Fletton Springs, Orton Dyke and Stanground Lode. The River Nene which is 
formed from three sources (the principal one being Arbury Hill in western Northamptonshire) 
and ultimately flows out to the Wash, passing through the centre of Peterborough. The Nene 
historically provided a principal transport route for trade and for building materials such as those 
used to construct the Cathedral and more recently the railways. The Nene and Welland Rivers 
have had their courses and floodplains altered significantly over time to aid such uses. Both are 
now managed for flood risk and navigation purposes by the Environment Agency. A small area 
in the southwest of Peterborough drains via the Whittlesey and District Internal Drainage Board 
District to the Old Bedford including Middle Level catchment. This area includes part of 
Stanground and the agricultural land to the east of the urban boundary. All three catchments are 
shown in figure 2-2. 

113



Peterborough Background 

7 

 
2.1.5. Both the landscape and water environments of Peterborough contain rich biological diversity. 

Peterborough has three internationally designated sites; Barnack Hills and Holes Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC), Orton Pit SAC and the Nene Washes SAC (which covers sections of the 
River Nene and Morton’s Leam). The whole of the Nene Washes is also a Special Protection 
Area (SPA), a Ramsar site and a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). In total there are 17 
SSSIs, of which three are designated National Nature Reserves (Castor Hanglands, Bedford 
Purlieus and Barnack Hills & Holes); 106 County Wildlife Sites of value and six Local Geological 
sites. Twenty-nine areas of Peterborough have also been recorded as Conservation Areas, 
some in the city centre and some in outlying villages. The majority of these villages are located 
in the west and north-west of Peterborough. There are two country parks, a number of 
parklands and a ‘Green Grid’ of walking and cycling routes across the authority.  For the 
purposes of clarification the Nene Washes are also known as Whittlesey Washes for the 
purposes of Flood Risk Management, this is due to the presence of more than one washes 
being present on the Nene. 
 

2.1.6. Peterborough has experienced and will continue to experience rapid growth requiring new 
housing, infrastructure and commercial/industrial development.  Local planning policy makes 
provision for 19,440 new homes between 2016 and 2036.  The spatial strategy provides for 
housing growth at a wide variety of places across the local authority area, but with a distinct 
emphasis on locations within and adjoining the urban area. 

 
2.1.7. The city centre is a key area of focus for the city council to ensure that Peterborough remains a 

regional service centre. The city centre presents a wide range of constraints and opportunities 
linked to flood risk, but also linked to other elements such as the presence of a rich historic 
environment and the ecological diversity of many brownfield sites. Significant redevelopment 
continues along the Nene which helps to improve the connection between the existing centre 
around Cathedral Square, the River itself and the communities south of the Nene. The River is 
an asset which is benefitting from revitalisation, additional presence and environmental 
improvements. Housing growth, a clear route for ensuring investment in this area, comes with 
its own water related constraints to overcome, not least land contamination, flood risk from the 
river and the existence in many areas of combined sewers which can limit capacity for 
wastewater discharge.  Many of those environmental projects and redevelopment opportunities 
along the River Nene are already progressing. 

 
2.1.8. It is against this background that the risks, challenges and opportunities related to local flooding 

have been considered and presented in the FMS. 

114



Peterborough Background 

8 

 

 
Figure 2-1: The area of Peterborough City Council (a unitary authority) with village and ward labels  

115



Peterborough Background 

9 

 

 
Figure 2.2: The river catchments and electoral wards in Peterborough 

 

116



Objectives 

10 

3. Policy, Legislation and Guidance 

  

3.1. Links between legislation and guidance documents 
 
3.1.1. Flood and water management in Peterborough is influenced by national, regional and local 

policy and legislation as well as technical studies and local knowledge. Figure 3-1 below 
attempts to summarise the main different types of contributing document. 

 
3.1.2. The key drivers for the production of the FMS are the FWMA 2010, the National Strategy, the 

Flood Risk Regulations 2009 and the Water Framework Directive. These are explained below 
alongside related policies and documents. 

 
 

 
 

Figure 3-1: Legislation, strategies, policies and plans affecting flood risk management 
 

 

117



Objectives 

11 

3.2. National context 
 

National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy 
 
3.2.1. Local flood risk management strategies must be consistent with the National Flood and Coastal 

Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England (the National Strategy) which was published in 
July 2020. The National Strategy sets out three ambitions to manage long term risk: 

 

Climate resilient places  

Working with partners to bolster resilience to flooding and coastal change across the 

nation, both now and in the face of climate change 

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate  

Making the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth and 

environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to flooding and coastal 

change 

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change  

Ensuring local people understand their risk to flooding and coastal change, and know their 

responsibilities and how to act 

 
3.2.2. A series of strategic objectives sit under those ambitions alongside a series of measures 

designed to help achieve each of those objectives.  Section 7.3 demonstrates how our FMS is 
consistent with the National Strategy. 

 
3.2.3. The 2020 National Strategy has incorporated a step change in language in relation for 

responding to flood risk.  The emphasis has moved from protection to one of resilience and 
adaptation (Figure 3-2).  This recognises that that protection measures are just one part of the 
solution to making our communities more resilient in future and that constraints may prevent us 
from delivering protection in certain locations, such as the need for more space to 
accommodate flood waters in a dense urban environment or difficulties in securing funding for 
projects.  The way in which resilience to communities is measured is being developed through 
national groups at the time of writing this report.     

 

118



Objectives 

12 

 
Figure 3-2: Components of Resilience Described in the national Strategy 

 
 

National Legislation and Plans 
 

3.2.4. Table 3-1 below lists some of the other key legislation that drives water and flood risk 
management actions and the roles and responsibilities of different organisations: 

 
Table 3-1: Other water related legislation and drivers 

 

Flood Risk 

Regulations 2009 

Came into force in response to the EU Floods Directive 

2007/60/EC, this sets out the requirement for Preliminary Flood 

Risk Assessments (PFRA) and Flood Risk Management Plans 

(FRMP) to be produced.  

The Water 

Environment (Water 

Framework Directive) 

Regulations 2017  

Came into force as a response to the Water Frame Directive – 

2000/60/EC (WFD). The regulations aim to prevent deterioration of 

surface water and ground water bodies whilst supporting the 

achievement of the environmental objectives for those water bodies. 

119



Objectives 

13 

Flood and Water 

Management Act 2010 

Came into force to make changes to the way that flood risk is 

managed in the United Kingdom. This created Lead Local Flood 

Authorities. 

National Surface Water 

Management Action 

Plan 

Published in 2018 to set out steps being taken by risk management 

authorities on the management of surface water flooding. 

25 Year Environment 

Plan 

Released by government in 2018 and set out ambitions to improve 

the environment for future generations and provide a commitment 

from government to explore the potential for Environmental Net 

Gain. 

National Planning 

Policy Framework 

Section 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets 

out the government’s intention that planning should proactively 

help mitigation of, and adaption to, climate change including 

management of water and flood risk. 

Planning Practice 

Guidance – Flood Risk 

and Coastal Change  

National Planning Guidance - Paragraphs 051 and 079-086 

specifically explain the requirement for use of sustainable drainage 

systems (SuDS) in new and re-developments.  

UK Climate Change 

Risk Assessment 2017 

The UK government is required to carry out five yearly 

assessments of the impacts of climate change.  The highlighted 

risks were then assigned urgency scores to prioritise research and 

actions. The Adaptation Programme highlights, among others, the 

important role of Drainage and Wastewater Management Plans as 

a means of creating a more joined up approach to the 

management of surface water and helping to deliver against the 25 

Year Environment Plan 

Climate Change 

Committee  

An independent, statutory committee formed from the Climate 

Change Act 2008, they advise on emissions targets and on 

progress against reducing emissions and preparing for and 

adapting to climate change. Committee’s progress report of June 

2021 highlights areas of concern for the water environment and the 

management of local flood risk including highlighting ‘fundamental 

gaps in policy’ for the management of surface water on new 

developments and ‘a significant lack of data’ to assess progress in 

surface water flood alleviation 

Flood and Coastal 

Risk Management: 

long term investment 

scenarios (LTIS) 

An economic assessment which acts as evidence for government 
in future policy and investment decisions. The last assessment 
highlighted the weakness in the consideration of surface water 
flood risk, primarily due to a lack of evidence for consideration. 

120



Objectives 

14 

National Flood Risk 

Assessment (NaFRA) 

National surface water flood risk mapping used in flood risk 

planning cycle to provide high level mapping of surface water flood 

risk, informing the designation of Flood Risk Areas of National 

Significance, as described in the PFRA and FRMP. NaFRA 2 – an 

update of this assessment, is currently underway and due for 

completion in 2024. 

National Infrastructure 

Commission (NIC) 

Provides impartial advice to government on infrastructure needs 
and solutions and highlights anticipated future challenges. 
Previously the NIC have been advocates for a catchment-based 
approach to managing water and a national standard of resilience 
against all forms of flood risk.  

Environment Act 1995 
Establishment of the Environment Agency and transfer of powers 
from the National Rivers Authority (predecessor to the Agency) 

Land Drainage Act 

1991 

The powers and responsibilities of local authorities, Internal 
Drainage Boards (IDBs) and riverside landowners. 

Public Health Act 1936 Adoption of public sewers 

Water Industry Act 

1991 
Supply of water and sewerage services 

Water Resources Act 

1991 
The powers and responsibilities of the National River Authority 

Water Act 1989 
Establishment of water companies and of the National Rivers 
Authority (predecessor to the Environment Agency) 

Highways Act 1980 
Management and operation of the road network (including surface 
water drainage) 

Reservoirs Act 1975 Regulates safety of large raised reservoirs 

Civil Contingencies 

Act 2004 

Sets out roles and responsibilities of organisations in preparing for 
and responding to emergencies 

Environment Act 2021 
Part of legal framework to improve environmental standards, 
underpinning the government’s approach to establish a Nature 
Recovery Network 

Agriculture Act 2020 Enabling rewards for landowners providing public goods 

Natural Environment 

and Rural 

Communities Act 2006 

Having regard for biodiversity in carrying out functions 

 
 

121



Objectives 

15 

 
 
 
 

3.3. River basin and catchment focused flood risk and water management 
 
3.3.1. Water doesn’t flow according to political boundaries. Each river and its tributaries form a 

catchment area in which water is expected to ultimately flow into the named river. 
Understanding the management of flood risk across catchments is essential to ensure that flood 
risk is managed effectively without the creation of unintended downstream impacts. When larger 
catchments are grouped together this is known as a river basin. Peterborough is part of the 
Anglian River Basin District. 

 

 
Figure 3-3: The Anglian River Basin District and its river catchments 

 
Nene, Welland and Great Ouse Catchment Flood Risk Management Plans 

 
3.3.2. In 2009 the Environment Agency completed Catchment Flood Management Plans (CFMPs) for 

each of Peterborough’s river catchments. Within each river catchment areas were broken down 
for management’s sake into policy units, where each unit represents similar types of flood risk in 
terms of the mechanisms of flooding, the level of risk and the type of receptor (people, 
environment etc). Each unit was assigned a policy to guide management in the area.  
 

3.3.3. The CFMPs remain available despite not having been updated since 2009.  They are largely 
superseded by the Flood Risk Management Plans described below. 

 
Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan 

 
3.3.4. Flood Risk Management Plans (FRMP) are a requirement of the Flood Risk Regulations 2009, 

which set out a statutory process for flood risk planning over a 6-year cycle. The Environment 
Agency (EA) and Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFA) are required to: 

 

122



Objectives 

16 

• Assess the risk of flooding to people, the economy, and the environment. 

• Identify areas where the risk of flooding is considered to be significant. These are 
designated flood risk areas (FRAs), which were identified through Preliminary Flood Risk 
Assessments (PFRAs) in 2017, Section 3.4.1.  

• Prepare flood hazard maps which highlight the risk of flooding to receptors within FRAs 

• Prepare FRMPs that set objectives and identify measures to manage flood risk within the 
FRAs and the wider River Basin District (RBD). 

 
3.3.5. The first cycle Anglian FRMP was published in 2015 and covers the period from 2015-2021. 

The second cycle plan is currently being developed and will cover the period from 2021-2027. 
The Final FRMP will have two main parts: 

 

• A series of reports providing an overview of the Anglian RBD, a review of progress made 
during the first cycle, and an Environmental Report. 

• A live online mapping tool which will display the measures across the RBD. The tool will 
be updated during the lifecycle of the plan to ensure that information is up to date.  

 
3.3.6. The Flood Risk Management Plan also highlights Strategic Areas.  Strategic Areas are areas 

with a similar geography or strategic ambition where it is important to consider flood risk 
management across administrative boundaries and river catchments. 

 
3.3.7. There are 2 Strategic Areas within the Anglian RBD which relate to the Peterborough: 
 

• Fens and Lowlands 

• Oxford to Cambridge Growth Arc, figure 3-5 
 

Anglian River Basin Management Plan 
 
3.3.8. The Environment Agency also produces plans for each river basin district to cover other 

elements of water management, such as water resources and protection of the water 
environment. The Anglian River Basin Management Plan (Anglian RMBP) was released in 2015 
and is reviewed every 6 years with the next revision expected to be released in 2022.   

 
3.3.9. The Anglian RBMP sets out the current situation and pressures affecting the water environment 

with a range hierarchy of objectives, measures and actions to protect and improve those 
environments.  
 
Nene and Welland integrated catchment management plans 

 
3.3.10. Integrated catchment management plans have been developed for the non-tidal stretches of the 

Welland and the Nene to provide more detail on how the actions from the Anglian RBMP and 
Water Framework Directive can be delivered. These actions are joined by equally important 
actions to improve the watercourse and our enjoyment of it in a wider sense. For example this 
could be by improving amenity value for visitors, facilities for boaters and fisherman and 
bringing communities together to encourage them to help protect and maintain their local water 
environment. 

 
3.3.11. The Welland Rivers Trust coordinates and administers the Welland Valley Partnership which is 

guided by a 5 Year Plan that runs from 2021 to 2026. This plan sets the agenda for delivery of 
strategic projects that address failures of local watercourses under the Water Framework 
Directive. The River Welland forms part of the northern boundary of the Peterborough City 
Council area and receives flow from a number of small rural and urban watercourses within the 
council area. Delivery of projects is underway and those linked to Peterborough are referenced 
in Chapter 7 and the Action Plan. 

123



Objectives 

17 

 
3.3.12. The River Nene Regional Partnership (see section 4.12) co-ordinated the development of an 

integrated catchment management plan for the Nene which contains a significant number of 
Peterborough-based projects. Not all of these will be discussed in the FMS due to some being 
more about green infrastructure and less about flood risk. Projects identified in the River Nene 
plan aim to bring about as many different benefits as possible across the full scope of water 
management work. The Nene Catchment Partnership, hosted by the RNRP, will now look to co-
ordinate delivery of the opportunities identified in the Nene Integrated Catchment Management 
Plan 

 
Future Fens: Integrated Adaptation 

 
3.3.13. The Fens, as one of the lowest-lying areas of the UK, which suffers acutely from economic 

deprivation, is one of the most vulnerable parts of the country to the ever-mounting effects of 
climate change and associated sea-level rise. Current projections show the Fens could be 
underwater by 2100 if defence of the area is not sustained, leading to major displacement of 
communities and also significant damage to the economy and food security.  Anglian Water are 
leading this partnership work with Water Resources East, the Environment Agency, City Council 
and others to contribute to planning for the future. 

 
3.3.14. Future Fens: Integrated Adaption is a cross-sector, holistic and ambitious approach that aims to 

not only plan for adaptation, but also seize the opportunity to improve the economic, 
environmental and social prosperity of the region, all at a lower cost than by working 
independently of one another.  The work of this project could influence the wider catchment as 
multi-functional solutions will need to take links to upstream land management into 
consideration. 

 
Future Fens: Flood Risk Management 

 
3.3.15. The Fens is in a unique position of having the only location specific measure within the National 

Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy.  Much of the infrastructure in the Fens is 
nearing the end of its design life and will require significant investment soon.  This work aims to 
develop a long-term approach to delivering drainage and flood risk infrastructure for future 
generations, these options will need to consider many external pressures such as funding 
constraints, housing needs, climate change, water resources, environmental, navigation and 
amenity services.  

 
3.3.16. A baseline report for the Great Ouse Fens setting out the current situation and future challenges 

has been developed as a part of Phase one of the programme and was published in May 2021.  
Phase two is anticipated to take 5 years and will a long-term adaptive plan for the infrastructure 
in the fens.  Phase three then looks at planning the delivery of the management options.  
Investment in infrastructure during the development of this Programme will need to carefully 
consider the long-term plans to avoid abortive costs. 

 
3.3.17. The Fens are highlighted as a key piece of work within the National Strategy and have a 

measure assigned to them with the aim of developing a long-term plan for managing flood risk. 
 

Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan 
 
3.3.18. The Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan (DWMP), covering 2025-2050, is led by 

Anglian Water and aims to work with other strategic plans to ensure we collectively plan for the 
impact of growth and climate change. This collaborative long-term view will highlight the known 
and expected future risks of flooding, environmental quality and wellbeing from wastewater, 
drainage and treatment, and work with stakeholders to identify the solution strategies to 
mitigate.  

124



Objectives 

18 

 
3.3.19. Being a new strategic plan, the DWMP follows “A framework for the production of the Drainage 

and Wastewater Management Plan” which was created through discussions with a number of 
regulatory bodies and published in 2018. Led by water companies the DWMP will be produced 
by working together with other risk management authorities and all interested parties, to 
produce a first draft for consultation in June 2022. The final DWMP will be published in spring 
2023 and the outputs will be fed into Anglian Waters business plan submission to Ofwat later 
that year. 

 
3.3.20. The DWMP will help to ensure alignment with other strategies. Working together in identifying 

risks and solutions we can create a best value plan to collectively gain a range of benefits whilst 
producing a robust resilient plan to address the future challenges we all face. 

 

3.4. Local context 
 

 
Peterborough Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (2017) 

 
3.4.1. The Peterborough Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA) is a statutory document 

completed as a duty of the Flood Risk Regulations. The PFRA process uses National Flood 
Risk Assessment mapping to provide a high level overview of flood risk from local flood sources, 
including surface water and ordinary watercourses. It is not concerned with flooding from Main 
Rivers or the sea. The Peterborough PFRA report of 2011 was updated in 2017 and confirms 
(based on collected evidence) that there is no ‘Flood Risk Area’ of national significance within 
Peterborough’s administrative area.  However, the PFRA recognises that there are areas of 
flood risk with local significance that require continued management. 

 
Peterborough Green Grid Strategy 

 
3.4.2. The Green Grid Strategy draws up a framework and action plan for green space provision 

throughout the Peterborough area. The work was undertaken by The Natural Networks 
Partnership, formed from a number of environmental organisations alongside Peterborough City 
Council and Cambridgeshire County Council. The aim of the strategy is to ensure that 
Peterborough’s growth goes hand in hand with the protection and provision of quality green 
infrastructure. The strategy’s objectives relate to improving the quality of life within the region; 
contributing to sustainable water management, enhancing opportunities for visitors and tourism 
and delivering high quality sustainable development. A large number of the schemes put 
forward in the action plan relate to river corridor improvements which would benefit the water 
environment as well as the surrounding landscapes 

 
Peterborough Biodiversity Strategy 

 
3.4.3. The Peterborough Biodiversity Strategy sets out the Council’s objectives with specific actions for 

how these objectives can be delivered.  The Council is seeking to achieve net gain in 
biodiversity by protecting existing assets and looking to enhance or create new habitats of 
value.  A number of Peterborough’s Flood Risk Management assets are already, or have the 
potential to become, important wildlife sites.  Public bodies are required to have regard to 
conserving biodiversity whilst executing their roles as set in the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006. 

 
Peterborough Carbon Management Action Plan 

 
3.4.4. The city council declared a climate emergency in 2019 and introduced a Carbon Management 

Action Plan in 2021 with the ambitions of the council activities and the wider city being carbon 
neutral by 2030.  To help deliver this carbon impact assessments are being carried out to inform 

125



Objectives 

19 

all decisions.  Aside from the management of carbon, the city council recognises that there are 
already climatic changes underway that local communities and infrastructure need to prepare 
for, the actions of this strategy form a part of the adaptation to the changing environment, the 
Lead Local Flood Authority in Peterborough will work closely with other City Council colleagues 
to contribute to the wider adaptation plan for the council. 

 
Peterborough Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and Water Cycle Study (2018) 

 
3.4.5. The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and Water Cycle Study act as an evidence base for 

Peterborough’s Local Plan. The combined Assessment and Study builds on previous evidence 
from 2008 and 2010.   

 
3.4.6. The document sets out a range of recommendations for growing Peterborough in a way that 

ensures the right water infrastructure can be in place to support development.  It also provides 
the essential information on flood risk, allowing local planning authorities to understand the risk 
across the authority area.  This is available online on the city council’s web library of water 
management documents. The previous SFRA Level 2 (2010) provides breach and hazard 
mapping information for Peterborough that may be useful to developers in undertaking site 
specific flood risk assessments (FRAs).  
 
Local planning policy  

 
3.4.7. The city council’s local planning policy includes those documents listed in table 3-2. Relevant 

flood and water management policies are listed alongside. 
 

Table 3-2: Peterborough planning policy documents 

Policy 
document 

Adoption 
date 

Role 
Policies related to Flood 
and water management 

policies 

Peterborough 
Local Plan 

2019 

Sets the type and amount of 
development that will be 
accommodated in 
Peterborough up until 2036. 
 
Identifies sites for 
development to meet the 
vision and provides detailed 
policy to assist in 
determination of planning 
applications 

LP22: Green 
Infrastructure Network 
LP24: Nene Valley 
LP28: Biodiversity and 
Geological Conservation  
LP29: Trees and 
Woodland 
LP32: Flood and Water 
Management 
LP45: Red Brick Farm 

 
Peterborough Flood and Water Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 

3.4.8. Peterborough City Council Local Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority worked 
together to create guidance for how developers should manage flood risk and the water 
environment as a part of new development proposals.  This guidance includes details of the site 
selection, requirements for sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) as well as highlighting wider 
considerations of the water environment and potential consents that may be required prior to 
development. 

 

126



Objectives 

20 

 
 
 

In preparation for the anticipated development associated with the Oxford to Cambridge 
Growth Arc there are a number of initiatives led at a national or regional level working to 
ensure environmental standards and enhancements are delivered.  The need for sustainable 
development and the opportunities for the OxCam Arc are recognised in the National Flood 
and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy;  

 
Oxford to Cambridge Arc 
 
3.3 million people live in the Oxford to Cambridge (OxCam) Arc. It hosts some of the most productive 
and fastest-growing cities in the UK. Too much and too little water, alongside ageing infrastructure, 
are key considerations in the proposals for up to one million new homes by 2050. This will be double 
the previously proposed growth and is estimated to increase gross value added from £90 billion to 
£250 billion a year (HM Treasury, 2018).  
 
Government and local partners recognise the value of the natural environment and have committed to 
deliver the government’s 25 Year Environment Plan goals and environmental outcomes, including 
embedding a local natural capital planning approach, with the aim to meet their economic and 
housing ambitions while improving overall, rather than degrading, the environment in the Arc.  
 
In the government’s 2018 Budget, it confirmed funding for a pan Arc Local Natural Capital Plan to 
coordinate investment in housing, infrastructure and the environment to support transformational 
growth across the Arc. The aim is to make sure new development maximises its economic potential, 
increases resilience to flooding and integrates environmental infrastructure with other development to 
provide high quality and productive places for people to live and work.  
 
The principle of environmental net gain could provide a lever, not only for improvements in 
biodiversity, but also for improvements in sustainable flood and water infrastructure to support 
OxCam ambitions to be a model for climate-resilient growth.  
 
The government’s 2020 Budget committed to developing a new spatial framework and up to 4 new 
development corporations for the Arc, to give certainty about the location and timing of green growth, 
housing and infrastructure.  
 
 

 
Figure 3-4: Wildlife areas, rain gardens and tree pits were incorporated into Fletton Quays 

redevelopment (photo provided by GreenBlue Urban) 

127



Objectives 

21 

 
Figure 3-5: Area of Oxford to Cambridge Arc as defined by National Policy paper 

 
 

 
 

Strategic Environmental Assessment  
 
3.4.9. A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) was completed as a part of the development of 

the original FMS and its objectives.  There have not been any changes to aims or objectives of 
this strategy which would prompt a review of the existing SEA, which remains in date.  The 
findings and recommendations of the existing SEA has been considered as a part of the review 
of this strategy.  As a part of the review process this strategy has retained and enhanced 
existing links to the wider water environment and looks to promote solutions which provide 
multiple benefits.  

 
3.4.10. The Environment Agency have carried out SEAs for the Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan 

(FRMP) and National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy which inform the 
direction of the FMS. 

 
3.4.11. The assessment of environmental impacts and the potential to deliver environmental 

improvements is described in Section 7 and will be carried out as a part of the development 
process for all actions.  

 
 

The Forestry Commission and Natural England have both carried out studies to 
calculate the quantitative benefits of green space. An example from Natural 
England’s 2014 report is provided below: 
 
A single large tree can transpire 450 litres of water per day, making urban trees an 
effective way of reducing temperatures. Street trees and green roofs can reduce 
runoff by 50% in the immediate area. 

128



Roles and Responsibilities 

22 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 

 

4.1. Organisations involved in flood risk management 
 
4.1.1. There are a number of different organisations, authorities and individuals involved in flood risk 

management in Peterborough. At the end of the chapter figure 4-4 provides a quick reference 
guide for some of the main flood related issues that may be experienced. The principal 
management organisations are also discussed in this chapter, setting out what their roles and 
responsibilities are. A brief paragraph is also included on where the organisation’s funding 
comes from. Funding for flood risk management schemes in Peterborough is dealt with in more 
detail in Chapter 6. 

 
4.1.2. The organisations defined by the FWMA 2010 as ‘risk management authorities’ (RMAs) with 

responsibilities relating to the FMS are described in Table 4-1 below and in more detail later in 
this chapter. All RMAs must also act in a manner which is consistent with the National Strategy 
and guidance. The other organisations discussed in this chapter have no formal duty in these 
respects. 

 
Table 4-1: Risk management authorities as defined by the FWMA 2010 and the legislation under which 

they carry out their flood risk management functions 

Organisation 

Defined as 
an RMA 

(FWMA 2010 
section 6) 

Legislation under which flood 
risk management functions 

may be exercised 
(FWMA 2010, section 4) 

Duty relating to the FMS  
(FMW Act 2010 sections 

9,11) 

Peterborough City 
Council  
(as LLFA, Planning 
Authority and a 
Highways Authority) 

Yes 

• FWMA 2010 

• Flood Risk Regulations 2009 

• Land Drainage Act 1991 

• Highways Act 1980 

• Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 

• Develop, maintain, 
apply and monitor 

• Consult the other 
RMAs 

• Act in a manner 
consistent with the 
FMS and related 
guidance 

The Environment 
Agency 

Yes 

• FWMA 2010 

• Flood Risk Regulations 2009 

• Water Resources Act 1991 

• Land Drainage Act 1991 
• Act in a manner 

consistent with the 
FMS and related 
guidance 

Internal Drainage 
Boards 

Yes 
• FWMA 2010 

• Land Drainage Act 1991 

National Highways 
(as a highway 
authority) 

Yes 
• FWMA 2010 

• Highways Act 1980 

Anglian Water 
(as water company) 

Yes 

• FWMA 2010 

• Water Resources Act 1991 

• Water Industry Act 1991 

• Have regard to the 
FMS and guidance 

 
 
 
 
 
 

129



Roles and Responsibilities 

23 

 

4.2. Peterborough City Council 
 

As a Drainage Authority 
 
4.2.1. Peterborough City Council has been a drainage authority for many years under the Land 

Drainage Act 1991. This gives the city council various powers relating to flood prevention, 
maintaining flows in watercourses and the making of byelaws. In many cases the powers and 
duties given to the city council have now been superseded by the FWMA 2010.  

 
As a Lead Local Flood Authority 

 
4.2.2. Under the FWMA 2010 Peterborough City Council, along with other unitary and county councils, 

became a LLFA with responsibility for co-ordinating the management of flood risk from surface 
runoff, ordinary watercourses and groundwater. Under this Act the city council also has the 
following new responsibilities, as set out in table 6-2. 

 
Table 4-2: The powers and duties given to LLFAs by the FWMA 2010 

Change Notes 
Power 

or duty? 
Paragraph of 

Act 

Local Flood Risk 
Management 
Strategy 

LLFAs are required to develop, maintain, 
apply and monitor a strategy for local flood 
risk management in its area.  

Duty 9 

Duty to co-
operate 

All relevant authorities must co-operate 
with other relevant authorities in the 
exercise of their flood and coastal risk 
erosion management functions. 

Duty 
13  

and 14 (4) 

Power to 
delegate 

A RMA may arrange for another flood risk 
management function, except for delivery 
of the local flood risk management 
strategy, to be exercised on its behalf by 
another RMA or a navigation authority. 

Power 13 (4) 

Power to request 
information 

An LLFA and the EA may request 
information in connection with their flood 
risk management functions 

Power  14 

Investigating 
flood incidents 

LLFAs have a duty to investigate flooding 
incidents within their area, to the extent 
that the LLFA considers it necessary or 
appropriate 

Duty 19 

Asset Register 

LLFAs have a duty to maintain a register 
of structures or features which are 
considered to have a significant effect on 
flood risk and records of details about 
those structures, including ownership and 
condition as a minimum. The register must 
be available for inspection. 

Duty 21 

Contribution 
towards 
sustainable 
development 

In exercising a flood risk management 
function LLFAs, IDBs and National 
Highways must aim to contribute towards 
the achievement of sustainable 
development. 

Duty 27 

Designation 
powers 

LLFAs, as well as the Environment 
Agency and Internal Drainage Boards, 
have powers to designate structures and 

Power 
30 

and 
Schedule 1 

130



Roles and Responsibilities 

24 

features that affect flooding or coastal 
erosion in order to safeguard assets that 
are relied upon for flood or coastal erosion 
risk management. 

Works powers 
LLFAs have powers to undertake works to 
manage flood risk from surface runoff, 
groundwater or ordinary watercourse.  

Power 

31 and 
Schedule 2, 
section 29. 

Amends Land 
Drainage Act 
1991 section 

14. 

Consents for 
works to 
ordinary 
watercourses 

Consent is required from the LLFA before 
works can be carried out on a watercourse 
that is not a Main River. 

Duty 

31 and 
Schedule 2, 
section 32 

Amends Land 
Drainage Act 
1991 section 

23. 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Include arrangements to review and 
scrutinise the exercise by risk 
management authorities of flood risk 
management functions which affect the 
LLFAs area. 

Duty 

31 and 
Schedule 2, 
section 54. 

Amends 
section 21 of 

the Local 
Government 

Act 2000 

Incidental 
flooding 

LLFAs and IDBs can carry out works that 
cause incidental flooding or increases in 
the amount of water below the ground if 
the works satisfy four conditions. Condition 
1 – work in interest of nature conservation, 
cultural heritage or people’s enjoyment of 
the environment. 2 – Benefits outweigh 
harmful consequences. 3 – The EA have 
been consulted and if applicable agreed. 4 
- Other local authorities affected and 
owners and occupiers of land have been 
consulted. 

Power 39 

SuDS Approving 
Body (SAB) 

This section of the Act, specifying that 
LLFAs would approve, adopt and maintain 
any new drainage systems, has not yet 
been brought into force but is under 
review. Table 4-3 details the 
Government’s preferred alternative 
approach. 

N/A 
32 

and 
Schedule 3 

 
 
4.2.3. In April 2015 an amendment was made to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to bring in 

a planning related duty for LLFAs. This was done through issuing the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.  Subsequent 
ministerial statement and reforms to national planning took place, most recently in July 2021. 
These may be subject to further change as a further review of the implementation of Flood and 
Water Management Act Schedule 3 is planned for 2022. 

 

131



Roles and Responsibilities 

25 

Table 4-3: The duty given to LLFAs under changes to the Town and Country Planning Act  

Change Notes 
Power 

or 
duty? 

Paragraph 
of Act (as 
amended) 

Statutory consultee 
for major 
development 
applications 

LLFAs are to be consulted, by 
planning authorities, on the 
management of surface water on 
major development sites (those of 
10 dwellings or more; or equivalent 
non-residential or mixed 
development) 

Duty 
18 and 

Schedule 4 

 
As a Planning Authority 
 

4.2.4. Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 the city council, as a local planning authority 
(LPA) has a responsibility to ensure new developments are designed in a way that protects 
them from flooding and to ensure that the developments do not increase flooding downstream.  

 
4.2.5. For the management of surface water the city council is specifically expected to ensure that 

sustainable drainage systems are put in place in major developments, be satisfied that 
proposed minimum standards are met and ensure that there are clear arrangements in place for 
ongoing maintenance over the lifetime of the development. This should be carried out through 
the use of local planning policies and decisions on planning applications.  

 
4.2.6. Since the city council is also a Lead Local Flood Authority, and has been a Drainage Authority 

for some years, it has a drainage and flood risk team that can fulfil the new planning related 
requirements for LPAs and LLFAs.  

 
As an Emergency Responder 

 
4.2.7. Under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 Peterborough City Council is a Category One 

Emergency Responder. The city council’s role is principally about recovery after an event but 
the following actions are undertaken:  

 
i. Informing and warning activities 
ii. Co-operating with other emergency responders 
iii. Providing rest centres  
iv. Helping to rehabilitate people after an incident 

 
As a Highways Authority 

 
4.2.8. Under the Highways Act 1980 Peterborough City Council is classed as a Highway Authority and 

is responsible for the management of highways including drainage. The city council adopts and 
manages the majority of Peterborough’s highways and footpaths although it is not technically 
the landowner for them. Some highways are privately owned and managed, and others (the A1, 
A1M and A47) are managed by National Highways as part of the national network.  

 
4.2.9. Highway drainage systems are for the primary purpose of accepting surface water runoff from 

roads and carriageways and the authority’s duties include the need to minimise flooding to 
roads that could in turn lead to a breakdown of the network. Ensuring that the network can 
function as a whole is the priority; small scale flooding in specific locations may be less of an 
issue if there are alternative routes that traffic can take. Methods used to manage the closure of 
flooded roads is under constant review. The Local Highways Authority have a responsibility to 
contribute towards sustainable development. 

 

132



Roles and Responsibilities 

26 

4.2.10. Roadside ditches tend not to be the responsibility of the Highways Authority unless specifically 
put in place to manage the flows from the road.  The Highways Authorities have the powers to 
ensure there is adequate drainage to maintain the safety of the road, however, there is a 
common law responsibility of the adjoining landowners to maintain those ditches. 

 

 
Figure 4-1 – Roadside Ditches (Essex County Council) 

 
4.2.11. Peterborough City Council as the local Highways Authority also undertakes work on a risk-

based approach to regularly inspect and maintain highways structures such as ditches and 
gullies, to help ensure that they are fit for purpose. 

 
Funding 

 
4.2.12. Peterborough City Council’s funding comes from a variety of places. Government provides the 

most significant input in terms of grants. Unlike in the past these funds are often now not ring-
fenced for any specific purpose and have to be allocated according to need. The city council 
also collects a percentage of its income from Council Tax. Aside from these the city council can 
borrow funds, generate income from selling assets or submit project specific bids to 
Government agencies or other funding bodies. 

 
 
 

4.3. National Highways  
 

133



Roles and Responsibilities 

27 

4.3.1. Formerly an executive agency of the Department of Transport, known as the Highways Agency, 
then in turn Highways England, and more recently National Highways became a government-
owned company on 1st April 2015. National Highways is responsible for operating, maintaining 
and improving the Strategic Road Network in England on behalf of the Secretary of State. The 
network itself is owned by central government, is some 4,300 miles long and is made up of 
motorways and trunk roads (the most significant ‘A’ roads). In Peterborough National Highways 
manages the A1, A1M and A47, including some but not all slip roads. 

 
4.3.2. Part of National Highways role in managing the roads is a responsibility for managing the quality 

and quantity of road runoff that is collected within their network. Flood risk must not be 
increased by new road projects and discharges of water from the highway must not cause 
pollution to receiving water bodies. In line with this aim a Memorandum of Understanding with 
the Environment Agency has been developed to support the two organisations working 
together. More information about National Highways approach is available on their website. 

 
Funding 

 
4.3.3. National Highways funding continues to come from the Department for Transport based on a 5 

year business plan known as a Road Investment Strategy.  In response to the Government’s 
Road Investment Strategy for 2020-2025 National Highways have a Strategic Business Plan 
and Delivery Plan which look to balance the needs of the Strategic Road Network and detail 
specific activities and projects over this period. 

 

4.4. Environment Agency 
 
4.4.1. The Environment Agency is a non-departmental public body and has responsibilities for 

protecting and enhancing the environment as a whole (air, land and water), and contributing to 
the government’s aim of achieving sustainable development in England and Wales.  

 
4.4.2. Following the FMWA, the Environment Agency was given the strategic overview role for all 

types of flooding. This involves advising Government, supporting LLFAs with data and guidance 
and managing the allocation process for capital funding. In addition to this the Agency retains its 
existing responsibility for the management of flood risk from Main Rivers, the sea and 
reservoirs. This includes providing advice to planning authorities on development in areas of 
high flood risk. The Agency does not provide advice on other sources of flood risk as this is the 
responsibility of the Local Planning Authority. The Environment Agency currently provide 
nationally consistent flood maps for local flood risks. 

 
4.4.3. For designated Main Rivers and any associated designated assets, the Environment Agency 

has permissive powers to carry out maintenance, improvement and flood defence works. User 
of the powers is determined on a risk based approach. This includes being responsible, through 
the flood risk activity permitting, for controlling works by others which could affect Main Rivers or 
flood defences. The Environment Agency do not, however, generally own Main Rivers and the 
overall responsibility for maintenance of Main Rivers (as with any other watercourse) does lie 
with the landowner (see section 4.15 on riparian owners).  

 
4.4.4. The Environment Agency is the lead organisation responsible for coastal flood risk management 

and erosion, including tidal flooding and also the enforcement authority for reservoirs in England 
and Wales that are designated high risk and hold more than 25,000 cubic metres of water. 
While the safety of reservoirs is the responsibility of the owner, the Environment Agency has 
responsibility for enforcing safety, maintaining a register of reservoirs and ensuring that flood 
plans are put in place.  

 
4.4.5. Alongside Local Authorities and the Emergency Services the Environment Agency is a Category 

One Emergency Responder under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. Their role includes 

134



Roles and Responsibilities 

28 

providing coastal and river flood warnings and supporting other emergency responders in the 
event of flooding.  

 
Funding 

 
4.4.6. The Environment Agency is a national organisation with an annual operational budget of over a 

£1 billion. Its funding is split across many different areas of environmental work, but 
approximately half is spent on flood risk management. This includes the construction of new 
flood defences, the maintenance of the river system and existing flood defences together with 
the operation of a flood warnings system and the management of the risk of coastal erosion. 
The vast majority of the funding for flood defence comes directly from the Department for the 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra). 

 

4.5. Internal Drainage Boards 
 
4.5.1. Over forty percent of Peterborough’s land area is classified as being part of the national Fens 

character area. This is an artificially drained landscape and is part of the wider area of the Fens 
which overlaps with the local authority boundaries of Lincolnshire County Council, Norfolk 
County Council, Cambridgeshire County Council and Suffolk County Council. See Appendix B 
for further information. Land drainage authorities called IDBs were established within the Fens 
because of the special water level and drainage management needs existing within the area. 
These land drainage authorities are autonomous public bodies.  

 
4.5.2. Peterborough has four land drainage authorities of this type operating within its fenland area, 

three classified as independent IDBs and one classified as a Commissioners. Throughout the 
FMS the term Internal Drainage Board (IDB) is used to refer to all four of these organisations. 
Appendix C provides a map of the management area of each IDB within Peterborough’s 
boundaries. 

 

 
Figure 4-2 – Map of IDB areas 

 

135



Roles and Responsibilities 

29 

North Level District Internal Drainage Board (NLD IDB) 
 
4.5.3. NLD IDB is a land drainage authority responsible for the drainage and evacuation of surplus 

water from 33,000 hectares of land. The NLD IDB Board is responsible for the improvement and 
maintenance of some 613 kilometres of drains within the area and for the operation of 12 
pumping stations.  

 
Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board (W&D IDB) 

 
4.5.4. Welland and Deepings IDB is responsible for supervision over all aspects of land drainage 

within their district (other than Main River). They have regulatory powers in and adjacent to 
drainage systems and undertake improvements, maintenance and operation of their flood 
management assets. Their area extends to some 32,400 hectares and stretches from just north 
of Peterborough to south of Kirton near Boston. 

 
Whittlesey and District Internal Drainage Board  

 
4.5.5. This IDB is responsible for the drainage and evacuation of surplus water from over 8,300 

hectares of land. The Board is managed by the Whittlesey Consortium of IDBs. Strategic 
functions such as responses to planning applications and liaison with local flood risk 
management strategies is carried out on behalf of Whittlesey and District IDB by the Middle 
Level Commissioners. 

 
Middle Level Commissioners (MLC) 

 
4.5.6. The Middle Level Commissioners are a statutory body with powers and duties under general 

and local legislation relating to flood risk management and navigation. The Commissioners 
maintain an arterial system of 120 miles of watercourses and associated apparatus. The 
Commissioners also administer 27 IDBs.  
 
Funding 

 
4.5.7. Each of the aforementioned drainage authorities is funded by rates paid by the landowners in 

their area. This can be broken down into Drainage Rates and Special Levies. Drainage rates 
are paid by agricultural landowners direct to the IDB based on the area of their property. Where 
land in the IDB’s district is not in agricultural use, the owner instead pays their levy to 
Peterborough City Council as part of their Council Tax. The relevant amount is then separated 
out from the Council Tax and paid to each IDB. This is known as a Special Levy. 

 

4.6. Anglian Water Services Ltd 
 
4.6.1. Anglian Water (AW) is the water and sewerage undertaker for the Peterborough area and has a 

statutory obligation to supply water and wastewater services to its customers. AW currently has 
the responsibility to effectually drain their area and maintain their foul, surface and combined 
public sewers. Anglian Water also own significant reservoirs in the area which are assessed for 
flood risk they may pose. 

 
Funding 

 
4.6.2. Funding for water companies comes principally from water bills that residents and businesses 

pay. Larger investment can also come from shareholders and investors. Ofwat (the Water 
Services Regulation Authority) agrees the cost of water bills for each water company as part of 
a regular five year review process called the Periodic Review process.  This process sets the 
management plan for water companies for the next Asset Management Period, Asset 

136



Roles and Responsibilities 

30 

Management Period 7 is underway between 2020-2025. The next Periodic Review will be in 
2024.  

 

4.7. Local Resilience Forum 
 
4.7.1. The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Resilience Forum (CPLRF) is responsible for 

developing multi-agency emergency management arrangements in accordance with the Civil 
Contingency Act, 2004 within the County of Cambridgeshire. The CPLRF covers an area of over 
2000 square miles and serves a combined population of approximately 866,000 people. This is 
a multi-agency partnership made up of representatives from local public services, including the 
Emergency Services, Local Authorities, NHS England and the Environment Agency, which are 
all Category 1 responders under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. The LRF is also supported 
by Category 2 responders, such as National Highways and utility companies.  

 
4.7.2. The CPLRF have identified a number of risks with Cambridgeshire, including Peterborough, 

which they publish within the CPLRF Risk Register. The top risks for the county include severe 
weather, flooding events and pandemic influenza. 

 

4.8. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Flood and Water Management Partnership 
 
4.8.1. The primary partnership arrangement covering the Peterborough area is the Cambridgeshire 

and Peterborough Flood and Water Management Partnership (the CPFloW Partnership). This 
partnership is a union of previously separate partnerships serving both Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough which were merged to provide efficiencies to partners and reflect the closer 
working relationship between Peterborough City Council and Cambridgeshire County Council.  
 

4.8.2. The partnership is made up of representatives from Peterborough City Council and 
Cambridgeshire County Council, Environment Agency, Anglian Water Services Ltd, Internal 
Drainage Boards, Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service and Cambridgeshire Constabulary 

 
4.8.3. The partnership is responsible for ensuring that the objectives and actions agreed in this 

strategy are delivered where possible; thus, enabling Peterborough City Council to fulfil its 
leadership role in flood risk management. 

 
4.8.4. The purpose of the partnership is to provide a forum that allows partners to maximise resources, 

coordinate integrated management of all sources of flood risk, water resources and the wider 
water environment.  

 
 

4.9. Anglian Northern Regional Flood and Coastal Committee 
 
4.9.1. The Regional Flood and Coastal Committees play an important local role in guiding the 

Environment Agency’s flood and coastal activities, approving programmes of work for their 
areas and continuing to raise local levies under existing arrangements to fund local priorities.  

 
4.9.2. Regional Flood and Coastal Committees help to provide governance for the Environment 

Agency flood and coastal erosion risk management functions and cover all flood risks that are 
not the responsibility of the water companies. Membership consists of elected members from 
the relevant Lead Local Flood Authorities and independent members with relevant experience 
appointed by the Environment Agency. They have three key purposes: 

 
1. To ensure there are coherent plans for identifying, communicating and managing flood 

and coastal erosion risks across catchments and shorelines. 
 

137



Roles and Responsibilities 

31 

2. To promote efficient, targeted and risk-based investment in flood and coastal erosion 
risk management that optimises value for money and benefits for local communities. This 
includes managing the spending of both Government Flood Defence Grant in Aid and Local 
Levy paid by Lead Local Flood Authorities; and  

 
3. To provide a link between the Environment Agency, Lead Local Flood Authorities, other 

flood risk management authorities and other relevant bodies to engender mutual understanding 
of flood and coastal erosion risks in its area. 

 
4.9.3. Regional Flood and Coastal Committees are the key decision making bodies for allocating 

funding from both Flood Defence Grant in Aid, local levies which are raised from Lead Local 
Flood Authorities, precepts which are collected from Internal Drainage Boards and general 
drainage charges which are raised from landowners.  These are the key streams of funding for 
flood alleviation schemes from fluvial, coastal and local flooding.  They also contribute towards 
flood resilience schemes and the river maintenance programme.  These committees, therefore, 
have a hugely important role in deciding which areas receive support for flood risk management 
activities. More detail on funding is discussed section 6 of this document.  

 

4.10. Parish Councils and Volunteer Flood Wardens 
 
4.10.1. Some parish councils and residents associations engage actively in flood risk management, 

appointing a local flood warden to be a main point of contact between the residents of their 
area, the city council and the Environment Agency. The extent of their role is decided by the 
groups/individuals but often includes staying up to date with local flood risk management news; 
helping to gather a picture of flood risk in their area; raising awareness among their neighbours 
of risk and of what to do during an emergency and being the principal emergency contact during 
flood events. 

 

138



Roles and Responsibilities 

32 

 
 
 

4.11. Welland Valley Partnership 
 
4.11.1. The Welland Valley Partnership was formed in 2011 in response to the Government’s desire to 

set up 10 ‘pilot catchments’ to work in partnership to improve rivers and bring about wider 
environmental and social benefits. The pilots were intended to “provide a clear understanding of 
the issues in the catchment, involve local communities in decision making by sharing evidence, 
listening to their ideas, working out the priorities for action and seeking to deliver integrated 
actions that address local issues in a cost effective way and protect local resources” (Richard 
Benyon MP, the then Minister for Natural Environment and Fisheries).  Since the pilot 
completed, the partnership has been coordinated by the Welland Rivers Trust and includes 
local authorities, businesses, charities and interest groups based around the River Welland 
catchment. It has continued to attract new members and implement a variety of improvement 
schemes. The WVP is currently guided by a 5 Year Plan running from 2021 to 2026 and 
includes aspirations to deliver projects within the urban and rural watercourses of Peterborough. 

 

4.12. River Nene Regional Partnership 
 
4.12.1. The River Nene Regional Partnership (RNRP) was originally established in 2004 to co-ordinate 

green infrastructure activities (planning, economic development, regeneration and leisure) in 
Northamptonshire and along the Nene. It is now an independent Community Interest Company 
which develops, enables and implement green infrastructure projects at a sub-regional level. 
The RNRP has produced the Nene Catchment Plan, an integrated management plan for the 

Flood Warden case study 
 
“As a Flood Warden I take on the responsibility of providing flood risk information to 
the local residents in my community. To keep up to date I attend meetings, events or 
training sessions with Peterborough City Council and the Environment Agency several 
times a year. I also monitor the river levels using both local measuring equipment that 
I helped to implement and the Agency’s River Levels Online Service. I have used this 
knowledge to prepare a flood plan for the whole community so that we can be prepared 
before, during and after a flooding event. As the primary contact for our community, 
the city council send me regular updates during potential flood events and the 
Environment Agency has provided me with an emergency kit including supplies like a 
torch, fleece and blanket.  
 
In 2013 I enjoyed organising a community ‘Flood Awareness Fair’ with a number of 
Peterborough’s flood risk management organisations. This included arranging for 
property level protection companies to show their products and giving a presentation 
about local flood risk issues. 
 
The greatest achievement during my time as a Flood Warden has been to get most of 
the properties in my community surveyed to determine their height in relation to the 
river level. This allowed us to calculate what level of risk the homes (rather than the 
gardens) were subject to.  Doing this has made a real difference to the residents as 
we now have a Surveyor’s Certificate which can be sent to insurance companies to try 
and get cheaper and more realistic household insurance quotations. 
 
All of this has been made possible by the strong working relationship that I have with 
our local residents group, the city council and Environment Agency.” 
 

Tony Lambert, August 2014 
 

139



Roles and Responsibilities 

33 

River Nene from its source to its tidal limit. This was also one of the Government’s original ten 
catchment pilots. 

 

4.13. Parish Councils, Community Groups and Volunteers 
 
4.13.1. Flood events can affect whole communities with households which do not suffer from internal 

flooding still potentially being trapped as roads are blocked or services are lost. The work these 
communities carry out to assist each other during emergencies is often not recognised but is 
critical in helping to support and provide shelter to neighbours who have suffered from flooding. 
Communities know better than anyone the level of flood risk that they face, community groups 
and parish councils can make important contributions to helping manage the levels of flood risk 
in their communities.  

 

 
 

Yellow Fish Campaign case study 
 
To support the improvements to local rivers and drainage networks the city council 
worked closely with primary schools, Anglian Water and local artists Street Arts Hire.  
Anglian Water delivered classroom sessions to make students aware of the 
environment on their doorstep and think about how our activity might impact on that.  
 
Following the classroom events the students had a competition to design street art 
which was later installed on the pavements near the schools.  At the same time the 
Peterborough Highways team added markers and painted fish on the kerbs close to 
the drains, this was accompanied with a social media campaign and posters in the 
local area to make the community aware of their connection to the local environment 
and the impacts all our actions could have.    

 
Figure 4-3 Yellow Fish Campaign and street art 

140



Roles and Responsibilities 

34 

4.13.2. Some parish councils and residents’ associations engage actively in flood risk management, 
appointing a local flood warden to be a main point of contact between the residents of their 
area, the Local Authorities and the Environment Agency. The extent of their role is decided by 
the groups/individuals but often includes staying up to date with local flood risk management 
news; helping to gather a picture of flood risk in their area; raising awareness among their 
neighbours of risk and of what to do during an emergency.  These local volunteers provide a 
wealth of knowledge and a vital link to communities. 

 

4.14. Property owners and residents 
 
4.14.1. It is the responsibility of householders and businesses to look after their property, including 

protecting it from flooding. While in some circumstances other organisations or property owners 
may be liable due to neglect, there will be many occasions when flooding occurs despite all 
parties meeting their responsibilities. Consequently, it is important that house holders, whose 
homes are at risk of flooding, to take steps to ensure that their home is protected, and this may 
include reporting the flooding to the emergency services. Promotion of measures householders 
can take to protect themselves and their properties will be an ongoing action for local partners.  

 
4.14.2. From 1 October 2008 the permitted development rights that allow householders to pave their 

front garden with hard standing without planning permission have changed in order to reduce 
the impact of this type of development on flooding and on pollution of watercourses. 
Householders will not, however, need planning permission if a new or replacement driveway of 
any size uses permeable (or porous) surfacing, such as gravel, permeable concrete block 
paving or porous asphalt, or if the rainwater is directed to a lawn or border to drain naturally. If 
the surface to be covered is more than five square metres planning permission will be needed 
for laying traditional, impermeable driveways that do not provide for the water to run to a 
permeable area. Communities and Local Government has produced a leaflet called ‘Guidance 
on the permeable surfacing of front gardens’ and more information can be found online. 

 
4.14.3. There are rights and responsibilities relating to watercourses for those owning or occupying 

land, as described in section 4.15. These responsibilities are transferred to new owners when 
land is sold but are not always clear on property deeds, especially if assets are underground or 
outside of property boundaries.  For new developments the Flood and Water Supplementary 
Planning Document sets out requirements for identifying maintenance responsibilities as a part 
of the planning process, including the impacts both upstream and downstream.      

 
4.14.4. For more information on ‘Who manages what?’ please see Figure 4-4.  
 
 

4.15. Riverside landowners 
 
4.15.1. A landowner with a water body (e.g. a lake or river) running through or alongside their property 

is known as a ‘riparian owner’ as they will own all or part of the water body in the absence of 
anything in their conveyancing documents to state otherwise. If a watercourse is the boundary 
to the land then a riparian owner will normally own, and therefore have maintenance 
responsibilities, up to the centre line of the watercourse, however landowners can also be 
responsible for watercourses running adjacent to their land through common law, this may lie 
beyond their boundary. 

 
4.15.2. Riparian owners’ rights are modified by other duties to the community and to the environment, 

but in general riparian owners have rights to: 
 

a) protect their property from flooding 
b) protect their banks from erosion 

141



Roles and Responsibilities 

35 

 
4.15.3. In many cases consent is required from a relevant drainage authority for any works other than 

routine maintenance and cleansing (section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991) and from the 
Environment Agency for abstraction.  Details relating to consenting can be found on the City 
Council website and in chapter 8 of the Flood and Water Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
4.15.4. Riparian owner responsibilities include: 
 

a) a duty to their upstream and downstream neighbours; 
b) accepting water from an upstream neighbour and allowing it to transfer to a downstream 

neighbour; 
c) not causing or perpetuating a nuisance, such as causing obstruction to the flow of water. 

It is important that access is preserved to the banks for maintenance and safety 
purposes through controlling vegetation and considering appropriate locations for 
fencing and access tracks; 

d) ultimate responsibility in perpetuity for the water body. 
 
4.15.5. The Environment Agency, Internal Drainage Boards and the Lead Local Flood Authority share 

certain powers under the Land Drainage Act 1991, for enforcing riparian responsibilities. 
 
4.15.6. Guidance on owning a watercourse can be found on Gov.UK, setting out responsibilities and 

rules. 

142



Roles and Responsibilities 

36 

Who to Contact Quick Reference Guide 
 
If you notice flooding please report it as per this guide 
 
 

 
 

* Responsibility can vary between several partners so if you are unclear start 
by contacting Peterborough City Council. 

 
 

Figure 4-4 and Table 4-4: A quick reference guide, not necessarily to who might be responsible for managing the flooding, but to which 
organisation is most likely to be able to help with flood related queries on specific subjects

# 
Structure or feature 
where problem is 

arising 
Responsible organisation 

1 Utilities 
Your gas, electricity or sewerage 
supplier 

2 
Surface water runoff 
and groundwater 
flooding 

Peterborough City Council * or on 
major roads National Highways  

3 

Rural or farmland 
runoff, or overtopping 
from smaller 
watercourses 

Peterborough City Council *, 
Internal Drainage Boards 

4 & 
5 

Main River flooding 
and/or obstructions 

Environment Agency 

6 
Sandbags (not 
recommended) 

Builders merchant 

7 
Household protection, 
also known as Property 
Flood Resilience 

Property owner’s responsibility but 
the Environment Agency and/or 
Peterborough City Council can 
provide advice. 

8 
Flood damage cover 
and claims 

Your insurance company 

9 
Internal wastewater 
flooding 

Anglian Water 

10a 
Ordinary watercourses 
in fenland areas 

Internal Drainage Boards 

10b 
Ordinary watercourses 
not in fenland areas 

Peterborough City Council 

143



The Risk to Peterborough 

37 

5. The Risk to Peterborough 

 
5.1. Introduction 
 
5.1.1. This chapter looks at each type of flood risk that Peterborough is susceptible to and explains how 

the types of flooding differ, the broad distribution and level of risk in Peterborough and how to find 
out more. This chapter is predominantly concerned with flooding caused when the received 
rainfall or river flows exceeds the design capacity of the drainage and flood risk management 
systems. 

 
5.1.2. As well as natural flood risk from weather systems flooding can happen anywhere due to 

operational issues such as blockages, bursting of pipes or failures of defences.  It is harder to 
predict the likelihood, location and impacts of flooding caused by operational issues and these 
can only be prevented by appropriate maintenance of assets. It is important to note that flooding 
resulting from breaches or bursting of pipes can have a more significant impact than the gradual 
overtopping of watercourses or surcharging of sewers because the impacts can occur very 
suddenly, creating a flow of water at speed. 
 

5.1.3. The level of resilience to flooding in Peterborough is not static and will vary over time, there are 
many factors explored in this strategy that can affect this change such as the climate, levels of 
maintenance or changes to the characteristics of the catchments.  Whilst this section looks to 
highlight the differing sources of flood risk, it also highlights historic events where flooding 
occurred or was exacerbated by a combination of different factors. 

 

5.2. What is risk? 
 
5.2.1. In order to understand flood risk the meaning of ‘risk’ needs to be clear. Risk is the likelihood of a 

hazard occurring multiplied by the impact of the hazard when it occurs.  
 

Risk = Likelihood x Impact 
 
5.2.2. With flooding it is normally the likelihood of it occurring which is discussed. This likelihood is 

stated in terms of annual exceedance probability (AEP). The most commonly discussed 
probabilities are shown in table 5-1 below: 

 
Table 5-1: Common flood related probabilities 

Annual 
probability 

Annual probability  
as a fraction 

Example 

3.3% 1 / 30 
The largest rainfall event for which surface 
water sewers are designed not to flood 

1.3% 1 / 75 
A common risk threshold used by the 
insurance industry  

1% 1 / 100 
A common design standard for Main Rivers 
defences 

0.5% 1 / 200 
The largest flood event for which defences on 
the tidal Nene are designed to defend against 

0.1% 
0.01% 

1 / 1,000 
1 / 10,000 

The Flood Storage Reservoirs are designed to 
provide differing levels of protection according 
to the receptors at risk, this includes the 
washlands around Peterborough at Whittlesey 
and Crowland. 

144



The Risk to Peterborough 

38 

 
 
5.2.3. In the past the likelihood of flooding has been described using the term ‘return period’.  This is, 

however, no longer standard practise as it caused confusion by implying that a ‘1 in 100’ flood 
event would only happen once every 100 years. The probability is really a 1% chance of the 
event happening every year. The smaller the % the lower the risk of the event occurring but once 
an event has been experienced it does not make it less likely to reoccur again in future.  
 
Standards of protection for defences 

 
5.2.4. In this chapter you will also find mention of standards of protection of various flood defences.  

The standard of protection (SoP) of a drainage system or flood defence is the level up to which it 
is expected to provide protection against a particular type of flood event. For example, a flood 
defence could be designed and built to have an SoP of 1% (1 in 100) from river flooding. This 
means that it would provide protection against flood events that have an annual occurrence of up 
to 1% (1 in 100). If larger and less probable flood events occur, these could overtop these 
defences.  It cannot be assumed that a SoP against one type of flooding will protect against all 
risks. 

 

5.3. Resilience against flooding 
 
5.3.1. The National Strategy calls for the nation to adopt a resilience and adaptation approach in the 

face of a changing climate. This includes providing protection but also encompasses improving 
the capacity for communities to plan for, respond to and recover from events such as flooding.  
Measures have been identified within the National Strategy to establish how these improvements 
will be quantified, resourced, and delivered.  Increased resilience and adaptation will vary 
between communities depending on several factors such as the types of risk those communities 
face. It is widely accepted that the level of resilience will decrease over time as ageing 
infrastructure faces increased intensity of rainfall from climate change.  

 

5.4. Differing probabilities for river flood events and heavy rainfall events 
 
5.4.1. A rainfall event of annual probability 1% (1 in 100) will not necessarily cause a river flood event of 

annual probability 1% (1 in 100). The complexity of different river catchments and landscapes 
means that the probabilities of rainfall events and river flooding are not comparable. For example, 
there will be spatial variations in rainfall across a catchment and rainfall landing on ground which 
is either already saturated or dry, this would impact on the volume of runoff.  Due to the influence 
characteristics of the landscape and weather events leading up to a flood can have on the 
responses of the catchment, the probability attached to a rainfall event rarely manifests itself in 
the same way.  

 

5.5. Building in climate change 
 
5.5.1. Climate change is expected to lead to greater extremes in weather, in many locations this 

changing level of risk is already being felt.  Simplistically, at a local level this change is expected 
to manifest as hotter drier summers combining droughts and intense rainfall events and warmer 
wetter winters with prolonged rainfall events and saturated ground.   

 
5.5.2. To represent this long term risk and ensure decisions such as those around infrastructure and 

new developments are robust for the future, assessments of risk and design standards for new 
drainage and flood risk assets incorporate additional allowances to reflect the anticipated impacts 
of climate change.  National and Local Planning policy set out how this is to be considered, with 
the Peterborough Flood and Water Supplementary Planning document and associated guidance 
providing assistance on how this is considered in the Peterborough area 

145



The Risk to Peterborough 

39 

 
5.5.3. There are a range of sources available detailing the potential impacts of climate change, above 

and beyond those already being felt. These are regularly updated and monitored by Risk 
Management Authorities and applied to their roles. The impacts described in those sources have 
been incorporated into this strategy and the activities and actions proposed. For completeness 
these include;  

 

• UK Climate Change Projections (UKCP) 

• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Commission on Climate Change 
report 

• UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 

• National Adaptation Programme 

• Climate Change Committee reports 

• Technical guidance supporting National Planning Policy Framework 
 

5.6. Risks to physical and mental health 
 
5.6.1. Flooding is devastating, many people experiencing such traumatic events will experience 

immediate shock and distress and often increased levels of anxiety in future.  This can be 
exacerbated by extended periods out of the home during the recovery process.  The risks that 
communities and emergency responders are faced with are wide ranging, with more visual risks 
associated with deep, fast moving or contaminated water to the longer term hidden mental health 
implications.  Public Health England have studied many of these risks and provide advice for both 
the public and responding professionals.  

 
5.6.2. Future flood risk schemes can look to minimise the risk of flooding to reduce this impact and also 

identify opportunities for partners and communities to be able to plan, respond and recover more 
effectively.  There will also be opportunities for partners to promote wider benefits for 
communities as a part of flood risk schemes such as improved access to public open space or 
using sustainable drainage systems to mitigate against urban heat islands.  

 

5.7. Rating the different types of flood risk for Peterborough 
 
5.7.1. The types of flooding described in this chapter are laid out in order of the organisations 

responsible for co-ordinating the management.  
 
5.7.2. The risk from different types of flooding varies significantly across Peterborough depending on 

the landscape, the proximity to watercourses, the style of local drainage system and what would 
be impacted by the flooding. In order to give flood and water management organisations an 
overall perspective of flood risk in Peterborough, each type of flooding has been rated according 
to the likelihood of an event occurring in Peterborough and the expected impacts. This exercise 
was carried out with Peterborough’s water management partners using a risk matrix calculation 
and professional judgement to identify the economic, environmental and social impacts. The 
results are set out in table 5-2. 

 
5.7.3. Appendix C show the categories for likelihood, impact and risk that were used for this calculation. 

The likelihood categories have been developed based on the Environment Agency’s classification 
bands for flood risk. The likelihood does take flood defences into consideration. Where the annual 
probability of flooding from a source spans more than one band, the highest likelihood band has 
been represented. With the impact score this was derived based on the highest scoring impact 
from the impact categories.  

 
5.7.4. The following risk table and this chapter do not include flooding caused by operational issues 

such as maintenance, breaching, bursting pipes or damaged defences.  

146



The Risk to Peterborough 

40 

 
5.7.5. The risk from foul-only sewers is also not included in the table below. This is because the 

likelihood of properties in Peterborough having foul capacity issues is very low and water 
companies treat the resolution of these issues as high priority. 

 
Table 5-2 Historic flood events from Peterborough SFRA and LLFA record 

 

Date 

Location 

(Number of homes with 
reported internal flooding) 

 

Short Description 

July 2021 City wide Intense summer storm 

 Peterborough  

December 2020 City wide Prolonged rainfall on saturated 
catchment 

August 2011 City wide Intense summer storm  

July 2004 Wittering and A1 Intense summer storm 

Easter 1998 Nene catchments  
Slow moving heavy rainfall followed 
by more localised heavy rainfall two 

days later 

1997 Marholm Brook Heavy rainfall 

July 1986 
Werrington Brook, Brook 

Drain and Tributaries Intense summer storm  

March 1947 River Nene Heavy rain and snow melt 

 
 
 

147



The Risk to Peterborough 

41 

Table 5-3: Risk matrix for Peterborough 
 

FLOOD 
SOURCE & 
DETAILS 

SOURCE OF 
FLOODING 

Sea 
(coastal) 

Reservoir 
Main river - 
tidal waters 
(Nene only) 

Main river – 
non tidal 

Combined 
Nene Event 
(during Nene 
tide lock with 
Washes full) 

IDB 
drainage 

catchments 

Ordinary 
watercourses 

(not in IDB 
areas) 

Ground 
water 

Surface 
runoff 

(including 
overflow from 

gullies and 
surface water 

sewers) 

Combined 
sewers 
(foul and 
surface 
water) 

Two or more  
sources  

e.g. Main River 
and surface 
water runoff 

RESPONSIBLE 
AUTHORITY 

EA EA EA EA EA, IDB IDB PCC PCC PCC and AW AW, PCC 
EA, PCC, AW, 

IDB 

WARDS 
WHERE 

NOTABLE 
AREA OF 

RISK 
EXISTS 

FOR THE 
FLOODING 
SOURCE 

Barnack   ✓   ✓    ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓ 

Bretton       ✓     ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓ 

Central  ✓  ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Dogsthorpe             ✓ 
 

✓ 
 

✓ 

East    ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Eye, Thorney and 
Newborough 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓    ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Fletton and 
Stanground 

  ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Fletton and Woodston   ✓   ✓     ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Glinton & Castor   ✓   ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 
 

✓ 

Gunthorpe    ✓   ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Hampton Vale    ✓   ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Hargate and 
Hempsted 

   ✓   ✓  ✓  ✓ 

North       ✓      ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Orton Longueville   ✓   ✓ ✓   ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ 

Orton Waterville   ✓   ✓ ✓   ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓ 

Park             ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Paston and Walton       ✓     ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Ravensthorpe             ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓ 

Stanground South        ✓  ✓  ✓ ✓   ✓   ✓ 

Werrington       ✓     ✓ 
 

✓   ✓ 

West   ✓    ✓ ✓   ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ 

Wittering  ✓  ✓   ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ 

 
 
 
 

148



The Risk to Peterborough 

42 

F
L

O
O

D
 S

O
U

R
C

E
 &

 

D
E

T
A

IL
S

 
SOURCE OF 
FLOODING 

Sea 
(coastal) 

Reservoir 
Main River - 
tidal waters 
(Nene only) 

Main River 
– non tidal 

Combined 
Nene event 
(during Nene 
tide lock with 
Washes full) 

IDB 
drainage 

catchments 

Ordinary 
watercourse 

Ground 
water 

Surface 
runoff 

(including 
overflow from 

gullies and 
surface water 

sewers) 

Combined 
sewers 
(foul and 

surface water) 

Two or more  
sources  
e.g. Main 
River and 

surface water 
runoff 

RESPONSIBLE 
AUTHORITY 

EA EA EA EA EA, IDB IDB PCC PCC PCC  and AW AW, PCC 
EA, PCC, 
AW, IDB 

P
E

T
E

R
B

O
R

O
U

G
H

-W
ID

E
 

R
IS

K
 M

A
T

R
IX

 

LIKELIHOOD 
OF EVENT 
OCCURING 

0 1 1 4 2 4 4 3 4 5 4 

IMPACT OF 
EVENT 

N/A 5 2 3 5 1 1 2 2 2 3 

RISK No risk (0) Low (5) Low (2) High (12) High (10) Low (4) Low (4) 
Medium 

(6) 
Medium (8) High (10) High (12) 

 
 
 
 

149



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
43 

 

5.8. Coastal flooding 
 
5.8.1. In the Anglian Region coastal flooding occurs particularly when storms in the North Sea 

coincide with spring tides, causing the overtopping of coastal sea defences.  This occurred in 
1953 in East Anglia as well as in 2013. While all of Peterborough’s risk management authorities 
would give assistance during these events, Peterborough itself is not at risk from the coastal 
flooding. 

 

5.9. Reservoir flooding  
 
5.9.1. The likelihood of Peterborough flooding from large raised reservoirs (ones that hold over 25,000 

cubic metres of water – equivalent to approximately ten Olympic sized swimming pools) is very 
low. Flooding would need to happen either from the reservoirs either being overtopped (gradual) 
or failing (catastrophic). The former is unlikely because the water level of large reservoirs is 
carefully managed, and water can be transferred in and out through pipe and Main Rivers 
systems. The latter is unlikely because the Reservoirs Act requires that, regardless of the level 
at which a large reservoir might overtop, there must be no risk of catastrophic breach from in an 
event with an annual probability of occurrence of less than 0.01% (1 in 10,000). All large 
reservoirs must be inspected and supervised by reservoir panel engineers. There has been no 
loss of life in the UK from reservoir flooding since 1925 at Dolgarrog in North Wales. 

 
5.9.2. While flooding is very unlikely, if a reservoir dam did fail, a large volume of water would escape 

at once with little or no warning. Therefore, to ensure that this can be planned for by emergency 
responders and those living near reservoirs, the Environment Agency produces a map show the 
extent of flooding that could occur if a reservoir failed. This map can be found on their website. 
The large reservoirs in and around Peterborough are listed in table 5-3:  

 
5.9.3. There are other smaller reservoirs in Peterborough that are privately owned e.g. by farmers and 

landowners to provide water supply for irrigation. These are not subject to as stringent 
legislation.  

 
Table 5-4: Large reservoirs in and around Peterborough 

Reservoir 
Type of 

reservoir 

Standard of 
Protection (SoP) 

against 
overtopping 

Standard of 
protection against 

catastrophic 
breach 

Whittlesey Washes 
/ Nene Washes 

Flood storage 

Mainly 0.1 % (1 in 
1000) 

0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 
near Eldernell 

0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 

Rutland Water Water supply 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 

Burghley House 
Lake 

Amenity 0.1 % (1 in 1000) 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 

Eyebrook 

Built to supply 
Corby steel 
works though 
demand is now 
much reduced. 
Now trout fishery 
and nature 
reserve. 

0.1 % (1 in 1000) 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 

Crowlands Cowbit 
Washes 

Flood storage 0.1 % (1 in 1000) 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 

Deene Lake Private lake 0.1 % (1 in 1000) 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 

Pitsford Water supply 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 0.01 % (1 in 10,000) 

 

150



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
44 

 

 
Figure 5-1: Man fishing at Rutland Water reservoir. Source: Anglian Water. 

 
 

5.10. Tidal Main River flooding 
 
5.10.1. Peterborough is at risk from tidal flooding on the Nene. There are however measures in place to 

manage and minimise this risk. The Dog-in-a-Doublet sluice, shown in figures 5-2 and 5-3, 
provides a tidal limit, with the gates being closed at high tides to prevent water from entering 
Peterborough city centre from the downstream end of the Nene. East of the sluice either side of 
the tidal stretch of the River Nene the flood defences also have a standard of protection of 0.5% 
(1 in 200 in any one year).  

 
5.10.2. The tidal limit on the River Welland is at Fulney Lock and the Marsh Road Sluice, downstream 

of Spalding. In Peterborough there is currently no risk of tidal flooding from the Welland. 
 

151



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
45 

 

  
Figure 5-2: Dog in the Doublet sluice during a very high tide. 

Source: Peterborough City Council  
 

 
Figure 5-3: Dog in the Doublet sluice when the tide is not so high. 

Source: Environment Agency. 

152



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
46 

 

 
 

5.11. Main River flooding (non-tidal) 
 
5.11.1. Certain watercourses in England have been historically designated by the Secretary of State for 

Environment, Food and Rural Affairs as ‘Main Rivers’. This enmainment process is now carried 
out by the Environment Agency. A Main River is defined as a watercourse marked on a 
statutory Main River map held by the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and 
the Environment Agency. This can include any structure or appliance for controlling or 
regulating the flow of water into, in or out of the channel. Enmainment is carried out based on 
the flood risk importance of a river. The larger arterial watercourses are therefore normally 
designated, but some smaller watercourses have also been included.  

1947 Case Study  
Source: Eye Peterborough, 2014 and Dr Mark Saunders, 1998. 
 
The winter of 1947 was extremely cold with strong gales and heavy snowstorms. 
When temperatures rose in March the snow thawed quickly. The ground was still 
frozen so the snow melt could not infiltrate and instead ran towards streams and 
rivers. This coincided with the peak of a spring tide and the high-water levels 
combined with very strong winds pounded flood defences. On 19th March 1947 the 
water level in the River Nene is reported as having been 2.4 metres above average 
at Town Bridge in Peterborough.  At Wansford data from the Environment Agency 
and the Institute of Hydrology indicates that the flood flow peak was approximately 
255 cubic metres per second. 
 
A breach in the flood defences of Cowbit Washes north of Crowland occurred on 21st 
March. Water inundated the northern areas of Peterborough, reaching land north of 
Thorney and Eye Green.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figures 5-4 (left): It looks like the photographer was standing on a causeway in the 
middle of a large lake, but the view is actually looking south along Crowland Road. 
The road was previously under water. Credit: John Kemmery. 
Figure 5-5 (right): The right-hand image is the same view in 2013. Credit: 
www.eyepeterborough.co.uk 
 
Flooding occurred in many areas across Peterborough. Flood Zone 2, illustrated in 
the Environment Agency’s Flood Map for Planning, is generally understood to closely 
follow the outline of flooding in Peterborough in 1947.  
 
Since 1947 significant work has been carried out to upgrade defences in the Fens 
including the installation of more powerful pumps. 

153



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
47 

 

5.11.2. The Environment Agency does not own Main Rivers but has permissive powers to maintain and 
improve these rivers to manage flood risk. It is important to note that the ultimate responsibility 
for maintenance of any river sits with the landowner (see section 4.15). 

 
5.11.3. Peterborough has 17 Main Rivers, listed below by river catchment and illustrated in figure 5-6.  
 

Welland Catchment 
i. Brook Drain 
ii. Car Dyke 
iii. Folly River 
iv. Marholm Brook (downstream of Belham Wood only) 
v. Maxey Cut 
vi. Paston Brook 
vii. River Welland 
viii. Werrington Brook 

 
Nene Catchment 
ix. Billing Brook 
x. Castor Splash 
xi. Fletton Spring 
xii. Mortons Leam 
xiii. Orton Dyke 
xiv. Padholme Drain 
xv. River Nene (Non-tidal from Northamptonshire into Peterborough up to the Dog-in-a-

Doublet sluice. Tidal downstream from the sluice gate.) 
xvi. Stanground Lode 
xvii. Thorpe Meadows 

 
 
5.11.4. Figures 7-7 and 7-8 provide Nene and Welland catchment-wide summaries of the risk to 

property from a Main River flood event with an annual probability of 1% (1 in 100). 

154



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
48 

 

 
Figure 5-6: Main Rivers and catchment boundaries 

 

155



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
49 

 

 
Figure 5-7: Map showing the Nene catchment with flood risk from rivers and sea (from Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan) 

. 
 

156



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
50 

 

 
Figure 5-8: Map showing the Welland catchment with flood risk from rivers and sea (from Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan) 

157



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
51 

 

 
5.11.5. Areas at risk of flooding from Main Rivers are usually those low-lying areas adjacent to the river. 

The area immediately next to a river where the river is expected to flood, or where it would flood 
if there were not defences, is called floodplain.  The size of the floodplain depends on the size 
and flow of the river and the surrounding landscape.  

 
5.11.6. For many of the watercourses in Peterborough the standard of protection they provide is given 

by the size and shape of the river, its banks and the level of maintenance undertaken. However 
some Main Rivers also benefit from formal flood defence structures. For example, alongside the 
Whittlesey Washes the River Nene has a design standard of protection (SoP) of 1 in 200 (0.5%) 
created by the formal flood defence embankments on either side of the river channel. Tables 5-
4 and 5-5 below give the standard of protection for formal flood defences in Peterborough within 
the Nene and Welland catchments. This is based on information held within the National Flood 
and Coastal Defence Database. 

 
Table 5-5: SoP for formal Main River defences within the Nene Catchment 

Defence type Watercourse 
Standard of Protection 

(SoP) 

Raised (man-made) river 
embankments 

River Nene north bank: 
Fitzwilliam Bridge to Dog in a 
Doublet 

1% (1 in 100) 

Raised (man-made) river 
embankments 

River Nene Cradge Bank 
(southern bank): Fitzwilliam 
Bridge to Dog in a Doublet 

1% (1 in 100) 

Sea defence (man-made) 
tidal embankments 

River Nene both banks: Dog 
in a Doublet to Halls Farm 

0.67% (1 in 150) 

Raised (man-made) 
embankment - designated 
reservoir embankment 
serving the Whittlesey 
Washes reservoir 

South Barrier Bank 0.1 % (1 in 1000) 

 
 

Table 5-6: SoP for formal Main River defences within the Welland Catchment 

Defence type 
Watercourse 

(alphabetical order) 
Standard of Protection 

(SoP) 

Raised (man-made) river 
embankments 

Car Dyke western bank: 
Werrington Bridge Road to 
opposite Hawkshead Way 

2% (1 in 50) 

Raised (man-made) river 
embankments 

Car Dyke eastern bank: 
Werrington Bridge Road to 
Whitepost Road 

2% (1 in 50) 

Raised (man-made) river 
embankments 

Folly River both banks: 
Peakirk Bridge to Peakirk 
pumping station 

1% (1 in 100) 

Raised (man-made) river 
embankments 

Maxey Cut north bank: 
Loham Sluice to confluence 
with River Welland 

1% (1 in 100) 

Raised (man-made) river 
embankments 

Maxey Cut south bank: 
Loham Sluice to Peakirk 
Viaduct 

1% (1 in 100) 

 
 
5.11.7. In Peterborough when river levels in the Nene are high and exceed the discharge capacity of 

the Dog in a Doublet sluice, the Whittlesey Washes will begin to fill up. This is possible even in 
low tide conditions (i.e. when the sluice gate is open). The Washes therefore provide 

158



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
52 

 

Peterborough with flood protection from Main River flooding. Further information about the role 
of the Washes during high tides is available in section 5.18. 

 
Find out about the risk of flooding in your area from Main Rivers 

 
5.11.8. The Environment Agency produces two different maps that can be used when looking at flood 

risk from rivers and the sea. These maps include the risk of flooding from tidal events (section 
7.8), Main Rivers and other watercourses with a catchment greater than 3km2.  

 

 
 
5.11.9. Risk of Flooding from Rivers and the Sea map- This map shows the actual risk of flooding on 

a scale of very low, low, medium and high as well as the flood extents. The map takes flood 
defences and management actions into account. However please note that flood defences can 
be overtopped or fail (e.g. conditions greater than the risk that the defence was designed for or 
if the defences are in poor condition). Therefore some areas behind defences are still shown as 
having a level of risk. The map uses the following risk bands: 

 
i. High – each year there is a chance of flooding of greater than 3.3% (1 in 30)   
ii. Medium – each year there is a chance of flooding of between 3.3% (1 in 30) and 1% (1 

in 100) 
iii. Low – each year there is a chance of flooding of between 1% (1 in 100) and 0.1% (1 in 

1000) 
iv. Very low – each year there is a chance of flooding less than 0.1% (1 in 1000) 

 
5.11.10. Flood Map for Planning (Rivers and the Sea) - This map is designed for use in the planning 

system when allocating development to appropriate sites and when assessing submitted 
applications. The map does not show the presence of defences because of the risk that these 
can fail or be overtopped and the need for development to consider lower risk areas where 
minimal flood risk management works are needed before considering higher risk development 
sites. The Flood Map for Planning shows the flood extents possible from a flood event of annual 
probability: 

 
i. of up to a 1% (1 in 100). This is often referred to as Flood Zone 3.  
ii. of up to 0.1% (1 in 1000). This is often referred to as Flood Zone 2. 
iii. less than 0.1% (1 in 1000). This is often referred to as Flood Zone 1 and is considered 

to be the area of lowest risk. 
 
 
 

Flood Maps  
 

To view the maps described below and the risk for your area please visit: 
 

https://www.gov.uk/check-flood-risk 
 

Flood Warning Service 
 

To sign up for flood warnings please visit: 
 

https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings 
 

159

https://www.gov.uk/check-flood-risk
https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings


The Risk to Peterborough 

 
53 

 

 
 
 

5.12. The Fens and Internal Drainage Board watercourses  
 
5.12.1. The Fens is a wide expanse of flat prime agricultural land, much of which is below sea level. In 

order to drain the land, water from Peterborough’s fens is generally pumped via a large grid-like 
network of open watercourses (classed as ordinary watercourses) into the downstream rivers, 
and from there out to sea. In most areas the gradient across the land to the watercourses very 
low and hence water has to be pumped by large diesel and electric pumps within the network. 
These pumps are housed in pumping stations as shown within figures 7-10 and 7-11.  

 

1998 Case Study 
Source: Met Office, October 2012 

 
At the start of Easter 1998 (8-10th April) a stationary band of heavy rain led to 
saturated ground and excessive surface water runoff. On Good Friday levels in the 
Nene were very high, with the flood flow peak at Wansford being approximately 200 
cubic metres per second. 18 homes were flooded from the Nene in a variety of 
locations and many roads across Peterborough were flooded from surface water. 
Two days later on Easter Sunday 100 homes flooded from the Thorpe Meadows 
watercourse, a smaller Main River. This was due to the effect of significant local 
rainfall and surface water entering the watercourse from the Longthorpe catchment 
of Peterborough, and the watercourse not being able to discharge out into the River 
Nene which was maintaining high levels. Since this event a flood defence wall has 
been installed to protect properties from overtopping of Thorpe Meadows 
watercourse. 
 

 
 

Figure 5-9: Map showing the contours of the heaviest rainfall for the three-day 
period 8-10 April 1998, together with the rivers put on Red Flood Alert by the UK 

Environment Agency.  (Credit: Saunders, 1998). 

160



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
54 

 

5.12.2. In drier months the role of an IDB can be more about managing water levels in the channels for 
irrigation or navigation, than about draining the land. 

 

 
Figures 5-10 and 5-11: Cross Guns Pumping Station inside (left) and outside (right). 

Source: North Level District IDB 
 
5.12.3. More detailed information about the wider area of the Fens covering Lincolnshire, 

Cambridgeshire, Peterborough, Norfolk and Suffolk is included in Appendix B. 
 
5.12.4. Protection for the Fens is effectively provided on three different levels; primary coastal defences 

(remembering that IDB districts extend much further towards the Wash than the boundary of 
Peterborough City Council); Main River defences and flood risk management assets e.g. on the 
Welland and Nene; and the network of IDB watercourses, pumping stations and other 
associated water level management structures. Therefore Peterborough’s Fens effectively have 
three different levels of risk. In order of likelihood of occurrence these are: 

 

• the risk of individual ordinary watercourses overtopping. 

• the risk of Main River defences being locally overtopped.  

• the risk of complete system failure due to an ‘combined high tide and river flow event’, 
where a spring tide in the North Sea coincides with intense rainfall in Peterborough and 
high river levels from upstream. This third type of flood risk event is discussed in section 
7.16. 

 
5.12.5. The standard of protection of the IDB systems, including the ordinary watercourses and related 

infrastructure is known to be at least 2% (1 in 50) i.e. the watercourses are not expected to 
overtop in an event of lower probability than this. However, given investment in the network in 
previous years it is believed that these systems actually have a higher standard of protection of 
approximately 1.33% (1 in 75). In places modelling has been developed to support this. 

 
5.12.6. The intensity of rainfall is more of a problem for IDB watercourses than the length of the rainfall 

period. For example in January 2014 Peterborough experienced four times the average 
expected monthly rainfall, this total was distributed over the whole month and the IDB pumps 
could continue to pump the water away. This increases the cost of the water level management 
(more pumps need to be used for longer) but is well within the capacity of the system. During a 
very heavy rainfall event all of the IDB pumps would need to be operating and if the intensity 
was greater than that of a 1% (1 in 100) probability rain event the watercourses could be 
overtopped in some locations. This would cause localised flooding in some parts of the district 
but is unlikely to cause a complete failure of the system as intense rainfall tends to be localised. 

 
5.12.7. It should be noted that risk to power supplies is an important factor in protecting our fen areas 

as IDB systems depend on this. To increase their resilience, they have both electric and diesel 
pumps and these are serviced regularly. 

 

161



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
55 

 

 
 

5.13. Ordinary watercourse flooding 
 
5.13.1. Ordinary watercourses include every river, stream, ditch, drain, cut, dike/dyke, sluice, sewer 

(other than a public sewer) and passage through which water flows and which does not form 
part of a Main River. Ordinary watercourse flooding can be caused when intense or long 
duration rainfall drains to the channel and results in water levels overtopping of the banks of the 
channel on to surrounding land. 

 
5.13.2. Flooding from ordinary watercourses can also take place when blockages occur, from a lack of 

maintenance or fly tipping.  If left unmaintained the ability for the watercourse to store and 
convey water is inhibited and can increase the risk of flooding.  In addition to this flooding may 
be experienced when these watercourses are unable to discharge into downstream systems, 
this could be because of pump failures or main rivers which may already be running at a high 
level.  This will be felt more significantly in flatter landscapes as water will have nowhere to go.  

 
5.13.3. In Peterborough there are three types of ordinary watercourse: 
 

i. Those owned by principally agricultural landowners in the Fens and managed as part of 
the IDB network.  

ii. Those owned and managed by private landowners. The exact number of these drains 
present is not recorded. This is in part due to the broad definition of what a watercourse 
can be. 

iii. Those where maintenance is undertaken by Peterborough City Council. This could be 
either because the city council is the landowner, these watercourses are known as 
Community Related Asset (CRA) Dykes or where there is a private landowner but due to 
the associated flood risk, the city council historically agreed to take on management, 
these watercourses are known as Parish Dykes. In total the city council has 55 ordinary 
watercourses under its management. 

 
5.13.4. Flood risk from IDB ordinary watercourses in the Fens is covered in the previous section 

(section 7.10). 
 
5.13.5. No extensive detailed modelling of the risk level from ordinary watercourse types ii- iii has been 

undertaken.  
 
5.13.6. The city council has no records of flooding of properties caused by ordinary watercourses on its 

own land. Flooding from Parish Dykes has occurred, for example from Racecourse Drain in 
Fengate. In the past flooding has occurred from watercourses that were classed at the time as 

Future Fens: Flood Risk Management 
 
Section 3.3 describes the Future Fens – Flood Risk Management work already 
underway in the Fens of the Great Ouse catchment.  This is expected to expand to 
cover the wider Fens in future. 
 
As a part of this work all partners have signed up to a Tactical Plan that covers 
capital and revenue spending over the next 15 years across the area.  Further 
information on this and ongoing progress can be found online: 
www.ada.org.uk/future-fens  
 
This partnership work is being delivered in three phases over a period of 15+ years  

1. Base lining for a shared understanding of existing infrastructure and risk 
2. Develop an adaptive plan for the next generation of flood infrastructure 
3. Delivery of options  

162



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
56 

 

ordinary watercourse. These watercourses were then referred to as critical ordinary 
watercourses and in 2004/5 were enmained due to the level of risk. This applies to Paston 
Brook, Brook Drain, Marholm Brook and Thorpe Meadows.  

 

5.14. Surface runoff / surface water 
 
5.14.1. Peterborough is susceptible to flooding from surface water runoff. This generally results from 

very intense rainfall exceeding the capacity of local drainage networks (whether sewers, 
ordinary watercourses or other drainage features such as lakes) and therefore flowing across 
the ground. Peterborough has also experienced flooding in these two opposing situations: 

 
i. Sudden or high volumes of melting snow cause surface runoff which exceeds the 

capacity of the local drainage system. If the ground is frozen then minimal water can 
infiltrate naturally in these conditions which can make surface water flooding worse.  

ii. The ground is very hard and dry from lack of rainfall (e.g. in drought periods). This also 
makes the ground solid and reduces the ability of rainwater to infiltrate, creating more 
runoff. 

 
 

 
 

 
5.14.2. Flooding from surface runoff tends to be localised due to the fact that the most intense rainfall 

within a storm is often itself localised. The existence on the ground of structures or land heights 
that may channel water into certain locations also adds to this. Whatever the source, surface 
runoff will tend to flow towards low spots where it collects. Flooding can occur both to land or 
property which lies in the flow path of the water or to property situated in the low spot where the 
water finally collects. While flooding tends to be localised the actual risk is fairly well spread 
across Peterborough indicating that surface water flooding can happen almost anywhere. 

 
5.14.3. In practise if heavy rainfall is particularly intense or occurs for long periods of time it can be 

difficult to differentiate it from other sources of flooding. Heavy rainfall can quite quickly cause 
flooding from surface water sewers, from ordinary watercourse flooding or from groundwater if 
the groundwater in the catchment is quick to respond. Ultimately full surface water sewers and 
ordinary watercourses can lead to increased levels in the Main Rivers and flooding from this 
source. The levels of those receiving rivers and watercourses can also cause the tributaries and 
sewers discharging into them to back up. 

 
5.14.4. It is quite common for parts of Peterborough to experience small scale flooding of highways, 

footpaths and private gardens from surface runoff, as surface water sewers (sometimes called 
storm water sewers) are only designed with a standard of protection of 3.3% (1 in 30), although 
many may provide a lower level of protection in older developments. The number of homes that 
have flooded from surface runoff in the past is relatively low, but we know from recent events 
that the risk exists and both new development and existing maintenance practises need to take 
this risk into consideration. 

 

The term surface water is normally used in relation to surface runoff, 
particularly with regards to the naming of surface water sewers that take 
rainwater from roofs and highways. 
 
These sewers (also sometimes called storm water sewers) do not take water to 
be treated, but to local watercourses. It is therefore important that contaminants 
that need treating are not put down drains in the highway or drains at the 
bottom of household or commercial downpipes. 

163



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
57 

 

Historically the level of protection provided against the risk of surface water flooding has always 
been lower than that of other sources and the flow paths of any flood water that is unable to 
enter drainage systems has not been widely considered as a part of urban expansions. This 
coupled with a diffuse range of responsibilities, asset ownership, comparatively high costs of 
potential solutions and no one partner with statutory responsibility to deliver catchment wide 
improvements can make the delivery of schemes complex and fall short of funding rules. These 
considerations for new developments became more widespread in the 1990s as National 
Planning Policy for this risk developed. 

 

 
 
 
5.14.5. There are a range of factors which can influence the level of risk for surface water flooding, 

these include but are not limited to; 
 

• The amount of permeable surface in a catchment and the type of vegetation or tree canopy 
cover  

• Frozen, saturated, or even hard dry ground can speed up the runoff of surface water and 
reduce infiltration into soils  

• Rainfall depths exceeding the capacity of the local drainage network leading to overland 
flows  

• Absence of a local drainage network, either not built or has been removed  

• Receiving drainage network, such as watercourses and rivers are already full  

• Raising of ground or building of bunds which displaces flood waters  

• Faults, failures, or blockages in the drainage network which constrain flow downstream, this 
could include fly tipping, a lack of maintenance or inappropriate culvert sizing  

• Snow melting due to rainfall  

• High ground water levels reducing the effectiveness of soakaways and seeping into 
drainage networks resulting in a reduced capacity  

• Local geology aiding the conveyance of water which can emerge in unexpected locations  
 
The frequency of prolonged wet winters and intense summer storms is expected to increase in 
future with recent events highlighting the potential risk we may face more frequently in future 

 
 

Different impacts for different homes 
 

During a flood event many homeowners will be able to move their belongings upstairs to 
keep it safe and dry, they may have other places they can stay and be able to make it too 

safety without assistance.  Not all residents have the same capability or wider family 
support and may struggle to get themselves or their belongings to safety. 

It is important that any vulnerable members of the community are made known to the 
necessary authorities so that they can be identified as of special need during an 

emergency.   
 

Anglian Water maintain a Priority Services Register which records customers who need 
additional support. Available either online or by phone: 03457 919155 

 

164



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
58 

 

 
 
5.14.6. Highway gullies owned by Peterborough City Council Highways Authority can drain to a variety 

of sources; highways sewers, surface water sewers owned by Anglian Water, watercourses or 
even soakaways. As the increased future impacts of heavier rainfall and severe weather are 
better understood, the use of sustainable drainage systems needs to become more common to 
make Peterborough more resilient. As with all drainage systems the importance of maintenance 
in all parts of the network by all partners is critical to ensure they function effectively. 

 
5.14.7. Approaches to manage surface water that take account of water quantity (flooding), water 

quality (pollution) and amenity issues are collectively referred to as sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS). SuDS mimic nature and typically manage rainfall close to where it falls. They 

July 2021 case study 
 
On 9th July 2021 many parts of the UK experience intense summer storms with significant localised 
flooding.  Whilst some parts of Peterborough remained relatively dry a band of heavy rain passed over 
the city leading to multiple properties being flooded from West Town across to Eye.  
 
As much as 92mm fell over a four-hour period overwhelming local drainage networks, causing surface 
water to build up in urban areas while local watercourses and rivers over topped their banks. 
 
The City Council have published the report of the investigations that took place and the 
findings from these investigations are used to inform the actions within this strategy. 
 

 
Figure 5-12 Rainfall accumulations on 9th July 2021 courtesy of Weatherquest 
 

165



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
59 

 

are technically regarded as a sequence of management practises, control structures and 
designs to efficiently and sustainably drain surface water.  

 
5.14.8. Peterborough City Council’s SuDS website is available at www.peterborough-suds.org.uk. This 

site aims to provide comprehensive information for developers and others needing to consider 
site drainage in Peterborough. Supplementary information is also available from the website of 
Susdrain, the community for sustainable drainage. 

  
5.14.9. The localised nature of thunderstorms with intense downpours makes it very difficult to 

accurately forecast and provide warnings for surface water flooding.  Rain totals experienced 
even in neighbouring wards can vary significantly.  Since water follows flow routes based on 
land heights and runs towards low spots, properties in one part of a street may well be affected 
while those further along the street may be fine. The city council recommends that communities 
and businesses check their risk level online and keep abreast of weather forecasts and weather 
warnings issued by the Met Office to give them as much notice as possible.  

 
5.14.10. Risk of Flooding from Surface Water map- This map shows the risk of surface water flooding 

and includes information on depth and velocity of water, a link to this mapping is provided in 
section 5.11.8. Put simply this uses topographical data, rainfall depths and an allowance for 
rainfall to infiltrate to ground or into drainage systems. The map does not take thresholds 
heights of individual properties into account and therefore cannot be used to identify properties 
that will flood from surface water. It can only give an indication of the broad areas at risk. This 
modelling is used to inform a high level national assessment of Flood Risk Areas which should 
be considered for the Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment. The data and assessment process 
are not managed locally. 

 
5.14.11. The map uses the following risk bands: 
 

i. High – each year there is a chance of flooding of greater than 1 in 30 (3.3%).  
ii. Medium – each year there is a chance of flooding of between 1 in 30 (3.3% and 1 in 100 

(1%) 
iii. Low – each year there is a chance of flooding of between 1 in 100 (1%) and 1 in 1000 

(0.1%) 
iv. Very low – each year there is a chance of flooding less than 1 in 1000 (0.1%) 

 

 

166

http://www.peterborough-suds.org.uk/


The Risk to Peterborough 

 
60 

 

 
 

5.15. Groundwater flooding  
 
5.15.1. Groundwater flooding tends to occur after long periods of sustained rainfall where infiltration into 

the ground raises the level of the water table and/or cause springs to have greater flow. Low-
lying areas, where the water table is more likely to be at shallow depth, can be most at risk. 
Groundwater flooding is particularly associated with limestone, gravels and sands because 
groundwater is able to move more freely, but it can occur from any water bearing ground. To the 
west of Peterborough, the Nassaburgh limestone contains a number of aquifers and related 
springs.   

 
5.15.2. Flooding from groundwater can also result from rivers being in flood over land that is very 

permeable as groundwater levels have a natural tendency to balance out other water levels 
across the area. The floodplains of the Nene and Welland contain permeable alluvial deposits of 
sand and gravels and hence this can be applicable here. 

 
5.15.3. Groundwater flooding relates to the movement of water through the soils and bedrock and is 

different to land being waterlogged. Clay, for example, can become easily waterlogged after 
long periods of rain. The water is held in the soil which becomes boggy and new rainfall is 
unable to drain away and instead becomes surface water runoff as discussed in section 5.14. A 

Risks associated with new development  
Section 2 sets out the national and local policy relating to flood risk.  The strength of this 
policy and the related evidence base for that has improved in recent decades, but a number of 
gaps remain. These are most notable in the understanding of the connectivity of different 
assets at a local level and with the ongoing maintenance of the assets created. 
 
The way in which risks associated with new development are currently managed by partner 
organisations is briefly described in Section 7 and covered in more detail in the documents 
described in Section 2.  Examples of some of those risks include;  
 
Urban Creep 
Incremental increases of hard paving or building extensions being laid over more permeable 
areas such as grass increase the volumes of water entering our drainage networks. 
 
Increased runoff volumes 
Significant development in a catchment can reduce the ability for ground water recharge to 
occur, meaning that whilst the rate of the water runoff can be controlled, the overall volume of 
water leaving a developed area over time can potentially be greater than before. 
 
Increased pressures on existing systems 
New developments have an automatic right to connect to sewers and can add pressure onto 
the receiving system.   
 
Unadopted drainage assets 
Assets which are not adopted by a responsible organisation often fall on the new landowners 
to maintain, this can include creating multiple owners on a single asset and increasing risks 
associated with maintenance 
 
Managing groundwater 
New development has significant potential to impact on the way in which groundwater 
recharges and the direction of flow hidden underground. 
 
Last year Government advised that they will be looking to review current rules relating to 
planning, the right to connect and asset adoption in 2022. 

167



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
61 

 

large area of Peterborough has clay–based soil. However, in limestone, sands and gravels 
water can actually move through the soils due to the gaps between soil particles. This means 
that water can flow under the surface of the ground and hence springs and/or flooding can 
occur in areas not directly next to a river, or some distance from where the heaviest rainfall has 
fallen. 

 

 
Figure 5-13 – Implications of high water on ground water flood risk 

 
5.15.4. The city council has allocated a proposed action in the action plan to understanding more about 

groundwater risk in Peterborough. With there being no publicly available flood maps, local 
historical groundwater flood information being limited, and the city council only gaining a 
responsibility for managing this type of risk in 2010, it is an area where the city council would 
benefit from greater knowledge 

 
5.15.5. On occasion previous changes to the landscapes or the installation of underground 

infrastructure can act to block or convey ground water flow.  These flood mechanisms are 
hidden from view, difficult to predict and often exacerbate existing risks in sewers. 
 

5.15.6. In future, wetter winters, may become more common, resulting in increased groundwater flow to 
feed rivers, and also ensure that groundwater levels are kept high, this has the potential to 
impact on the performance of sewers and infiltration features such as soakaways in winter 
months. 

 
 
 
 
 

168



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
62 

 

5.16. Sewer Flooding  
 
5.16.1. Peterborough has three different types of sewers: surface water sewers, foul sewers and 

combined sewers.  Surface water runoff caused by surface water sewers reaching their capacity 
is dealt with in section 7.12. This section discusses the risk from foul sewers which carry 
wastewater from homes and businesses (e.g. from washing machines and toilets) and the risk 
from combined sewers which carry both foul water and rainwater.  

 
Combined sewer flooding 

 
5.16.2. Combined sewers are generally associated with having the greatest risk of flooding within the 

wastewater network; during intense rainfall events large quantities of rainwater can take up the 
capacity in the sewers. This can cause foul water to back up from manholes or inside homes 
e.g. from toilets. Much of Peterborough’s existing city centre, the old hospital and station quarter 
and Central Ward contain combined sewers and this risk should be borne in mind when 
opportunities arise to make these areas more resilient for the future. 

 

 
 
 Foul sewer flooding 
 
5.16.3. There are not many locations in Peterborough which are classified as being at risk from foul 

flooding due to a lack of capacity in the network. This is because resolving foul flooding is a key 
priority for water and sewerage companies. Anglian Water is obliged to report to Ofwat where 
there are properties at risk of internal flooding due to hydraulic incapacity in the system. This is 
known as the DG5 register. The location of properties in Peterborough on the DG5 register is 
not discussed within the FMS due to very localised nature of this flooding; the implications for 
the property itself and because the register changes regularly as issues are resolved or in some 
cases as new problem areas are discovered. Foul flooding is therefore not covered by the risk 
matrix in table 7-2. 

 
5.16.4. Peterborough has also experienced foul flooding due to operational issues. Since these events 

can happen anywhere no specific levels of risk are formally associated with different parts of 
Peterborough. There are two main operational issues that the area suffers from: 

 
a) Blockages in the network which prevent pumping stations from working and hence can 

create significant risk to properties on the same network as the blockage.  Blockages 
are often caused by fats, oils and greases which are put down the drains at home and at 
work. The sewer system is not designed to be able to cope with these materials which 
act to clog up the pipes and removal is generally expensive.  

 
b) Surface water infiltrating into the foul system (for which it is not designed) and caused 

capacity issues and surcharging. Most foul systems are not vacuum sealed and hence 

Right to Connect 
 
Under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act there is an absolute right for landowners or 
developers to connect to a public sewer and contribute additional flows to those assets.  
The water companies are unable to refuse this connection which can add additional 
pressure on the existing infrastructure and potentially increase the risk of flooding, 
especially in periods of intense rainfall. 
 
The right to connect was intended to be removed by Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 but this is yet to be enacted. More recently the EFRA Select 
Committee highlighted the need for this in their Flooding Report of February 2021. 
 

169



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
63 

 

rainwater can get into them through structures like manholes. However it is when very 
large volumes appear in the network that this causes flood risk and investigation is 
needed into how the water is getting there.  

 

 
 

Figure 5-14 – Impacts of high groundwater levels on asset such as soakaways and sewers 

170



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
64 

 

 
 

 
 
 

5.17. Impacts of Main Rivers water levels on other sources of flooding 
 
5.17.1. Water levels in receiving systems such as Main Rivers can easily impact upon 

flooding from other sources. Most ordinary watercourses, smaller Main Rivers and 
sewers flow or outfall into another river. If the downstream system has high water 
levels, excessive siltation, or blockages from debris such as trees and fly tipping, 
then the smaller watercourse or sewer will not be able to discharge freely and may 
back up. This is often called flood locking and can cause flooding higher up the 
network potentially quite far from a Main River. This risk can sometimes be unclear 
as there is often no visual link between the different assets forming the network. 

 
 

5.18. Combined high tides and river flows 
 
5.18.1. As described in section, when high tides occur in Peterborough the Dog-in-a-

Doublet sluice is closed to prevent tidal waters flooding homes, businesses and 
land. When a high tide occurs at the same time as a high river flow on the River 
Nene the closure of the sluice gates means that water from the Nene cannot flow 
out to sea. For this reason excess water from the Nene is channelled into the 
Whittlesey Washes flood storage reservoir via Stanground Sluice. When the tide 
begins to go out and river levels have reduced the stored water is released back 
into the Nene downstream at Rings End. This is demonstrated in figure 5-14 below. 

 
5.18.2. The original design capacity of the Washes is 0.5% (1 in 200) as shown in figure 5-

15. The existence of the North Bank embankment and the South Barrier Bank 
means that flood water would not be expected to overtop onto surrounding land 
north or south of the Washes until around a 0.1% (1 in 1000) probability flood water 
level was reached. Overtopping would only occur if the wind creates waves on the 
Washes, rather than because the water level in the Washes is higher than the bank. 
It is important to note, however that by the time this happened large areas of 
Peterborough, both along the Nene, around Stanground sluice and else, would 
already be flooded. 

 
5.18.3. In theory there could also be a risk of breach from the South Barrier Bank from flood 

events of annual probability between 0.5% and 0.1%. Breaches can take place 

Foul network Facts 
 
Foul water sewers carry used water from sinks, baths, showers, toilets, 
dishwashers and washing machines. 
 
These sewers take water to be treated at sewage treatment works. Discharge 
containing chemicals should go into the foul network and not into surface water 
sewers as described in section 7.12. Detergents from car washes or oil leaks 
from cars are two examples of contaminants that often end up going into 
surface water sewers (and therefore untreated into rivers) when they would 
ideally go into the foul network. 
 
The ‘waste’ from sewage treatment works is very often recycled into products 
for use in industrial and agricultural processes. For this reason you may hear 
Anglian Water refer to sewage treatment works as water recycling plants. 

171



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
65 

 

when defences are weakened e.g. by continued severe weather or by the actions of 
humans (insufficient maintenance) or animals (burrowing). Significant works are 
currently being led by the Environment Agency along this bank to ensure that the 
probability and impact of such a breach is minimised.  

 
5.18.4. The worst case situation for Peterborough is one where very intense local rainfall, 

coincides with maximum flow in the Nene for several days and a North Sea spring 
tidal surge occurs meaning that the Dog in a Doublet has to be closed often. This is 
because the chances of the Washes reaching its design capacity (0.5%) is 
increased and once this happens there is an increased risk that water will start to 
overtop the Nene in various places through Peterborough.  This is close to the 
events of 1998. 

 
5.18.5. Significant local rainfall amounts would also mean that ordinary watercourses and 

sewers are likely to be unable to discharge into Main Rivers and hence surface 
water flooding will occur around low points, manholes, and where ordinary 
watercourses overtop. 

 
 

 

172



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
66 

 

 
Figure 5-15: Diagram of the operation of the Washes. Formally water enters the Washes at Stanground Sluice via Morton’s Leam and leaves at 

Rings End Sluice. When water levels in the Nene are very high water can also overtop the Cradge Bank into the Washes.  

173



The Risk to Peterborough 

 
67 

 

 
Figure 5-16: Diagram explaining the Whittlesey (Nene) Washes 

174



Climate Change Implications for Flood Risk 

 
68 

 

 

5.19. Worst case impact on IDB systems 
 
5.19.1. IDB systems are a secondary defence. While section below discusses the local risks of flooding 

from IDB systems, the large scale failure of an IDB system depends on the overtopping or 
failure of its primary defences; the Main Rivers defences of the Nene or Welland. The situation 
on the Nene discussed in section 5.18 is that which could lead to the overwhelming of IDB 
systems. Intense local rainfall puts pressure on IDB systems and combined with overtopping 
from Main Rivers this could weaken an otherwise robust system. IDBs have several pumps they 
can use depending on demand and in such an event all pumps would be in use trying to remove 
water from the land as quickly as possible. In effect a circular motion could be created where 
water spills onto their land as quickly as they can pump it off.  

 
5.19.2. It is this kind of event, potentially combined with the power outages that can occur during 

flooding, that would cause the large scale failure of the IDB systems and result in the 
widespread flood extents that are shown on the Environment Agency’s Flood Map for Planning. 
This map shows the extent of flooding without considering defences and hence returns the Fens 
to an area of periodic flooding as would have been the case prior to the formal drainage of them 
in the 17th Century.  The catastrophic events of 1947 demonstrate the type of mechanisms that 
may lead to this failure. 

 

5.20. Flooding related to operational issues 
 
5.20.1. Although flooding is usually caused by heavy or long duration rainfall, it can be easily made 

much worse by the presence of operational issues. The following are counted as operational 
issues: 

 
a) Flytipping – large waste items e.g. tyres, sofas etc. 
b) Littering – smaller items. 
c) Plant and tree roots growing into piped systems and reducing the capacity. 
d) Damaged pipes from wear and tear, vandalism, or movement of the ground. 
e) Collapse of banks of a watercourse e.g. gradually over time (lack of maintenance) or 

suddenly due to ground instability or movement 
f) Loss of storage or conveyance capacity caused by a lack of maintenance activity which 

leads to long term blockages from silt, debris and plant growth 
 

5.20.2. Whilst some precautions can be taken, these issues may occur in any location, with flooding 
being experienced after less rainfall than would be expected.  The FMS cannot provide details 
of the risk of operational issues occurring, but it does give details of the approach which is taken 
to minimise this type of event in Peterborough e.g. regular maintenance.  

 
5.20.3. Effective operations and maintenance of drainage and flood risk assets by all is a key function 

of providing communities with resilience to flood risk. 
 

5.21. Future risk 
 
5.21.1. There is growing confidence with national and regional studies that climate change is already 

impacting on the levels of flood risk in Peterborough, summers are expected to be hotter but 
with more intense rainfall and winters are expecting to experience prolonged wet periods 

 
5.21.2. Projections from the Environment Agency were most recently updated in 2021 and recommend 

allowances for up to 40% increase in rainfall intensities in designing drainage systems to be 
resilient for the future.  Sea level rises are also predicted to reach up to 16m in the Anglian 
region by 2125. These estimations are regularly updated with predictions being used to 

175



Climate Change Implications for Flood Risk 

 
69 

 

determine the extent of allowance for additional rainfall when designing new drainage systems.  
Further details for this can be found on Gov.uk or in the Peterborough Flood and Water 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
5.21.3. Climate changes can affect local flood risk in several ways. Impacts will depend on local 

conditions and vulnerability. Most recent UK Climate Projections (UKCP) anticipate; 
 

a) River and groundwater flooding - Wetter winters may increase river levels and also 
ensure that groundwater levels are kept high through winter months. 

b) Surface water flooding – Increased intensity of rainfall will cause more surface runoff as 
rain is expected to be landing on hard dry catchments. In turn the excess of water would 
put pressure on small watercourses, highway drains and on surface water, combined 
and even foul sewers.  

c) Combined sources - Rising river levels may also increase local flood risk inland and 
away from major rivers because of the interactions with upstream drainage systems 
including sewers, ordinary watercourses (including IDB drains) and groundwater.  

d) Tidal flooding - Even small rises in sea level could add to very high tides so as to affect 
places a long way inland. Significant future increases in both river levels and high tides 
could start to cause an impact on Peterborough’s IDB systems, it will also reduce the 
amount of time the rivers are able to discharge to the sea which could cause for river 
levels to be maintained at a higher level upstream for prolonged periods, especially with 
spring tides in winter months. 

 

5.22. Local sensitivity to climate change 
 
5.22.1. In 2012, Peterborough City Council therefore completed a Local Climate Impacts Profile to look 

at how changing weather patterns affect council services.  The city council is also keen to have 
a wider understanding of Peterborough’s sensitivity to climate change, but undertaking new 
modelling of the extent and scale of flood risk with climate change is beyond the scope of the 
FMS. A simple analysis was therefore undertaken using existing data and tools to support 
existing plans and assessments. 

 
5.22.2. Using maps showing different annual probabilities of flooding, the extent of flooding on a wide 

range of receptors around the city was recorded. Receptors include homes, hospitals, schools, 
nature reserves, listed buildings, roads and wastewater treatment works. The change in impact 
on the receptors across the different annual probability flood events can be used as a proxy to 
climate change. The risk of flooding from rivers shown in flood zone 3 was compared with that in 
flood zone 2 and the risk of flooding from surface water for a 1 in 30 annual probability event 
was compared with that of a 1 in 1000 annual probability event. The wards showing the greatest 
difference are those most likely to be sensitive to heavier storms and increased river flows as a 
result of climate change. A method statement is available in appendix D. 

 
5.22.3. Using this method, the scale of changing risk in Peterborough, based purely on flood risk 

impacts, does not appear to be as significant as might be expected from other climate change 
predictions. This could be because there are many other factors that can contribute to how 
susceptible an area is to climate change. For example other weather and temperature patterns, 
the types of construction processes used and the cost of adaptation are other relevant factors. 
The way that the results are presented gives a relative susceptibility to help the city council 
prioritise areas to monitor and investigate further. 

 
5.22.4. This assessment took part prior to ward boundary changes in 2016. The wards expected to 

have medium to high sensitivity to climate change are listed in table 8-3 below. Note that the 
wards scoring highly are those expecting the biggest change in future years. A ward with a 

176



Climate Change Implications for Flood Risk 

 
70 

 

consistently high risk of flooding regardless of the probability/strength of the flood or rainfall 
events will not score as having a high sensitivity to climate change.  

 
Table 5-7: Wards that are expected to be most susceptible to the flood risk implications of climate 

change 

Source of 
flood risk 

Ward Rating 
Flood risk expected to have greater 

impacts on 

River flooding 

Werrington South 
Medium - 

high 

-Health facilities 
-Infrastructure such as schools, roads, 
emergency services, power 

West 
-Homes within the national 40% most 
deprived bracket 
-Infrastructure 

    

Surface water 
flooding 

Ravensthorpe 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Higher 

-Health facilities 
-Infrastructure 
-Homes 

Werrington North 
-Health facilities infrastructure  
-Homes 

East -Health facilities 

Eye and Thorney 
-Infrastructure 
-Homes with the national 40% most 
deprived bracket 

Werrington South 
-Environmental and archaeological 
designations 
-Infrastructure 

 
5.22.5. This means, for example that Ravensthorpe and Werrington North have, relative to other areas 

in Peterborough, a higher sensitivity to future changes in surface water flood risk. The data 
behind this conclusions shows that both wards have health facilities and other infrastructure that 
are very important to the lives of residents both in these wards and in other parts of 
Peterborough. Infrastructure includes roads, rail, schools, power and emergency services for 
example). The predicted future increase in flood risk to some of these sensitive facilities or 
pieces of infrastructure is of note. 

 

5.23. Adapting to change 
 
5.23.1. With climate change already influencing Peterborough, it is essential we respond by planning 

ahead. Regular review of flood risk management strategies and plans is key to achieving long-
term, sustainable benefits. 

 
5.23.2. For the city council specifically, it is important that business continuity plans consider how city 

council services can adapt to changing weather and become more resilient. Suggested 
adaptation measures for severe weather and flood risk include: 

 
a) Detailed recording of the impact on city council resources and services of severe 

weather events to improve our understanding;  
b) Developing a specific adaptation plan for city council services; 
c) Appropriate management and maintenance of existing flood risk assets; 
d) Ensuring development is sustainable with appropriate drainage systems and flood 

resilience measures; 
e) Improving the resilience of city infrastructure (pumping stations, sewage treatment 

works, powers stations, railway lines etc) against flooding; 

177



Climate Change Implications for Flood Risk 

 
71 

 

f) Improving the resilience of our highway network against droughts (can cause road 
subsidence and cracking in Fen areas), flooding and ice (blockage of drainage systems 
and potholes); 

g) Increasing summer and winter water storage to be used for periods of flooding and 
drought; 

h) Increasing tree cover across Peterborough to reduce urban heat island effect and slow 
down the movement of water; 

i) Having strong working relationships and flexible contracts with health care delivery, 
emergency response and community recovery organisations to account for times of 
greater demand. 

 
5.23.3. As a part of the City Council’s response to the climate emergency declaration the Council will be 

working to develop an adaptation plan to ensure the city is able to respond to the impacts of 
climate change.  An action will be included within this strategy to support the development of 
that plan and delivery of its associated actions. 

 

5.24. Summary 
 
5.24.1. Peterborough is at risk from many different types of flooding. Main river, the larger combined 

tidal and river events and flooding from combined sewers are the types that present the greatest 
risk on average across the City. However, surface water, groundwater and sewer flooding can 
still have devastating effects within localised areas.  
 
Flood events are often complex with a wide range of assets in diffuse ownership, interacting 
together to cause flooding due to low spots, pinch points, or weaknesses in the catchment, 
often requiring a range of interventions to increase resilience rather than a single solution.  It 
should be noted that flooding does not always occur at the point of failure but is often felt 
elsewhere in the catchment, hence the need for a catchment approach in managing risk. 
 
Flooding from operational issues in Peterborough are almost impossible to predict but remain a 
significant risk, maintaining existing infrastructure is critical to managing this risk. Storage for 
flood water was historically considered in the expansion and changing landscape of 
Peterborough in the last century, however, future deterioration of assets created to manage this 
flood water, increased flows experienced through a changing climate and new development 
contributions will mean investment is still required across all of Peterborough to be able to 
maintain our current level of resilience. In many instances the projects identified to address 
these needs struggle to score highly against current funding mechanisms so partners will look to 
work together to deliver joint projects, similar to those achieved in recent years.  
 
Peterborough’s fenland areas are carefully managed. Very localised waterlogging and surface 
water flooding is possible over short time frames but with minimal impacts.  Large scale failure 
of the drainage board systems is of considerably lower probability and would have to coincide 
with significant flooding elsewhere in Peterborough and the region, however, there is a growing 
recognition of the increasing pressure from rising sea levels and the impacts that can have, 
including, the increased risk from storm surges or resultant impact on the ability for main rivers 
to discharge to the sea, this pressure partnered with others is driving the future fens projects.  
 
New development of any size can contribute to changing levels of resilience, from the 
cumulative impact of property extensions and driveways being hard paved to large scale 
development.  New development can have a positive as well as a negative influence if properly 
considered, although many of the factors controlling the impact of development, such as the 
right to connect to sewers, are outside the control of local Risk Management Authorities.   
 

178



Climate Change Implications for Flood Risk 

 
72 

 

Flood risk from groundwater and ordinary watercourses are the least well understood types and 
information on these continues to be gathered as a part of delivering everyday services.  
 
The likelihood of flooding from reservoirs is so low that even with widespread consequences the 
overall risk remains small.  

 
 

179



Partnership Funding 

 
73 

 

6. Partnership Funding 

 

6.1. Introduction 
 
6.1.1. It is important that the local strategy sets out how the proposed actions and measures identified 

in this strategy will be funded and resourced in Peterborough.  Peterborough City Council, along 
with other key stakeholders in the city has a limited budget to deliver flood risk measures. So it 
is important to identify how and from where resources will be available to fund flood risk 
management activities. 

 
6.1.2. This chapter provides background on the different types of funding which may contribute 

towards a flood management action or a water environment action proposed in Peterborough. 
National funding is explained in the most detail as this system often attracts questions. 

 
6.1.3. Expenditure for all flood risk and water management schemes is split down into capital works 

(that create, purchase, significantly improve or replace assets) and revenue works (operational 
maintenance). Maintenance is often funded by the owner of, or the organisation responsible for, 
a certain type of watercourse or asset. Capital funding tends to require more levels of approval 
and often comes from external sources.  

 
6.1.4. Whilst this section focuses on financial contributions, there are other contributions partners can 

provide for in a project of multiple partners such as expertise, tools, land or asset adoption, 
these are valued as a part of the projects.  It should also be noted that many of these funding 
mechanisms do not provide the staff time to manage projects and which is a considerable 
constraint in delivery of those schemes.  

 

6.2. National funding 
 
6.2.1. There are two primary national funding mechanisms for the water environment, Flood Defence 

Grant in Aid and the Water Environment Investment Fund, these are described below along with 
a short summary of other national funding mechanisms. 
 
Flood Defence Grant in Aid 

 
6.2.2. The way that flood risk management projects are managed and funded changed in 2012 with 

further amendments to the calculation process coming periodically, most recently in 2020. Since 
April 2012 the new government policy on Flood and Coastal Resilience Partnership Funding 
has controlled how money is allocated to capital projects. The amount of national funding, 
known as Grant in Aid (GiA) available to any capital project will directly relate to the outcomes 
the project delivers. GiA for flood risk management projects is called Flood Defence Grant in Aid 
(FDGiA). The outcomes measures (OM) for capital flood risk management schemes have been 
set by Defra and are as below: 

 

• OM1a – Economic benefits 

• OM1b – People related FCERM benefits 

• OM2a – Households at risk today being better protected against flood risk  

• OM2b – Households at risk by 2040 being better protected against flood risk 

• OM3 – Households at risk from coastal erosion 

• OM4 – Environmental Improvements  
 

180



Partnership Funding 

 
74 

 

6.2.3. Each outcomes measure has a payment rate associated with it. These payment rates change 
depending on factors such as the deprivation categories which are set out in the English Indices 
of Deprivation (2019).  However even in this instance there will likely be need for additional non-
Government funding to enable any scheme to be delivered.  

 
6.2.4. Defra have produced a spreadsheet calculator which allows flood risk management authorities 

to calculate what percentage of costs might be covered by central government through GiA 
funding and what other contributions they will need to raise locally. It is intended that 
beneficiaries to the scheme will contribute in some way, whether they be LLFAs, IDBs, parish 
councils, communities, or private companies. As well as direct financial contributions, 
agreements to carry out maintenance or other in-kind contributions that a cost could be put 
against may also be considered.  Any contribution put towards the scheme improves the overall 
Partnership Funding score of the scheme. Every scheme must score a minimum of 100% to be 
eligible for GiA. 

 
6.2.5. Schemes requesting GiA need to be submitted to the Environment Agency’s / RFCC’s six year 

programme. The six year programme of works sets out what the RFCC would like to deliver 
subject to funding, further development of business cases and final scheme approvals. This is 
similar to the idea of the Peterborough FMS Action Plan, but for the Anglian region. Projects to 
be delivered in Peterborough that require GiA need to be in both the FMS and the six year 
programme. 

 
6.2.6. There is a limited pot of central government funding so FDGiA payments to approved projects 

will be subject to availability of funds. Each year competing projects will be prioritised by RFCCs 
to ensure projects provide good value for money and to achieve national and regional targets. 

 
6.2.7. It is expected that through the need to work in partnership all schemes proposed will consider 

management of flood risk in an area from all sources, proposing joint solutions that reduce the 
overall flood risk to a community or area. Those schemes which are not designed to address all 
risks will attract less GiA and require greater local contributions. 

 
6.2.8. The inclusion of amenity benefits for local communities is one way of attracting wider support for 

schemes from local communities and helps to draw in local contributions. 
 
6.2.9. All schemes are also encouraged financially to include the delivery of multiple benefits related to 

other themes of water management other than flood risk. 
 
6.2.10. All schemes seeking GiA funding within the Great Ouse Fens will need to adhere to the Tactical 

Plan which looks to provide efficiencies in the distribution of funding in preparation of the long-
term options for the Future Fens Flood Risk Management.. 

 
Water Environment Investment Fund 

 
6.2.11. For schemes where the main driver is environmental improvement, the source of Government 

funding is instead Water Environment Investment Fund (WEIF). These schemes may include 
work to improve habitats, increase biodiversity, remove obstacles to fish and eel migration, and 
improve water quality. Ultimately the schemes should bring about an improvement to, or help to 
prevent, a deterioration in the status of a watercourse under the Water Framework Directive. 

 
6.2.12. The investment plan in which all such schemes needs to be entered is called the Water 

Environment Investment Fund Programme. This is the equivalent of the flood risk management 
six year programme. The process for submitting projects is largely similar to that for flood risk 
management and schemes will need to demonstrate how they meet the programmes outcome 
measures in order to attract funding. 

 

181



Partnership Funding 

 
75 

 

6.2.13. If schemes deliver significant benefits to flood risk and to the water environment, they can be 
entered into the six-year programme and the WEIF and apply to use both funding streams. 

 

 
 

Other national funding opportunities 
 
6.2.14. Funding opportunities arise periodically through government, these tend to be focused on 

specific elements of the water environment or flood risk in response to policy or strategy such as 
the Surface Water Management Action Plan.  To make the most of these opportunities the city 
council and its partners need to be prepared to respond, this can be best achieved by 
increasing awareness of risk and sharing ambitions to improve our readiness and the prospect 
of securing new funding.  The development of Blue Carbon, the Nature Recovery Network or 

Werrington Brook Improvements 
 
The award-winning Werrington Brook Improvements scheme was a partnership project 
between the Environment Agency, PECT, the City Council and a number of others to address 
the physical and chemical characteristics of this Brook that were contributing to its poor 
status. This included improvements to 2.5km of main river by increasing oxygen levels, 
filtering pollution and creating variations in the channel to improve habitat potential. Alongside 
the work in the river there were also improvements to drainage assets, installation of an eel 
pass and tackling of ongoing pollution.   
 
Benefits from the work are already being felt; long term maintenance requirements from flood 
risk partners are reduced as silt is captured in key locations rather than over a wider area, the 
number of fish has increased, the variety of insects and plant life has become more diverse 
and initial findings suggest footfall has increased. Whilst not directly carried out for flood risk 
purposes the scheme has led to a more resilient surface water drainage system and greater 
capacity to store storm water within the river corridor as two stage channels have been 
introduced. 
 

 
Figure 6-1 – New meanders adjacent to Larkspur Walk 

 
This project was only possible because of the resources provided by all partners to contribute 
to the delivery of the project, this ranged from staff time, funding, use of land, sharing of data 
and facilities. Opportunities for delivering or supporting similar projects across the city will be 
explored as a part of this strategy. 
 

182



Partnership Funding 

 
76 

 

Environmental Net Gain could provide future opportunities. Examples of previous opportunities 
include; 

• Partnership Approach to Catchment Management (PACM) – A pilot with the objective to 
create a catchment approach in the management of systems, aligning objectives of each 
partner to develop a sustainable long-term vision for the catchment with supporting 
maintenance.  One such pilot took place on Morton’s Leam which runs along the 
southern boundary of Whittlesey Washes. 

• Boosting Action on Surface Water – A fund to help deliver against actions on the 
government’s surface water management action plan.   

• Property Flood Resilience Initiatives – In 2019 funding was available to three 
programmes of work to improve research and try to improve uptake in property level 
flood resilience.  Peterborough City Council are a member of the Oxford-Cambridge 
Pathfinder led by Northamptonshire County Council. 

• Natural Flood Management Pilots – In 2017 the government announced £15m towards 
schemes using natural techniques to manage flood waters 

• Resilience Innovation Programme – The government set aside £150m for 25 projects 
across the country to demonstrate innovation in building resilience against flooding.  
bids 

• Property level resilience grants - these are grants available to households to make their 
homes more resilient to future flood events, unfortunately at the time of writing the funds 
are constrained to certain storm events and communities who can identify against 
certain criteria meaning it is not available to all. 

 
 

6.3. Public contributions 
 

Environment Agency funding 
 
6.3.1. As discussed in section 6.4, the majority of the Environment Agency’s funding for flood and 

coastal risk management comes directly from the Department for the Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (Defra). This is the same for water environment works to meet the Water 
Framework Directive. For new capital schemes, the Environment Agency need to put their 
projects on the six year programme and WEIF and submit project bids to Defra for GiA in the 
same way that LLFAs and IDBs can. Therefore there is no additional source of Environment 
Agency funding that could be added to a bid, e.g. as a local contribution, in order to raise the 
partnership funding score. 

 
Regional Flood and Coastal Committee 

 
6.3.2. Section 4.9 explains the role of the Anglian Northern Regional Flood and Coastal Committee. 

Part of this role is to oversee the six year programme of flood risk management schemes in the 
region. Within the region of the Anglian Northern Regional Flood and Coastal Committee the 
gross expenditure of the Environment Agency includes money collected from Local Levy, 
General Drainage Charges and IDB Precepts.  

 
6.3.3. The RFCC collects and allocates IDB Precepts, General Drainage Charge and Local Levy 

funding which can be used as match funding for capital schemes requiring FDGiA or to support 
delivery of the revenue maintenance programme. For very small schemes that are deemed 
locally significant, it is sometimes possible for these to be funded directly from these sources. 
Therefore any schemes hoping for regional contributions need to be submitted to the six year 
programme. 

 
6.3.4. Under the FWMA 2010 and the Environment Agency (Levies) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2011, local levy is collected annually from all Lead Local Floods Authorities in the area of the 

183



Partnership Funding 

 
77 

 

RFCC. The levy is agreed annually in January and are often based on an average increase of 
between 0% and 5%. The total levy payment is shared between all contributing bodies in the 
committee area on the basis of the number of Council Tax Band D equivalents that each has.  

 
General drainage charges 

 
6.3.5. General Drainage Charges are charged directly to agricultural landowners who are not in an 

IDB area. The charge is deemed to be a contribution towards the management of water and 
flood risk for those landowners. It is calculated on a rate per hectare basis using the Council Tax 
Base of Band D equivalent properties.  

 
IDB precepts 

 
6.3.6. Precepts are paid by IDBs to the Environment Agency for works done by the Environment 

Agency on channels or defences that affect or are in an IDBs area. The works are normally 
maintenance based. The formula for calculating the precept is complex but is approximately 
based on the number of hectares of land protected.  

 
 

Lead Local Flood Authority funding 
 
6.3.7. Money spent by the city council on flood and water related actions comes from un-ringfenced 

Government flood risk grants, from allocating a share of the corporate budget to this area or 
from ringfenced commuted sums relating to specific development schemes. The city council has 
a limited budget to cover all drainage, flood risk management and water management activities. 
This expenditure goes on: 

 
a) highway drainage maintenance, schemes and reactive works (gullies and 

watercourses);  
b) maintenance of adopted drainage systems on specific development sites; 
c) relevant staff salaries and on-costs; 
d) asset surveys; 
e) flood awareness community events 
f) delivery of required flood risk reports or policies  
g) training and software; and 
h) flood and water management projects. 

 
6.3.8. The budget described in section 6.3.7 excludes the drainage and flood risk sums collected 

through Council Tax each year which are then: 
 

i. paid as a Local Levy contribution to the Environment Agency for management by the 
RFCC; or 

ii. transferred to the IDBs as a Special Levy.  
 
6.3.9. The Lead Local Flood Authority do not hold the statutory responsibilities or budgets for 

delivering capital schemes to improve resilience to flooding or maintenance work.  Despite this 
the city council will work towards their ambitions to improve flood resilience for local 
communities. 
 

6.3.10. To obtain corporate capital funding to deliver significant capital schemes, officers would need to 
submit a separate bid for funding as part of the annual budget setting process.  

 
 
 

184



Partnership Funding 

 
78 

 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
6.3.11. There is now an increased emphasis on CIL as a funding mechanism for flood risk management 

schemes. It is absolutely necessary that the flood risk impacts of all new developments are 
assessed and planned for within the communities. There needs to be an integrated approach 
between various organisations within the local communities to ensure that new developments 
take existing risks into consideration. Local planning authorities will have to undertake 
infrastructure assessments, which should include a review of the flood risk assessments. The 
setting and approval of pricing schedules for Community Infrastructure Levy should also be 
decided by the appropriate local planning authorities. 

 
6.3.12. The ultimate use of Community Infrastructure Levy will be determined by the appropriate 

approval body within each local authority.  Due to a lack of development viability CIL had not 
been introduced in Fenland at the time of writing the FMS 

 
 

Section 106 funding – developer contributions 
 
6.3.13. Under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 local planning authorities can 

enter into an agreement with a developer or landowner as part of the planning application 
process to gain funds to support the provision of services or infrastructure. This would include 
funding to reduce flood risk which is caused by or increased by a new development. With the 
introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations on the 6 April 2010, Section 106 
Planning Obligations are predominantly directed towards on-site mitigation, including site-
specific flood mitigation measures 

 

Parish Councils 
 
6.3.14. Under a new Government order town and parish councils have been given the General Power 

of Competence (under the Localism Act) and can now spend money on flood alleviation 
schemes in excess of limits that were set at £7.36/head in 2015/16 under the Section 137.  This 
means that if parish councils meet the necessary eligibility requirements then they could have a 
part to play in partnership funding contributions for flood alleviation schemes in the future. 
Parish Councils are also able to apply for Public Works loans, at preferential rates, to enable 
them to contribute to more comprehensive flood risk management schemes. 

 

National Highways – Environmental Designated Funds 
 
6.3.15. National Highways have allocated £936m across four funding streams running alongside their 

investment period between 2020-2025.  This funding is open to both public and private bodies.  
One of the four funding streams is Environmental and Wellbeing and this includes nine themes 
against which applications can be made, those applications need to highlight a clear link with 
the Strategic Road Network operated by National Highways.  

 

Public Works Loan 
 
6.3.16. Government offers low-cost loans for housing infrastructure and public services through the 

Public Works Loan Board.  A new framework is being developed and is expected to accompany 
a reduction in the interest rates associated with these loans.  

 

6.4. Use of public sector co-operation agreements 
 
6.4.1. The use of public sector co-operation agreements can enable organisations such as councils, 

the IDBs and the Environment Agency to work in partnership to deliver services in a very 

185



Partnership Funding 

 
79 

 

efficient and more cost effective way. The agreements can be used for example, to cover 
maintenance and emergency response work, where the following criteria is met by the 
agreement: 

 
a) it must be a genuine co-operation between the participating contracting authorities, 

aimed at jointly carrying out their public service tasks (different in character to a contract 
for services); 

b) involves co-operation only between public entities; 
c) is non-commercial in character (no profit is generated and only reimbursement of actual 

costs), and 
d) is governed solely by considerations and requirements in the public interest and is of 

little interest to a private sector supplier. 
 
6.4.2. The city council have such an agreement in place with North Level District IDB. The 

Environment Agency also have agreements in place with IDBs in Peterborough, it is hoped that 
in future the use of these types of agreement can be extended with some of its other flood risk 
partners.  

 

6.5. Internal Drainage Board funding 
 
6.5.1. As discussed in section 6.5 drainage boards are funded by rates paid by the landowners in their 

area. This can be broken down into Drainage Rates and Special Levies. Drainage rates are 
paid by agricultural landowners direct to the IDB based on the area of their property. Where 
land in the IDB’s district is not in agricultural use, the owner instead pays their levy to 
Peterborough City Council as part of their Council Tax. The relevant amount is then separated 
out from the Council Tax and paid to each IDB. This is known as a Special Levy. 

 

6.6. Private contributions (community and commercial) 
 
6.6.1. Partnership funding guidance intends that those benefitting from the proposed flood 

management scheme contribute towards its costs. This could be local residents, a parish 
council or a local business, for example. Securing contributions from private sources is not 
easy, especially as it is a relatively new system, and therefore Peterborough City Council will 
endeavour to engage with all beneficiaries as early as possible in the process of developing 
new schemes. If there is an expectation that others will contribute then it is important that they 
are involved in designing the scheme. 

 
Anglian Water 

 
6.6.2. Contributions from water companies count as private contributions. In order to secure funding 

from Anglian Water, projects need to be part of the company’s five yearly Asset Management 
Plan (AMP) which is agreed by Ofwat, the water company regulator. The current AMP period is 
called AMP 7 and covers 2020 to 2025. Prices are set by Ofwat at the beginning of each AMP 
period as a part of the Price Review, following submissions from the water company about what 
it will cost to deliver their business plan. 

 
 

186



Monitoring and Review 

 
80 

 

7. Management and Action Plan 

 

7.1. Introduction 
 
7.1.1. This chapter provides the context to and the benefits of the different management procedures, 

policies and actions of Peterborough’s flood and water management organisations. The chapter 
is intended to be read alongside the proposed Action Plan.  

 
7.1.2. Since the introduction of the FWMA 2010 the organisations managing flood risk in Peterborough 

have come a long way in terms of working together to understand and manage risk. The Flood 
and Water Management Partnership, as described in section 4.8, has been established and 
many actions have been delivered in partnership. There has been a significant increase in 
communication and awareness raising activities and in the consideration of surface runoff and 
groundwater flooding.  

 

 
Figure 7-1: Completed action to create a new ditch near Eye Green to reduce flooding 

 
 
7.1.3. A major role of the LFRMS is to set out measures or actions for the future that are proposed to 

meet the objectives set out below. These measures can be found in the action plan. The tasks 
and projects are split in two;  
 
Management Activities 
These are statutory functions or those highlighted as National Level Measures, they are 
described to help the reader understand work that is delivered to achieve each of those 
activities on a day-to-day basis.  These are included in this section divided up according to the 
objective they work towards.  
 
Actions 
These have been identified based on input from a wide range of stakeholders and an 
understanding of the need and are typically not classified as National Level Measures.  These 
are listed in the Action Plan, which is held as a separate working document, Appendix 6. 
 

187



Monitoring and Review 

 
81 

 

7.1.4. For the proposed measures to become deliverable actions, each item on the action plan will 
need to be worked up in more detail and tested for deliverability and viability through a business 
case process. The key dependencies and risks affecting the actions are discussed in the 7.5. 
 

7.1.5. The objectives of Peterborough’s FMS are set out in table 5-1. In 2015 the objectives were 
developed from a workshop with the Peterborough Flood and Water Management Partnership 
where each organisation was asked what themes and outcomes they wanted to see delivered 
by the FMS. These objectives shape the content and intentions of the FMS. 

 
 

7.2. National Level measures 
 
7.2.1. The Environment Agency have created a set of measures (called National Level Measures) 

which look to capture core risk management functions and avoid repetition of measures within 
the Flood Risk Management Plans and Local Flood Risk Management Strategies of actions 
which may be considered business as usual.  It should be noted that some of the National Level 
Measures that have been identified are not statutory or business as usual functions for a Lead 
Local Flood Authority, for the purposes of this strategy those measures are noted against the 
actions but if the city council deem these to be actions beyond business as usual then those 
items are listed as Actions and not as Management Activities.  A copy of these measures is 
included in Appendix F, these measures are subject to change and those changes will be 
reflected in the Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan.  

 
 

7.3. Consistency of Peterborough’s objectives 
 
7.3.1. The objectives of Peterborough’s LFRMS are set out in Table 5-1. The objectives were 

developed at a local level in partnership with Peterborough’s Risk Management Authorities as a 
part of the original LFRMS. These objectives are still appropriate and shape the content and 
intentions of the LFRMS.   

 
7.3.2. The LFRMS is required to be consistent with the National Strategy. The alignment between the 

LFRMS objectives and the National Strategy objectives is therefore shown in the table.  A list of 
the national objectives is listed in Appendix G. 

 
Table 7-1: Objectives and their consistency with the National Strategy. 

FMS Objectives  
Consistent with 

National Strategy 
Objectives  

1 

Improve awareness and understanding of flood 
risk and its management to ensure that the city 
council, partner organisations, stakeholders, 
residents, communities and businesses can make 
informed decisions and can take their own action 
to become more resilient to risk. 

A, 1.1, 1.2, 3.1, 3.2, 3.3,  

2 

Establish efficient co-ordinated partnership 
approaches to flood and water management and 
response and recovery, including sharing and 
seeking new resources together. 

1.1, 1.5, 2.2, 2.3, 2.8 

3 
Reduce flood risk to prioritised areas and 
strategic infrastructure, ensuring that standards 
of resilience elsewhere are maintained. 

1.1, 2.1, 2.4, 2.5,  

4 
Improving the wider sustainability of 
Peterborough; ensuring an integrated catchment 

1.4, 1.5, 2.2 

188



Monitoring and Review 

 
82 

 

approach and proper consideration of the water 
environment and its benefits in new and existing 
urban and rural landscapes. 

 
7.3.3. The Actions and Management Activities are related back to the LFRMS objectives to show how 

these will be met.  It should be noted that in addition to the guiding National Objectives there are 
also measures from the Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan and local priorities that inform the 
selection of Actions in the Strategy.   

 
7.3.4. The Action Plan for this strategy will not look to duplicate the contents of the Regional Flood and 

Coastal Committee 6-year programme, details of which can sought directly from the committee. 
 

7.4. Assigning benefits 
 
7.4.1. Some schemes have direct benefits to the numbers of home and businesses, some to 

infrastructure or the natural environment and some actions are more about improving the 
efficiency of management processes and expanding flood risk knowledge. The latter category 
will still have benefits to homes and businesses, but they may be indirect. Once schemes are 
worked up in more detail in terms of development of the detailed business cases, it will be 
possible to provide further information about the exact benefits achieved. A list is provided 
below of the benefit categories used for the actions: 

 

Benefit 
category code 

The action has benefits for: 

Agr Agriculture 

Bus Businesses 

Com Community amenities and public services 

Dev New development (all types) 

Eff Efficiency of management 

Env Natural environment 

Hom Homes 

Inf Infrastructure 

Kno Better local knowledge and understanding 

 

7.5. Considerations in the delivery of Flood Risk Management Activities and Actions 
 
7.5.1. All the schemes proposed in the strategy will require individual business cases to be developed 

by the lead partner. They will not be able to progress beyond the proposal stage unless 
approval is obtained. The benefits and impacts of the actions will be assessed and include 
climate change, environmental and equality impacts.  The following list of dependencies is not 
exhaustive, and risk affect the actions listed in the action plan. 

 

• Funding - appropriate funding needs to be secured from a range of different sources to 
meet the requirements of that funding. This may result in some schemes being delayed 
until these requirements are met. 

• Resources – the ability to deliver activities and actions can be limited if resources such 
as staff time of access to specific skills or expertise is constrained.  Where possible 
funding opportunities that include financing of resources will be explored. Where 
resources are constrained by responding to flood events or the impacts of external 
factors such as those experienced through the Covid pandemic, it may result in non-
statutory functions such as project delivery being delayed.  

• Carbon Impact Assessment – the City Council and its partners have all set targets for 
activities to become Net Zero and projects will require differing ranges of assessments, 
depending on the funding source, to assess both carbon impacts and consideration of 

189



Monitoring and Review 

 
83 

 

future adaptation as a part of project development. Flood management assets such as 
wetlands can provide a significant benefit in capturing carbon and industry research on 
‘Blue Carbon’ is expected to help inform future opportunities.  The development of any 
project by the City Council will undergo a Carbon Impact Assessment to help identify 
opportunities for reducing that impact. 

• Environmental impacts - Schemes must look to incorporate habitat and biodiversity 
improvements where possible.  Aligning of such ambitions is likely to be essential to the 
success of future funding bids as singular outcomes are finding it increasingly harder to 
achieve the necessary funding requirements. Guidance on the delivery of partnership 
projects and resources to help assess wider benefits can be found on the Catchment 
Based Approach website.  The range of disciplines and expertise across the City Council 
and its partners increases the potential for multiple benefits of a scheme, aligning 
ambitions such as flood resilience improvements and doubling nature.  Newly developed 
Habitat Opportunity Mapping can help to inform this process. 

• Historic environment – The water environment has had a significant impact on 
Cambridgeshire throughout history and many of the important pieces of infrastructure 
that still serves to protect communities from flooding today are in fact designated sites or 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments.  In addition to this the actions carried out by partners 
has the potential to impact on historic environment including assets which may be at risk 
from flooding and those hidden artifacts that rely on being waterlogged to be preserved. 
The potential to protect or preserve such assets will need to be considered as any 
project developments. 

• Equality Impact Assessments – where activities may impact on the community it is 
important to consider who that impact will be felt by and if those impacts disadvantage or 
unfairly impact on a particular sector in the community those delivering the project will 
need to consider mitigation for that impact, removing it where possible.  Projects may 
also offer opportunities to provide betterment for communities such as improving access 
to public open space and the potential health benefits this can provide.  As such the 
health, level of vulnerability and any protected characteristics of those affected by the 
flooding will need to be considered. 

• Planning related consents and assessments - Some projects may require planning 
permission, environmental impact assessments, scheduled monument or listed building 
consents or be affected by other constraints such as Tree Preservation Orders.  

• Land ownership and maintenance agreements - If third party land is required for a 
scheme, the landowner’s approval will need to be sought. It is also essential that an 
agreement is put in place about the long-term maintenance of any structure or feature 
being constructed.  

• Flood defence or ordinary watercourse land drainage consent - Changes to 
watercourses require consent under the Land Drainage Act 1991. Consent requires the 
project to demonstrate that there will be no negative impacts on flood risk elsewhere, on 
the watercourse or on elements of the habitat and water quality that are governed by the 
Water Framework Directive. 

• Timescale and priority changes - Priorities may need to change, for example, as a 
result of updated information about the flood risk in an area (i.e. from investigations), the 
specific risks associated with delivering the project, and /or the availability of resources 
to deliver the schemes. 

• Traffic regulation orders - Works taking place near roads or on highway drainage may 
require a traffic regulation order to be put in place. 

 
  

190



Monitoring and Review 

 
84 

 

7.6. Management Activities  
 

7.6.1. This section gives an overview of the different types of day-to-day management activities taking 
place now, specific actions are listed in the Action Plan in Appendix H.  
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Flood and Water Partnership 

 
7.6.2. The CPFloW Partnership will continue to act as a group to oversee flood risk management 

activities in Peterborough, including sharing best practice, updates on new policies and 
legislation as well as provide the opportunity to discuss risk and flood events. The Partnership 
will oversee the annual review of this strategy and consider any new priorities arising. 
 
Flood Risk Management Plan 

 
7.6.3. As described in section 3.3 the Environment Agency and Lead Local Flood Authorities have a 

duty to prepare and periodically update Regional Flood Risk Management Plans.  All partners 
will work with the Environment Agency to update this Plan as a part of their respective duties.  
The update of this plan includes a number of measures specific to the Peterborough area which 
will be reflected in the Action Plan. 
 
Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment 

 
7.6.4. As described in section 3.4.1 the city council have a duty to prepare and periodically update the 

Peterborough Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA).  This was last updated in 2017 and 
is informed by national surface water mapping which highlights nationally significant Flood Risk 
Areas (FRAs) relating to local flood risk.  Local experience can form part of this process, but 
detailed modelling and understanding would be required to change any of the FRAs put forward 
by the national screening of surface water flood risk mapping.  If a new Flood Risk Areas were 
proposed by the PFRA this would be reflected in the Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan, 
measures to investigate or manage those areas are then created in partnership with the 
Environment Agency and will act to inform actions in future iterations of this strategy.    

 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, Water Cycle Studies and Local Plans 

 
7.6.5. SFRAs should be updated regularly to ensure continued relevance with regards to changing 

flood zones and new flood risk data. Risk Management Authorities within Peterborough will 
contribute to the assessment of evidence and development of the SFRA, WCS and evidence for 
the Local Plan, including promoting Integrated Water Management solutions as a part of that 
review. 

 
7.6.6. Historically, Critical Drainage Areas were recognised as areas that are in Flood Zone 1 but that 

have special drainage requirements. The formal definition in the Town and Country Planning 
(General Development Procedure Amendment 2, England) Order 2006 for these is: “an area 
within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage problems, and which has been notified [to] the 
local planning authority by the Environment Agency”. 

 
7.6.7. However with the introduction of the FWMA 2010, LLFAs are now the principal authority 

managing surface water flood risk and so it is more likely that LLFAs would need to identify 
important surface water risk areas. Until any changes are made in the national definition, when 
the city council needs to update the formally identified critical drainage areas in Peterborough, it 
will use the term Areas of Notable Drainage Interest. Each time the city council updates its 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment these areas will be displayed in the new document. 

 
7.6.8. A review of the existing Critical Drainage Areas identified in the SFRA Level 2 (2010) has been 

undertaken and a map of the newly proposed areas is included in Appendix E.  

191



Monitoring and Review 

 
85 

 

 
Flood and Water Management Supplementary Planning Document 

 
7.6.9. This SPD is a formally adopted part of Peterborough’s suite of planning policy documents and 

will require periodic review to align with changing local and national policies, this update is 
supported by the Peterborough Lead Local Flood Authority. The SPD provides planning 
guidance on: 

 
a) How to assess whether or not a site is suitable for development based on flood risk 

grounds. 
b) The use of different sustainable drainage measures within Peterborough. 
c) The protection of aquatic environments and how development can contribute positively 

to the Water Framework Directive. 
 
Resilient development 

 
7.6.10. As development in low-risk areas continues and the impacts of climate change on flood risk 

increases, land for development that is low risk will eventually be in short supply. When planning 
ahead for the future, it is important that the city council and other risk management authorities 
agree what resilient development looks like in Peterborough. This will involve considering what 
makes appropriate access and egress routes for sites that are at risk of flooding, what 
emergency plans should consist of and the consideration of alternative designs that may be 
appropriate. This work will also link in with the development of an adaptation plan for 
Peterborough 

 
7.6.11. Peterborough City Council requires sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) in all new 

developments. Strengthened planning guidance plus the city council’s in-house expertise will be 
used to help developers design drainage strategies and systems that reduce flood risk while 
also delivering the other benefits of SuDS such as water quality, amenity and biodiversity 
improvements. As a unitary authority which is a Local Planning Authority, a Lead Local Flood 
Authority and a Highways Authority, the city council is confident it can provide an efficient 
process which will aid our development and regeneration sites to implement a solution that 
works for the residents, the developers and the environment. Peterborough’s flood risk 
management organisations will continue to work closely with developers to this aim. For detailed 
guidance on SuDS, planners and developers are referred to the Flood and Water Management 
SPD, the Peterborough SuDS website and the Government’s technical standards. 

 

 
Figure 7-2 Award winning permeable paving sites at Central Avenue and Fleetwood Crescent 

 
 
 

192



Monitoring and Review 

 
86 

 

Planning Enforcement 
 
7.6.12. The planning application process is supported by a system of enforcement, which ensures that 

development has planning permission and has been built in accordance with approved plans 
and that any conditions on an application are met by the developer according to agreed 
timescales. 

 
7.6.13. The Local Planning Authority are responsible for the enforcement of planning matters.  
 
7.6.14. Where enforcement action is considered necessary, both planning and drainage team officers 

will need to work closely together to decide what enforcement actions may be required having 
had regard to the relevant flood risk enforcement policy. In some cases, it may be possible to 
achieve an agreed solution through the submission of a new planning application or amending 
the drainage designs to meet approval requirements. 

 
Works to watercourses – byelaws, consents and culverts 

 
7.6.15. If it is proposed to undertake construction within the locality of, including over, under and within, 

a watercourse a specific consent is needed from one of Peterborough’s flood and water 
management organisations. This consent is not included within planning permissions but may 
be sought at the same time. The type of consent required and the distance from the 
watercourse for which it is needed depends on what area of Peterborough the site is in and the 
classification of the watercourse. The requirements are set out clearly in the Flood and Water 
Management SPD. 

 
7.6.16. It is the Flow Partnership’s intention to ensure that such works have clearly included 

consideration of the environmental impacts in terms of biodiversity, habitat and water quality. 
Therefore, example assessments that may be required for Land Drainage Consent to be 
granted for works to an ordinary watercourse, would be a water vole survey or a Water 
Framework Directive assessment.   

 
7.6.17. Peterborough City Council do not recommend the culverting of watercourse, as they increase 

flood risk, are a maintenance liability and reduce biodiversity.  
 

7.6.18. The city council will not normally grant permission for culverting, except where there is a clearly 
demonstrated need to enable access. Further to this where the Flow Partnership progresses 
projects in areas where culverts already exist, alternative options for the culverts will be 
considered as part of the development of these schemes. If there is an appropriate option to 
enable the culvert to be daylighted (removed) then this will rate as a high priority.  

193



Monitoring and Review 

 
87 

 

 
Figure 7-3 Culvert collapse and subsequent on Marholm Brook 

 
 

Drainage enforcement 
 
7.6.19. On occasion there are instances where investigations by Peterborough’s water management 

organisations identify a lack of maintenance or inappropriate structures or barriers to flow within 
watercourses that contravene the Land Drainage Act or local byelaws.  Several bodies within 
Peterborough have enforcement powers to require those responsible to maintain the flow of 
water in watercourses and to modify/remove inappropriate structures within or around the 
watercourses.   

 
7.6.20. The City Council and its partners will always look to engage with those responsible in a 

constructive manner, only using enforcement powers where it is necessary to do so. 
 

 
Asset register 

 
7.6.21. Section 21 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 gives the city council a duty to 

maintain a register of structures or features which, in the opinion of the authority, are likely to 
have a significant effect on flood risk in its area such as a culvert in a housing estate. It also has 
a duty to develop a record of information about each of those structures or features, including 
information about ownership and the state of repair.  Any local knowledge gained through other 
activities will be incorporated into this register. 

 
Designation of features or structures 

 
7.6.22. Under Section 30 and Schedule 1 of the FWMA 2010 a designating authority (the Environment 

Agency, an LLFA or an IDB) can designate a “structure or natural or man-made feature of the 
environment” whose existence or location influences flood risk. Once designated the feature or 
structure may then not be altered, removed or replaced without the consent of the designating 
authority. A designation becomes a local land charge, showing up on house searches.  

 
7.6.23. This new power exists to prevent structures that are not formal flood defences but that are 

protecting locations from flooding, from being removed. Example might be a garden wall or 
potentially even an area of trees. The designation does not place a requirement on a landowner 
to upgrade or spend money on maintaining the feature, but it does seek to prevent any work 

194



Monitoring and Review 

 
88 

 

taking place that would cause the structure to be weakened or removed. Enforcement action will 
be taken by the city council if a designated structure is changed, damaged or removed 

 
7.6.24. Assets can be designated by the relevant risk management authority for the given asset, 

including Peterborough City Council, Environment Agency and Internal Drainage Boards. 
 
 

Flood investigations and section 19 reports 
 
7.6.25. Section 19 of the FWMA 2010 sets out that LLFAs have a duty to investigate flooding incidents 

within their area, to the extent that the LLFA considers necessary or appropriate.  
 
7.6.26. The aims of flood investigations are to provide an understanding of the possible causes of 

flooding and potential cost-effective long-term solutions. The council will carry out investigations 
to provide a clear and thorough understanding of flooding situations and circumstances. 
However, the process of undergoing an investigation, does not guarantee that problems will be 
resolved or that the LLFA will be able to enforce the investigations conclusions into action. 
Decisions about the next steps must be made in partnership by the parties involved. 

 
7.6.27. Where there is more significant or widespread flooding a Section 19 report may be produced for 

any investigations as required and will identify the authorities that have an involvement in a 
particular flood incident and clearly outline their responsibilities or actions as necessary. Section 
19 reports will involve consultation with the relevant risk management authorities, landowners 
and private organisations involved, all of whom are expected to cooperate and provide 
comments 

 

 

Peterborough Telemetry Case Study 
 
In 2015 Peterborough City Council’s Smart City project enabled the installation of 
weather stations across Peterborough, many of these included rainfall monitoring 
and continued to be used by LLFA and Highway colleagues to improve the efficiency 
of operational responses.   
 
Since that time there have also been water level monitoring devices installed which 
provide alerts to the council, partners and members of the community when water 
level begins to rise in key locations.  This information helps the council to respond 
more effectively to storm events.  This network and new potential locations are 
reviewed periodically. 
 

 
Figure 7-4 Water level monitoring installation in Peterborough 

195



Monitoring and Review 

 
89 

 

 
Figure 7-5 Flood events in July 2021 

 
7.6.28. For the city council to undertake formal investigation it must be made aware of the flooding, 

whether from officers, contractors, other risk management authorities or members of the public. 
These incidents can be reported through the Peterborough City Council website or directly to 
drainage@peterborough.gov.uk. People are encouraged to send in photographs with the form 
to aid the investigation. 

 
7.6.29. The decision on whether to investigate a flood or not and in turn whether a Section 19 report is 

required, relies on there being sufficient confusion or ambiguity over the cause of flooding or 
who is responsible.  The LLFA have the overriding decision on whether an investigation or 
Section 19 report is required to take place.  Peterborough City Council has defined the following 
eligibility criteria for Section 19 reports. 

 

196



Monitoring and Review 

 
90 

 

 
 

7.6.30. After a flooding incident, the Investigating Officer will follow the eligibility criteria for flood 
investigations to determine whether an investigation should be carried out.  Whilst the council 
understand that any flooding is significant for those experiencing it, there may be times where a 
number of incidents meet the eligibility criteria and officers are required to prioritise flood 
investigations.  
 

7.6.31. Prioritisation will take into consideration factors such as the extent, depth and duration of 
flooding, history of flooding at that location, the number of properties affected and the impact on 
infrastructure including roads, utilities, or service providers such as emergency services.   

 
7.6.32. In d) above the definition of ‘defined’ period is dependent on the transport link affected. The 

following thresholds have been derived for each of the highway categories set out in the 
UKRLG Code of Practice for Highway Maintenance: 

 
Table 7-2: Thresholds for the city council to carry out and publish flood investigations 

Category Name Description Example 

Duration of 
significant 
disruption to 
network 

1 Motorway Motorway A1(M) Over 1 hour 

2 Strategic Route 
Trunk roads and 
some principal ‘A’ 
roads 

A1139 Fletton 
Parkway 

Over 1 hour 

3a Main Distributor 
Main urban network 
and inter-primary 
links 

A605 Oundle Road Over 4 hours 

3b 
Secondary 
distributor 

Classified road: B 
and C class 

B1443 Helpston Over 4 hours 

4a Link Road 

Roads linking the 
Main Distributor 
network to the 
secondary Distributor 

Deeping Road 
Peakirk (C6)  

Over 24 hours 

4b 
Local Access 
Road 

Roads serving 
limited numbers of 
properties carrying 
only access traffic 

Any small cul-de-
sac or similar 
residential estate 
road 

Over 24 hours 

 
 
7.6.33. The city council commits to starting the investigation within 30 days of the flood event.  The 

investigation will be shared with the other risk management organisations and the results of the 
investigation will be published on PCC’s website as early as possible. No personal information 
will be included in the reports. Photographs supplied will not be included in the final report 
without the owners’ permission.  

 
 

Thresholds for FWMA 2010 section 19 flood investigations 
 

a) Internal flooding to any dwelling  
b) Internal flooding to more than one business premises 
c) Flooding to any critical infrastructure or critical services 
d) Flooding that causes significant disruption to a transport link for a defined period 

as detailed in table XXX below 
 

197



Monitoring and Review 

 
91 

 

Emergency planning and response 
 
7.6.34. Under the Civil Contingency Act 2004, Peterborough City Council and many of the other flood 

management organisations are also emergency responders. There are two categories of 
emergency responder: 

 
i. Category 1 – the core responders. Includes the ‘blue-light’ services (Police, Fire and 

Rescue, Ambulance Service), the NHS, local authorities and the Environment Agency. 
ii. Category 2 – co-operating responders that act in support of the category 1 responders. 

Includes utility companies such as Anglian Water and UK Power Networks, and 
transport organisations such as Highway’s England.  

 
7.6.35. In planning for flooding the following different roles exist under this legislation: 

a) Warning and informing people – all 
b) Putting joint response plans in place - all 
c) Response actions – blue light services 
d) Recovery – Local authorities i.e. Peterborough City Council 

 
7.6.36. All local authorities will have an emergency flood plan. The plan covering Peterborough is 

produced by the city council and county council in partnership and overseen by the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Resilience Authority, the strategy includes an action to 
update this multi-agency flood plan and hold exercises to test that plan. 

 
7.6.37. One of the most controversial elements of the November/December 2012 flood events was the 

issues of sandbags. As described in section 7.6.49 below these are largely ineffective at 
preventing flooding and resources to distribute these during a flood event is unlikely to be 
readily available. At any time you will be able to find the sandbag policy of Peterborough City 
Council online at http://ask.peterborough.gov.uk/help/council/environment/sandbags/.  

 
7.6.38. As part of their role in managing flood risk from Main Rivers, the Environment Agency provide a 

Main River forecasting and flood warning service. It is their intention to continue this service, to 
work with local communities and other risk management authorities to promote awareness of 
flood risk and the warning service. 

  
Table 7-3 – resilience responsibilities of each organisation 

Risk 
Management 
Authority 

Resilience Role Resilience Responsibilities  

Peterborough 
City Council 

Support 
emergency 
services during the 
response and 
coordinate the 
recovery 

Prepare and maintain the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Multi Agency Flood Plan. 
Monitor warnings issued by the EA or the Met Office. 
Implement road closures. 
Resource Contact / Call Centres to take the lead in dealing 
with general enquiries from the public during and after major 
flooding.  
redirecting calls to other organisations when appropriate. 
Coordinate incident reports and response prior to formation of 
Tactical Coordinating Group. 
Manage the Recovery phase of the incident(s). 
Employ resources to mitigate the effects of the Emergency. 
Emergency Feeding and Housing of victims / evacuees. 
Provide welfare and counselling. 
Coordinate humanitarian assistance and the voluntary sector. 
‘Clear Up’ Operations on site; and 

198

http://ask.peterborough.gov.uk/help/council/environment/sandbags/


Monitoring and Review 

 
92 

 

Restoration of normality. 

Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary 

Lead a 
coordinated 
response to 
protect life and 
property 
 

Lead the multi-agency command and control, including 
coordination of Major Incident and Inter-Operability 
communications with other Agencies. 
Coordinate road closure and traffic management. 
Coordinate incident reports and response on formation of the 
Tactical Coordination Group; and 
Lead media liaison in line with the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Local Resilience Flood Plan Communications 
Plan. 
 

Cambridgeshire 
Fire and 
Rescue Service 

The coordination 
of all rescue 
measures and the 
provision of 
specialist 
equipment. 
 

Coordination of the rescue of trapped people/casualties. 
Managing the safety of personnel in the inner cordon; and 
Information gathering and risk assessment. 

East of 
England 
Ambulance 
NHS trust 

Treatment of all 
casualties at the 
scene and where 
necessary 
transporting 
casualties to 
hospital 
 

Provide the focal point for medical resources. 
Treatment and care of injured at the scene. 
Triage of casualties at the scene; and 
Liaison with nominated hospitals. 

Environment 
Agency 

Provide 
information, 
specialist 
knowledge and 
support to local 
level emergency 
planning. 

Provide warnings. 
Maintain defences. 
Support local emergency planners.  
Provide public information about flooding; and  
Chair Flood Advisory Service Teleconference. 

 
 

Maintenance of watercourses and structures 
 
7.6.39. The water management organisations in Peterborough undertake a variety of maintenance 

activities to look after their infrastructure and ensure that it continues to function, examples of 
the IDB, Environment Agency and City Council activities are given below 

 
7.6.40. Within Peterborough’s Drainage Board areas this includes extensive maintenance of pumped 

catchments, the watercourses are ranked by risk with maintenance being carried out based on 
that risk and condition of those assets.  In delivering their maintenance functions the IDBs will 
have consideration for the impact this maintenance on the wider environment, this is 
demonstrated, for example, by Middle Level Commissioners Biodiversity Action Plan. 

 
7.6.41. In addition to existing conservation and biodiversity best practice the maintaining authorities are 

increasingly looking to review the carbon implications of their activities and any asset upgrades.  
Due to the rural location of pumping stations and their power requirements, it will be a 
considerable challenge to find an alternative energy source to the existing diesel. 

 

199



Monitoring and Review 

 
93 

 

7.6.42. Maintenance is critical to sustaining the ongoing level of resilience.  A Joint report between 
FloodRE and the Association of British Insurers in May 2021 suggested that for every £1 spent 
on maintenance almost £7 is saved in capital spending.  This report focuses primarily on main 
river assets but sets the context for the importance of looking after assets that are already in 
place as a part of keeping communities resilient to flooding. 

 
7.6.43. Peterborough City Council, as a local highways authority, carry out proactive maintenance of 

assets including road gullies and offlets, any blockages or faults can be reported online through 
the Peterborough City Council website.   

 
7.6.44. Table 7-4 below illustrates the maintenance undertaken regularly by Peterborough’s IDBs. 
 

Table 7-4: Maintenance activities undertaken in IDB areas 

Organisation 
Location of 
activity 

Maintenance activity 
Average 
frequency 

Internal Drainage 
Boards 

Arterial ordinary 
watercourses within 
district 

Vegetation management 

Annually 
(More often for 
some 
watercourses that 
serve urban areas) 

De-silting 
5-10 year rotation 
depending on 
watercourse 

Fallen trees and 
obstructions removed 

As necessary 

Servicing of pumping 
stations by an engineer 
or pumping station 
attendant 

Annually 

Test on pumping 
stations and defects 
noted and dealt with 

Daily/weekly by a 
station attendant. 
Monthly by a 
Board engineer. 

Inspection of control 
structures by Board 
engineer 

As required 

Landowner 
watercourses 

Ratepayers and board 
members must notify 
IDB of any defects in 
assets 

As soon as they 
are discovered 

 
 
7.6.45. Each water management organisation undertakes a variety of maintenance activities to look 

after their infrastructure. Details are provided in table 7-5 below. 
 

Table 7-5: Maintenance activities undertaken in Peterborough 

Organisation 
Location of 
activity 

Maintenance activity 
Average 
frequency 

PCC (Drainage and 
Highways Functions) 

Higher risk 
watercourses 
(classes 1-3) 

Vegetation management Annually 

Rubbish removal and 
headwall and screen 
clearance 

As required 

De-silting 
Every 30 years, 
plus localised high 
silt levels  

200



Monitoring and Review 

 
94 

 

Lower risk 
watercourses 
(Class 4) 

Vegetation 
management, litter 
removal and desilting 

As required 

Highway gullies 
Carriageway and 
footway gully cleaning 

Routinely as well 
as on a reactive 
basis 

Environment Agency 

Nene 

Vegetation maintenance As required 

De-silting 
Annually at 
Popley’s Gull 
where silt collects 

Welland 
Vegetation maintenance As required 

De-silting Not applicable 

Higher risk Main 
Rivers (excluding 
Nene and Welland) 

Vegetation maintenance As required 

Lower risk Main 
Rivers 

Vegetation maintenance As required 

All raised defences 
Vermin control of raised 
defences 

As required 

 
7.6.46. Some watercourses have much higher or lower risk associated with them and therefore the 

maintenance required will vary according to the risk profile. For example Peterborough City 
Council uses the following classification for its watercourses as shown in table 7-6: 

 
Table 7-6: Watercourse classification 

Class PCC Classification 

1 Critical 

2 Non critical – high risk 

3 Non critical – medium risk 

4 Non critical – low risk 

5 No routine maintenance 

 
7.6.47. Each organisation also undertakes upgrade schemes in specific locations depending on the 

areas of greatest need and the funding available. The schemes proposed for the upcoming 
years are included in the Action Plan where these are already identified and not a part of the 
Flood Defence Grant in Aid 6-year programme. 

 
Flood risk communication and awareness 

 
7.6.48. Communication about flood risk with residents and businesses is very important. The principal 

areas of communication which are required are: 
a) Warning people of imminent flooding 
b) Promotion of flood warning services 
c) Making people aware of flood risk in their area (outside of flood events) and ensuring 

they know where to look and who to contact for further information. 
d) Encouraging people to prepare themselves mentally and physically for flooding and 

make their homes more resilient. 
e) Encouraging and supporting communities and parish councils to prepare their own 

emergency plans. 
f) Dissemination of updates to the city council website, training sessions or public events. 
g) Helping people to understand what organisations and processes are currently in place to 

manage flood risk in their area and who to contact. 
h) Being clear about things that residents, businesses, developers can do to make sure 

that they do not increase flood risk such as not paving over gardens with impermeable 

201



Monitoring and Review 

 
95 

 

materials or putting fats, oils, greases and other ‘unflushables’ such as baby wipes down 
the sink, drains or toilets 

i) Making homeowners and businesses aware of the need for pipes to be connected to the 
right drainage systems and the flood risk and environmental issues that can occur if 
pipes are misconnected. 

j) An awareness raising campaign about the responsibilities of riparian owners (those 
owning land, which is alongside, or which contains a watercourse) and the flood risks 
that are caused when appropriate maintenance is not carried out. Many residents and 
organisations in Peterborough, including the city council, the Environment Agency and 
Anglian Water, are riparian owners. If we can ensure that watercourses do not get 
forgotten about and receive an appropriate level of maintenance this will reducing the 
changes of flood risk being caused by blockages or a lack of care. In Peterborough, tree 
clippings, rubble and flytipping have all been dumped in watercourses from time to time. 
Each time this happens these will significantly increase the risk of flooding for those 
living alongside that watercourse. 

 
7.6.49. Sandbags - Sandbags are a typical but controversial response to flood events.  It is understood 

that the presence and actions of council and emergency services officers on site helping local 
people is important.  However, there is no requirement on councils to provide protective 
equipment such as sandbags during an emergency and many do not.  This is because while 
they can slow and divert floodwater if used correctly, they can rarely stop flood water entirely; 
they provide no protection if the flooding is due to rising groundwater; and after the floods the 
disposal of large numbers of contaminated sandbags can be difficult, expensive and an 
environmental hazard.  In addition to this the resources to distribute sandbags in an emergency 
is likely to be very limited.  

 
7.6.50. Property Flood Resilience - Efforts can sometimes be better focused on investing in other, 

more reliable, and reusable defence or resilience measures.  Other property level resilience 
measures are more likely to protect property, make it more resilient to flooding and aid a quicker 
recovery.  However, the city council are aware that the central government funding for those 
measures is limited to certain storm events and communities at present, as such these 
measures remain beyond the affordable reach of many homes.  Therefore, the city council and 
its partners will continue to explore other opportunities.  It is worth highlighting that the 
availability of passive devices is increasing which means those who are unable to lift or move 
barriers during a flood event may not have to if the right measures are installed. 
 

7.6.51. The Know Your Flood Risk Campaign (https://www.landmark.co.uk/products/know-your-flood-
risk/) offers free guides for residents and businesses to understand their risk and also what 
might be done to minimise the risk or the damage.  A directory of manufacturers and suppliers 
can be found in their Homeowners guide. 
 

7.6.52. The National Flood Forum also provide information and advice on insurance, how to prepare for 
and recover from flooding. It can be found here: http://www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk/. Further 
information of the national Flood RE scheme can also be found online; 
https://www.floodre.co.uk/. 

 
Riparian owner engagement 

 
7.6.53. The CPFloW Partnership would like to work more closely with riparian owners in this area to 

share knowledge and experience, see if we can support each other and gain a better 
understanding of the different ordinary watercourses and private reservoirs that are present in 
Peterborough. Ensuring that water bodies are maintained to prevent flooding is crucial. 

 
7.6.54. There are also other water management schemes that landowners in this area may have 

already been engaged in which bring a wide range of other benefits to Peterborough. Farm 

202

http://www.nationalfloodforum.org.uk/
https://www.floodre.co.uk/


Monitoring and Review 

 
96 

 

stewardship schemes encouraged by Natural England and Nene Park Trust seek to reduce soil 
erosion into nearby water bodies and therefore improve water quality. Anglian Water is also 
increasing the scale of its catchment advisory scheme which aims to help reduce the impacts of 
chemical fertilisers and pesticides in our water supply. It is important that any proposed new 
schemes with riparian owners are complimentary and do not create a burden for agricultural 
landowners or detract from these existing beneficial schemes. 
 

7.6.55. Section 4.15 discussed the rights and duties of riparian owners. Ultimately the city council, the 
Environment Agency and IDBs have powers under the Land Drainage Act 1991 that they can 
use where appropriate to require certain essential works to be carried out and to enforce 
prohibitions on obstructions being placed in watercourses. Legislation related to flytipping may 
also be used where this is appropriate. Any obstructions to the flow of watercourses could 
increase local flood risk. 

  

203



Monitoring and Review 

 
97 

 

7.7. Review and monitoring 
 
7.7.1. The CPFloW Partnership meetings will provide a method for monitoring the progress on 

activities listed with the FMS’s action plan. Actions will be rated as:  
 

i. Completed - blue 
ii. Progress - green 
iii. Some obstacles - yellow 
iv. At risk – red 
v. Not started - white 

 
7.7.2. The Partnership will then be able to work together to try and progress past any arising barriers 

to ensure that schemes can be delivered. Part of the process will also be about ensuring that 
the actions do deliver the FMS objectives. 

 
7.7.3. The FMS should be updated every 5-6 years. The CPFloW Partnership may wish this to be 

done to best co-ordinate with updates to the Environment Agency’s Flood Risk Management 
Plans. Some of the background sections may change very little but updates may be needed to 
the risk, climate change and management chapters.  

 
7.7.4. It is intended that the Action Plan will be reviewed every year at a CPFloW Partnership meeting 

alongside monitoring progress on the existing actions.  In addition progress against the council’s 
other activities and actions will be reported to the full council each year. 

 

204



Monitoring and Review 

98 
 

8. Glossary and References 

 

Adaptation - The process of change to respond to the pressures of flood risk and climate change 
 
Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) - Probability that a flood event may occur in any year, expressed as, for 
example, 1% or 1 in 100 chance 
 
Aquifer  - Layer of permeable rock, sand, or gravel which is capable of storing groundwater  
 
Area of Notable Drainage Interest - An area where the existing drainage design or risk level means that 
measures used to address site drainage need careful consideration to ensure they comply with relevant 
drainage strategies and policies and that risk will not be exacerbated 
 
Attenuation - The process of holding back water and slowing down the rate of flow to reduce peak flow 
downstream 
 
Biodiversity - The variety of species of life in a given habitat including plants and animals 
 
Breach - Flooding caused by the constructional failure of a flood defence such as a bank, wall, or gate. 
 
Catchment - An area of land where rainwater gathers and flows to the same place e.g., to supply a river 
 
Combined Sewer System  - Sewer system that carries both foul water and surface water to a place of 
treatment, most commonly found in historic settlements as new developments are built with separate foul 
and surface water sewer networks. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a new levy that local authorities 
in England and Wales can choose to charge new developments in their area to help pay for infrastructure 
which is needed to support those developments. CIL can be used to fund a wide variety of infrastructure 
including transport schemes, flood defences, schools, hospitals, parks, leisure centres etc. 
 
Community Related Assets - Tranches of land transferred from the Development Corporation, when it 
closed, to Peterborough City Council. The majority of CRA land forms verges between the highway and other 
land uses and therefore often contains drainage ditches known as CRA dykes. Some of the land is subject to 
clawback agreements with the Homes and Communities Agency in the event of a chance of land use. 
 
Conveyance - Movement of water from one location to another 
 
Critical Infrastructure - A term used to describe the assets that are essential for the functioning of a society 
and, economy.  
 
Cross connection - Sometimes known as a misconnection, this describes the connection of surface water 
sewers with foul sewers that could increase the likelihood of pollution of surface water, flooding or 
activation of combined sewer overflows 
 
Culvert - A structure used to pipe or fill in part of a watercourse.  
 

205



Monitoring and Review 

99 
 

Discharge rate - The rate of flow of water – how fast water moves. 
 
Ditch - A long narrow manmade excavation made to hold or convey water. Ditches are often located at the 
side of a road or field. 
 
DG5 register - Register of properties at risk of internal sewer flooding. Register maintained by the sewerage 
undertaker at the requirement of their regulator, Ofwat. 
 
Downpipes or drainpipes - A pipe to carry rainwater from a roof to a soakaway, watercourse, sewer or to 
runoff over the ground   
 
Dykes - Synonym for a ditch or watercourse 
 
Exceedance flows - Excess water that flows and pools on the surface once the conveyance capacity of a 
drainage system is exceeded 
 
Exceedance routes - The route that exceedance flows take across land 
 
Flash flood - A significant flood occurring very suddenly because of localised intense rainfall 
 
Flood Defence - A structure that inhibits the natural flow of water to reduce the risk of flooding. A defence 
may be ‘formal’ (a structure built and maintained specifically for flood defence purposes), such as a river wall 
or flood gate or ‘informal’ (a structure that provides a flood defence function but has not been built and/or 
maintained specifically for this purpose), such as a garden wall or roadside kerb. 
 
Flood Resilience - Actions taken to reduce the damages to properties from internal flooding, and speed up 
recovery, helping residents to get back into their homes more quickly after flooding. 
 
Flood Resistance - Actions taken to reduce the risk of flood water entering a property by sealing the points of 
ingress. Flood Resistance measures may include property flood resilience products such as flood barriers, 
flood gates, flood doors, specialist air bricks and non-return valves.  
 
Floodplain - Area of land that over which water  is stored in time of flood. 
 
Flood Zones - Flood Zones are defined in Government’s National Planning Policy Framework. They indicate 
land at risk by referring to the probability of flooding from river and the sea, if river and coastal defences 
were not present. 
 
Fluvial - The processes associated with rivers and the deposits and landforms created by them 
 
Foul Sewer - An underground pipe or tunnel system that transports sewage and wastewater from houses 
(e.g., baths, showers, toilets, and sinks)and commercial buildings to water recycling centres for treatment 
before discharge into watercourses  
 
Groundwater - Water located beneath the ground surface, either in soil pore spaces or fractures in rocks 
such as limestone 
 
Groundwater Flooding - This type of flood occurs when water rises from the underlying soil, rocks or 
throughflow of water from springs and nearby watercourses; or when the ground is saturated, and rainfall 

206



Monitoring and Review 

100 
 

cannot drain away. Groundwater flooding tends to occur after long periods of sustained heavy rainfall. 
Groundwater flooding usually lasts for a very long time. 
 
Gully - A pit at the edge of a road covered by a metal grate, sometimes connected to an underground pipe or 
“lateral”. Gullies serve to drain water from roads to a receiving soakaway, watercourse, or sewer. On private 
roads they are responsibility of the adjacent landowner. On adopted highways these are maintained by the 
Local Highway Authority. On A-roads, dual carriage ways and motorways they may be designed to take 
heavier loads and are maintained by National Highways. 
 
Infiltration - The movement of surface water through permeable ground 
Impermeable Area Non-porous surfaces such as tarmac, some types of paving, and heavily compacted 
ground that do not allow rainwater to penetrate through and infiltrate into the ground, causing surface 
water to run off into receiving drainage systems.  
 
Internal Flooding - Flooding which enters a building  
 
Lead Local Flood Authority - A term given to a unitary or county council under the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 
 
Main River - Watercourse shown on the statutory Main River maps held by the Environment Agency and the 
DEFRA and can include any structure or appliance for controlling or regulating the flow of water into, in or 
out of the channel. The Environment Agency has permissive power to carry out maintenance and 
improvement works on these rivers.  
 
Modelling - Flood Risk modelling is computer modelling using mapping data such as topographic surveys, 
impermeable area surveys and surveys of drainage systems, sewers, rivers, and watercourses to predict 
which properties will flood for a variety of scenarios. Scenarios may include different degrees of heavy 
rainfall – e.g., a 1%, 3%, or 5% chance of occurring each year Flood risk modelling is used to help inform 
decisions about flood alleviation schemes and projects, and decisions about drainage design for new 
developments. 
 
National Flood Forum - A British charity who support individuals and communities who have been affected 
by flooding and consults on legislation related to flooding 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - Framework developed by the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG). It is designed to streamline planning policy by substantially reducing the 
amount of planning guidance and bringing it all together into one set of guidelines.  
 
Natural Flood Management - A Nature Based Solution, to manage flood risk using natural processes and 
methods for the conveyance and storage of floodwater 
 
Offlets - A pipe or channel that discharges water or other fluids. Often used as a synonym for kerb gullies. 
 
Ordinary Watercourse - Any watercourse which is not designated as a Main River 
 
Outfall - The point where a pipe discharges to a watercourse or body of water. 
 
Peak flow - The maximum flow rate of water during a storm, usually measured in cubic metres per second 
m3/s, which is colloquially known as cumecs. 

207



Monitoring and Review 

101 
 

 
Permeable surface  - A surface through which water can infiltrate or soak into the ground beneath, such as 
permeable paving 
 
Permissive Powers - Legal term meaning an organisation or body has authority to take an action, (for 
example to undertake maintenance), but is distinctly different from a duty to undertake such actions, as the 
organisation is not always funded to undertake the action in question and therefore cannot have a duty. 
 
Pluvial - Direct surface water runoff as a result of rainfall and the processes associated with it 
 
Precipitation - Describes the processes involved in rain, sleet, hail, snow, and other forms of water 
precipitating (turning from gas to liquid or solid) and thereby gaining weight and falling from the sky 
 
Residual Risk - The risk which remains after all risk resistance, resilience, reduction, and mitigation measures 
have been implemented. 
 
Return Period - The probability of a flood of a given magnitude occurring within any one year e.g., a 1 in 20 
return period has a 5% chance of occurring each year. 
 
Risk Management Authority (RMA) - Risk management authorities are the organisations responsible for flood 
risk management as outlined in the Flood and Water Management act 2010: 
(a) the Environment Agency 
(b) a lead local flood authority 
(c) a district council for an area for which there is no unitary authority 
(d) an internal drainage board 
(e) a water company 
(f) a highway authority. 
 
Scheduled Monuments - Archaeological sites or historic buildings considered to be of national importance by 
Historic England. 
 
Sewer (public and private) - A sewer is a pipe which carries and removes either rainwater (surface) or foul 
water (or a combination of both) from more than one property. A sewer can also be categorised as being a 
private or public sewer . A Private Sewer is solely the responsibility of the occupiers/owners of the properties 
that it serves. A Public Sewer is a sewer that has been adopted and is maintained by a sewerage undertaker 
 
Sewer Flooding - The consequence of sewer systems exceeding their capacity and overflowing during a 
rainfall event or from an operational failure such as a blockage or collapse in the pipes 
 
Sewerage Undertaker - Organisation who adopts and maintains public sewers under the Water Industry Act 
1991. In Cambridgeshire this is Anglian Water. 
 
Source control - The management of rainfall at or close to the place where it lands, with the aim of slowing 
down and cleaning water before is runs off into receiving systems. 
 
Statutory Consultee - Organisations which planning authorities are legally required to consult before 
reaching a decision on relevant planning applications. The Lead Local Flood authority is a statutory consultee 
on planning applications for major developments under the Flood and Water Management act 2010. 
 

208



Monitoring and Review 

102 
 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) - An approach to surface water management that combines a sequence 
of management practices and control structures designed to drain surface water. SuDS principles include the 
mimicking of natural processes, managing surface water on the surface and at the source as much as 
possible. This includes providing benefits to water quality, biodiversity, and amenity.  
 
Surface Water Flooding - This type of flooding is a result of the rainwater not draining away through the 
existing drainage systems or soak into the ground, so it lies on or flows over the ground, either due to a 
blockage or due to system overload. This type of flooding usually follows heavy downpours of rain and can 
be widespread or extremely localised, and difficult to predict/provide warning for.  
 
Surface Water Runoff - Rainwater (including snow and other precipitation) which: is on the surface of the 
ground and may pool at topographic low points, soak into the ground, or flow over the ground surface, 
discharging to a receiving watercourse or sewer. If there is an excess of surface water runoff which cannot 
soak into the ground or discharge to a watercourse or sewer (e.g., if these systems are saturated or full) then 
surface water flooding may occur. 
 
Surface Water Sewer - Surface water sewers carry rainwater that runs off from roofs and impermeable 
surfaces like roads and pavements, directly to a river, watercourse, or soakaway 
 
Surface Water Management Plans - Surface Water Management Plans are used to assess flood risk and asset 
date and identify areas vulnerable to flooding. The areas can then be prioritised for further investigation, 
flood alleviation schemes and mitigation where economically viable.  
 
Unadopted - In this context, this refers to roads or sewers which are not maintained by a responsible 
authority.  For example, the local highway authority may adopt roads and sewerage undertakers may adopt 
sewers.  In the event of any features not being adopted they remain the responsibility of private owners. 
 
Urban Creep - Cumulative impact on villages, towns and cities of gradual increases in impermeable areas, for 
example by property owners paving over front gardens or extending buildings. 
 
Watercourse 
A natural or artificial channel or pipe, above or below ground, that conveys water 
 
Water Framework Directive (WFD) - WFD came into force in the UK as the Water Environment (Water 
Framework Directive) Regulations 2017.  The regulations aim to prevent deterioration of surface water and 
ground water bodies whilst supporting the achievement of the environmental objectives for those water 
bodies through delivery of River Basin Management Plans.  
 

209



Monitoring and Review 

103 
 

Acronym Glossary 
 

AEP Annual Exceedance Probability  

AMP Asset Management Period  

CCA Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

CFMP Catchment Flood Management Plan 

CIL Community Infrastructure Levy 

CPFloW Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Flood and Water Management Group  

CPLRF Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Resilience Forum 

CRA dyke Dyke within Community Related Asset land 

CSO Combined Sewer Overflow 

DEFRA Department for environment, food, and rural affairs 

FMS Flood Risk Management Strategy 

FRMP Flood Risk Management Plan 

FWMA Flood and Water Management Act 

GiA Grant in Aid 

IDB Internal Drainage Board 

LLFA Lead Local Flood Authority 

LPA Local Planning Authority 

LRF 
Local Resilience Forum (In Cambridgeshire we have the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough LRF – CPLRF) 

NBS Nature Based Solutions 

NFM Natural Flood Management 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Ofwat Water Services Regulation Authority (Office of Water) 

PFR 
Property Flood Resilience (Previously PLR – Property Level Resilience, and PLP – 
Property Level Protection) 

PFRA Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment 

RBMP River Basin Management Plan  

RFCC Regional Flood and Coastal Committee 

RMA Risk Management Authority 

RoFSW Risk of Flooding from Surface water mapping (Previously UKFMfSW) 

SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment 

SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

SoP Standard of Protection 

SPD Supplementary Planning Document 

SSSI Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

SuDS Sustainable Drainage Systems 

SWMP Surface Water Management Plan 

UKFMfSW UK Flood Map for Surface Water (Now RoFSW) 

WEIF Water Environment Investment Fund 

WFD Water Framework Directive 

 
 

210



Monitoring and Review 

104 
 

 

8.1. References 
 

Anglian Water (2011). Towards Sustainable Water Stewardship – Sustainable Drainage Systems 
Adoption Manual. 
 
CIRIA (2013). C724 - Creating Water Sensitive Places. 
 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2015). Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems. 
 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (website accessed 2015). Planning Practise Guide – 
Flood Risk and Coastal Change. 
 
Department for Transport. (2013). Action for Roads - A Network for the 21st Century.  
 
Environment Agency (Unknown). Adapting to Climate Change - Advice for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management.  
 
Environment Agency (2013). Climate change allowances for planners - Guidance to support the NPPF.  
 
Environment Agency (2013). Living on the Edge: A Guide to your Rights and Responsibilities of Riverside 
Ownership. 
 
Forestry Commission (2012). Research Report: Economic Benefits of Greenspace: a critical assessment 
of evidence of net econominc benefits.  
 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. (2015) Sustainable drainage systems: non-
statutory technical standards  
 
Local Authority SuDS Officer Organisation. (2015). Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable 
Drainage Systems – Best Practice Guidance 
 
Met Office (accessed 2014). Flooding – Summer 2007. Retrieved from: 
http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/about-us/who/how/case-studies/summer-2007 
 
Natural England. (2014). Microeconomic Evidence for the Benefits of Investment in the Environment.  
 
Peterborough Environment City Trust (website accessed 2020).  Werrington Brook Improvements. 
Retrieved from: https://www.pect.org.uk/projects/werrington-brook-improvements/ 
 
Saunders, Dr M.A. (1998). The UK Floods of Easter 1998 - Commissioned Report for the Benfield Greig 
Hazard Research Centre. 
 
Eye Peterborough (website accessed 2021). The 1947 Flood. Retrieved from: 
http://www.eyepeterborough.co.uk/heritage/the-big-flood-of-1947/ 
 
Cambridgeshire insight (website accessed 2021). Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Population 
Overview Report.  Retrieved from: https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/population/ 
 

211



Monitoring and Review 

105 
 

Peterborough City Council (2011). Counter Drain Study. 
 
Peterborough City Council (2012). Local Climate Impacts Profile. 
 
Peterborough City Council (2014). Population and Dwellings Stock Estimates. 
 
Peterborough City Council (2019). Local Plan and evidence base.  
 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. (2019) The Oxford-Cambridge Arc; 
Government Ambition and joint declarations between Government and Local Partners 
 
Environment Agency. (2021) The state of the environment: the urban environment 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. (2018) Surface water management action plan – 
July 2018  
 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. (2018) A Green Future: Our 25-year plan to 
improve the environment 
 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. (2014) Flood Risk and Coastal Change Planning 
Guidance 
 
Climate Change Committee. (2021) 2021 Progress report to parliament  
 
Environment Agency. (2019) Long-term investment scenarios (LTIS) 2019 
 
Environment Agency. (2021) National Flood Risk Assessment 2 (NaFRA 2) evidence assessment  
 
National Infrastructure Commission. (2021) Water and Floods data 
 
Water Resources East (website accessed 2021). Future Fens – The South Lincolnshire and Fenland 
Reservoirs. Retrieved from: https://wre.org.uk/project/future-fens-the-south-lincolnshire-and-fenland-
reservoirs/ 
 
Environment Agency. (2021) Flood Risk Assessments: Climate change allowances 
 
Environment Agency. (2021) National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England 
Action Plan 2021 
 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. (2009) Permeable surfacing of front gardens: 
guidance  
 
Environment Agency. (2018) Owning a watercourse 
 
Environment Agency. (2013) Reservoir safety – Long return period rainfall 
 
Met Office (website accessed 2021). UK Climate averages.  Retrieved from: 
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/uk-climate-averages/u1214qgj0 
 

212



Monitoring and Review 

106 
 

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2017). Schemes across the country to receive £15 
million of natural flood management funding 
 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2019). £2.9 million extra funding to boost action 
on making homes more resilient to floods 
 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2020). Flood and coastal resilience innovation 
programme 
 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2020). Government extends £5,000 grant scheme 
for flood hit homes 
 
Catchment Based Approach (website accessed 2021). CaBA Partnership Support Guidance. Retrieved 
from: https://catchmentbasedapproach.org/learn/caba-partnership-support-guidance/ 
 
Landmark Information Group (website accessed 2021). Know your flood risk campaign. Retrieved from: 
https://www.landmark.co.uk/products/know-your-flood-risk/ 
 
Association of British Insurers (2021). Modelling the impact of spending on defence maintenance on 
flood losses – Summary Report 
 
Public Health England (website accessed 2021).  Flooding: health guidance and advice.  Retrieved from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/flooding-health-guidance-and-advice 
 
Flood tool kit (website accessed 2021). Ox-Cam Pathfinder Project.  Retrieved from: 
https://www.floodtoolkit.com/ox-cam/ 
 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (2021). Planning for sustainable growth in the 
Oxford-Cambridge Arc: an introduction to the spatial framework 
 
Essex County Council (website accessed 2022), Guide to Ordinary Watercourse Maintenance 
 
Independent Commission on Climate (website accessed 2021). Fairness, nature, and communities: 
addressing climate change in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough – October 2021 
 
Environment Agency (website accessed 2021). Owning a watercourse. Retrieved from: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/owning-a-watercourse 
 

 
 
 

213



Monitoring and Review 

107 
 

9. Appendices 

Appendix A – Natural England’s National Landscape Character Areas 
 
Appendix B – The Fens 
 
Appendix C – Risk Matrix Method 
 
Appendix D – Summary Method Statement for Climate Change Sensitivity Exercise 
 
Appendix E – Areas of Notable Drainage Interest 
 
Appendix F – Draft National Level Measures and Flood Risk Management Plan Measures 
 
Appendix G – National Objectives 
 
Appendix H - Action Plan – Separate document showing proposed actions 
 

214



Monitoring and Review 

108 
 

Appendix A – Natural England’s National Landscape Character Areas 
 

 
Figure A-1: Natural England Landscape Areas 

 

215



Monitoring and Review 

109 
 

Appendix B – The Fens 
 
As a part of the previous Local Flood Risk Management Strategy a section on ‘The Fens’ was developed 
in partnership with Peterborough City Council, Lincolnshire County Council, Suffolk County Council and 
Norfolk County Council, and Internal Drainage Boards in the Fens, this has been retained to provide 
background for this strategy but edited to reflect more recent updates in this area. 
 

 
Figure A-2: Map showing Fen area 

 
Since that time there have been developments with the Fens becoming incorporated into the National 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and catchment studies led by Anglian Water and 
the Environment Agency.  At present those studies are in the early stages and not yet at consistent 
stages of development across the Fens as a whole. 
 
Local strategies will integrate the needs and opportunities of the local Fens and fenland communities 
with those of the rest of the local Lead Local Flood Authorities area and promote a consistent approach 
across the Fens as a whole. This consistency is crucial, for example, to Internal Drainage Boards, who 
often span more than one local authority and whose practices will be similar throughout their area.  As 

216



Monitoring and Review 

110 
 

such Cambridgeshire will continue to work closely with other Lead Local Flood Authorities and other risk 
management authorities to achieve this aim.  
 
Background to the Fens 
 
It is important to consider the history of the Fens when considering the areas future management. 
Systematic water management first commenced in the mediaeval period, but localised attempts had 
been known since Roman times. Large scale drainage of the Fens first began in the 17th century, when 
the ‘Fens’ as we now know it began to take shape. The creation of the Ouse Washes was one of the 
initial phases of draining the fens and is still a critical part of the flood risk management system. All these 
attempts met with setbacks, and it was not until the introduction of mechanised pumps in the industrial 
age that successful year-round water management was achieved across the area.  
 
The Fens form around the Wash which is internationally designated for animal and plant biodiversity. 
There are also numerous local sites, ranging from Sites of Special Scientific Interest to Local Nature 
Reserves which need to be protected; for example, the Nene and Ouse Washes are internationally 
protected wetlands. The Fens also represent a unique archaeological and historic environment, where 
human activity has shaped the land, with evidence of the earliest drainage schemes going back to 
Roman times and containing many designated and undesignated heritage assets. Like any 
watercourses, Fenland Rivers and roddons (former channels) can contain significant archaeological 
materials and deposits.  
 
Specific to the Fens, the peat deposits in the fen basin overlie internationally important prehistoric 
remains, such as the Bronze Age sites and boats from Must Farm, Whittlesey. The band of the silt fen to 
the north provides a contrast of mediaeval villages and towns. More information on this or any other 
aspect of Cambridgeshire’s historic environment can be obtained from the Historic Environment Record 
at the county council. 
 
Cambridgeshire's waterways have helped define its past. They have acted as routes for communication, 
conquest, and trade, as sources of food and other requirements, provided power for industry, defined 
territories, and acted as refuges and protection for the population. As such, they contain many remains 
of this past, from fish weirs to abandoned cargos, bridges to treasure hoards, all of which needs to be 
remembered when before suggesting changes to them. 
 
Today this artificially drained landscape is home to approximately half a million people. The Fens cover 
an area of almost 1,500 square miles, divided between eleven district and five county councils. The Fens 
covers a large area of eastern England, stretching from the Wash to Lincoln, Peterborough, and 
Cambridge. The Fens encompasses five different rivers – the Witham, Welland, Glen, Nene and Ouse, 
carry water from surrounding uplands through the Fens and into the Wash.  
 
Well maintained coastal and fluvial flood defences are essential to providing the conditions in which 
Internal Drainage Boards can maintain extensive artificial drainage of the area.  
 
Across the Fens, Internal Drainage Boards maintain 3,800 miles of watercourse, 200 miles of 
watercourse embankment and 286 pumping stations. Coupled with over 60 miles of coastal sea walls 
and 96 miles of river embankments, the Fens in the most part has a high level of protection and is 
classified as a defended flood plain.  
 
The Internal Drainage Boards within the Fens have been established over many years because of the 
special water level and drainage management needs existing within this area, and the particular need for 
lowland and inland local flood risk management activities. These local works are funded in the main from 
funds levied locally by Internal Drainage Boards.  
 
Well maintained coastal and fluvial flood defences, supporting an extensive drainage infrastructure are 
essential in promoting sustainable growth in the Fens. Housing, jobs, essential infrastructure (such as 
roads and railway lines) and services (such as utilities) that meet the needs of the market towns and the 
rural communities can only happen if drainage and flood risk is well managed. Growth in the Fens will 

217



Monitoring and Review 

111 
 

need to be embraced in a sustainable way; balancing development needs with the need to promote and 
protect open spaces, natural habitats, landscapes, the built environment and the unique qualities of the 
Fens. It is therefore essential that Risk Management Authorities, utilities and local communities continue 
to work closely with local planning authorities, so that consideration of sustainable drainage in particular 
and flood and water management in general are an integral part of the forward planning and 
development control process. 
 
Farming contributes significantly to the success of the local economy, supporting a large number of 
businesses involved in the production of food and rural tourism.  
 
The important role that farming plays in the Fens is emphasised by the steady decline in self-sufficiency 
in the UK, and the Government’s renewal of the food security agenda. The Fens account for 50% of all 
Grade 1 agricultural land in England, producing 37% of all vegetables and 24% of all potatoes grown in 
the country, as well as enough wheat to make 250 million loaves of bread every year.  
 
The area also supports significant livestock, dairying and outdoor pig production. This in turn supports a 
large well-established food processing industry.  
 
It is critical, therefore, that appropriate flood risk and drainage management measures are taken to 
protect this nationally important food production area. In addition to food production, the Fens is popular 
for tourism, attracting numerous visitors each year. The Fens provide a unique and rich habitat for 
wildlife and include the Ouse and Nene Washes which, while providing flood storage capacity, are also 
important wildlife sanctuaries and designated as such. 
 
There are major transport networks, road and rail, as well as homes, critical infrastructure, water, gas 
and electricity that would be affected if fenland areas were to flood.  
 
The impacts of climate change in the Fens  
 
Climate change, poses a serious threat to the Fens and a continued programme of investment in flood 
defences and drainage systems will be needed for existing standards of protection, including provision 
for the potential impact of climate change, to be maintained in the medium and long term.  
 
Beyond the short to medium term, the likely impacts of climate change on flood risk management over 
the next 100 years poses future challenges we need to address to enable everyone who may be affected 
to start planning for the future.  Both these and the associated funding challenges are being discussed 
as a part of the future fens work. 
 
Currently the standards of protection provided by the defences is generally high, between 0.8% (1 in 120 
years) to 0.2% (1 in 500 years).  However, section 5 of this document sets out a number of risks which 
are likely to impact on the Fens more in future; rising sea levels that reduce the amount of time the main 
rivers can discharge through gravity, increased peak river flows from climate change and continued 
shrinkage of peat among others.  These factors, which are likely to require an increase in flood storage 
in the area to maintain existing standards, also work in combination to hinder the drainage of local 
surface water networks which can become flood locked or increase the risk of inundation in the IDB 
catchments.   
 
Further information on the long-term risk and infrastructure serving fens is available online as a part of 
the Future Fens Flood Risk Management project. Challenges highlighted as a part of that process 
include; 

• Future funding needs not aligning to existing funding mechanisms 

• Scale of funding needs 

• Pressures associated with climate change impacts, including sea level rises and changes to 
rainfall patterns which may increase risk of both flood and drought 

• Ageing infrastructure 
 
 

218



Monitoring and Review 

112 
 

Appendix C  Risk Matrix Method 
 

1. Risk calculation  
  
To give an overall perspective of flood risk in Peterborough, each type of flooding (referred to here as the 
hazard) has been rated according to the average likelihood and the expected impacts of that type. The 
results are set out in table A1 in the main report based on a risk matrix calculation. This appendix shows 
the categories for likelihood, impact and risk that were used for this calculation. The likelihood categories 
have been developed based on the Environment Agency’s classification bands for flood risk. For each 
source of flood risk, where the risk in Peterborough from this source spans more than one band the 
highest likelihood band has been chosen.  
  

2. Likelihood  
  
After the hazard has been identified, the likelihood of it occurring each year is calculated. The following 
table outlines the five different probability categories ranging from very low to high.  
  

Table A1: Likelihood score  

Level  Descriptor  
Likelihood, written as annual probability  

Annual probability  
Annual probability as a percentage 

chance  
5  High  1/30 ≤ X <1  3.3% ≤ X < 100%  
4  Medium  1/100 ≤ X< 1/30  1% ≤ X< 3.3%  
3  Medium-Low  1/200 ≤ X < 1/100  0.5% ≤ X < 1%  
2  Low  1/1000 ≤ X < 1/200  0.01% ≤ X < 0.5%  
1  Very Low  1/10000 ≤ X < 1/1000  0.001% ≤ X < 0.01%  

  
  

3. Impact  
  
The following table sets out the Health, Social, Economic and Environmental impact for each impact 
level. When scoring the overall impact level of a type of a flooding the highest relevant impact (health, 
social, economic or environmental) level was recorded.  
  

Table A2: Impact explanation  
Impact category  Meaning  

Health – casualties  Injuries directly attributable to the emergency  
Health – fatalities   Deaths directly attributable to the emergency  
Social  The social consequences of an event, including availability of 

social welfare provision; disruption of facilities for transport; 
damage to property; disruption of a supply money, food, water, 
energy or fuel; disruption of an electronic or other system of 
communication; homelessness, evacuation and avoidance 
behaviour; and public disorder due to anger, fear, and/or lack of 
trust in the authorities  

Economic  The net economic cost, including both direct (e.g. loss of or 
damage to goods, buildings, infrastructure) and indirect (e.g. loss 
of business, increased demand for public services) costs  

Environmental  Disruption to or destruction of plant or animal life, contamination 
or pollution of land, water, or air, with harmful 
biological/chemical/radioactive matter or oil.  

   
Table A3: Impact scores  

Level  
Health – 

casualties  
Health – 
fatalities  

Social  Economic (£)  Environmental  

1  0-5  0  Limited  Thousands  Insignificant  

219



Monitoring and Review 

113 
 

2  6-10  0  Some / local  Millions  Minor  

3  11-50  1-20  
Moderate / local – 

medium to long term  
Tens of 
millions  

Limited – 
long/short term  

4  51-200  21-50  
Significant local / 

local and regional  
Hundreds of 

millions  

Significant – 
medium/long 

term   

5  200+  151  
Severe local, regional 

and national  
Billions  

Serious long 
term  

  
  

4. Risk calculation  
  
The risk matrix combines both the score from impact and likelihood to give an overall score for the area 
from a particular known hazard. The numbers correspond to the overall risk rating given in the 
Peterborough Flood Risk Management Strategy.  
  

Table A4: Risk matrix  
Catastrophic  

5  

Impact  

5  10  15  20  25  

Significant  
4  

4  8  12  16  20  

Moderate  
3  

3  6  9  12  15  

Minor  
2  

2  4  6  8  10  

Insignificant  
1  

1  2  3  4  5  

    Likelihood  

    
Very Low  

1  
Low  

2  

Medium - 
Low  

3  

Medium  
4  

High  
5  

  
  

  
Overall Risk 

Rating   

Low   
1-5  

Medium   
6-9  

High  
10-14  

Very High  
15+  

220



Monitoring and Review 

114 
 

Appendix D – Summary Method Statement for Climate Change Sensitivity Exercise 
 

 
Figure A-3: Sensitivity results by ward  

 
What is it? 
 
The  Peterborough  flood  risk  and  climate  change  sensitivity  tool,  combines  local  and  national 
datasets of environment and infrastructure to help understand the risk of present-day and future flooding, 
based on climate change predictions, within the city.  The tool produces a summary score per ward 
based on the risk of flooding from surface water, groundwater and fluvial flooding to people, 
infrastructure, economy and environment; for present day and future risk. 
 
How does it work? 
 
A list of infrastructure and environmental receptors were identified and split into impact categories (as 
presented in Table 1). For each of the receptors in a ward, an individual score from 0 (low number of 
receptors impacted) to 8 (high number of receptors impacted) is calculated based on how many 
receptors are at risk. This is undertaken for each of different flood events. These individual receptor 
scores are then combined to give an overall impact score and priority grading for each ward. 
 
Results for future risk (climate change) are calculated using the change in impact scores between the 
modelled results. For fluvial this is the difference between flood zone 2 and flood zone 3 and for surface 
water this is the change in impact score between the 1 in 30 probability event and the 1 in 1:1,000 
probability event. No climate change results have been derived for groundwater.

221



List of Appendices 

115 
 

 Table A-5: Receptors according to category 

Impact Category       Receptor types 

 
 
Health 

GP Surgeries 

Hospitals 

Nursing Homes (vulnerable people at risk) 

 
 
Social 

Residential Properties in 40% Most Deprived 
Areas Residential Properties in 40% to 80% Most 
Deprived Areas Residential Properties in 20% Least Deprived 
Areas  

Economics 
Residential Properties 

Non-Residential Properties 

 
Environmental 

Environmental Designations 

Listed Buildings 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Infrastructure 

 
 
 
 
Roads 

Trunk Roads 

Strategic Routes 

Main Distributor Roads 

Secondary Distributor Roads 

Link Roads 

Local Access Roads 

 
Rail 

Railway Lines 

Railway Stations 

 
Schools 

Primary Schools 

Secondary Schools 

Emergency Services 

Sewage Treatment Works 

 
 
Power Network 

Electricity Sub Stations 

Gas Compression Sites 

Power Stations 

 
Table 1 – List of Infrastructure and environmental receptors 
 
Example of how the Peterborough flood risk and climate change sensitivity tool works 
 
For each ward the total number of a specific receptor (e.g. GP surgeries) are identified. The locations of 
these receptors are then reviewed against the risk of flooding. 
 
The   Dogsthorpe   Ward   has   two   GP   surgeries located within its ward boundary, Dogsthorpe 
Medical Centre and Welland Medical Practice (red dots on the map to the right). 
 
For a 1 in 30 probability surface water event (blue outline on the map below) only the Welland Medical 
Practice is affected. 
 
The tool uses this information to determine the 
‘GP capacity at risk score’ which is based on the percentage of GP surgeries within a ward that are at 
risk (Table 2). The score in Dogsthorpe Ward for GP risk is 5 (25% – 50% at risk) based on one of the 
two GP surgeries being affected. For a larger surface water event, the score increases to an 8, as both 
the surgeries would be affected by flooding.  

222



List of Appendices 

116 
 

 
Figure A-4: Comparable flood risk maps for differing levels of risk in Dogsthorpe  
 
The overall health impact score is calculated for each type of flood risk by taking the highest score from 
the following health receptors: 
 

• GP capacity at risk; 

• Vulnerable people at risk; and 

• Hospitals at risk. 
 

Score                           Criteria 

1 None at risk 

3 1% – 25% at risk 

5 25% – 50% at risk 

8 More than 50% at risk 

Table A-6 – Scoring criteria for GP’s surgeries 
 
An impact score is then calculated for each of the five impact categories. 
 
The impact scores are then combined and displayed as an average. The average impact score is then 
calculated and converted into a priority grading. The results for the 1 in 1000 probability surface water 
event are displayed below. Dogsthorpe is classed as being Very High. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

223



List of Appendices 

117 
 

 
Table A-7 – Results for the 1 in 1000 probability flood event 
 
The tool provides summary scores for different types of flood events along with a combined score for all 
the flood types. 
 

224



List of Appendices 

118 
 

Appendix E – Areas of Notable Drainage Interest 
 

 
Figure A-5 Areas of notable drainage interest in Peterborough 

 

225



List of Appendices 

119 
 

Appendix F – Draft National Level Measures and Flood Risk Management Plan Measures 
 
Prevention 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities will maintain, keep under review, apply and monitor 
a local flood risk management strategy in their area to prioritise local flood management approaches. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities will implement relevant government guidance on 
taking climate change into account where necessary for flood risk decision making in their area to 
mitigate the effects of climate change. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may start implementing steps to work towards net 
zero carbon in their area to mitigate the effects of climate change. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities will continue to work in partnership with other risk 
management authorities in their area to reduce the risk of flooding from all sources. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may provide information to inform spatial and 
infrastructure planning, development and regeneration in their area to manage the current and future risk 
of local sources of flooding. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities will act as a consultee for major planning 
applications in their area to promote sustainable surface water drainage arrangements in new 
developments. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may work with other risk management authorities to 
provide information where necessary to update flood maps in their area to better understand the risk of 
flooding. 
 
Protection 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may work with other flood asset owners and riparian 
landowners to raise awareness of, and where necessary enforce, maintenance responsibilities in their 
area to reduce the risk of flooding. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may work with other risk management authorities to 
identify a programme of nature based approaches in their area to reduce the risk of flooding from all 
sources. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may designate third party flood risk assets and 
maintain a register of designated flood risk assets in their area to manage the risk of flooding from local 
sources. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities will take a risk based approach to develop and 
maintain a register of flood risk assets/features in their area to manage the likelihood of flooding from 
local sources. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities will regulate the condition of, and third party activity 
on, ordinary watercourses and review new works on ordinary watercourses in their area to reduce the 
likelihood of flooding. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may work with other risk management authorities to 
support the delivery of flood projects in their area to reduce the risk of flooding from all sources. 
 

226



List of Appendices 

120 
 

Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may plan flood risk management projects to achieve 
wider environmental benefits where appropriate in their area to work towards biodiversity net gain. 
 
Preparedness 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may support communities to increase their 
resilience to flooding in their area to reduce the risk of flooding. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may support emergency response partners and 
communities to plan, prepare and exercise for future flood scenarios in their area to reduce the 
consequences of flooding from all sources. 
 
Recovery and review 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities will investigate local flood events where appropriate 
and necessary in their area to identify actions that may be taken to reduce future flood risk. 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, lead local flood authorities may work with others to support communities 
through the recovery phase of a significant flood event in their area to support them to return to their 
homes and businesses. 
 
 
Anglian Flood Risk Management Plan Measures for Peterborough City Council 
 
Between 2021 and 2027, Peterborough City Council, all Risk Management Authorities and key stakeholders will 
deliver the key aims and objectives as outlined in the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy in Peterborough to 
manage flood risk in the Anglian River Basin District 
 

227



List of Appendices 

121 
 

Appendix G – National Objectives 
 
 

Reference Objective 

Future funding and investment 

Strategic 
Objective 
A 

Between now and 2025 the Environment Agency will have better evidence to inform 
future risk and investment needs for managing all sources of flood and coastal change 

Strategic 
Objective 
B 

Between now and 2030 risk management authorities will make greater use of funding 
and financing from non-public sector sources to contribute to the investment needs of 
flood and coastal resilience 

Climate resilient places 

1.1 Between now and 2050 the nation will bolster its resilience to flooding and coastal 
change 

1.2 Between now and 2050 risk management authorities will help places plan and adapt to 
flooding and coastal change for a range of climate scenarios 

1.3 Between now and 2050 risk management authorities will help coastal communities 
transition and adapt to a changing climate. 

1.4 Between now and 2030 risk management authorities will use nature based solutions 
and improve the environment through their investments in flood and coastal resilience. 

1.5 By 2030 risk management authorities will work with farmers and landowners to help 
them adapt their businesses and practices to be resilient to flooding and coastal 
change 

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate 

1 Between now and 2030 all new development will contribute to making places resilient 

to flooding and coastal change. 

2.2 Between now and 2030 risk management authorities will encourage environmental net 

gain in all new development to support resilience to flooding and coastal change. 

2.3 Between now and 2030 risk management authorities will support investments to 

manage flooding and coastal change that enables growth in a sustainable and climate 

resilient way. 

2.4 Between now and 2040 risk management authorities will work with the finance sector 

and other partners to mainstream property flood resilience measures and to ‘build 

back better’ after flooding 

2.5 Between now and 2030 owners of flood and coastal defences will understand and take 

responsibility for achieving flood and coastal resilience 

2.6 Between now and 2030, owners and operators of large, raised reservoirs will ensure 

they are safe in a changing climate 

228



List of Appendices 

122 
 

2.7 By 2030 water companies will plan for their infrastructure to be resilient to flooding 

and coastal change. 

2.8 Between now and 2050 risk management authorities will work with national 

infrastructure providers to contribute to more flood and coastal resilient places 

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change 

3.1 Between now and 2050, people will understand the potential impact of flooding and 
coastal change on their lives and livelihoods and will take action to reduce that impact. 

3.2 Between now and 2030 people will receive the information and support they need to 
transform how the nation better prepares and responds to flooding and coastal change 

3.3 Between now and 2030 people and businesses will receive the support they need from 
all those involved in recovery after flooding so they can get back to normal quicker 
after flooding 

3.4 Between now and 2030 the Environment Agency will have an oversight of skills and 
capabilities across the flooding and coastal change sector to identify gaps and future 
needs 

3.5 Between now and 2030 the nation will be recognised as world leader in researching 
and managing flooding and coastal change 

 
 
 
 

229



This page is intentionally left blank

230



This appendix sets out the actions required to achieve the objectives of this strategy, this Action Plan will be reviewed annually with details 

being subject to change as project considerations or dependencies influence local priorities and deliverability.  

The actions in this appendix are numbered and include some basic information around the proposed activities. Including a description, the 

lead and other partners, priority and current status.  Whilst the priority will be used to help determine the order of delivery the council and its 

partners need to remain flexible to delivering actions as opportunities arise and this may include delivering actions previously identified as 

being of a lower priority.  The status gives an indication of the progress against the given action. 

Timeframes indicate target dates for completion of the projects, these will be reviewed annually and amended as required as priorities change 

and opportunities arise.  

Ref Action Description Lead Partner 

 
Priority 

 
Status 

 
Time frame 

1 
Digitisation of 

asset data 

Prioritised surveying and digitisation of assets to inform 
local knowledge and feed into asset register. Prioritise 

and implement according to data availability, budget and 
deliverability 

PCC N/A 

 
Medium 

 
In progress 

 
Ongoing 

2 
Culverts and 

bridges 

Work with the highways authorities and partners to clarify 
ownership of culverts and bridges throughout the 

Peterborough area with the aim of developing an efficient 
working plan to collate asset data and improve conditions 

PCC 
FloW 

Partnership 

 
Medium 

 
To be started 

 
2024 

3 
Fletton and 
Woodston 

Investigation of sewer networks in Fletton High Street and 
Fletton Avenue to update asset records and identify if 

improvements are required 
AW and PCC N/A 

 
High 

 
In progress 

 
2025 

4 
Drainage 
District 

modelling 

IDBs to model their drainage districts to get an updated 
idea of the standard of protection offered 

NLDIDB, 
WDIDB, MLC 

N/A 

 
Medium 

 
In progress 

 
2027 

5 
Groundwater 
knowledge 

Compile evidence and research into groundwater flood 
risk within Peterborough 

PCC EA 

 
Low 

 
To be started 

 
2027 

Appendix B – FMS Proposed Actions – Summary Table 

231



6 SPD 
Review Flood and Water Management Supplementary 

Planning Document approximately every five years in line 
with the Local Plan review.  Anticipated in 2024. 

PCC 
FloW 

Partnership 

 
High 

 
To be started 

 
2024 

7 
Community 
engagement 

Undertake and co-ordinate appropriate engagement 
activities to promote greater awareness of flood and 

water-related management in Peterborough to include; 
- Promotion of flood warning services from the 

Environment Agency and Met Office 
- Awareness events using the Flood Mobile 

- Sharing any live telemetry data 
- Sharing advice for preparing for, responding to and 

recovering from flooding 
- Raising general awareness of riparian responsibilities 

- Working with Rivercare groups in Peterborough 

FloW 
Partnership 

FloW 
Partnership, 
landowners, 
communities 

 
 
 
 

High 

 
 
 
 

In progress 

 
 
 
 

Ongoing 

8 Flood wardens 

Work to recruit new flood wardens, train and support 
existing wardens and community groups. 

Including supporting the development of community and 
household flood plans. 

PCC and EA 
FloW 

Partnership, 
RiverCare, 

 
 

High 

 
 

In progress 

 
 

Ongoing 

9 
Multi Agency 

Flood Plan 

Update the Cambridge and Peterborough Multi-Agency 
Flood Plan and contribute to multi agency events to test 

the implementation of that plan. 
CPLRF N/A 

 
High 

 
In progress 

 
2023 

10 
Understanding 
the future risk 

Develop previous assessments of future flood risk and 
evidence building in the Peterborough Catchment Manual 
to improve understanding of how flood risk may change 
to communities over time and how this may be used to 

inform planning and investment in future. 

PCC All 

 
 

Medium 

 
 

To be started 

 
 

2027 

11 
Werrington 

Brook 
Improvements 

Monitor improvements and changes to maintenance 
practices.  Identify learning from the scheme that could 

be introduced to provide benefit elsewhere in 
Peterborough. 

EA and PCC 

Werrington 
Neighbourhood 

Council, 
Welland Valley 

Partnership 

 
 

Medium 

 
 

In progress 

 
 

2025 

12 

Paston Brook 
Flood 

Alleviation 
Scheme 

Comprehensive review of flood risk, investigating 
appropriate solutions to manage the risk of both surface 

water, sewer and main river flood risks. 
EA 

PCC, AW, 
National 

Highways 

 
 

High 

 
 

In progress 

 
 

2025 

232



13 Rivergate 

Work with local businesses and partners to better 
understand the risk around Rivergate. Undertake 

additional mapping of sewers if needed. Determine 
whether further works are required to manage the surface 

water flood risk. 

PCC 
AW, local 

businesses 

 
 

High 

 
 

In progress 

 
 

2024 

14 
Peterborough 

Adaptation 
Plan 

Contribute to the development of a partnership 
adaptation plan for Peterborough to enable the City to be 

more resilient to changes in severe weather, climate, 
resource availability etc. 

PCC 

FloW 
Partnership, 
Environment 

Capital Steering 
Group 

 
 

Medium 

 
 

To be started 

 
 

2023 

15 

Welland and 
Dogsthorpe 

flood 
alleviation 

scheme 

Work with partners and the community to better 
understand the risk in this area and to develop options for 

reducing surface water flood risk. 
PCC AW, community 

 
 

High 

 
 

In progress 

 
 

2027 

16 
City centre 
combined 

sewers 

Partnership working to investigate options for significant 
removal of surface water discharges into combined 

sewers to reduce flood risk from combined sewers and 
also reduce the need to treat rain water at Flag Fen 

Water Recycling Centre. 

PCC and AW N/A 

 
 

High 

 
 

In progress 

 
 

2027 

17 
Partnership 
data sharing 

Use learning from recent flood events in Peterborough 
and neighbouring authorities to inform a review of how 

flood event data is shared among partners in both normal 
operation and emergencies. Including sharing of ‘on the 

ground’ information such as water levels. 

PCC 
FloW 

partnership 

 
 

Medium 

 
 

To be started 

 
 

2023 

18 
Flood storage 
capacity study 

Carry out a review of the strategic assets in 
Peterborough, their condition, capacity and potential to 

help the city adapt to future risk. 
PCC and EA 

FloW 
partnership 

 
Medium 

 
To be started 

 
2025 

19 DWMPs 
Contribute to the development of the Drainage and 

Wastewater Management Plans. 
AW 

FloW 
partnership 

 
Medium 

 
In progress 

 
2023 

 

20 Future Fens Contribute to the development of Future Fens projects. EA and WRE 
FloW 

partnership 

 
Low 

 
In progress 

 
2027 

 

21 
Highways 

SuDS 
Standards 

Update of the local highways development control estate 
road specification to incorporate Sustainable Drainage 

Systems. 
PCC N/A 

 
Medium 

 
In progress 

 
2024 

233



22 

Develop long 
term 

maintenance 
programmes 

Maintenance programmes for the drainage assets 
serving Peterborough’s parkways and villages to be 

developed with capacity bids or similar funding 
routes to be pursued. 

PCC N/A 

 
 

Medium 

 
 

To be started 

 
 

2023 

23 
Natural Flood 
Management 

Support partnership delivery of Nature Based 
Solutions to provide multiple benefits to the water 

environment, including for flood risk. 
All N/A 

 
Medium 

 
To be started 

 
2027 

24 
Review of use 
of telemetry 

Analyse data, review effectiveness of thresholds 
and locations of existing water level and rainfall 

devices.  Consider new priority locations 
PCC N/A 

 
Low 

 
In progress 

 
Ongoing 

25 

Thorpe 
Meadows and 
Electric Cut 

Scheme 

Delivery of habitat and flow improvements to this 
catchment to consider additional benefits for local 

drainage infrastructure and amenity value 

RNRP and 
PCC 

AW, landowners 

 
Medium 

 
In progress 

 
2023 

 

234



 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 9 

28 FEBRUARY 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Rochelle Tapping, Director of Law and Governance  

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Coles, Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate 
Governance  

Contact Officer(s): Charlotte Cameron, Democratic Services Officer Tel. 01733 384628 

 

FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Democratic Services Officer Deadline date: N/A 

 

 
     It is recommended that the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee: 
 

1. Considers the current Forward Plan of Executive Decisions and identifies any relevant items for 
inclusion within their work programme or request further information. 
 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 The report is presented to the Committee in accordance with the Terms of Reference as set out 

in section 2.2 of the report. 
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  

 
2.1 This is a regular report to the Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee outlining the 

content of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions. 
 

2.2 This report is for the Climate change and Environment Scrutiny Committee to consider under its 
Terms of Reference No. Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph 3.3: 
 
The Scrutiny Committees will: 
 

(f)  Hold the Executive to account for the discharge of functions in the following ways: 

ii) By scrutinising Key Decisions which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in 
the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions. 

3. TIMESCALES  

  
Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

N/A 

 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 

4.1 
 

The latest version of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions is attached at Appendix 1. The 

Forward Plan contains those Executive Decisions which the Leader of the Council believes that 

235



 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
4.4 

the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Member(s) can take and any new key decisions to be taken 

after 13 March 2023. 

 
The information in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions provides the Committee with the 
opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence any of these executive decisions, 
or to request further information. 
 
If the Committee wished to examine any of the executive decisions, consideration would need to 
be given as to how this could be accommodated within the work programme. 
 
As the Forward Plan is published fortnightly any version of the Forward Plan published after 
dispatch of this agenda will be tabled at the meeting. 
 

5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1 Details of any consultation on individual decisions are contained within the Forward Plan of 

Executive Decisions. 
 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  

 
6.1 After consideration of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions the Committee may request 

further information on any Executive Decision that falls within the remit of the Committee. 
 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
7.1 The report presented allows the Committee to fulfil the requirement to scrutinise Key Decisions 

which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions in 
accordance with their terms of reference as set out in Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny 
Functions, paragraph 3.3. 
 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
8.1 N/A 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 Financial Implications 

 
 N/A 

 
9.2 Legal Implications 

 
 N/A 

 
10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 
 

 None 
 

11. APPENDICES 

 
11.1 Appendix 1 – Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 
 

236



 

 

PETERBOROUGH CITY  
COUNCIL’S FORWARD PLAN OF 

EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  
 

 
 
 

PUBLISHED: 10 FEBRUARY 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 

                   APPENDIX 1  
 

237



PART 1 – FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

KEY DECISIONS FROM 13 MARCH 2023 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 
 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS 

REPORT 
AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

Delegation to Cambridgeshire County Council re. recommission 

of the Healthy Schools Support Service – KEY/13MAR23/01 

"The Public Health Directorate are seeking to continue provision of 

the Healthy Schools Support Service for a further 19-month period, 

from 1st September 2023 - 31st March 2025. The service has been 

successfully operating across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire 
since 2018 at an annual value of £148,520 to Cambridgeshire and 

£58,680 to Peterborough. This new contract period will be used to 

provide officers sufficient time to review effectiveness, understand 
the evidence base and better evaluate the impact of current 

provision to inform future commissioning intentions. The total cost to 

PCC for this period will be £92,276.66." 

Councillor 

John Howard, 
Cabinet 

Member for 

Adult Social 

Care, Health 
and Public 

Health 

March 2023 Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards A comprehensive 

consultation will be 
undertaken with 

service users, 

partners and key 

stakeholders as 
part of the required 

work needed to 

inform future 
commissioning 

intentions 

Amy Hall, 

Children's Public 
Health 

Commissioning 

Manager, 

amy.hall@peterbo
rough.gov.uk  

Public Health  It is not anticipated that 

there will be any 
documents other than the 

report and relevant 

appendices to be 

published. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

238

mailto:amy.hall@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:amy.hall@peterborough.gov.uk


PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED KEY DECISIONS 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  
INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

1. Peterborough City Council Housing Related Support 

Procurement / Commissioning - KEY/24MAY21/02 –  

To Procure / Commission Peterborough City Council Housing 

Related Support Services. Service redesign and change form 

annual Grant Agreements to longer term contracts. 
 

Cabinet 13 March 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources and 
Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards 

 

Soft market testing 

is underway. A 
Housing Related 

Support 

Commissioning 

Strategy has been 
agreed and has 

received all the 

relevant approvals 

Sean Evans, 

Head of Service 
Housing Needs, 

Email: 

sean.evans@pet

erborough.gov.uk 
 

Place and 

Economy 
 

 

To be submitted, Housing 

Related Support 
Commissioning Strategy for 

Cambridgeshire & 

Peterborough 2020 - 2022. 

Procurement / 
Commissioning information. 

 

 

2. Article 4 Direction - KEY/28MAR2022/01 – 

To agree to formulate an Article 4 Direction for public 

consultation that requires property owners in Bretton, Fletton & 

Woodston, Hargate & Hempstead, Hampton Vale, Park and 

Central wards, to obtain planning permission when converting 
single homes or residential properties into HMOs, alongside 

relevant planning policies to support this. 

Cabinet 13 February 
2023 

Growth, 
Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

Bretton, 
Fletton & 

Woodston, 

Hargate & 

Hempsted, 
Hampton 

Vale, Park, 

North and 
Central. 

Formal public 
consultation within 
relevant wards 

Jim Newton,  
Assistant Director 

Planning & 

Building Control 

(Interim)  
Email: 

jim.newton@pete

rborough.gov.uk 

Place and 
Economy 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

3. Clare Lodge and agency resource - KEY/28MAR2022/02 - 

Relating to the supply of temporary agency requirements at 

Clare Lodge 

Cabinet 13 March 

2023 

 

Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

All Wards Legal, 
Procurement, 
Service area, Clare 
Lodge, agency 
providers 

Steve McFaden, 

Business, 

Strategy & 

Infrastructure 
Manager Clare 

Lodge, 01733 

253246 

People 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

4. Award of Insurance Contract - KEY/1AUG22/02 - The 

existing contract for the Councils insurance arrangements runs 

from 1 April 2018 - 31 March 2023. (MAR18/CMDN/113). 

Discussions are now being held with insurance specialists and 

the Procurement Team to set out the specification 
requirements so that this contract can go out to tender with 

award expected in late January 2023 / early February 2023. 

Councillor 
Andy Coles, 

Cabinet 

Member for 

Finance and 
Corporate 

Governance 

1 April 2023 Growth, 
Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Consultation 
internal 
(Procurement), 
external (insurance 
broker advisors). 

Steve Crabtree. 
Chief Internal 

Auditor.  

Tel: 01733 

384557. Email: 
steve.crabtree@p

eterborough.gov.

uk 

Corporate 
Services 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 
The decision will include an 

exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 

particular person (including 

the authority holding that 
information). 

5. Charging residents and developers for replacement bins – 

KEY/21NOV22/01 - Currently all replacement household bins 

are replaced for free, if implemented, if you loose your bin or 
damage it you will be required to pay for a replacement. 

 
 

Councillor 

Nigel Simons, 

Cabinet 
Member For 

Waste Street 

Scene And The 

Environment 

February 

2023 

 

Climate Change 

and Environment 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards  Via the budget 
setting last 
financial year and 
FSWG 

James 

Collingridge, 

Assistant Director 
of Operations, 

01733 864736, 

james.collingridg

e@peterborough.
gov.uk 

 

Place and 

Economy 
A CMDN. 

239

mailto:sharon.malia@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.malia@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 
DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  
SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

6. Refugee Resettlement Befriender Contract Award – 

KEY/21NOV22/02To award a contract to provide services and 

support to resettled refugee families under the United Kingdom 
Resettlement Scheme and the Afghan Relocation and 

Assistance Programme. 

Councillor 

Steve Allen, 

Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 

Member for 

Communicatio

n, Culture and 
Communities 

February 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources and 

Communities 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Soft market testing 
with potential 
suppliers has 
taken place 

Ian Phillips 

Head of 

Communities and 

Partnerships 

Integration 
Email: 

Ian.phillips@pete

rborough.gov.uk 

Place and 

Economy 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

7. Disposal of Ground Rent at Hereward Cross – 

KEY/05DEC22/01 - Disposal of ground rent at Hereward 

Cross 

Councillor 

Andy Coles, 
Cabinet 

Member for 

Finance and 
Corporate 

Governance 

February 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources, And 
Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

Central 

Ward 

Part of the 
approved disposal 
programme 

Felicity Paddick, 

Manager - 
Estates and 

Valuation  

Email: 
felicity.paddick@

nps.co.uk  

Tel: 07801 
910971 

Corporate 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 
The decision will include an 

exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 

particular person (including 

the authority holding that 
information). 

8. Procurement of a DPS for The Construction of Large-scale 

Adaptations to Domestic Properties to Provide Disabled 

Living Facilities and The Provision of Repairs Assistance 
to Low Income and Vulnerable, Owner Occupiers of 

Domestic Properties from 1 Jan 2023 to 31 Dec 2027 with 

optional 4 yearly extensions to 31 Dec 2031 - 

KEY/05DEC22/03 - Procurement of a Dynamic Purchasing 

System for the Construction of Large-scale Adaptations to 

Domestic Properties to Provide Disabled Living Facilities and 

The Provision of Repairs Assistance to Low Income and 
Vulnerable, Owner Occupiers of Domestic Properties. 

Councillor 

Marco Cereste, 

Climate 
Change, 

Planning, 

Housing and 

Transport 
 

February 

2023 
Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Soft Market 
Testing and 
Contractor 
Engagement Event 

Sharon Malia - 

Housing 

Programmes 
Manager – Email: 

sharon.malia@pe

terborough.gov.u

k Tel: 07920 
160632 

People 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

240

mailto:Ian.phillips@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.phillips@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 
DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  
SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

9. Extension of the current Section 75 agreements for the 
Healthy Child Programme (HCP) in Peterborough (Health 
Visiting, Family Nurse Partnership and School Nursing) - 
KEY/05DEC22/06 - The Cabinet Members are recommended 

to authorise the extension of current Delegation and 
Partnering Agreement with Cambridgeshire County Council in 
order to extend the Section 75 agreements with 
Cambridgeshire Community Services (CCS) and 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough (CPFT) Foundation Trust 
relating to: 
(i)The provision of Health Visiting and Family Nurse 
Partnership Services, whereby CCS and CPFT will exercise 
the health-related function to the Local Authorities for the 
duration of 12 months between 1 April 2024 and 31 March 
2025; and 
(ii) The provision of School Nursing Services, whereby CCS 
and CPFT will exercise the health-related function to the Local 
Authorities for the duration of 12 months between 1 April 2024 
and 31 March 2025. 

Cabinet  

 

13 March 

2023 
Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards Will be undertaken 
as part of the work 
on Family hubs 
and developing the 
new service 
specification 

Jyoti Atri, Director 

of Public Health, 

Email 
Jyoti.Atri@cambri

dgeshire.gov.uk 

Public Health It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

10. Education Systems Contract Award – KEY/19DEC22/01 

Procuring a cloud-based system for Education which will 

provide a single view of service user details to improve service 
delivery. 
 

 
 

Councillor 

Lynne Ayres, 

Cabinet 
Member for 

Children’s 

Services and 
Education, 

Skills and the 

University 

March 2023 Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards  Procurement, 

Finance, Legal, 

Service area 
 

Lucy Sweatman, 

Education 

Programme 
Manager, 

07548342557 

People 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

241



KEY DECISION REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 
DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  
SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

11. Child Weight Management Procurement – 

KEY/16JAN23/03To support the competitive procurement, 

through an Invitation to Tender (ITT) process, of a Child 
Weight Management service across Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough. This includes delegating authority to 

Cambridgeshire County Council to act as the lead 

commissioner. 

Councillor 
John Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 
 

February 

2023 
Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Co-production 

work ongoing, in 

collaboration with 
the 

Cambridgeshire 

and Peterborough 

Adopting 
Innovation Hub. 

Consultation work 

already undertaken 
with Pinpoint, a 

voluntary 

organisation 

supporting children 
with SEND. 

Pinpoint will 

continue to input in 
to the specification 

and will help to 

evaluate specific 

questions within 
the tender relating 

to complex needs. 

Imogen Gray. 

Senior Public 

Health Manager. 
imogen.gray@ca

mbridegshire.gov.

uk  

Public Health CMDN 

12. Termination of the Council's Agency Worker Contract – 

KEY/31JAN2023/01 - Termination of the Council's agency 

worker contract with OPUS 

Councillor 

Andy Coles, 
Cabinet 

Member for 

Finance and 

Corporate 
Governance 

 

February 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources, And 
Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

N/A Relevant internal 

and external 
stakeholders 

 

Mandy Pullen 

Assistant Director 
HR and 

Development 

Email: 

mandy.pullen@p
eterborough.gov.

uk Tel: 01733 

863628 Mobile: 
07920 160379 

Corporate 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

13. Electricity Contract Renewal - 1st Oct 2024 - 30th Sep 

2028 - KEY/31JAN23/02 - Renewal of the Council's electricity 

contract following the end of the existing agreement on the 30 

September 2024. 

Cabinet 13 February 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards Relevant internal 

and external 

stakeholders 

 

Chris Yates, 

Acting Head of 

Finance for 

Corporate 
Services,  

Tel:01733 

384552, 
Email:chris.yates

@peterbororugh.

gov.uk 

Corporate 

Services 

 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 
 

242

mailto:imogen.gray@cambridegshire.gov.uk
mailto:imogen.gray@cambridegshire.gov.uk
mailto:imogen.gray@cambridegshire.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 
DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  
SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

14. Commissioning Behavioural Insights Research & 
Interventions, Smoking and Pregnancy Incentivisation 
Pilot, and Sexual and Reproductive Health Needs 
Assessment – KEY/31JAN23/03 - There are three elements 

to this key decision regarding three Public Health 
commissioning and prevention areas 
  
Behavioural Insights Research: Commissioning Behavioural 
insights research will help us to understand people’s health 
related behaviours and shape interventions to improve health 
outcomes.  
Smoking in Pregnancy. There are relatively high smoking rates 
amongst pregnant women in Peterborough. Pregnant smokers 
will be offered incentives to stop smoking(vouchers) This is in 
line with national evidence that this is an effective means of 
reducing smoking rates during pregnancy.  
Sexual and Reproductive Health (SRH) Needs Assessment: 
This will provide information about the sexual and reproductive 
health needs of the Peterborough population. The information 
will help inform the development of sexual and reproductive 
health services in the area 

Councillor 
John Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 
 

February 

2023 
Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards  This is 

engagement with 

both service users 
and providers. 

Smoking in 

pregnancy, we 

have consulted 
with service 

providers and 

other partners 
within the system. 

Danielle Leek,  

senior public 

health manager 
Email:Danielle.Le

ek@Cambridges

hire.gov.uk  

Tel:07772471230 

Public Health It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

15. Approval for additional external public health funding to 

be allocated to the Integrated Sexual and Reproductive 
Health Services as part of the ongoing Section 75 - 

KEY/31JAN23/04 - Central funding has been allocated to 

meet the increases in NHS Agenda for Change staff salaries 
who are employed in commissioned sexual health services. It 

is mandatory this is given to our commissioned NHS providers. 

Councillor 
John Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 
 

February 

2023 
Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards N/A Joseph Keegan, 

Commissioning 
Team Manager 

for Substance 

Misuse and 
Sexual and 

Reproductive 

Health,  

Tel: 
07795302393, 

Email: 

joseph.keegan@
cambridgeshire.g

ov.uk 

Public Health 

 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

16. Extension of the contract for the Adults and Children 

Integrated Drug and Alcohol Treatment Service with 

Change Grow Live (CGL) for a an additional 2 years with 
an end date of the 31st of March 2026 - KEY/31JAN23/05 - 

The current contract ends on the 31st of March 2024. 

However, because of multiple grant additions that go beyond 
this end date an extension is required to ensure that the 

additional funding is fully evaluated. 

Cabinet  13 March 

2023 
Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards A detailed needs 

assessment has 

just been 
completed and 

involved extensive 

consultation. 

Joseph Keegan, 

Commissioning 

Team Manager 
for Substance 

Misuse and 

Sexual and 
Reproductive 

Health,  

07795302393, 
Email: 

joseph.keegan@

cambridgeshire.g

ov.uk 

Public Health It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

243



KEY DECISION REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 
DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  
SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

17. Peterborough City College Day Opportunities and 

Supported Employment Extension – 

KEY/13FEB23/01Cabinet are requested to approve an 

extension of the funding for the Day Opportunities and 

Supported Employment Services delivered by Peterborough 

City College, from 01st April 2023 to 31st March 2025 

Cabinet  13 March 

2023 
Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

West N/A Claire Cluer, 

Commissioning 

Manager, 
Email:claire.cluer

@cambridgeshire

.gov.uk 

   

People 

Services 
Peterborough City College 

Day Opportunities and 

Supported Employment 
Extension Paper 

 

18. PCC’s Homecare Spend through CCC’s DPS – 
KEY/13FEB23/02Approval for Spending PCC’s homecare 

budget through Cambridgeshire County Council’s Dynamic 

Purchasing System (DPS) for Home and Communities 
Support Services for Homecare Contracts. 

Councillor 
John Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 
 

March 2023  Adults and Health 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards Discussion with 
internal 

stakeholders, 

including 
Commissioning, 

Contracts, 

Brokerage, Legal 

and Procurement 
were undertaken to 

propose this 

solution. 

Luke Smith, 
Commissioning 

Officer, 

luke.smith@peter
borough.gov.uk,  

07554148545  

People 
Services  

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 
 

19. Shared Prosperity Funding – KEY/13FEB23/03The Council 

expects to receive funding as part of the Shared Prosperity 

Fund this decision seeks to allocate the funding to specific 

projects and delegate authority to the relevant Directors to 

finalise the details of the individual projects 

Cabinet 13 February 
2023 

Growth, 
Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee  

All Wards  N/A Charlotte Palmer. 
Head of 

Environment, 

Highways and 

Transport, 
07920160728 

Place and 
Economy  

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

20. Household Support Fund – Round 4 – KEY/13FEB23/04 

To decide on the overall approach to the delivery of the 

Household Support Fund extension  
including the spend proportions and areas of focus and 

delegation of authority. 

Councillor 
Steve Allen, 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Communicatio
n, Culture and 
Communities 

March 2023 Growth, 

Resources and 

Communities 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards  No further 

consultation 

required other than 
CLT, Scrutiny, 

CPF and Cabinet 

approvals 

 

Adrian Chapman, 

Executive 

Director Place 
and Economy  

Place and 

Economy 
If available at the time of 

publish, will include the 

Government's Guidance 

21. City Centre Public Space Protection Order – 
KEY/13FEB23/05Decision request concerning the extension 

of the existing City Centre Public Space Protection Order for a 

further 3 years following consultation with statutory consultees, 
councillors, key interested parties and the public. 

Councillor 
Steve Allen, 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Communicatio
n, Culture and 
Communities 

April 2023 Growth, 
Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Central  Statutory 
consultees, ward 

councillors and key 

interested parties 
will be directly 

consulted and 

there will be a 

public consultation 
available on the 

council's website 

with paper copies 
available upon 

request 

Laura Kelsey, 
Community 

Safety 

Neighbourhood 
Manager 

 

Place and 
Economy  

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 
 

244

mailto:luke.smith@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:luke.smith@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 
DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  
SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

22. Ash Dieback Action Plan – KEY/13FEB23/06Approval of 

Ash Dieback Action Plan 

Cabinet 13 February 

2023 
Climate Change 

and Environment 

Committee 

All Wards  N/A Darren Sharpe, 

Natural and 

Historic 
Environmental 

Manager 

Place and 

Economy  
Draft Ash Dieback Action 

Plan  

23. Adult Social Care Market Sustainability Plan - 

KEY/27FEB23/01 - approval of PCC Adult Social Care Market 

Sustainability Plan 

Councillor 
John Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 

13 March 

2023 
Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards N/A Joanne Melvin, 

Strategic Lead 

ASC 
Commissioning. 

joanne.melvin@p

eterborough.gov.
uk 

People 

Services 

 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

24. Procurement of a Framework Agreement for the Provision 

of Specialist De-cluttering and Deep Cleaning Services - 

KEY/27FEB23/02 - Procurement of a Framework Agreement 

for the Provision of Specialist De-cluttering and Deep Cleaning 
Services from 1 April 2023 for 2 years and 8 months years 

until December 2025 (to align this Framework with another 

Framework) with an option to extend for a further year to 
December 2026 and a separate option to extend for a further 

year until December 2027. The annual contract amount is 

£150,000 and will total £750,000 over the 5 years. 

Councillor 
John Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 

1 March 2023 Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

N/A Soft Market 

Testing, 

Engagement 

Events and 
contract published 

via Pro Contract 

Sharon Malia - 

Housing 

Programmes 

Manager 07920 
160632 

sharon.malia@pe

terborough.gov.u
k 

People 

Services 

 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 
 

25. Approval for contract to be awarded to Milestone to 

deliver construction of Eastern Industries Access 
Improvement Scheme - KEY/27FEB23/03 - The Council is to 

receive funding from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Combined Authority (CPCA) to deliver construction of the 
Eastern Industries Access Improvement Scheme. The total 

amount to be funded is £6,665,696. Approval is required for 

contract to be awarded to Milestone to undertake delivery of 

the improvement scheme. 

Cabinet 13 March 

2023 
Climate Change 

And Environment 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

East Ward Consultation was 

undertaken with 
relevant 

stakeholders 

(councillors, 
residents, cycle 

forum, etc.) during 

design of the 

scheme. 

Lewis Banks, 

Transport & 
Environment 

Manager, Tel: 

01733 317465, 
Email: 

lewis.banks@pet

erborough.gov.uk 

Place and 

Economy 
 

Meeting minutes confirming 

award. 
https://cambridgeshirepeterb

oroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/M

eetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeet
ingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2

119/Committee/63/SelectedT

ab/Documents/Default.aspx 

 

26. Approval for contract to be awarded to Milestone to 
deliver construction of A1260 Nene Parkway Junction 3 

Improvement Scheme - KEY/27FEB23/04 - The Council is to 

receive funding from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Combined Authority (CPCA) to deliver construction of the 

A1260 Nene Parkway Junction 3 Improvement Scheme. The 

total amount to be funded is £9,291,880. Approval is required 

for contract to be awarded to Milestone to undertake delivery 
of the improvement scheme. 

Cabinet 13 March 
2023 

 

Climate Change 
And Environment 

Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

Orton 
Longueville 

Consultation was 
undertaken with 

relevant 

stakeholders 
(councillors, 

residents, cycle 

forum, etc.) during 

design of the 
scheme. 

Lewis Banks, 
Transport & 

Environment 

Manager, Tel: 
01733 317465, 

Email: 

lewis.banks@pet

erborough.gov.uk 
 

Place and 
Economy 

 

'Meeting minutes confirming 
award. 
https://cambridgeshirepeterbor

oughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetin

gs/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPu
blic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Co

mmittee/63/SelectedTab/Docu

ments/Default.aspx 

 

245

https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2119/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 
DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  
SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

27. Better Care Fund - KEY/27FEB23/05 - Better Care Fund 

section 75 for 2022/23 - deed of variation to be approved. 

Councillor 
John Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 
 

March 2023 Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Relevant internal 

and external 

stakeholders 
 

Caroline 

Townsend, Head 

of 
Commissioning, 

Programmes and 

Partnerships, 

07976832188 
caroline.townsen

d@peterborough.

gov.uk 

People 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

28. Award of contract direct to Milestone Infrastructure 
Services for three major highways schemes - 

KEY/27FEB23/06 - Decision required to approve direct award 

of works directly to Milestone Infrastructure Services, 

Peterborough's Highways partner, utilising the current Term 
Service Contract for the following projects; subject to budget 

approval. 

* Safety barrier replacement 
* APV Baker footbridge  

* Highway surface replacement/treatment for damage caused 

by extreme weather 

Councillor 
Marco Cereste, 
Climate 
Change, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Transport 

31 March 
2023 

Growth, 
Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

N/A Appropriate 
consultation will be 

undertaken as 

within delivery of 

the projects. 

Amy Petrie, 
Principal 

Programme and 

Project Officer, 

Email: 
amy.petrie@pete

rborough.gov.uk 

Tel: 01733 
452272 

Place and 
Economy 

 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

29 The 2023/2024 Local Transport Plan Annual Programme of 

Works - KEY/27FEB23/07 - Approval required for the annual 

Local Transport Plan capital programme of works. 

Councillor 
Marco Cereste, 
Climate 
Change, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Transport 

31 March 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources, And 
Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Appropriate level 

consultation will 
take place for the 

individual projects 

as the works are 
delivered. 

Amy Petrie, 

Principal 
Programme and 

Project Officer, 

Email: 
amy.petrie@pete

rborough.gov.uk 

Tel: 01733 

452272 

Place and 

Economy 
 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published.   

30. PCC/CCC Delegation Agreement for jointly procured 
Floating Support service - KEY/27FEB23/08 - Approval of 

Delegation Arrangements to allow CCC to implement and 

manage this contract on behalf of PCC 
 

 

Councillor 
Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health & 
Public Health 

February 
2023 

 

 
 

Adults and Health 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards Feedback sought 
from existing 

customers, staff 

and external 
partners/stakehold

ers prior to 

commencing re-

procurement 

Lisa Sparks, 
Senior 

Commissioner 

(ASC 
Commissioning), 

07900163590, 

lisa.sparks@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u
k 

Public Health It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

246



 
PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISIONS IN PRIVATE 

 

DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  
INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

 
 

Amendment of the term of the £15m loan facility with Propiteer 

Hotels Ltd and its subsidiary Fletton Quays Hotels Ltd – 

KEY/13MAR23/02 - Approval to the extension of the loan facility 

 

Cabinet 13 March 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 
Committee  

Fletton and 

Stanground 

Internal and 

external 

stakeholders 

 

Simon Lewis, 
Service Director 
Commercial, 
Property & Asset 
Management 

Corporate 

services 
The decision will include an 
exempt annexe.  By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of a 
particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information) 

Disposal of Hereward Cross Freehold – KEY/13MAR23/03 

Sale of PCC freehold interest following the disposal of long 
leasehold interest by leaseholder 
 
 
 

Cabinet 13 March 
2023 

Growth, 
Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

Central  The disposal will 
go through CLT 

and CPF 

Felicity Paddick - 
felicity.paddick@
peterborough.gov
.uk 
 

Corporate 
Services  

Exempt annex with specific 
financial information and 
Heads of Terms.  
 
The decision will include an 
exempt annexe.  By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of a 
particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information) 

247



  

PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 
 

DATE 

DECISION 
EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 
REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 

THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 
1.  Peterborough Limited Subsidiary Structure - Approval is 

sort to create a subsidiary organisation to Peterborough 
Limited to aid the efficient and effective future delivery of 

services. 

Cabinet 13 March 

2023 
Growth, 

Resources, And 
Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

N/A N/A Kitran Eastman  

Managing 
Director - 

Peterborough Ltd 

Email: 

Kitran.Eastman@

peterboroughlimit

ed.co.uk 

Place and 

Economy 
 

Commercial Sensitivity of 

Peterborough Limited   
 

The decision will include an 

exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 

particular person (including the 
authority holding that 

information). 

2. Procurement of Infrastructure Services – 
KEY/31JAN2023/06 - To approve the expenditure for the 

procurement of critical infrastructure services that are 

required to support the day to day operation of the Council's 
IT systems and services.  

Cabinet 13 March 
2023 

Growth, 
Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

N/A N/A Julian Patmore, 
Head of 

Operational 

Services,  
Tel: 07980 895 

010, Email: 

julian.patmore@p

eterborough.gov.
uk 

Corporate 

Services 

CMDN, Contract (which will be 
exempt) & Business Case 

 

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 

relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 

authority holding that 

information). 
 

3. Peterborough Limited Update – an update on the in-year 

company finances  

Shareholder 
Cabinet 

27 February 
2023 

Growth, 
Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

N/A N/A Kitran Eastman  
Managing 

Director - 

Peterborough Ltd 

Email: 

Kitran.Eastman@

peterboroughlimit

ed.co.uk 
 

Place and 

Economy 

Commercial Sensitivity of 
Peterborough Limited   

 

The decision will include an 

exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 

relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 

authority holding that 

information). 

 

 

248

mailto:Kitran.Eastman@peterboroughlimited.co.uk
mailto:Kitran.Eastman@peterboroughlimited.co.uk
mailto:Kitran.Eastman@peterboroughlimited.co.uk
mailto:Kitran.Eastman@peterboroughlimited.co.uk
mailto:Kitran.Eastman@peterboroughlimited.co.uk
mailto:Kitran.Eastman@peterboroughlimited.co.uk


 

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS 

DECISIONS FROM 13 MARCH 2022 

DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 
AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

None.          

 
 

249



PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS 

DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 
 

DATE 

DECISION 
EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 
REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 
ANNEXES 

1. Approval of the leasehold disposal of a brownfield site to 

a care provider –  

A site has been found for a care home and the Council are 
currently looking into a leasehold disposal to a care provider 

who will build a care facility and then contract to provide 

services to the Council. 

Councillor 
Cereste, Cabinet 
Member for 
Climate Change, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Transport 

February 

2023 

 

Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Park  Relevant internal 

and external 

stakeholders. 
 

 

A forum has been 
set up by the 
Combined Authority 
involving 
representatives from 
finance, legal, 
property and social 
care. 

Felicity Paddick,  

Manager - 

Estates and 
Valuation,   

Tel: 07801 

910971 

Email: 
felicity.paddick@

nps.co.uk  

Corporate 

Services 
The decision will include an 

exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 

particular person (including the 

authority holding that 
information). 

2. Approval of the Peterborough Sufficiency Strategy 

Every top tier local authority is required to publish a 

sufficiency strategy. This must set out how we seek to avoid 
children coming into care through the provision of family 

support services, and identify steps that we are taking to 

ensure that we have sufficient placements for children in care 
in our area, so that as many children and young people in 

care can live locally, provided that this is in their best 

interests. 

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
University 

February 

2023 

 
 

 

 

Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards There has been 
widespread 
consultation 
including with 
children and young 
people in care. 

Elaine Redding, 

Email: 

elaine.redding@p
eterborough.gov.

uk   

Peoples 

Services 
Scrutiny Report 

3. Werrington Fields and Ken Stimpson Secondary School - 

Following a public meeting held on 20 September 2021 at 

Ken Stimpson School, a decision needs to be taken on 

whether or not to proceed with plans to erect a fence to 
enclose part of the school's playing fields.  The area is 

currently open access to the public.  The school has not been 

using the area for over two years due to concerns over the 

safeguarding risk to the young people attending the school.   

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
University 

February 
2023 

 

 
 

 

Children and 
Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

Werrington Public meeting held 
on 20 September 
2021 at Ken 
Stimpson School.  
Prior to this, a 
detailed background 
information 
document was 
circulated to 
interested parties. 

Jonathan Lewis, 
Service Director, 

Education 

Email:jonathan.le
wis@peterboroug

h.gov.uk  

Peoples 
Services 

Cabinet Member Decision 
Notice, Background 

Information Document 

 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

4. Approval to enter into a Section 75 Partnership 
Agreement with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS 

Foundation Trust 

This agreement will ensure the provision of CPFT mental 
health specialist working with mental health practitioners who 

are part of multiagency Family Safeguarding teams working 

as part of children's social care safeguarding teams. 

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
University  

February 
2023 

 

 
 

 

Children and 
Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders 

Helen Andrews, 
Children's 

Commissioning 

Manager 
helen.andrews@

cambridgeshire.g

ov.uk  

 

People 
Services 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

250

mailto:felicity.paddick@nps.co.uk
mailto:felicity.paddick@nps.co.uk
mailto:elaine.redding@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:elaine.redding@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:elaine.redding@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Email:jon.lewis@peterborough.gov
mailto:Email:jon.lewis@peterborough.gov
mailto:Email:jon.lewis@peterborough.gov
mailto:helen.andrews@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:helen.andrews@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:helen.andrews@cambridgeshire.gov.uk


5. Approval and Endorsement of a new countywide Infant 
Feeding Strategy - Decision sought to approve and endorse 

a countywide Infant Feeding Strategy developed 

collaboratively between Public Health and the 

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG). This decision includes approval of overall 

strategy and underpinned action plans required to implement 

this. 
 

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres,  
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
University 
 

February 
2023 

 

 

 
 

Children and 
Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Maternity Voices 
Partnerships, who 
are made up of 
service user 
representatives and 
key stakeholders 
spanning maternity, 
health visiting and 
the third sector have 
coproduced the 
strategy alongside 
Local Authority and 
CCG colleagues. 
 

Amy Hall, 
Children's Public 

Health 

Commissioning 

Manager, 
amy.hall@peterb

orough.gov.uk , 

07583040529 
 

Public Health  Paper and Strategy to be 
submitted closer to the 

Cabinet meeting 

 

6. Approval of Delegation Agreement for Floating Support 
Service -  

Requesting approval to delegate authority to CCC to 
enable them to deliver a new jointly commissioned 
Floating Support service on behalf of PCC. 
 

Councillor John 
Howard, Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Public Health 
 

February 

2023 

 
 
 

Adults and 
Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

All Wards 
 

Feedback gathered 
from existing 
customers, service 
staff and external 
stakeholders/partner
s. 

Lisa Sparks - 

Senior 

Commissioner - 

lisa.sparks@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k - 07900163590 

 

 

Public Health   It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

7. Approval to award a grant for a Mental Health 

Supported Living service. - Approval to award a 

grant for revenue funding to Eastlands Mental Health 

Supported Living Services, for a  period of 1 year 

period, from April 2023. 
 

Councillor John 
Howard, Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Public Health 
 

February 
2023 

 
 

Adults and 
Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

All Wards   Consultation not 
required as seeking 
no change to 
existing service 

Lisa Sparks - 

Senior 

Commissioner - 

lisa.sparks@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k - 07900163590 

 

 

Public Health   It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 
 

8. Acquisition of 4 Royce Road, Peterborough - Acquisition 

of industrial premises at 4 Royce Road adjacent to PCC 
owned land 

Councillor Andy 

Coles, Cabinet 
Member for 

Finance and 

Corporate 

Governance 

February 

2023 
 

Growth, 

Resources, And 
Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

East Ward N/A Felicity Paddick, 

Manager - 
Estates and 

Valuation 

Email: 

felicity.paddick@
nps.co.uk  

Tel: 07801 

910971 

Corporate 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 

relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 

particular person (including the 

authority holding that 

information). 
 

9. Operating Model City College - Review of the Operating 

Model of City College 

Councillor 

Lynne Ayres, 

Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 

Services and 

Education, 

Skills and the 
University 

 

March 2023 Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

All Wards None Jonathan Lewis, 

Service Director: 

Education.  
Tel: 01223 

507165. Email: 

jonathan.lewis@c

ambridgeshire.go
v.uk 

People 

Services 
It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published. 

 

 
 
 

251

mailto:amy.hall@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:amy.hall@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk


 
 
PART 4 – NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER URGENCY PROCEDURES 
 

DECISION TAKEN DECISION 

MAKER 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

TAKEN 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 
AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

None.         

 
 
  

252



FORWARD PLAN 

 
PART 1 – KEY DECISIONS 

In the period commencing 28 clear days after the date of publication of this Plan, Peterborough City Council's Executive intends to take 'key decisions' on the issues set out below in Part 1.  Key decisions relate to those executive decisions which 

are likely to result in the Council spending or saving money in excess of £500,000 and/or have a significant impact on two or more wards in Peterborough. 

 

If the decision is to be taken by an individual Cabinet Member, the name of the Cabinet Member is shown against the decision, in addition to details of the Councillor’s portfolio. If the decision is to be taken by the Cabinet, this too is shown against  

the decision and its members are as listed below: 

Cllr Fitzgerald (Leader of the Council), Cllr Steve Allen (Deputy Leader); Cllr Ayres; Cllr Cereste; Cllr Howard; Cllr Coles and Cllr Simons. 

 

This Plan should be seen as an outline of the proposed decisions for the forthcoming month and it will be updated on a fortnightly basis to reflect new key-decisions.  Each new Plan supersedes the previous Plan and items may be carried over into 

forthcoming Plans.  Any questions on specific issues included on the Plan should be included on the form which appears at the back of the Plan and submitted to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk,  Democratic and Constitutional Services 

Manager, Legal and Governance Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388039). Alternatively, you can submit your views via e-mail to or by telephone on 01733 452460. For each decision a public report will be available 

from the Democratic Services Team one week before the decision is taken. 

 

PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISION IN PRIVATE 

Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the Cabinet meetings listed in this Plan will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will be some business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially  

sensitive or personal information.  In these circumstances the meeting may be held in private, and on the rare occasion this applies, notice will be given within Part 2 of this document, ‘notice of intention to hold meeting in private’. A further formal 

notice of the intention to hold the meeting, or part of it, in private, will also be given 28 clear days in advance of any private meeting in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Ac cess to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012.  

 

The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which these decisions will be discussed (unless a notice of intention to hold the meeting in private has been given).  

 

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS 

For complete transparency relating to the work of the Executive, this Plan also includes an overvie w of non-key decisions to be taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members, these decisions are listed at Part 3 and will be updated on a 

weekly basis. 

 

You are entitled to view any documents listed on the Plan, or obtain extracts from any documents l isted or subsequently submitted to the decision maker prior to the decision being made, subject to any restrictions on disclosure. There is no charge 

for viewing the documents, although charges may be made for photocopying or postage.  Documents listed on the notice and relevant documents subsequently being submitted can be requested from Philippa Turvey, Democratic and Constitutional 

Services Manager, Legal and Governance Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388038), e-mail to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452460.  

 
All decisions will be posted on the Council's website: www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedecisions. If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the 'key decisions' outlined in this Plan, please submit them to the Democratic and 

Constitutional Services Manager using the form attached.  For your information, the contact details for the Council's various service departments are incorporated within this Plan.  

  

253

mailto:philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions


 DIRECTORATE RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

Please note that all Directorates have been colour coded. Each decision will be colour coded in accordance with the below. 

 

CORPORATE SERVICES DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Financial and Resources 

Internal Audit, Insurance and Investigations 
Peterborough Serco Strategic Partnership (Business Support, Corporate Procurement, Business Transformation and Strategic Improvement, Customer 

Services, Shared Transactional Services) 

Communications 

Commercial & Property 
Registration and Bereavement Services 

Commercial & Property 

Delivery and Transformation 

Health & Safety 

Human Resources & Workforce Development - (Business Relations, HR Policy and Rewards, Training and Development, Occupational Health and Workforce Development) 

Digital, Data Analytics, Risk & IT Services 

Transformation and Programme Management Office, Business Intelligence, Commercial, Strategy and Policy, Shared Services  

 

 PEOPLE SERVICES DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Adult Services and Communities (Adult Social Care Operations, Adult Social Care and Quality Assurance, Adult Social Care Commissioning, Early Help – Adults, Children and Families, Housing and Health Improvement, Community and Safety 

Services, Offender Services) 

Children’s Services (Children’s Social Care Operations, Children’s Social Care Quality Assurance, Safeguarding Boards – Adults and Children’s, Child Health, Clare Lodge (Operations), Access to Resources) 

Education, (Special Educational Needs and Inclusion, School Improvement, City College Peterborough, Pupil Referral Units, Schools Infrastructure) 

Commissioning 

Business Management and Commercial Operations (Commissioning, Recruitment and Retention, Clare Lodge (Commercial), Early Years and Quality Improvement) 

Performance and Information (Performance Management, Systems Support Team) 

 
 

 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Corporate Lawyers 

Constitutional Services, (Democratic Services, Electoral Services, Executive and Members Services) - (Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG) 

 Information Governance, (Freedom of Information and Data Protection) 

 
 

 PLACE AND ECONOMY DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Development and Construction (Development Management, Planning Compliance, Building Control) 

Planning Growth and Environment (Strategic Planning, Housing Strategy and Affordable Housing, Climate Change and Environment Capital, Natural and Built Environment) 

 Housing and Homelessness 

 Highways and Transport(Network Management, Highways Maintenance, Street Naming and Numbering, Street Lighting, Design and Adoption of Roads, Drainage and Flood Risk Management, Transport Policy and Sustainable Transport, Public 

Transport) 

Employment and Skills 

Community Safety 

Regulatory Services 

Emergency Resilience & Planning 

(Markets and Street Trading, City Centre Management including Events, Regulatory Services, Parking Services, Vivacity Contrac t, CCTV and Out of Hours Calls) 

  

 PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

Health Protection, Health Improvements, Healthcare Public Health. 

254



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

255



This page is intentionally left blank

256


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee Meeting held on 4 January 2023
	5 The City Council’s Biodiversity Strategy: Progress Report 2021-22
	5. Appendix A- Biodiversity Strategy
	5. Appendix B- charities and landowners activities for biodiversity

	6 Peterborough Draft Council Climate Change Action Plan
	6. Appendix 1. Draft 2023 Council Climate Change Action Plan

	7 Final Report of the Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group
	7. Appendix 1 - Completed Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group Final Report

	8 Peterborough Flood Risk Management Strategy 2021-2027
	8. Appendix A Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
	8. Appendix B Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Proposed Actions - Summary Table

	9 Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
	9. Appendix 1 - Forward Plan of Executive Decisions




